doi:10.25143/prom-rsu_2024-04_dt



Andrejs Šitovs

Fluoroquinolone Antimicrobial Agent Levofloxacin in Veterinary Medicine and its Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic Studies

> Doctoral Thesis – set of publications – for obtaining the scientific degree "Doctor of Science (*PhD*)"

> > Sector Group – Medical and Health Sciences Sector – Basic Medicine Sub-Sector – Pharmacology

> > > Riga, 2024



Andrejs Šitovs ORCID 0000-0002-9529-8799

Fluoroquinolone Antimicrobial Agent Levofloxacin in Veterinary Medicine and its Pharmacokinetic-Pharmacodynamic Studies

Doctoral Thesis – set of publications – for obtaining the scientific degree "Doctor of Science (*PhD*)"

Sector Group – Medical and Health Sciences

Sector – Basic Medicine

Sub-Sector – Pharmacology

Supervisors of the Doctoral Thesis:

Dr. pharm., Professor Dace Bandere, Rīga Stradiņš University

Dr. med., Professor Santa Purviņa, Rīga Stradiņš University

Scientific Advisors:

Dr. chem. cert. pharmacol., Professor Mario Giorgi, University of Pisa

Dr. med. vet., Professor Līga Kovaļčuka, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies

This research has been developed with financing from the European Social Fund and Latvian state budget within the project No. 8.2.2.0/20/I/004 "Support for involving doctoral students in scientific research and studies" at Rīga Stradiņš University

Abstract

In medicine, antibacterial agents represent one of the most important classes of drugs. Fluoroquinolones are among the most widely used antimicrobials. Levofloxacin is a thirdgeneration fluoroquinolone for the use in human medicine, but it has certain applications in veterinary medicine worldwide.

This Thesis is a compilation of four scientific publications aimed at investigating the suitability of levofloxacin as an antimicrobial agent in the veterinary field, and to evaluate its properties and activity in animal species, where it has not been previously comprehensively studied. Narratively, the first publication was a scientific literature review assessing the role of levofloxacin in veterinary medicine, covering the status of levofloxacin use in veterinary medicine worldwide, its antimicrobial activity, resistance problems, pharmacokinetics, tissue residues, adverse effects and drug interactions. The second publication was an experimental evaluation of the levofloxacin pharmacokinetic profiles in 6 clinically healthy rabbits after the 5 mg/kg intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration using the crossover study design. Additionally, the effects of single levofloxacin administration on tear production and osmolarity were measured. In this study levofloxacin showed high clearance (0.60 mL/g/h) and complete bioavailability after extravascular administration. The third publication assessed the pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin in healthy geese (2 groups of 8 animals, which received 2 mg/kg intravenously and 5 mg/kg orally, respectively) and its depletion profiles in goose muscle, heart, liver, kidney and lung after a single oral dose of 5 mg/kg. In this study levofloxacin clearance was also high (0.28 mL/g/h) and oral bioavailability was also complete. The highest levofloxacin concentrations were found in the liver and kidneys.

The fourth publication was aimed to assess the activity of levofloxacin against the two of the most common bacterial species associated with infections in rabbits. Minimum inhibitory and minimum bactericidal concentrations were determined for 10 isolates of *Pasteurella multocida* and 5 isolates of *Escherichia coli*. A time-killing curve study was performed *in vitro* and *ex vivo* in order to calculate proposed levofloxacin daily doses against *P. multocida* (MIC = 0.015 µg/mL) and *E. coli* (MIC = 0.03 µg/mL) isolates. Doses were calculated as ≤ 0.91 and ≤ 1.43 mg/kg, respectively.

Levofloxacin was well tolerated in most of the study animals, had favourable pharmacokinetic profiles for extravascular administration and was active against bacteria isolated from animals. Despite being used in veterinary medicine in countries outside the EU, as it is categorised by the WHO as the highest priority critically important antimicrobial it is not registered for veterinary use and is not currently allowed to be used in veterinary medicine in the EU. The selection of levofloxacin as a research topic was based on its global ubiquity, distinct usage status, and broad antimicrobial activity. This makes it a compelling subject for scientific investigation.

Keywords: levofloxacin, pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, rabbit, goose, *Pasteurella multocida*, *Escherichia coli*

Anotācija

Fluorhinolonu grupas pretmikrobu līdzeklis levofloksacīns veterinārmedicīnā un tā farmakokinētikas un farmakodinamikas pētījumi

Antibakteriālie līdzekļi ir viena no svarīgākajām zāļu grupām medicīnā. Fluorohinoloni ir vieni no visplašāk izmantotajiem antibakteriāliem līdzekļiem. Levofloksacīns ir trešās paaudzes fluoorhinolons, kas paredzēts lietošanai humānajā medicīnā, bet tam ir zināms pielietojums arī veterinārmedicīnā.

Šis promocijas darbs ir četru zinātnisku publikāciju kopa, kuru mērķis ir pārbaudīt levofloksacīna piemērotoību izmantošanai veterinārmedicīnā un izvērtēt tā aktivitāti un īpašības dzīvnieku sugās, kurās tas ir mazāk pētīts. Naratīvi, pirmā publikācija ir zinātniskās literatūras apskats, kurā tika novērtēta levofloksacīna loma veterinārmedicīnā, aptverot levofloksacīna lietošanas pašreizējo statusu veterinārmedicīnā pasaulē, tā pretmikrobu aktivitāti, rezistences problēmas, farmakokinētiku, zāļu atliekvielas audos, blakusefektus un zāļu mijiedarbību. Otrā publikācija ir levofloksacīna farmakokinētisko profilu eksperimentāls novērtējums sešiem klīniski veseliem mājas trušiem pēc 5 mg/kg intravenozas, intramuskulāras un subkutānas ievades, izmantojot krustenisko pētījuma dizainu. Turklāt tika mērīta vienreizējas levofloksacīna ievades ietekme uz asaru produkciju un osmolaritāti. Šajā pētījumā pēc ekstravaskulāras ievadīšanas levofloksacīnam bija augsts klīrenss (0.60 mL/g/h) un absolūta biopieejamība. Trešajā publikācijā tika novērtēti levofloksacīna farmakokinētiskie profili klīniski veselām zosīm (divas grupas pa astoņiem dzīvniekiem, kas saņēma attiecīgi 2 mg/kg intravenozi un 5 mg/kg perorāli) un tā izsīkuma profili zosu muskuļos, sirdīs, aknās, nierēs un plaušās pēc vienreizējas perorālas 5 mg/kg devas lietošanas. Šajā pētījumā levofloksacīna klīrenss arī bija augsts (0.28 mL/g/h), un arī biopieejamība bija absolūta. Levofloksacīna koncentrācijas aknās un nierēs bija visaugstākās no analizētiem audiem.

Ceturtās publikācijas mērķis bija novērtēt levofloksacīna aktivitāti pret divām baktēriju sugām, kas visbiežāk ir saistītas ar trušu infekcijām. Minimālā inhibējošā un minimālā baktericīda koncentrācijas tika noteiktas 10 *Pasteurella multocida* un 5 *Escherichia coli* baktēriju izolātiem. Veikts pētījums kura rezultātā iegūtas mikroorganismu nonāvēšanas līknes laikā *in vitro* un *ex vivo*, lai aprēķinātu ieteicamās levofloksacīna dienas devas pret *P. multocida* (MIC = 0.015 µg/mL) un *E. coli* (MIC = 0.03 µg/mL) izolātiem. Devas tika aprēķinātas attiecīgi. ≤ 0.91 un ≤ 1.43 mg/kg.

Levofloksacīns bija labi panesams lielākajā daļā pētījumu dzīvniekiem tam bija labvēlīgs farmakokinētiskais profils ekstravaskulārai ievadīšanai, un tas bija aktīvs pret baktērijām, kas izolētas no dzīvniekiem. Neskatoties uz to, ka tas tiek izmantots veterinārmedicīnā valstīs ārpus ES, PVO to ir klasificējusi levofloksacīnu kā augstākās prioritātes kritiski svarīgo pretmikrobu līdzekli, kurš nav reģistrēts lietošanai dzīvniekiem un to pašlaik nav atļauts izmantot veterinārmedicīnā ES. Levofloksacīna kā pētījuma tēmas izvēle balstījās uz tā globālo izplatību, atšķirīgo lietošanas statusu un plašo pretmikrobu aktivitāti. Tādējādi tas ir kļuvis par saistošu priekšmetu zinātniskai izpētei.

Atslēgvārdi: levofloksacīns, farmakokinētika, farmakodinamika, trusis, zoss, *Pasteurella multocida, Escherichia coli*

ct	2
cija	4
viations used in the Thesis	9
action n of the Thesis ectives of the Thesis pothesis of the Thesis velty of the Thesis	11 12 12 12 12 12
 Animal species of veterinary pharmacology interest	13 13 13 15 15 16 17 18 19 20 21
 1.6.6 Antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin against Gram-positive and other microorganisms	22 23 25 25 26 27 27 27 27 28 28
Geese as subjects for levofloxacin study thods First study. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits 2.1.1 Animals 2.1.2 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.3 Experimental design and sample collection 2.1.4 Tear fluid collection and analysis 2.1.5 Plasma chromatographic analysis 2.1.6 Chromatographic method validation 2.1.7 Pharmacokinetic pharmacodynamic index 2.1.8 Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic index 2.1.9 Drug accumulation prediction	30 31 31 32 32 32 32 33 34 34 34 35 35
	 ction of the Thesis cetion of the Thesis cetives of the Thesis of the Thesis of the Coloxacin cetives of the Thesis of the Coloxacin cetives of the Thesis of the Coloxacin cetives of the Coloxacin thing cetives of the Coloxacin the Coloxacin cetives of the Coloxacin study cetives of the Coloxacin study<!--</td-->

Table of Contents

	2.2	Second	l study. Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue	
		concen	trations after oral administration in geese	35
		2.2.1	Animals	36
		2.2.2	Chemicals and reagents	36
		2.2.3	Experimental design and sample collection	36
		2.2.4	Plasma and tissue extraction procedure and chromatographic analysis	37
		2.2.5	Chromatographic method validation	38
		2.2.6	Pharmacokinetic analysis	38
	2.3	Third s	study. In vitro and ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against	
		Pasteu	rella multocida and Escherichia coli isolated from rabbits	
		(Orycte	olagus cuniculus)	39
		2.3.1	Bacterial isolates	39
		2.3.2	Determination of minimum inhibitory and minimum bactericidal	
			concentrations in broth and serum	40
		2.3.3	Levofloxacin serum samples for ex vivo bacterial killing curve	
			evaluation	41
		2.3.4	In vitro bacterial killing curves for Pasteurella multocida	
			and Escherichia coli	41
		2.3.5	Ex vivo bacterial killing curves for Escherichia coli	
			and Pasteurella multocida	41
		2.3.6	Pharmacodynamic modelling and daily dose calculation	42
	2.4	Ethics	statement	43
3	Stat	istical A	nalysis	44
4	Res	ults		45
·	4.1	First st	udy. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after intravenous.	
		intram	uscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits	45
		4.1.1	Animals	45
		4.1.2	Pharmacokinetic parameters	45
		4.1.3	Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic index	47
		4.1.4	Effects on tear quality	47
	4.2	Second	l study. Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue	
		concen	trations after oral administration in geese	48
		4.2.1	Animals	48
		4.2.2	Analytical method validation	48
		4.2.3	Pharmacokinetic results	49
		4.2.4	Tissues residue analysis results	50
	4.3	Third s	study. In vitro and ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against	
		Pasteu	rella multocida and Escherichia coli isolated from rabbits	
		(Orycte	olagus cuniculus)	52
		4.3.1	Minimal inhibitory and minimal bactericidal concentration	52
		4.3.2	In vitro antibacterial activity of levofloxacin and time-killing curves	54
		4.3.3	<i>Ex vivo</i> antibacterial activity of levofloxacin after intramuscular and	
			subcutaneous administration and time-killing curves	56
		4.3.4	Pharmacodynamic modelling and daily dose calculation	59

5 Discussion	
5.1 First study. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after intravenous,	
intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits	
5.2 Second study. Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue	
concentrations after oral administration in geese	67
5.3 Third study. <i>In vitro</i> and <i>ex vivo</i> antibacterial activity of levofloxacin	
against Pasteurella multocida and Escherichia coli isolated from rabbit	ts
(Oryctolagus cuniculus)	
Conclusions	
Proposals	
Publications and reports on topics of Thesis	74
References	75
Acknowledgments	
Annexes	
Annex 1. First Publication	
Annex 2. Second Publication	
Annex 3. Third Publication	
Annex 4. Fourth Publication	
Annex 5. Tables A1–A7	

Abbreviations used in the Thesis

AUC	Area under the concentration vs. time curve		
AUMC	Area under the first moment curve		
BW	Body weight		
CFU	Colony-forming units		
C_{max}	Maximal plasma concentration		
CI	Confidence interval		
CLSI	Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute		
CV	Coefficient of variation		
DES	Dry eye syndrome		
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid		
E	Antibacterial effect of levofloxacin		
E ₀	\log_{10} difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24 hours of incubation in the control sample		
EMA	European Medicines Agency		
EU	European Union		
F	Bioavailability		
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration		
HM	Harmonic mean		
HPLC	High Performance Liquid Chromatography		
I _{max}	Difference between log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24 hours in the control sample ($logE_0$) and the log10 difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24 hours when the limit of detection of 100 CFU/mL is reached		
IC50	AUC ₂₄ /MIC producing 50 % of the maximal antibacterial effect		
IM	Intramuscular		
IS	Internal standard		
IV	Intravenous		
LOD	Limit of detection		
LOQ	Limit of quantification		
MAT	Mean absorption time		
MBC	Mean bactericidal concentration		
MHB	Mueller Hinton Broth		
MIC	Minimal inhibitory concentration		
MS	Mass spectrometry		
MRL	Maximum residue limits		
MRT	Mean residence time		

N/A	Not applicable		
PAE	Post-antibiotic effect		
РК	Pharmacokinetics		
РО	per os		
QRDR	Quinolone resistance determining regions		
SC	Subcutaneous		
SD	Standard deviation		
STT	Schirmer Tear Test		
t	Time		
t _{1/2}	Biological half-life		
t _{max}	Time to reach maximum drug concentration		
TSA	Trypticase soy agar		
UV	Ultraviolet		
Vd	Volume of distribution		
WHO	World Health Organization		
λ_z	Slope of the elimination part of the curve		
τ	Dosing interval		

Introduction

Infectious diseases are a major problem in veterinary medicine and are associated with the need to administer antimicrobial agents to animals by their owners or people in charge. To make antimicrobial therapy more effective, an appropriate dosing regimen, based on pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data is necessary for both infection treatment and limitation of proliferation of resistant bacterial strains (Toutain et al., 2002). This integrative approach is a proven tool for dose optimisation (Toutain & Lees, 2004). It utilises pharmacokinetic parameters such as area under the concentration vs time curve (AUC), maximal plasma concentration (C_{max}) and pharmacodynamic parameters – minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC). The approach that is based on bacterial time-killing curves, actually, shows more rationality compared with the approach based only on MIC value, which is a static parameter (Ambrose et al., 2007). Fluoroquinolones are frequently used for the treatment of bacterial infections in both human and veterinary medicine. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic indices of fluoroquinolones indicate the effectiveness of this class of drugs. Levofloxacin, a potent third-generation antimicrobial fluoroquinolone drug, is used both in human clinical practice and to some extent in veterinary medicine (Sitovs et al., 2021). Its use in veterinary medicine is currently limited: it is completely banned for veterinary use in the EU and is only used off-label in companion animals in the USA. Levofloxacin is active against a wide range of Gram-positive and Gram-negative microorganisms and has improved activity, compared to older fluoroquinolones, against streptococci and anaerobic bacteria. The pharmacokinetic parameters of levofloxacin have already been established in several domesticated mammalian species – pets, non-pets, and birds. Several research papers reporting on levofloxacin in non-human animals have been published in recent years (Kilburn et al., 2023; Madsen et al., 2019; Vercelli et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2021), indicating an increasing interest in levofloxacin as an off-label drug for use in animals. This interest is likely due to the fact that many of the currently licenced veterinary antimicrobials do not meet the needs of veterinarians in the management of antibiotic resistant infections (Papich, 2021), and it implies that levofloxacin has promise in the treatment of infections in animals. At the time of the beginning of the work on this Thesis, the published scientific studies on levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and activity in rabbits were scarce, and completely absent in geese.

Aim of the Thesis

To study the rationale for the use of levofloxacin as an antimicrobial agent in veterinary medicine.

Objectives of the Thesis

The following objectives are set to reach the aim of the doctoral thesis:

- 1. Summarise and review the existing scientific data from the veterinary field related to levofloxacin;
- 2. Assess and compare the pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin in healthy domestic rabbits after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous routes of administration;
- 3. Assess the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in geese after either intravenous and oral administration, and to evaluate the depletion profile in goose tissues;
- 4. Explore and evaluate levofloxacin antibacterial activity against common animal infection causative agents *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolated from rabbits.

Hypothesis of the Thesis

Levofloxacin has the favourable properties to be used as an antimicrobial agent in veterinary medicine.

Novelty of the Thesis

This research identified, compiled and systemically arranged the scientific data on the studies of levofloxacin in the field of veterinary medicine. This information is now published at the international level for use by veterinary practitioners and scientists in making decisions regarding the levofloxacin use.

This is the first study to report pharmacokinetic parameters for levofloxacin in rabbits after the intramuscular and subcutaneous routes of administration, that could potentially be useful for off-label treatment of pet rabbits by their owners.

This is the first study to report the pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin in geese and its depletion profiles from the selected tissues.

This is the first study to evaluate the levofloxacin antimicrobial activity against *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolated from rabbits and to propose daily doses for extravascular levofloxacin administration.

1 Literature

1.1 Animal species of veterinary pharmacology interest

Veterinary medicine deals with the challenge to treat different types of animals, that include livestock animals, companion animals, working animals, sports animals and laboratory animals. There are more than 40 livestock species as reported by the World Watch List for Domestic Animal Diversity that are domesticated, but exotic animals, such as reptiles, amphibians, birds are also kept as pets and may therefore require treatment (Scherf, 2000). Some species are classified as major (food-producing and non-food producing) and others as minor (food-producing and non-food producing) species by the regulatory agencies in Europe and the USA. In this diversity of species, it is necessary not only to select a drug, but also to determine a rational dosing regimen for the selected drug, including dose rate, inter-dosing interval, duration of treatment and appropriate routes of administration. These peculiarities are dictated by the anatomical, physiological, biochemical and behavioural features of each species. Additionally, animal species show considerable variability in their pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles, and the differences are often unpredictable, thus each drug must be investigated on a species-by-species basis to guarantee its effective and safe use (Toutain et al., 2010).

1.2 Pharmacokinetic differences and drug tissue disposition

Interspecies differences in drug disposition or pharmacokinetics are numerous and reflect species differences in the physiological processes involved in the handling of drugs. Pharmacokinetics is a branch of pharmacology that describes the quantitative changes in the drug concentration in the body over time as a function of the dose administered. In order to evaluate the pharmacokinetic profiles, the concentration-time data from biological samples (most commonly used are plasma or serum) are subjected to mathematical models to quantify the processes involved in absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion of the drug and its metabolites (Buxton, 2023; Riviere & Papich, 2018).

The most important pharmacokinetic parameter is clearance (Cl), as the only parameter measuring the ability of a body (or an organ) to eliminate a drug. It is defined as the rate of elimination by all routes normalised to the concentration of the drug in a biological fluid in which it can be measured. It is one of the determinants of dosage rate. It determines the dose and the dosing frequency necessary to reach the steady-state concentration (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004b). The pharmacokinetic parameter, that relates the amount of the drug in the body to its plasma concentration is the volume of distribution (V_d). Several V_d are used due to the fact that the proportionality ratio between the amount of drug in the body and the

plasma concentration has different values depending to the state of drug disposition (V_c is the initial volume of distribution, V_{ss} is the appropriate volume of distribution when plasma concentrations are measured at steady-state, and V_{area} is the V_d when plasma concentrations is measured in pseudo-equilibrium conditions. V_d shows how broadly the drug is mobilised in the body, and is usually small for drugs that remain in the bloodstream, but is large for drugs distributed and bound to tissues (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004d). A hybrid parameter, halflife of elimination $(t_{1/2} \text{ or } t_{1/2}\lambda_z)$ is the most reported PK parameter, is defined as the time required to reduce 50 % plasma concentration during the elimination phase. It is estimated by determining the terminal slope of the time-concentration curve and is dependent on both Cl and V_d (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004c). The area under the concentration-time curve is the total area under the curve that describes the measured concentration of drug in the systemic circulation as a function of time (from zero to the last measurement point or extrapolated to infinity) and provides an estimate of drug exposure. Importantly, AUC is also used as a measure of bioavailability. Bioavailability (F), defined as 1 or 100 % for an intravenously administered drug, is defined as the fraction (or percentage) of drug that reaches the site of action or a biological fluid (usually the blood in the systemic circulation). For drugs administered via the extravascular routes (e.g. intramuscular, subcutaneous or oral), the bioavailability should be experimentally determined by comparison the extravascular and intravascular AUC values normalised to the dose administered. In case of extravascular administration, the bioavailability will affect the Cl and V_d values, and they will become apparent clearance (Cl/F) and apparent volume of distribution (V_d/F) (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004a). Two other pharmacokinetic parameters frequently reported in biological fluids of interest (usually plasma), include maximum drug concentration (C_{max}) and time to reach maximum drug concentration (t_{max}); these values are derived directly from the concentration-time plot (Buxton, 2023).

Under normal physiological conditions, most of the drugs are metabolised to facilitate elimination. The major organs of elimination are kidneys and liver. Thus, parent drug and metabolites are excreted in urine and, to a lesser extent, in faeces. However, due to variable drug distribution and alternative routes of elimination, drugs and their metabolites could also be found in animal products such as edible tissues (muscle, liver) milk, and eggs. Depletion profiles of drug residues are related to pharmacokinetic profiles and administered doses (Lees & Toutain, 2012). The European Medicines Agency (EMA) publishes maximum residue limits (MRL) of selected marker residue (drug or metabolite, or a sum of metabolites) for veterinary drug that is set by the Committee for Medicinal Products for Veterinary Use (Baynes et al., 2016).

1.3 Antimicrobial drugs

To obtain a comprehensive knowledge regarding the veterinary antibiotic drug, its pharmacokinetic profiles in different species should be studied. In addition, information on their biological, toxic effects and pharmacodynamic data are necessary. Pharmacodynamics studies biochemical, cellular, and physiological effects of drugs, including the molecular mechanisms (Manning & Blumenthal, 2023). It is a study of drug exposure in relation to its biological effect on the host, and in case of an antibiotic, this is the bacteria. For antibiotics, the most important pharmacodynamic parameters are the MIC in vitro, the post-antibiotic effect (PAE) and the kinetics of bacterial killing. The MIC is the gold standard in microbiology and it is defined as the lowest concentration of antimicrobial that suppresses visible bacterial growth in a defined incubation period (Andrews, 2001). In order to determine the MIC, incubation of a known amount of bacterial inoculum with a range of doubling antibiotic concentrations is necessary for a specified time. According to the MIC value, bacterial susceptibility breakpoints could be classified as "Susceptible", "Susceptible, increased exposure" or "Resistant" according to the European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST), and "Susceptible", "Intermediate" or "Resistant", according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) classification (Gaur et al., 2023). A microorganism is categorised as "Susceptible, standard dosing regimen", when there is a high likelihood of therapeutic success using a standard dosing regimen of the agent. "Susceptible, increased exposure" ("Intermediate" according to CLSI) when there is a high likelihood of therapeutic success because exposure to the agent is increased by adjusting the dosing regimen or by its concentration at the site of infection. A microorganism is categorised as "Resistant" when there is a high likelihood of therapeutic failure even when there is increased exposure (EUCAST, 2019). The mean bactericidal concentration (MBC) is be determined by sub-culturing the bacteria-antibiotic suspension from the MIC test on the antibiotic-free media to find the concentration that is required for complete bacterial killing (Andrews, 2001). Killing-kinetic assays are used in order to determine the degree of bacterial killing, and obtained curves follow microbial killing and growth as a function of both time and antibiotic concentration (Ambrose et al., 2007; Mueller et al., 2004).

1.4 Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration

The use of pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration is a proven tool for dose optimisation in order to achieve the particular plasma concentration profile (Toutain & Lees, 2004). This approach is used to determine an optimal dosage regimen for antibiotics, when the two objectives are important – to optimise the clinical efficacy and to minimise the selection of resistant pathogens (Aliabadi & Lees, 2001; Toutain et al., 2002). According to the antibiotic

activity and surrogate indexes used (markers of what is ultimately expected, that is clinical recovery and bacterial eradication), classically, antibiotics are categorised into one of the categories (Mueller et al., 2004):

- time-dependent, (e.g. beta-lactams) The activity of time-dependent antibiotics is based on the duration of time that free plasma concentrations exceed the MIC (T > MIC), of a bacterial pathogen of interest. The longer the drug levels are above the MIC, the more effective is the antibiotic treatment.
- Concentration-dependent antibiotics effect is associated with the maximum free plasma concentration above the MIC (C_{max}/MIC e.g. aminoglycosides) of a bacterial pathogen of interest. For the treatment to be effective the drug concentrations should be maximised and the suppression of bacteria continues after the drug levels fall below the MIC.

Time-dependent antibiotics with a post-antibiotic effect, have characteristics of both classes. The postantibiotic effect is the time period beginning after organisms are exposed to a drug until the survivors begin to multiply to a significant degree (Ambrose et al., 2007). Both time dependent killing and PAE contribute to the antibacterial action, which is dictated by the concentration of a free drug, the time of the contact with bacteria and the mechanism of action. The pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic index used to predict the antibiotic effectiveness is the AUC/MIC ratio, where AUC represents a mathematical sum of antibiotic concentrations, frequently calculated as AUC over 24 hours (AUC₂₄ or AUC₀₋₂₄ or AUC_{0-24h} or fAUC, highlighting the free concentration). AUC/MIC is the index used for predicting the efficacy of fluoroquinolones (Martinez et al., 2006; McKellar et al., 2004; Toutain et al., 2002). AUC/MIC (usually AUC₂₄/MIC) ratio is used to calculate the daily dose for an antibiotic. However, MIC is a static parameter, and has certain limitations. MIC determination involves growth of organisms in broth and can fail to simulate in vivo conditions in several respects, for example, the time in which microbial inhibition is achieved, the differences in pH and concentrations of several ions in biological fluids (e.g. plasma), compared with broth (Aliabadi & Lees, 2001). Thus, the approach that is based on in vivo or dynamic in vitro pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic systems such as bacterial time-killing curves shows more rationality compared with the approach based only on minimal inhibitory concentration value (Ambrose et al., 2007; Mueller et al., 2004).

1.5 Fluoroquinolone antimicrobial agents

Fluoroquinolones comprise a large group of synthetic antimicrobial agents. Compared to their predecessors, a class of drugs known as quinolones, the latter exhibit an increased

antibacterial activity against *Enterobacteriaceae* and other Gram-negative bacteria (including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*). Fluoroquinolones have good activity against most Gram-negative bacteria, including *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella* spp., *Proteus* spp. and others. Gram-positive bacteria are variably susceptible. *Staphylococcus* species are usually susceptible. Fluoroquinolones are concentration-dependent antibiotics and AUC/MIC ratios of 125–250 hours has been associated with optimal antibacterial action (McKellar et al., 2004), however also lower values, as low as 30–72 hours are reported (Madsen et al., 2019; Wright et al., 2000). Multiple factors can affect the activity of fluoroquinolones, including metal cations (Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Fe²⁺) and low pH at the site of infection. There are multiple mechanisms associated with bacterial resistance to fluoroquinolones. Most commonly resistance develops due to the alteration in drug enzyme targets, i.e. mutations in genes that code enzyme DNA gyrase and genes that code enzyme topoisomerase IV. Other resistance mechanisms include decreased drug permeability, increased in fluoroquinolone efflux associated pumps, and plasmid-mediated resistance (Riviere & Papich, 2018).

Fluoroquinolones are among the most important antimicrobials in veterinary medicine, used practically in all species. Currently labelled for the veterinary use in the EU include: enrofloxacin (metabolised to active metabolite ciprofloxacin), danofloxacin, marbofloxacin, orbifloxacin, and pradofloxacin. Difloxacin and ibafloxacin were formerly used in cats, dogs, cattle and poultry. Fluoroquinolone advantages include rapid bactericidal effect, action against a wide spectrum of clinically important bacteria, potency, good tolerance by animals and suitability for administration via different administration routes (Riviere & Papich, 2018). According to the WHO, fluoroquinolones are categorised as "highest priority critically important antibacterial agents", and should not be used when an effective lower category antimicrobial agent is available (WHO, 2019; EMA, 2020).

1.6 Levofloxacin

The review of levofloxacin properties and use in veterinary medicine is published in the paper "Levofloxacin in veterinary medicine: a literature review" by Andrejs Sitovs, Irene Sartini, and Mario Giorgi. Research in Veterinary Science, 2021 Jul; 137:111-126. doi: 10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.031. PMID: 33964616. Paragraph 1.6 and the material of Annex 5, Tables A1–A7 reference the aforementioned article.

Levofloxacin is a third-generation fluoroquinolone agent. Compared to previous generations of fluoroquinolones, it possesses expanded activity against Gram-positive bacteria and atypical intracellular pathogens (North et al., 1998). Levofloxacin is the optical S- (-) isomer of ofloxacin. Ofloxacin is a racemic mixture, but most of its antimicrobial activity is

due to the S-isomer, which is 32- to 128-fold more potent than the R-isomer. Levofloxacin was developed to take advantage of this antimicrobial potency, which requires approximately half the usual dose of ofloxacin to achieve similar efficacy, with a reduced toxicity profile. Levofloxacin was patented in 1985 by Daiichi Seiyaku Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd in Japan, but was not introduced to the human pharmaceutical market until 1993, when it was produced as oral tablets under the brand name Cravit®. Also, in 1993, Daiichi Sankyo entered into a licensing agreement with Sanofi-Aventis, and levofloxacin was subsequently marketed and sold under the trade name Tavanic®. Since 2010, generic formulations have also been available. Levofloxacin is currently registered for human use by both the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) and EMA, with a variety of formulations available. Oral tablets, oral, injectable and ophthalmic solutions are approved for use in human medicine in the USA (FDA, 2021). Oral tablets, injectable and ophthalmic solutions are approved in the EU (EMA, 2019). Indications for levofloxacin in human medicine include chronic bronchitis, acute sinusitis, inhalational anthrax (post-exposure), nosocomial and community-acquired pneumonia, prostatitis, pyelonephritis, skin and soft tissue infections and urinary tract infections. Levofloxacin is a drug included in the World Health Organization's List of Essential Medicines (WHO, 2021). Generally, all fluoroquinolones are categorised by WHO (WHO, 2019) as "highest priority critically important antimicrobials". Considering the increasing importance of antimicrobial stewardship principles (Lloyd & Page, 2018), antimicrobials of a lower importance category, active against the isolate of interest, should be used in preference to fluoroquinolones. Wherever possible, fluoroquinolone use in veterinary medicine should be based on antimicrobial susceptibility testing in order to mitigate the risk to public health and prevent the spread of bacterial resistance (EMA, 2020).

1.6.1 Levofloxacin physicochemical properties

Levofloxacin (molecular mass 361.37 g/mol) is pharmaceutically available as a hemihydrate, C18H20FN3O4 \times 1/2H₂O, (molecular mass 370.38 g/mol). Levofloxacin expresses slightly acidic (carboxylic acid moiety dissociation constant of 6.24) and strongly lipophilic properties, logP = 2.1 (Nowara et al., 1997). It is soluble in dimethyl sulfoxide, dimethyl formamide, glacial acetic acid and chloroform, slightly soluble in ethanol, sparingly soluble in water, and practically insoluble in ether. At a pH range of 0.6–5.8, levofloxacin water solubility is essentially constant at approximately 100 pg/mL (sparingly soluble). Above pH 5.8, the solubility increases rapidly to a maximum at pH 6.7, approximately 272 pg/mL, pKa value 6.25 (North et al., 1998).

1.6.2 Levofloxacin mechanism of action

Levofloxacin shares the same mechanism of action with other fluoroquinolones. Levofloxacin inhibits bacterial DNA gyrase (an enzyme required for DNA replication, transcription, repair, and recombination) and topoisomerase IV, thereby inhibiting the introduction of single-strand breaks on bacterial chromosomes, and resealing them after supercoiling. This prevents bacterial DNA replication and transcription, leading to a bactericidal effect (Riviere & Papich, 2018). Figure 1.1 represents the mechanism of action of levofloxacin.



Figure 1.1 Mechanism of action of levofloxacin against Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria

(Adapted from Herbert et al., 2022)

1.6.3 Use of levofloxacin in human and veterinary medicine

Levofloxacin is effective in the treatment of a variety of infectious diseases. Its spectrum of activity includes Gram-positive aerobic bacteria, Gram-negative aerobic bacteria, some anaerobic bacteria, and other microorganisms including *Chlamydia* spp., *Mycoplasma* spp., and *Mycobacterium* spp. Similar to human formulations of levofloxacin, veterinary formulations are available as oral and parenteral forms in non-EU countries (see Annex 5, Table A1). These products are used for farm animals with infectious diseases (Al Masud et al., 2020). Лексофлон (Lexoflon), for example, is indicated for the treatment of infections caused by the microorganisms listed in Table 1.1.

Table 1.1

Gram-positive	Gram-negative	Atypical intracellular
Clostridium spp.	Bacteroides spp.	Chlamydia spp.
Listeria monocytogenes	Campylobacter spp.	Mycoplasma spp.
Staphylococcus spp.	Enterobacter spp.	Rickettsia spp.
Streptococcus spp.	Escherichia coli	
	Fusobacterium spp.	
	Haemophilus spp.	
	<i>Moraxella</i> spp.	
	Pasteurella spp.	
	Proteus spp.	
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa	
	Salmonella spp.	

Reported antimicrobial spectrum of activity of veterinary levofloxacin formulation Лексофлон (Lexoflon) (NITA-FARM, 2022)

To achieve maximum therapeutic efficacy, adequate susceptibility of the microorganism to the therapeutic agent is required. Susceptibility and MIC values for levofloxacin have been reported for multiple microorganisms isolated from animal sources, however as no veterinary specific breakpoint values are available for levofloxacin, human medical breakpoints have been used. It is of great importance that, according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute VET09 report (CLSI, 2019b), susceptibility test results interpretations based on human breakpoints should be made with low confidence in the correlation between *in vitro* results and clinical outcomes in animals. Authors of most of the publications reported in Tables A2 and A3 of Annex 5 used susceptibility Testing 28th edition, supplement M100 (CLSI, 2018b). According to these standards, levofloxacin MIC breakpoints for most of the microorganisms are as follows: susceptible = $\leq 2 \mu g/mL$, intermediate = $4 \mu g/mL$, resistant = $\geq 8 \mu g/mL$; and for the disk diffusion method, zone diameter breakpoints: susceptible = zone diameter $\geq 17 mm$, intermediate = 14-16 mm, resistant = $\leq 13 mm$. CLSI rationale document suggests different breakpoint values for *Enterobacteriaceae* and *Pseudomonas aureginosa*: *Enterobacteriaceae* susceptible = $\leq 0.5 \ \mu$ g/mL, intermediate = 1 μ g/mL, resistant = $\geq 2 \ \mu$ g/mL; *P. aureginosa* susceptible = $\leq 1 \ \mu$ g/mL, intermediate = 2 μ g/mL, resistant = $\geq 4 \ \mu$ g/mL (CLSI, 2019a).

1.6.4 Levofloxacin antimicrobial resistance problem

Microbial resistance to fluoroquinolones may result from mutations in defined regions of DNA gyrase or topoisomerase IV (i.e. quinolone resistance determining regions (QRDRs) – *gyrA* and *parC*) or altered efflux. The development of microbial resistance to levofloxacin has been studied in human medicine, however there is limited research in other animal species. Mutations in microbial genes isolated from animals associated with increased resistance to levofloxacin, such as an increase in efflux pump expression, have been documented in molecular studies in a variety of microorganisms, including *Escherichia coli* (Cheng et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012), *Riemerella anatipestifer* (Sun et al., 2012), *Salmonella* spp. (Kang & Woo, 2014; Kim et al., 2013), *Haemophilus parasuis* (Zhao et al., 2018), and *Staphylococcus aureus* (Suzuki et al., 2016). A pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic study in goats identified an increase in levofloxacin resistance of *E. coli* isolated from goats within 48 hours of low dose (2 mg/kg bodyweight) parenteral levofloxacin administration, however the authors did not investigate the underlying mechanism for this finding (Vercelli et al., 2020).

1.6.5 Antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin against Gram-negative microorganisms

Gram-negative bacterial susceptibility to levofloxacin was reported against *Acinetobacter* spp. (Gurung et al., 2013; Kanaan et al., 2020), *Aeromonas hydrophilia* (Pauzi et al., 2020; Stratev et al., 2013), *Brucella* spp. (Morales-Estrada et al., 2016), *Bordetella* spp. (Beach et al., 2012), *Citrobacter freundii* (Goldberg et al., 2019), *Escherichia coli* (Ajayi et al., 2011; Anes et al., 2020; Bandyopadhyay et al., 2012; Batabyal et al., 2018; Benameur et al., 2019; Bhadaniya et al., 2019; Boyal et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2014; Cheng et al., 2020; Hashem et al., 2022; Hussein et al., 2022; Ibrahim et al., 2019; Inoue et al., 2013; Jassim & Shareef, 2023; Jiang et al., 2011; Karim et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2012; Mahmud et al., 2018; Mohanty et al., 2013; Onanga et al., 2020; Panda et al., 2010; Prajapati et al., 2020; Sitovs et al., 2023; Subedi et al., 2018; Tanzin et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2005), *Enterobacter* (Goldberg et al., 2019), *Francisella tularensis* (del Blanco et al., 2004), *Fusobacterium* spp. (Bhadaniya et al., 2019), *Haemophilus parasuis* (Zhang et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2018), *Helicobacter suis* (Berlamont et al., 2013), *Pseudomonas* spp. (Bai et al., 2019; Bhadaniya et al., 2019; Eraky et al., 2020; Farghaly, 2017; Ledbetter et al., 2007; Park et al., 2020; Qi et al., 2014;

Rubin et al., 2008), Proteus spp. (Huang et al., 2013; Marques et al., 2019; Pathirana et al., 2018; Sun et al., 2020), Shigella sonnei (Zhu et al., 2018), Salmonella spp. (Badr et al., 2020; Elfeil et al., 2020; Huamán et al., 2020; Karim et al., 2020; Rahman et al., 2016; Tamuly et al., 2011), Vibrio spp. (Li et al., 2018; Özer et al., 2008) and others (Da Silva et al., 2013). Susceptibility data expressed as reported (i.e. if only the percentage of resistant strains were reported, the percentage of sensitive strains was not calculated herein) is presented in Annex 5, Table A2. Some data is missing or incomplete, because it was not reported in published papers (e.g. MIC value); the same approach has been taken for other tables in the Annex 5. Studies that evaluated the susceptibility of E. coli isolated from animals to levofloxacin, sometimes report almost complete resistance (Anes et al., 2020; Benameur et al., 2019), however highly sensitive strains were also reported (Bandyopadhyay et al., 2012; Karim et al., 2020). Additionally, an increase in the percentage of resistant E. coli strains from 1993 to 2013 was reported (Chen et al., 2014). Many studies investigating the efficacy of levofloxacin in other Gram-negative infections have been undertaken in mouse models. In these models, levofloxacin results in 100 % animal survival, but fails to fully eradicate Burkholderia mallei (MIC 2.5 µg/mL) (Judy et al., 2009). Levofloxacin alone and in combination with rifampicin is effective in Brucella melitensis infections (Safi et al., 2013, 2014). Together with anti-TNF-α antibodies levofloxacin is effective against enterohaemorrhagic E. coli (Isogai et al., 2001). Also, in the mouse, levofloxacin demonstrates efficacy against a seemingly lethal dose (intranasal infection with approximately 99 colony-forming units) of Francisella tularensis and subsequent antibody development post-treatment (Klimpel et al., 2008).

1.6.6 Antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin against Gram-positive and other microorganisms

Gram-positive bacterial susceptibility to levofloxacin was reported against *Staphylococcus* spp. (Agnoletti et al., 2014; Bhadaniya et al., 2019; Kang & Woo, 2014; Lozano et al., 2011; Mohanty et al., 2013; Ruscher et al., 2010; Salauddin et al., 2020; Sasaki et al., 2007; Sharma et al., 2020; Tanzin et al., 2016; Upadhyay & Kataria, 2009; Van den Eede et al., 2013; Vanni et al., 2009; Zdolec et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2017), *Enterococcus* spp. (Davedow et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2023), *Lactobacillus* spp. (Saleem et al., 2018), *Actinomyces bowdenii* (Sherman et al., 2013), *Streptococcus* spp. (Bhadaniya et al., 2019; Eisenberg et al., 2017; Ichikawa et al., 2020; Mohanty et al., 2013; Soares et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2020), *Clostridium difficile* (Alvarez-Perez et al., 2014; Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2015; Bandelj et al., 2017; Rodriguez-Palacios et al., 2006; Thitaram et al., 2016), *Bacillus* spp., *Micrococcus* spp., *Corynebacterium* spp. (Bhadaniya et al., 2019), *Mycoplasma bovis* (Mustafa et al., 2013), *Mycobacterium avium* (Kanegi et al., 2019) and others (Bajaj et al., 2018). The

susceptibility of Gram-positive and atypical microorganisms to levofloxacin is presented in Annex 5, Table A3. The majority of investigated microorganisms are reported to have susceptibility to levofloxacin, e.g. a retrospective study of dog osteomyelitis showed that less than 10 % of various isolated microorganisms were resistant to this drug (Siqueira et al., 2014). However, there are some exceptions. Multiple studies (Alvarez-Perez et al., 2014; Alvarez-Pérez et al., 2013; Rodriguez-Palacios et al., 2006) have indicated complete clostridial resistance to levofloxacin. Complete Staphylococcus pseudintermedius resistance to levofloxacin in dogs was reported as well (Ruscher et al., 2010; Sasaki et al., 2007). Studies into the susceptibility of S. aureus have reported mixed results: on the one hand, oral administration of levofloxacin was more effective than ciprofloxacin in rabbits with S. aureus abscesses (Fernandez et al., 1999), on another hand ophthalmic administration in rabbits was not effective in the reduction of keratitis caused by a resistant S. aureus strain (Tungsiripat et al., 2003). Similarly, an in vitro pharmacokinetic model of bulbar conjunctiva of rabbits reported a stronger bactericidal effect of 1.5 % levofloxacin ophthalmic solution compared to 0.5 % solution against different MIC S. aureus strains (Suzuki et al., 2016). Levofloxacin was identified as the fluoroquinolone of choice in elephant tuberculosis (Backues & Wiedner, 2019), despite the fact that earlier study reported unsuccessful treatment of Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in captive elephants due to poor compliance and adverse effects (Miller et al., 2018). Rabbits infected with *Bacillus anthracis* (MIC 0.12 µg/mL) showed high survival rates, suggesting that intravenous levofloxacin is an effective therapeutic agent against inhalational anthrax (Yee et al., 2010). Oral administration of levofloxacin was effective in the anthrax model in Rhesus monkeys, where an initial dose of 15 mg/kg followed by 4 mg/kg every 12 hours prevented morbidity and mortality and did not cause development of microbial resistance (Kao et al., 2006). Topical levofloxacin formulation containing, miconazole, and dexamethasone was found to be effective in external otitis management in cats (Bastos et al., 2019). In buffalos intrauterine coadministration of levofloxacin with ornidazole and α tocopherol was effective in treating and preventing postpartum affection (Markandeya et al., 2011).

1.6.7 Adverse effects of levofloxacin

Levofloxacin side effects have been comprehensively documented in human medicine, and encompass common gastrointestinal effects (nausea, diarrhoea, constipation), headache, insomnia, dizziness, and rare, but severe tendinitis and peripheral neuropathy (Liu, 2010). However, reports of side effects in animals are limited. Most of the levofloxacin studies in veterinary medicine performed a single dose administration (dose range 2–810 mg/kg body

weight) and not all of them reported on side effects. Of those that did report on side effects, most suggested a lack of side effects associated with levofloxacin treatment (Aboubakr, 2012; Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014; Aboubakr et al., 2014; Albarellos et al., 2005; Bisht et al., 2018; Casas et al., 2019; Dumka & Srivastava, 2006; Goudah, 2009; Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Goudah & Hasabelnaby, 2010; Landoni & Albarellos, 2019; Lee et al., 2017; Patel et al., 2012; Patel et al., 2012; Sartini et al., 2020; Sartini et al., 2021; Urzua et al., 2020; Varia et al., 2009; Vercelli et al., 2020). Transient vomiting, soft faeces, diffuse erythema, pruritus, and signs of depression were reported in two of the animals in the study following intravenous administration of 15 mg/kg levofloxacin in dogs (Madsen et al., 2019). High single doses (810 mg/kg) of oral levofloxacin have also been reported to cause gastrointestinal side effects in female rats (Watanabe et al., 1992). Interestingly, the same study found that a much lower single oral dose (50 mg/kg) of levofloxacin in rabbits also caused gastrointestinal issues (reduction in food intake and body weight). Similarly, a toxicological study in broiler birds reported that a dose of 60 mg/kg bodyweight (considered therapeutic) was associated with gastrointestinal and haematological adverse effects, while supratherapeutic doses caused more severe gastrointestinal and haematological toxicity as well as muscle weakness and loss of body weight (Kumar et al., 2009). Despite the few reports of overt side effects in animals, molecular studies have found adverse effects of levofloxacin on various tissues, especially with extended dosing regimens. A reduction in antioxidant activity in rabbits was reported following 21 days of oral treatment with 10 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin (Khan & Rampal, 2013). In rats, oral administration of levofloxacin for 4 weeks revealed cytotoxic but not genotoxic effects (Al-Soufi & Al-Rekabi, 2018). Oral administration of levofloxacin for 30 days at doses from 9.37 to 37.5 mg/kg body weight resulted in deleterious effects on the liver, kidney and testes in mice (Ara et al., 2020), however, no clinical signs were found of levofloxacin-induced liver toxicity after oral administration of 40 mg/kg bodyweight in rats for just two weeks (although liver enzymes associated with liver damage and oxidative stress markers were elevated) (Farid & Hegazy, 2020). Some experimental reports and case studies have reported other potential effects of levofloxacin in animals. An anxiety-like effect in rats, and a reduction in sleep in mice were observed (Erden et al., 2001), this study also suggested that levofloxacin had analgesic activity in mice. Finally, a case report reported the development of a corneal plaque containing levofloxacin in a dog, following administration of levofloxacin eye drops for a period of 2 weeks (Park et al., 2015).

1.6.8 Recap of levofloxacin pharmacokinetics in veterinary species

Levofloxacin pharmacokinetic profiles have been established for different animal species, however these used different analytical techniques for levofloxacin concentration detection (microbiological assay, HPLC with fluorescence detection, HPLC with UV/Vis detection, HPLC/MS), different experimental protocols and different pharmacokinetic modelling approaches. This makes comparing such data challenging. Some authors indicate that the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin is best described by a two-compartmental pharmacokinetic model (Czyrski et al., 2015; Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Ram et al., 2008), while others applied a non-compartmental approach (Lee et al., 2017; Sitovs et al., 2020; Vercelli et al., 2020). Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin have been reported in dogs (Landoni & Albarellos, 2019; Madsen et al., 2019; Urzua et al., 2020; Yin et al., 2011), cats (Albarellos et al., 2005), giant pandas (Wang et al., 2021), rabbits (Czyrski et al., 2015; Destache et al., 2001; Sitovs et al., 2020), guinea pigs (Edelstein et al., 1996), rats (Cheng et al., 2002; Dharuman et al., 2010; Hurtado et al., 2014), mice (Yarsan et al., 2003), cattle (Dumka & Srivastava, 2007; Dumka & Srivastava, 2006; Kumar et al., 2009; Kumar et al., 2012), buffalo (Ram et al., 2008), goats (Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Ram et al., 2011; Vercelli et al., 2020), sheep (Durna Corum et al., 2020; Goudah & Hasabelnaby, 2010; Patel et al., 2012; Sartini et al., 2020), camels (Goudah, 2009), horses (Goudah et al., 2008) and monkeys (Hemeryck et al., 2006; Kao et al., 2006; Nelson et al., 2010). In bird species, levofloxacin pharmacokinetics was assessed in chicken (Bisht et al., 2018; El-Banna et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017; Patel et al., 2012; Varia et al., 2009), turkeys (Aboubakr et al., 2014), quails (Aboubakr, 2012), geese (Sartini et al., 2021), and ducks (Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014).

Comparison of the main pharmacokinetic parameters in mammalian species is presented in Annex 5, Tables A4 and A5. The fastest clearance in mammals was observed in rabbits (Sitovs et al., 2020) and sheep (Patel et al., 2012), and the longest elimination in cats (Albarellos et al., 2005). The fastest clearance in birds was observed in broiler chickens in one of the studies (El-Banna et al., 2013), however other studies on chickens have shown slower clearance values. Longest elimination was reported in broiler chicken study (Lee et al., 2017). Of other poultry, Bilgorajska geese had the longest elimination time (Sartini et al., 2021).

1.6.8.1 Plasma protein binding

Plasma protein binding of levofloxacin in animals is generally lower than reported value in humans 38 % (Fish & Chow, 1997). The *in vitro* plasma protein binding of levofloxacin has been assessed in various species it is summarised in Annex 5, Table A6. The highest reported plasma protein binding was 45.5 %, in rats (Hurtado et al., 2014), and the lowest 4.2 %, in

broiler chickens (El-Banna et al., 2013). Protein binding was never high enough to significantly affect levofloxacin pharmacokinetics.

1.6.8.2 Tissue disposition and residues

Annex 5, Table A7 presents levofloxacin disposition in poultry tissues, including suggested withdrawal times. Withdrawal times for registered veterinary products containing levofloxacin are reported in Table A1. Multiple pharmacokinetic studies have also reported on the distribution of levofloxacin in the tissues of various mammalian species. In rats, levofloxacin reached its highest concentration (2.31 µg/mL) in prostate dialysate fluid following intravenous administration of 7 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin (Hurtado et al., 2014). After a single intravenous administration of 0.5 µmol/kg to rats (0.18 mg/kg), the highest levofloxacin concentration within 3 minutes in the kidney medulla -10.4 nmol/g (3758 μ g/kg), followed by the kidney cortex - 6.2 nmol/g (2241 µg/kg) and the lowest concentration in brain - 0.03 nmol/g (11 µg/kg) (Ito et al., 1999). Investigation of the distribution of levofloxacin in several tissues in sheep (muscle, liver, kidney, heart, lung), following intravenous administration of the drug daily for five days showed the highest reported concentration of levofloxacin was in the kidney, and all tissues had detectable levels of levofloxacin 48 hours after the final dose was administered. This study also reported no accumulation of levofloxacin in the plasma or organs (Sartini et al., 2020). Levofloxacin was found to penetrate better than other fluoroquinolones into the lungs of mice (Klesel et al., 1995) and to accumulate in the lung of guinea pigs (Edelstein et al., 1996). Ocular concentrations reached their highest levels 1 hour post oral administration of 20 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin in rabbits. In this study, ocular concentration was higher in pigmented rabbits compared to albino ones (Mochizuki et al., 1994). After ophthalmic administration, comparable concentrations in extraocular tissues, eyelid, conjunctiva and cornea were reported (Sakai et al., 2019). Given the importance of minimising antibiotic residues in milk for human consumption, levofloxacin distribution into and elimination from the milk has been studied. As a weak organic acid, levofloxacin is expected to rapidly diffuse into the milk (Ram et al., 2008). It is therefore unsurprising that studies have investigated this phenomenon in milk-producing animals. Levofloxacin distribution in goat milk was evaluated (Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Ram et al., 2011). After the administration of 4 mg/kg bodyweight, reported milk protein binding was 37 % and a good penetration rate from blood to milk after intravenous and intramuscular administration. AUCmilk/AUCplasma ratios are 0.81 and 1.01 respectively. Elimination half-life from milk was similar regardless of administration route, and shorter than 4 hours (Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009). Longer elimination half-life from milk in mastitic

goats (7.5 hours) versus in healthy goats (4.5 hours) after intravenous administration of 10 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin was reported, highlighting the importance of considering potential differences in elimination induced by concurrent disease (Ram et al., 2011).

1.6.8.3 Metabolism

Formation of metabolites is negligible in view of levofloxacin antimicrobial activity in humans, with no active metabolites identified. Very limited data is available regarding the metabolic pathways of levofloxacin in animals. Minimal formation of levofloxacin beta-glucuronide (M1, not identified in humans), desmethyl-levofloxacin (M2), and levofloxacin-N-oxide (M3) reported in rats, dogs and monkeys (Fish & Chow, 1997). Similar results were also reported in Rhesus monkeys, with a further two unnamed metabolites also identified. The authors proposed that metabolites were formed directly from levofloxacin by N-demethylation, N-oxidation and glucuronide conjugation. All metabolites were in far lower concentrations than the parent compound (Hemeryck et al., 2006).

1.6.8.4 Bioavailability

Relative bioavailability of levofloxacin is among the highest of all fluoroquinolones, reported as over 100 % in multiple studies (Lee et al., 2017; Madsen et al., 2019; Sartini et al., 2020), and thus considered complete. Complete oral bioavailability was reported in sheep (Sartini et al., 2020), dogs (Madsen et al., 2019; Yin et al., 2011), and chickens (El-Banna et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017). The lowest oral bioavailability was reported after administration of a sustained-release formulation in dogs (Yin et al., 2011). Bioavailability following intramuscular and subcutaneous administration is variable between species, with the range of intramuscular bioavailability being 57-106 %, and subcutaneous bioavailability 80-119 %. Average bioavailability value exceeds 90 % in multiple studies. The lowest parenteral bioavailability was reported in cattle calves -60 % after intramuscular administration. Similarly, the reported range of average oral bioavailability in animals is 42-123 % (See Annex 5, Tables A4 and A5).

1.6.8.5 Excretion

In Rhesus monkeys, levofloxacin is rapidly excreted unchanged, mainly in urine (58-65 %), while minor metabolites (reported above) represented < 5 % in urine (Hemeryck et al., 2006). In the same study, a minor fraction of administered levofloxacin was excreted in faeces (7.4–14.7 %) with approximately 1–2 % being the parent compound and 4–7 % an unknown levofloxacin metabolite. Urinary excretion in cattle and goats has been investigated in several studies. Levofloxacin was detectable in urine 24 hours post intravenous administration in calves (Dumka & Srivastava, 2007), whereas in goat urine up to 36 hours after intravenous administration (Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009). Urinary levofloxacin concentrations up to 18 times higher than levels in the plasma and milk (Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009). Higher urinary excretion of levofloxacin in febrile calves compared to healthy calves (Kumar et al., 2009).

1.6.8.6 Pharmacokinetic interactions of levofloxacin with other compounds

The impact of co-administration of levofloxacin with other drugs or natural products on levofloxacin pharmacokinetics has been reported in several research papers. Sucralfate pretreatment significantly decreased oral levofloxacin absorption in mixed-breed dogs, reducing maximum plasma concentration from 1.95 µg/mL to 0.57 µg/mL, and bioavailability from 72 % to 32 % (Urzua et al., 2020). Co-administration of levofloxacin with sunitinib in rabbits results in an increase in the levofloxacin elimination rate constant and decreased its half-life (Czyrski et al., 2015). Co-administration of levofloxacin with either tolfenamic acid or flunixin meglumine resulted in slower levofloxacin elimination (Durna Corum et al., 2020). Pretreatment of broiler chickens with amprolium and toltrazuril before levofloxacin administration reduces bioavailability and distribution to the internal organs (El-Banna et al., 2013). A number of medications have been reported to not interfere with levofloxacin pharmacokinetics: cyclosporin pretreatment does not affect levofloxacin biliary distribution in rats (Cheng et al., 2002), administration of intramuscular paracetamol does not affect the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in cattle calves (Dumka & Srivastava, 2007) and intramuscular ketoprofen does not influence levofloxacin pharmacokinetics in goats (Jatin et al., 2018). Pretreatment with trikatu (mix of plant extracts Piper nigrum, Piper longum, and Zingiber officinale), however, increases levofloxacin bioavailability in the goat (Patel et al., 2019).

1.7 Rabbits as subjects for levofloxacin study

Rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) have a small role as food-producing veterinary species, they are classified as minor food-producing species however, they are frequently kept as companion animals (D'Amico et al., 2022; Toutain et al., 2010). Like other small mammals, rabbits are susceptible to a variety of microbial infections, with the most common infective organisms identified as *Pasteurella* spp., *Enterobacteriaceae* spp., *Streptococcus* spp., and *Staphylococcus* spp. (Percy & Barthold, 2013; Rougier et al., 2006). *Pasteurella multocida* in rabbits can cause productive rhinitis, conjunctivitis, otitis, subcutaneous abscesses, bronchopneumonia, metritis and pyometra (EFSA, 2021; Jekl, 2021; Percy & Barthold, 2013). *Escherichia coli* infection in rabbits is generally associated with neonatal and post-weaning

colibacillosis, accompanied by gastrointestinal tract pathology (ANSES, 2020; El-Ashram et al., 2020).

Previously in rabbits, the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin have been studied only after intravenous (IV) administration, with limited samples taken following drug administration, the animals in that study were infected with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* for use as a model for meningitis; thus, the kinetics obtained may have been altered due to infective processes (Destache et al., 2001). Regardless, the full pharmacokinetic profile of levofloxacin in healthy rabbits has not been established before the study performed in the scope of this Thesis. IV administration requires specific administration skills and is unlikely to become routinely used in rabbits as prey species are less tolerant of handling than predator species (Giguère et al., 2013). In contrast, intramuscular (IM) and subcutaneous (SC) routes of administration are suitable for use in rabbits (Shellim, 2011) as those methods are easily performed, minimizing handling of and stress to the animal. Thus, IM or SC administration in rabbits is more convenient and faster for veterinary practitioners, and, in exceptional cases, the drug could even be administered by the owner. Despite all 3 routes of administration being parenteral, the pharmacokinetics of each route could differ, affecting the onset and duration of action and bioavailability, thus the IM and SC levofloxacin administration was also performed.

Rabbits have been used as a model to test the effects of eye drops containing fluoroquinolones (Krustev et al., 2014; Sakai et al., 2019). Prior to the study in the scope of this Thesis, there were no data on the effect on tear production and quality after parenteral administration of levofloxacin or any other fluoroquinolone approved for systemic use in rabbits. The ocular surface requires a tear film to cover the eye surface in order to maintain eye health and function. Dry eye syndrome (DES) occurs as a result of decreased tear production or increased tear film evaporation. DES in humans and animals can lead not only to discomfort but also corneal and conjunctival damage. There are reports in humans and animals showing that systemic use of drugs such as beta-blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, diuretics, and antimicrobials have ocular side effects, and most of those drugs have been reported to cause DES (Blomquist & Palmer, 2011; Rajaei et al., 2015; Shirani et al., 2010). There is evidence that systemic administration of other antimicrobial agents — sulphonamides — can decrease tear production in rabbits (Shirani et al., 2010). In the scope of this Thesis the study on rabbits was used to establish and compare the pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after single administration via IV, IM, and SC routes in healthy rabbits. Additionally, the effects of levofloxacin administration on tear quantitative and qualitative parameters were assessed.

1.8 Geese as subjects for levofloxacin study

According to the veterinary interest species classification, geese belong to the minor food-producing species (Toutain et al., 2010). Geese were domesticated a long time ago for their eggs, meat and feathers (Heikkinen, 2017; Honka et al., 2018). Waterfowls' meat and eggs have high nutritional quality and geese breeding is increasing all over the world, especially in Europe and Asia. Almost 60 different geese breeds exist, with many located in Eastern Europe (Buckland & Guy, 2002). The Bilgorajska goose (*Anser anser domesticus*), the subject of the present study in the scope of this Thesis, is a primitive breed from North-eastern Poland (Bilgoraj region) and is actively preserved because of its genetic significance (Ksiazkiewicz, 2006).

The health and productive performance of commercial geese is supported via modern pharmaceutical management and facilities, nutritional practices and genetic improvement. Infections, caused by pathogens such as *Mycoplasma* spp. or *Pseudomonas* spp., are common in geese, and other domesticated bird species (Stipkovits & Szathmary, 2012; Vos et al., 2011). These pathogens can infect eggs and destroy embryos. Levofloxacin shows activity against these and other pathogens. In the scope of this Thesis the levofloxacin pharmacokinetic study and tissue depletion study was performed, because geese, health is an important factor that constantly requires new protocols in pathogen prevention, control and treatment.

2 Methods

Three experimental studies were carried out in the scope of the current PhD Thesis. All results were published in separate original articles. Animal studies, bioanalytical laboratory and microbiological laboratory methods were used to complete this research.

The animal experiments were carried out in animal facilities of Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Faculty of Veterinary Medicine (LBTU) (Jelgava, Latvia) and University of Life Sciences Department of Pharmacology, Toxicology and Environmental Protection (Lublin, Poland). The bioanalytical (liquid chromatography) sample analysis was performed at Rīga Stradiņš University Scientific Laboratory of Biochemistry (Riga, Latvia) and University of Pisa Department of Veterinary Sciences (Pisa, Italy). The microbiological assays were carried out at Rīga Stradiņš University Department of Biology and Microbiology (Riga, Latvia). Data analysis was performed at Rīga Stradiņš University Department of Pharmacology.

2.1 First study. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits

The study is described in the paper "Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*)" by Andrejs Sitovs, Laura Voiko, Dmitrijs Kustovs, Liga Kovalcuka, Dace Bandere, Santa Purvina and Mario Giorgi. Journal of Veterinary Science, 2020 Mar; 21(2):e32. doi: 10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32.. PMID: 32233138; PMCID: PMC60 PMC7113567 24462. Paragraphs 1.7, 2.1, 2.4, 3, 4.1 and 5.1 reference the aforementioned article.

2.1.1 Animals

Six cross-bred female rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) (body mass 4.21 ± 0.74 kg), 6 months of age at the beginning of the study, were obtained from the animal facility of the Clinical Institute, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, LBTU. Animals were determined to be healthy based on clinical examination, complete blood analysis, and complete ocular examination including biomicroscopy, indirect ophthalmoscopy, and tonometry. Animals received no drug treatment before the study and were allowed to acclimate in their cages for 7 days before the beginning of the study. Rabbits were housed individually in cages under 12-h light/12-h dark cycle with *ad libitum* access to drinking water and hay. Animals were fed standard pelleted food once daily (Purina Professional Rabbit Feed, Purina, USA). The room temperature was maintained at 20°C. Before the study, animals were randomly divided into 3 groups of 2 using research randomiser software. Identifying numbers were placed on each of the animal cages. Animals were weighed immediately before the beginning of the study and before the beginning of the study and before the beginning of the study and before the beginning of the study.

2.1.2 Chemicals and reagents

Analytical standard (purity > 98 %) levofloxacin and enrofloxacin (used as the internal standard) and tetraethylammonium chloride were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (USA). Acetonitrile, methanol, sodium dihydrogen phosphate, sodium hydrogen phosphate, chloroform, and isopropanol were of high-performance liquid chromatography grade. A levofloxacin solution (Levoflox 500 mg/100 mL; Claris, India) was used for administration to the animals.

2.1.3 Experimental design and sample collection

A 3-phase, 3-treatment cross-over study design was applied. The levofloxacin solution was administered as a single dose of 5 mg/kg body weight. In each phase, doses were administered as follows: IV route - as a 1 min bolus into the marginal ear vein; IM route half of the dose was administered to each of the musculus biceps femoris consecutively (half dose used to avoid muscle damage due to large volume of solution to be administered); SC route — administered as an injection in the back of the neck region. A fourteen-day washout period was applied, allowing animals to fully clear the drug and to recover from stress related to the experimental procedures. Animal groups for levofloxacin administration were rotated until all 3 phases of the study were completed. For each phase, a sterile 24G catheter was placed in the central ear artery (for blood collection) and a second one into the marginal ear vein (for IV drug administration) prior to drug administration on the day of commencement of the experiment. The venous catheter was removed immediately after IV drug administration while the arterial one remained until blood collection at 10 hours post-administration. Catheters were flushed with heparin containing saline after blood collection, and before any blood collection, the first 0.3 mL of blood were discharged. Blood samples (approximately 0.5 mL) were collected immediately before levofloxacin administration and at 0.083, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 24, and 48 hours post-administration. Blood samples at 24 and 48 hours were collected by syringe from the jugular vein. Collected blood was immediately transferred to lithium-heparin containing test tubes, centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 10 min, and the plasma harvested and stored at -20°C until analysis. At 0.5, 2, 4, 8 and 10 hours additional 0.5 mL of blood was collected in a test tube without anticoagulant, left at room temperature to coagulate and serum was harvested and stored at -80°C for the pharmacodynamic study.

2.1.4 Tear fluid collection and analysis

Tear fluid evaluations included tests of tear production and tear film osmolarity. All evaluations were conducted the day before levofloxacin administration to obtain baseline values, and then at 1, 4, 8, 10, 24, and 48 hours after each levofloxacin administration. Schirmer

Tear Test (STT) values for tear production were obtained with standardised sterile Schirmer Tear Test I (Eickemeyer, Germany) tips that were inserted under the lower lateral eyelid margin for 1 min. The length of the wet section of the STT tip was immediately measured in millimetres (mm/min). Immediately after the STT result was obtained, STT strips were placed into 1.5 mL polypropylene vials and held at -20°C for further quantification of levofloxacin in the lacrimal fluid. Tear production was also evaluated by applying I-TEAR TEST strips (I-MED Pharma Inc., Canada) into both eyes at the same period post levofloxacin solution administration as that for the STT-based evaluations. A strip was applied to the central lower lid tear meniscus without touching the cornea or conjunctiva in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The number of millimetres on the strip reached in 5 seconds was obtained (unit: mm/5 sec). Tear film osmolarity was assessed by applying the I-PEN VET device (I-MED Pharma Inc., Canada) immediately after the tear production tests were performed. The I-PEN VET sensor was applied to the palpebral conjunctiva until a sound signal, indicating the end of the measurement, was heard (unit: mOsms/L).

2.1.5 Plasma chromatographic analysis

Levofloxacin concentrations in plasma samples were assessed using a Waters Acquity H Class Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography system equipped with a fluorescence detector (Waters Corporation, USA). The chromatographic analytical method and the sample extraction procedure were based on those previously described (Lee et al., 2017). Briefly, to 200 µL of plasma, 100 µL of 10 µg/mL internal standard solution in methanol, 800 µL of phosphate buffer solution (pH = 7.0), and 4 mL of chloroform: isopropanol (5:1 v/v) were added. The mixture was shaken by a vertical rotating device (Biosan Bio-RS 24, Latvia) at 30 rotations per minute for 20 min, and then centrifuged at $3,000 \times g$ for 10 minutes at 4°C. Three millilitres of the lower organic layer was transferred into a clean polypropylene tube and evaporated to dryness under a nitrogen stream at 40°C. The dry residue was reconstituted with 200 µL of the mobile phase. One microliter of the resultant solution was injected into the chromatographic system. The chromatographic column used was a Waters Acquity C18 BEH 2.1×75 mm with a 1.7 µm particle size (Waters Corporation). The column temperature was maintained at 35°C. The mobile phase was 83 % 0.02 M potassium dihydrogen phosphate solution with 0.012 M tetraethylammonium chloride (pH = 2.5) and 17 % acetonitrile. The isocratic flow rate was 0.3 mL/min. The fluorescence detector wavelengths were set to 295 nm excitation and 420 nm emission. The sample run time was 5 minutes.

2.1.6 Chromatographic method validation

Drug-free rabbit plasma was used for both standard curve construction and quality control method validation in accordance with the Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/2009 (EMA, 2018a). Drug-free pooled plasma was harvested from all 6 experimental rabbits (2 mL of blood collected) immediately before the beginning of the first phase of the experiment but after the catheters had been placed. The calibration curve was linear from 0.01 to 10 μ g/mL (R² > 0.999). The levofloxacin recovery from plasma was 96 % ± 3.5 %. The lower limit of quantification was 0.01 μ g/mL. Five level standards of levofloxacin quality controls of 0.01, 0.025, 0.05, 0.5, and 5 μ g/mL.

2.1.7 Pharmacokinetic analysis

Individual pharmacokinetic parameters were estimated for every animal after treatment using all 3 administration routes. Estimation was performed using non-compartmental analysis and based on visual inspection of the obtained graph (ThothPro Version 1.6.66, Poland). The linear trapezoidal interpolation method was used to calculate the AUC after IV administration, whereas the linear up/log down method was used for the IM and SC routes of administration. At least 3 of the last points of the elimination phase of the plasma vs. time curve were used to calculate the elimination constant. The C_{max}, and t_{max} were obtained from the data. The bioavailability (F %) was calculated for every single subject as F % = (AUC_{IM} or _{SC}/AUC_{IV}) × 100, and the mean absorption time (MAT) as MAT = MRT _{IM} or _{SC} - MRT_{IV}. Numerical differences of individual AUC_{0-last} values were lower than 20 % of AUC_{0-inf}, and the R² of the terminal phase regression line was > 0.85. Extraction ratio (E %) after IV administration was calculated using the clearance value after IV administration and the cardiac output value (i.e. E % = clearance/cardiac output ×100), where cardiac output = 180 × body weight^{-0.19} (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004b).

2.1.8 Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic index

Because the levofloxacin concentrations were below the LOQ at 24 hours, in order to predict the AUC₂₄ and to calculate the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic surrogates, a dose 5 times that administered was modelled. The levofloxacin concentration values for all sampled times from 0.083 hours to 10 hours post-administration were multiplied by 5. Applying the superposition principle and assuming the same first-order kinetics (Gabrielsson & Weiner, 2001), approximate values of the concentration at 24 hours post-administration were calculated for each rabbit for all 3 routes of administration. The non-compartmental pharmacokinetic analysis was re-run to obtain an AUC₂₄ value from this adjusted data, and the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic surrogate AUC₂₄/MIC was calculated. Since fluoroquinolones produce a

concentration-dependent antimicrobial effect over time (Brown, 1996), a target AUC₂₄/MIC ratio for fluoroquinolones of 72 was used (Madsen et al., 2019).

2.1.9 Drug accumulation prediction

A prediction based on a single administration was used to evaluate the possible accumulation ratio (R) at 12 h dosing intervals (τ). The following formula was used (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004c):

$$R = \frac{1}{[1 - (0.5)^{\frac{\tau}{t_{1/2}}}]} \tag{1}$$

where τ is the dosing interval and $t_{\frac{1}{2}}$ is the half-life of elimination.

2.1.10 MIC breakpoints prediction

Based on the equation $AUC_{24}/MIC > 72$, the antimicrobial activity breakpoint for the theoretically computed dose of 25 mg/kg for rabbits, a MIC < $AUC_{24}/72$ was assumed to be effective (Madsen et al., 2019). The AUC was expressed in terms of the unbound drug; levofloxacin was previously reported to be 25 % bound to plasma proteins in rabbits (Destache et al., 2001).

2.1.11 Theoretical effective daily dose calculation

As fluoroquinolones are antimicrobials that possess concentration/time-dependent effects, a theoretical optimal daily dosage was calculated for all 3 routes of administration based on the following formula (Toutain et al., 2002):

$$Dose \ per \ day = \frac{\frac{AUC_{24}}{MIC} \times MIC \times CI}{f_u \times F} \times 24$$
(2)

where AUC₂₄/MIC is the ratio for optimal efficacy (= 72), Cl = clearance, f_u = free fraction of drug in plasma (= 0.75) and F = bioavailability (considered 1 if complete).

2.2 Second study. Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in geese

The study is described in the paper "Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in Bilgorajska geese" by Irene Sartini, Beata Łebkowska-Wieruszewska, Andrejs Sitovs, Andrzej Lisowski, Amnart Poapolathep and Mario Giorgi. British Poultry Science, 2021 Apr;62(2): 193–198. doi:
10.1080/00071668.2020.1842855. Epub 2020 Nov 18. PMID: 33121260. Paragraphs 1.8, 2.2, 2.4, 3, 4.2 and 5.2 reference the aforementioned article.

2.2.1 Animals

Geese were supplied by a local farm (Majątek Rutka, Puchaczów, Poland). Their health status was evaluated based on a complete physical examination by a veterinarian before the beginning of the study, and through daily observation of behaviour and appetite. Geese were acclimatised for one week in their new environment before the beginning of the trial, and a ring with an identity code was applied to the left leg for easy identification. Birds were housed in a 60 m² enclosed area with an indoor shelter of 8 m². Animals were allowed to graze freely during the day and were fed a balanced, drug-free pelleted diet (Purina Duck Feed pellets, Purina Animal Nutrition, Gray Summit, MO, USA) twice a day and water was supplied *ad libitum*. No pharmacological treatment was received by the birds before the experiment.

2.2.2 Chemicals and reagents

Levofloxacin and the internal standard (IS) enrofloxacin powder with a standard purity of 99.0 % were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milan, Italy). High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)-grade acetonitrile, methanol, trichloromethane and isopropanol were procured from Merck (Kenilworth, NJ, USA). Tetraethylamine was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MI, US). Orthophosphoric acid, sodium dihydrogen phosphate and potassium hydrogen phosphate were purchased from Carlo Erba Reagents (Milan, Italy). Deionised water was produced using a Milli-Q Millipore Water System (Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany).

2.2.3 Experimental design and sample collection

The study consisted of two parts – pharmacokinetic trial and a tissue depletion trial. The pharmacokinetic trial involved 16 healthy male Bilgorajska geese (body weight (BW), 3.4–4.9 kg; age, 3–4 years) which were randomly divided into two sub-groups (n = 8/group). Sub-group 1 received a single IV dose (2 mg/kg) of levofloxacin (levofloxacin TEVA 5 mg/mL; Teva Pharmaceutical, Hungary) into the left brachial vein using a sterile 26-gauge 1.75 cm needle. The geese in sub-group 2 were given a single oral dose (5 mg/kg) of levofloxacin. The oral doses were prepared by grinding, homogenising, and partitioning the marketed drug (Levofloxacin ACCORD 250 mg/tablet; Accord Healthcare Limited, UK) and dosed relative to the BW of each bird. The correct weight of the solid formulation was dissolved in water and administered via crop gavage using a rounded tip metal catheter 3 h after being fed. Blood samples (1 mL) were collected in vacutainer lithium heparin tubes (BD, Vaud, Switzerland)

from a 24-gauge catheter inserted immediately before the experiment in the right brachial vein at 0, 0.083, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 10, 24, 34, and 48 hours after IV and at 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 24, and 48 h after the last drug administration after per os (PO) treatment. After 12 hours, the catheter was removed, and blood was collected from the left brachial vein directly with a 24-gauge syringe. The catheter was cleaned by flushing with 1 mL of 0.9 % saline with the addition of 10 IU/mL heparin at each collection timepoint. For each blood collection, the first 0.2 mL of blood was discarded. Tubes were centrifuged at 1500 x g and the harvested plasma was stored at -20° C until analysis within 30 days of collection.

The tissue depletion trial involved 10 geese which were given an oral dose (5 mg/kg) of levofloxacin, as described for sub-group 2. Two animals were humanely killed by stunning and exsanguination at 6, 10, 24, 34 and 48 hours after treatment. Approximately 4 g of muscle, heart, liver, lung and kidney were collected and stored at -20° C until further analysis.

2.2.4 Plasma and tissue extraction procedure and chromatographic analysis

An aliquot (0.2 mL) of plasma was added to 0.1 mL of IS (0.1 μ g/mL) solution in methanol and 0.8 mL of 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.1. After the addition of 6 mL of a mixture of trichloromethane and isopropanol (5:1 v/v %), the samples were shaken at 60 oscillations/minute for 10 minutes and centrifuged at 4000 x g for 5 minutes. Then 5 mL of the organic layer was transferred into a clean tube and dried at 40°C under a nitrogen stream. The residue was dissolved in 0.2 mL of mobile phase, vortexed and an aliquot (50 μ L) was injected on to the HPLC system. Liver, kidney, lung, heart and muscle samples were thawed and immediately dissected into small pieces and an aliquot of 1 g per tissue was placed into 5 mL plastic tubes containing 3 mL of homogenisation solution (0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.1). The suspension was homogenised for approximately 40 seconds and then 0.2 mL were processed, as described for the plasma samples.

The HPLC was an LC system (Jasco, Japan) consisting of a high-pressure mixer pump (model PU 980 Plus), spectrofluorometric detector (model 2020 Plus), auto sampler (model AS 950), and Peltier system (model CO-4062). The injection loop volume was set at 50 μ L. Data was processed using the CromNav 2.0 software (Jasco, Inc., Japan). The chromatographic separation assay, modified from the method reported in the literature (Lee et al., 2017), was performed using a Gemini analytical column (250 × 4.6 mm inner diameter, 5 μ m particle size, Phenomenex, Torrance, California, USA) at 15 °C. The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile: aqueous solution (20:80 v/v %) at a flow rate of 1 mL/minute. The aqueous solution consisted of potassium dihydrogenphosphate (0.02 M), phosphoric acid (0.006 M) and tetraethyl amine

(0.012 M) in water (pH = 4.0). Excitation and emission wavelengths were set at 295 and 490 nm, respectively.

2.2.5 Chromatographic method validation

The quantitative HPLC method was fully validated for each tissue (liver, kidney, lung, heart and muscle) and plasma in terms of linearity, intra-day and inter-day precision, recovery, limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ), according to the EMA guidelines (EMA, 2018a). Linearity was determined by linear regression analysis, using calibration curves constructed using replicates (n=3) of samples from the control geese spiked with levofloxacin at concentrations of 0.005, 0.01, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 5 µg/mL. The intra- and inter-day precision was calculated after analysis of six plasma resamples spiked with levofloxacin at three different concentrations (0.005, 0.1 and 5 μ g/mL) with the same instrument and the same operator on the same and on different days, respectively. Precision was calculated and expressed as the coefficient of variation (CV%). The extraction recovery experiment was carried out by analysing samples spiked with the same concentration (0.005, 0.1 and 5 μ g/mL) by comparing the response (measured as area) of high, middle, low standards and the IS spiked into blank goose plasma (control), to the response of equivalent standards. Recovery was expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). The LOD was estimated as the plasma and tissue drug concentrations that produced a signal to noise ratio of 3 and LOQ was determined as the lowest plasma concentration that produced a signal to noise ratio of 10.

2.2.6 Pharmacokinetic analysis

Levofloxacin plasma concentration was modelled for each subject using a noncompartmental model using ThothPro 4.3.0 v software (www. thothpro.com, Gdansk, Poland). The C_{max} and time to reach the C_{max} (t_{max}) were determined directly from the concentration vs time curves. The elimination half-life ($t_{1/2}\lambda_z$) was calculated using least squares regression analysis of the concentration-time curve, and the AUC was calculated by linear log trapezoidal and the linear-up log-down rule was applied to the final concentration-time points for both IV and PO administration, respectively. From these values, the volume of distribution at steady state ($V_{ss} = \text{dose x AUMC/AUC}^2$), mean residence time (MRT = AUMC/AUC), and systemic clearance (Cl=dose/AUC) were calculated. Pharmacokinetic estimates were calculated only if the individual value of AUC_{rest%} was lower than 20% % of AUC_{0-inf} and the square of coefficient of determination (R^2) of the terminal phase regression line was >0.85. Absolute oral bioavailability (F %) was calculated using the following formula:

$$F(\%) = \frac{AUC_{P/O individual} \times Dose_{I/V}}{AUC_{I/V average} \times Dose_{P/O}} \times 100$$
(3)

A naïve pooled-data approach, using a non-compartmental analysis (Pouplin et al., 2016), was used to calculate the pharmacokinetic parameters for levofloxacin in all tissue samples. The penetration of levofloxacin into each tissue was determined by comparing the AUC ratios between tissues and plasma (AUC_{tissue}/AUC_{plasma}) after PO administration (Sartini et al., 2020). Levofloxacin concentrations in the selected tissues were used to calculate preliminary withdrawal times using the software WT 1.4, developed by the European Medicines Agency (EMA, 2018b). The withdrawal time was established as being the time when the upper-one sided tolerance limit (99 %) with 95 % confidence interval (CI) was below the maximum residue limit of 0.1 μ g/g levofloxacin, which reflected the MRL for fluoroquinolones in poultry liver (EMA, 1997, 1999, 2002).

2.3 Third study. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*)

The study is described in the paper "*In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) – A preliminary study" by Andrejs Sitovs, Ingus Skadins, Santa Purvina and Dace Bandere. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 2023 Apr 15; Online ahead of print. doi: 10.1111/jvp.13383. PMID: 37060264. Paragraphs 1.7, 2.3, 2.4, 4.3 and 5.3 reference the aforementioned article.

2.3.1 Bacterial isolates

This study included *P. multocida* clinical isolates (n = 10), *E. coli* isolates (n = 5) and commercially available *E. coli* ATCC 25922 (ATCC, USA) as a reference strain. All *E. coli* isolates were collected from rectal swabs of clinically healthy rabbits that did not previously receive any treatment. Health status was verified by the veterinarian, based on the physical examination and complete blood analysis. Rabbits were housed on a farm near Riga, Latvia. Rectal swabs from were obtained using TRANSWAB® Gel Amies Plain (MWE, UK) with gel media. Within the same day, the samples were transported to the laboratory of microbiology at Rīga Stradiņš University. Swabs were cultured on McConkey agar and identified with VITEK2 Compact system (bio- Mérieux, France). One *E. coli* isolate from one rabbit was selected. Isolates were considered part of commensal flora and not pathogenic. All *P. multocida* isolates

were from rabbits with clinical rhinitis and/or pneumonia. Six *P. multocida* isolates were provided by the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies (Jelgava, Latvia), and 4 isolates were provided by the Institute of Food Safety Animal Health and Environment BIOR (Riga, Latvia). One *P. multocida* isolate from one rabbit was used in this study.

2.3.2 Determination of minimum inhibitory and minimum bactericidal concentrations in broth and serum

Minimum inhibitory concentration values were determined using the microdilution method according to the CLSI guidelines M100 (CLSI, 2018a, 2018b). Levofloxacin standard (>99 %) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Levofloxacin stock solution (5120 µg/ mL) was prepared in Milli-Q ultra-purified water (Millipore, USA) with the addition of 0.1 M NaOH and further diluted to working concentrations with cation-adjusted Mueller Hinton broth (MHB) or in commercially available drug-free sterile rabbit serum (Biowest, France), respectively. Escherichia coli MIC and MBC were detected in MHB and serum. Pasteurella multocida MIC and MBC were determined in MHB with the addition of 5 % defibrinated sheep blood (bioTRADING Benelux B.V., France) and in serum. After the overnight growth on agar plates, colonies were suspended in MHB to reach the same turbidity as the McFarland turbidity standard of 0.5. Each E. coli culture was diluted 1:100 in MHB to obtain a bacterial count of approximately 10⁶ colony-forming units per millilitre (CFU/mL); each P. multocida culture was diluted 1:100 in MHB supplemented with 5 % defibrinated sheep blood. Levofloxacin 128 µg/mL working solutions were prepared in MHB and in serum. Final incubation for 24 hours at 37°C was performed with levofloxacin serial dilutions from 64 to 0.004 µg/mL in both media in the presence of 5 x 10^5 CFU/mL of bacteria. After the incubation, E. colicontaining microdilution plates were read at 600 nm using Infinite F50 Plus reader (Tecan, Switzerland). MIC was reported as the lowest levofloxacin concentration, which showed no turbidity in the microdilution tray wells. For P. multocida in MHB with blood, MIC was reported as the lowest concentration where no colour change from red to brown was visually observed. To determine the MBC, 10 µL of the content of wells showing no bacterial growth was transferred to plates, containing Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) for E. coli and TSA supplemented with 5 % defibrinated sheep blood for P. multocida. After incubation for 24 hours at 37°C, colonies were counted. The limit of detection was 100 CFU/mL. The lowest concentration showing no bacterial growth was reported as MBC. Reference culture E. coli ATCC 25922 MIC and MBC values were determined on MHB only. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.3.3 Levofloxacin serum samples for ex vivo bacterial killing curve evaluation

Serum samples containing levofloxacin at known concentrations were obtained from our rabbit levofloxacin pharmacokinetic profile study. There, after each drug administration, serum samples for *ex vivo* study were obtained after 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 4.0, 8.0 and 10.0 hours. Pooled serum samples from experimental rabbits (3 mL) were used for the present study. Levofloxacin concentrations in pooled serum samples were determined prior to the time-killing study with a validated HPLC method (Sitovs et al., 2020).

2.3.4 In vitro bacterial killing curves for Pasteurella multocida and Escherichia coli

One isolate of P. multocida and one isolate of E. coli were chosen to be used in the bacterial time-killing curve study. The bacterial killing curve study protocol was based on the method described in the literature (Lee et al., 2017). Levofloxacin solutions in drug-free rabbit serum were prepared at concentrations relative to the MIC in the serum of the bacterial isolate. For *P. multocida*, concentrations were 0.00 µg/mL (control), 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32 and 64 times the MIC and for E. coli concentrations were 0.00 µg/mL (control), 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 times the MIC. For each bacterial isolate, 8 colonies from overnight growth on agar plates were added to 9 mL of MHB and incubated for 20 hours at 37°C in presence of 5 % CO₂. Ten microlitres of broth culture were added to 1 mL of levofloxacin solutions in serum in order to reach the concentration of approximately 1.6 \times 10⁶ CFU/ mL for P. multocida isolate and 2 \times 10⁷ CFU/mL E. coli. Samples were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in an orbital shaker; 20 μL from all samples were withdrawn at 3, 6 and 24 hours of incubation. Prior to withdrawal, samples were vortexed. Dilutions ranging from 10^{-1} to 10^{-8} in sterile 0.9 % saline were prepared to count the CFU. A 10 µL volume of each saline dilution was inoculated on a TSA plate and incubated for 16 hours. TSA plates for P. multocida samples were supplemented with 5 % defibrinated sheep blood. CFU were counted and the limit of detection was 100 CFU/mL. The count of bacteria in the initial inoculum was approved with the same dilution in the sterile saline method. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.3.5 *Ex vivo* bacterial killing curves for *Escherichia coli* and *Pasteurella multocida*

The same *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolates, as for the *in vitro* bacterial killing study, were used in the *ex vivo* study. The study protocol was almost identical, to the *in vitro* bacterial killing. The difference was that instead of levofloxacin dilutions in antibiotic-free rabbit serum, we used serum samples obtained from rabbits that received 5 mg/kg of levofloxacin parenterally. Pooled serum samples collected at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8 and 10 hours after administration contained 0.00, 3.26, 2.64, 1.48, 0.58, 0.13 and 0.07 μ g/mL for IM and 0.00,

2.59, 2.70, 1.91, 0.75, 0.14 and 0.08 μ g/mL for SC routes of administration, respectively. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.3.6 Pharmacodynamic modelling and daily dose calculation

To determine AUC₂₄/MIC ratios, each *in vitro* levofloxacin concentration was multiplied by 24 (period of incubation) and then divided by the MIC value of each bacterial isolate tested, respectively. The relationship between *in vitro* AUC₂₄/MIC and log_{10} difference in bacterial count from the initial inoculum to the bacterial count after 24 hours of incubation for serum was evaluated by using the sigmoid inhibitory I_{max} model in Phoenix WinNonlin (Certara, USA). Akaike's Information Criterion was applied to determine the goodness of fit. The model is described with the following equation:

$$E = E_0 - \frac{I_{max} \times C^{\gamma}}{C^{\gamma} + IC_{50}^{\gamma}}$$
(4)

E – antibacterial effect of levofloxacin; I_{max} – difference between log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24 hours in the control sample (logE₀) and the log₁₀ difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24 hours when the limit of detection of 100 CFU/mL is reached; $E_0 - log_{10}$ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24 hours of incubation in the control sample, antibiotic-free; IC₅₀ is the AUC₂₄/MIC producing 50 % of the maximal antibacterial effect; C is the AUC₂₄/MIC in the effect compartment (serum); γ -the Hill coefficient which characterises the slope of the AUC₂₄/MIC response curve.

The antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against both bacteria species in this study was assessed by calculation of AUC₂₄/MIC values required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal effects and bacterial elimination. AUC₂₄/MIC for bacteriostatic effect was calculated using E = 0, that is, no change in bacterial counts after the incubation for 24 h with levofloxacin. AUC₂₄/MIC for bactericidal effect was calculated using E = -3, that is, bacterial counts reduction by 99.9 % after the incubation for 24 hours with levofloxacin. AUC₂₄/MIC for bacterial elimination effect was calculated using the lowest E value when the maximal antibacterial effect was reached, that is, bacterial count reduction to the limit of quantification (100 CFU/mL) after the incubation for 24 hours with levofloxacin. Obtained from pharmacokinetic–pharmacodynamic integration, antibacterial effects AUC₂₄/MIC values were used to calculate optimal doses for three effect levels – bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination. The following formula (McKellar et al., 2004) was used:

$$Dose \ per \ day = \frac{\frac{AUC_{24}}{MIC} \times MIC \times CI}{f_u \times F} \times 24 \tag{5}$$

AUC₂₄/MIC are ratios for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects, MIC is minimum inhibitory concentration in serum, Cl is clearance, F is bioavailability, and f_u is a free fraction of levofloxacin in plasma. The following values were used, Cl = 0.6 mL/g/h and F = 1 (Sitovs et al., 2020). Levofloxacin protein binding in rabbit plasma was 25 %, thus, $f_u = 0.75$ (Destache et al., 2001).

2.4 Ethics statement

For the levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics studies in rabbits, the experimental protocol was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Republic of Latvia Food and Veterinary Service (Permission 025564). The study was performed according to the guideline for the care and use of laboratory animals in accordance with the European law (2010/63/UE). For the levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue depletion study in geese, the experimental protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Life Sciences (Lublin, Poland) and carried out in accordance with the European law (2010/63/UE).

Statistical Analysis

In the pharmacokinetics study after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration of levofloxacin to rabbits, the statistical analysis of pharmacokinetic parameters was performed using SPSS (version 21.0; IBM Corporation, USA). Most statistical parameters are reported as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) values. The exceptions are for plasma half-lives (harmonic means were calculated) and t_{max} (median values are reported). The normality of the data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Paired t-tests were used to compare the statistical differences for pharmacokinetic parameters with normal data distributions in different administration groups. Where data did not have a normal distribution (e.g. V_{area}/F after IM or SC administration), the Wilcoxon test was applied. The p values lower than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance. In the pharmacokinetics and tissue depletion study in geese, the pharmacokinetic parameters were checked for normal distribution by Shapiro–Wilk test and mean pharmacokinetic values were compared between the two routes of administration using unpaired t-tests using GraphPad Prism v 5.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA). The p values lower than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance.

4 Results

4.1 First study. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits

4.1.1 Animals

All 6 animals received levofloxacin via IV or IM routes; however, only 4 completed the SC administration. In the third phase of the cross-over study, 2 animals were excluded—one animal was excluded because of the inability to fix the catheter in either ear artery. The other animal suffered cramps post IV administration of levofloxacin and died within 48 hours post-administration. Post-mortem examination of this animal showed no respiratory tract, kidney, gastrointestinal tract, or liver abnormalities.

4.1.2 Pharmacokinetic parameters

For all 3 administration routes, the drug was quantifiable in plasma for up to 10 hours post-administration of 5 mg/kg. The semilogarithmic plots of mean levofloxacin plasma concentrations (\pm SD) after the 5 mg/kg single dose via all 3 routes of administration are presented in Figure 4.1. The mean values of pharmacokinetics parameters obtained (\pm SD) are reported in Table 4.1. The average AUC_{0-last} values were 9.03 (\pm 2.66), 9.07 (\pm 1.80) and 9.28 (\pm 1.56) µg×h/mL after IV, IM, and SC administration, respectively. Maximum plasma concentration reached 3.33 (\pm 0.39) and 2.91 (\pm 0.56) µg/mL after IM and SC administrations, respectively. The mean extraction ratio after 5 mg/kg IV administration was 7.2 % \pm 2.1 %.



Figure 4.1 Semilogarithmic plots of average levofloxacin plasma concentrations in rabbits (error bars represent standard deviations) after IV (n = 6), IM (n = 6), and SC (n = 4) levofloxacin administration of 5 mg/kg bodyweight

IV, intravenous; IM, intramuscular; SC, subcutaneous.

PK parameter	Units	IV (n=6)	IM (n=6)	SC (n=4)
AUC _{0-last}	µg×h/mL	9.03±2.66	9.07±1.80	9.28±1.56
AUC _{0-inf}	µg×h/mL	9.08±2.64	9.07±1.80	9.31±1.50
AUMC _{0-last}	µg×h×h/mL	22.93±12.46	37.87±18.35•	36.62±17.35
AUMC _{0-inf}	µg×h×h/mL	23.64±12.17	37.89±18.34•	36.98±16.82
C _{max}	µg/mL	N/A	3.33±0.39	2.91±0.56
C _{first}	µg/mL	7.13±1.47	N/A	N/A
t _{max} MEDIAN	h	N/A	0.50 (0.08–0.75)	0.75
$t_{1/2}\lambda_zHM$	h	2.06±0.18	2.01±0.24	1.80±0.14
λ_z	1/h	0.34±0.03	0.34±0.04	0.39±0.03
MRT _{0-last} HM	h	2.19±0.83	3.75±1.16•	3.44±1.31
MRT _{0-inf} HM	h	2.27±0.80	3.75±1.16•	3.52±1.25
MAT HM	h	N/A	1.29±0.61	0.45 ± 1.47
Cl	mL/g×h	0.60±0.18	N/A	N/A
Cl/F	mL/g×h	N/A	0.57±0.11	0.55±0.10
V _{ss}	mL/g	1.37±0.39	N/A	N/A
Varea/F	mL/g	N/A	1.66±0.34	$1.42{\pm}0.18$
F	%	N/A	105.69±27.50	118.93±40.51

Mean (± SD) pharmacokinetic parameters of levofloxacin in plasma following IV, IM or SC administration to rabbits at a dose of 5 mg/kg bodyweight

PK, pharmacokinetic; AUC_{0-last} , area under the plasma-concentration time curve from zero to the last quantified sampling point time; AUC_{0-inf} , area under the plasma-concentration time curve from zero extrapolated to infinity; $AUMC_{0-last}$, area under the first moment curve from zero to the last quantified sampling point time; $AUMC_{0-inf}$, area under the first moment curve from zero to the last quantified sampling point time; $AUMC_{0-inf}$, area under the first moment curve from zero extrapolated to infinity; C_{max} , maximum plasma drug concentration; C_{first} , concentration at first sample collection point; t_{max} , time of the maximum plasma concentration; $t_{1/2}\lambda_z$, half-life of the elimination part of the curve; λ_z , slope of the elimination part of the curve; MRT_{0-last} , mean residence time from zero extrapolated to infinity; MAT, mean absorption time; Cl, total plasma clearance; Cl/F, plasma clearance corrected to the bioavailability; V_{ss} , volume of distribution at steady-state; V_{area}/F , volume of distribution corrected to the bioavailability; n, number of experimental animals receiving levofloxacin via the corresponding route of administration; IV, intravenous; IM, intramuscular; SC, subcutaneous; N/A, not applicable; HM, harmonic mean. •Significantly different from IV administration (p < 0.05); †Range reported.

4.1.3 Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic index

The *in silico* obtained AUC₂₄ values for the theoretical dose of 25 mg/kg were 44.98 ± 12.54 mg × h/L for IV administration, 43.11 ± 6.85 mg × h/L for IM administration, and 43.62 ± 13.65 mg × h/L for SC administration. The levofloxacin accumulation ratio when administered twice daily ($\tau = 12$ hours) was predicted to be 1.019 ± 0.006 . To obtain the AUC₂₄/MIC of 72, considering that levofloxacin is 25 % bound to plasma proteins, it was calculated that 25 mg/kg of levofloxacin by IV administration would be effective against pathogens with a MIC < 0.47 µg/mL. In the case of IM and SC routes of administration, this dose would be effective against pathogens with a MIC of 0.5 µg/mL was calculated for the IV administration to be 29 ± 8 mg/kg body weight.

4.1.4 Effects on tear quality

Average tear production observed with STT was 6.4 ± 3.1 mm/min and 7.0 ± 3.1 mm/min, for left and right eyes, respectively (no significant difference, p = 0.536). Absolute values varied from 2 to 14 mm/min. No significant changes in tear production were observed among all routes of drug administration within 48 hours. Strip meniscometry values, obtained by following the manufacturer's instructions, of 5 mm and higher are considered to indicate normal tear production while smaller values suggest decreased tear production. The average SM measurement results were normal, 6.9 ± 1.3 mm/5 sec and 6.3 ± 1.9 mm/5 sec, for the left and right eyes, respectively (no significant difference, p = 0.145). No significant changes in tear production after levofloxacin IV, IM, and SC administration were observed. Tear osmolarity was 324 ± 21 mOsms/L and 331 ± 22 mOsms/L for both eyes (right and left) prior to drug administration, and the difference was not significant (p = 0.255). Mean tear osmolarity decreased in all 3 routes of administration within 48 h after treatment. Changes in tear osmolarity up to 48 hours after levofloxacin administration are summarised in Figure 4.2. Another area of interest was the quantification of the levofloxacin level in tear fluid in order to evaluate the rationale of ocular infection treatment (conjunctival and corneal infection treatments may be affected by drug distribution in tears). However, the small volume of tear fluid harvested, and the limited sensitivity of the detection method used did not allow quantification of levofloxacin in rabbit tear fluid.



Figure 4.2 Changes in tear osmolarity in rabbits after a single 5 mg/kg levofloxacin dose administered via IV (n = 6), IM (n = 6), or SC (n = 4) routes (mean values indicated; error bars represent standard deviation).

IV, intravenous; IM, intramuscular; SC, subcutaneous

4.2 Second study. Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in geese

4.2.1 Animals

The geese did not show any adverse effects during or after drug treatments. All animals received levofloxacin via IV or PO routes and all of them completed the study.

4.2.2 Analytical method validation

The validated analytical method showed a good linearity in the range of $0.005 - 5 \mu g/mL$ for every matrix considered in this study. The main results from the analytical method validation in plasma and all tissues selected are reported in Table 4.2.

Parameter	Unit	Plasma	Muscle	Heart	Liver	Lung	Kidney
Inter-day CV	%	5.6	6.1	5.9	6.0	8.9	7.2
Intra-day CV	%	6.9	10.9	9.6	7.4	10.6	9.9
Recovery	%	96 ± 5	94 ± 10	95 ± 8	98 ± 3	93 ± 8	91 ± 9
LOD	µg/mL	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
LOQ	µg/mL	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005

Levofloxacin HPLC analytical method validation results in plasma and goose tissues

4.2.3 Pharmacokinetic results

The semilogarithmic plasma concentration vs time curves after IV and PO administration of a single dose of levofloxacin at 2 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg, respectively are shown in Figure 4.3. Plasma levofloxacin concentrations were quantifiable up to 24 hours in birds administered intravenously, and up to 48 hours after PO treatment. The slope of the elimination phase appears to be similar for both routes of administration (Table 4.3).



Figure 4.3 Semilogarithmic plasma levofloxacin concentrations vs time curve following IV ($-\circ-$, n = 8) and PO ($-\bullet-$, n = 8) administration to Bilgorajska geese at a dose of 2 mg/ kg BW and 5 mg/ kg BW, respectively.

Table 4.3 shows the main pharmacokinetic parameters for levofloxacin in geese. Levofloxacin was absorbed rapidly after PO administration displaying a high bioavailability. The drug showed a moderate volume of distribution and a fast clearance. The half-life was not statistically different between the two routes of administration. If normalised for the dose, C_{max} and AUC were not statistically different between the two different administration methods (p > 0.05).

		IV (2 1	IV (2 mg/kg)		mg/kg)
Parameter	Unit	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
AUC _{0-last}	mg×h/L	7.59	1.77	17.24	4.86
AUC _{0-inf}	mg×h/L	8.11	1.76	19.37	4.18
MRT _{0-last}	h	5.12	0.37	5.71	2.48
MRT _{0-inf}	h	7.08	0.97	7.65	2.17
λ_z	1/h	0.10	0.02	0.12	0.05
$t_{1/2}\lambda_z$	h	7.39	1.21	6.60	2.46
V _{ss}	mL/g	1.40	0.28	N/A	N/A
Cl	mL/g×h	0.28	0.06	N/A	N/A
V _{ss} /F	mL/g	N/A	N/A	1.63	0.49
Cl/F	ml/g×h	N/A	N/A	0.31	0.09
C _{max}	µg/mL	N/A	N/A	3.20	0.65
t _{max} †	h	N/A	N/A	0.38	(0.25–1.5)
F	%	N/A	N/A	95.57	20.61

Mean pharmacokinetic parameters of levofloxacin in plasma following IV administration to geese at a dose of 5 mg/kg and PO administration to geese at a dose of 2 mg/kg

 AUC_{0-last} , area under the curve from 0 hours to last time collected samples; AUC_{0-inf} , area under the curve from 0 hours to infinity; MRT_{0-last} , mean residence time from 0 hours to last time collected samples; MRT_{0-inf} , mean residence time from 0 hours to infinity; λ_z , terminal phase rate constant; $t_{1/2}\lambda_z$, terminal half-life; V_{ss} ,volume of distribution; Cl, plasma clearance; V_{ss}/F , volume of distribution normalised for F; Cl/F, plasma clearance normalised for F; C_{max} peak plasma concentration; t_{max} , time of peak concentration; F, bioavailability; † Median value and range; N/A, not applicable

4.2.4 Tissues residue analysis results

Results from tissue residue analysis are displayed in Figure 4.4 as semilogarithmic plots of tissue concentrations vs time curves. Drug residues were highest at 6 hours and decreased constantly, remaining over the LOQ up to 48 hours (last time-point of collection) in all selected tissues. Liver samples had the highest levofloxacin concentration, followed by kidney samples (Table 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Levofloxacin concentrations (logarithmic scale) in muscle, heart, liver, lung, and kidney following PO administration to Bilgorajska geese (n =2 /timepoint) at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW

Table 4.4

Parameter	Unit	Muscle	Heart	Liver	Lung	Kidney
AUC _{0-last}	µg×h/mL	218.72	249.8	687.94	165.26	329.51
MRT _{0-last}	h	10.41	9.94	12.56	14.31	13.58
$t_{1/2}\lambda_z$	h	8.25	5.07	9.68	14.17	11.84
C _{max}	µg/mL	24.95	30.55	64.2	14.13	18.64
t _{max}	h	6	6	6	6	10
AUC _{tissue} /AUC _{plasma}	-	11.87	13.56	37.35	8.97	17.89

Mean pharmacokinetic parameters, calculated by the naïve pooled-data approach for each tissue after PO administration to geese at a dose of 2 mg/kg

4.3 Third study. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*)

4.3.1 Minimal inhibitory and minimal bactericidal concentration

All 10 isolates of *P. multocida* and all six isolates (including reference strain) of *E. coli* were susceptible to levofloxacin. None of the isolates were considered resistant. MIC and MBC values and MBC/MIC ratios in both media of all bacterial isolates are represented in Tables 4.5 and 4.6. Year of isolate collection is provided in Table 4.5, as well as diagnosis and origin of isolate.

Table 4.5

Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericidal concentration of Pasteurella multocida isolates from rabbits

	MICbroth	MICserum	MBCbroth	MBC _{serum}	MBC/MIC broth	MBC/MIC _{serum}	Diagnosis and isolate
	(µg/mL)	(µg/mL)	(µg/mL)	(µg/mL)			origin
P. multocida 297 (2021)	0.03	0.03	0.06	0.125	2	4	Nasal catarrh, pneumonia
							Nasal swab
P. multocida 320 (2021)	0.03	0.03	0.125	0.125	4	4	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
							flush fluid
P. multocida 306 (2021)	0.03	0.03	0.125	0.125	4	4	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
							flush fluid
P. multocida 122 (2021)	0.008	0.008	0.008	0.015	1	2	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
							flush fluid
P. multocida 2101 (2021)	0.008	0.008	0.015	0.015	2	2	Rhinitis, Nasal swab
P. multocida 298 (2021)	0.015	0.015	0.03	0.03	2	2	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
							flush fluid
<i>P. multocida</i> 7697 ^a (2022)	0.015	0.015	0.03	0.03	2	2	Rhinitis, Nasal swab
P. multocida 3178 (2022)	0.008	0.008	0.125	0.125	16	16	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
							flush fluid
P. multocida 7042 (2022)	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	1	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
							flush fluid
P. multocida 0634	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	1	1	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal
(2022)							flush fluid

MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, MBC minimal bactericidal concentration, a – P. multocida isolate selected for in vitro and ex vivo bacterial time-killing study

Table 4.6

Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericidal concentration of *Escherichia coli* reference strain ATCC25922 and isolates from rabbits

	MIC _{broth} (µg/mL)	MIC _{serum} (µg/mL)	MBC _{broth} (µg/mL)	MBC _{serum} (µg/mL)	MBC/MIC _{broth}	MBC/MIC _{serum}
<i>E. coli</i> ATCC 25922	0.03	-	0.03	-	1	-
E. coli 1ª	0.03	0.03	0.25	0.25	8	8
E. coli 2	0.008	0.008	0.03	0.03	4	4
E. coli 5	0.015	0.015	0.06	0.06	4	4
E. coli 11	0.015	0.015	0.03	0.06	2	4
E. coli 12	0.008	0.008	0.03	0.03	4	4

MBC, minimal bactericidal concentration; MIC, minimal inhibitory concentration. ^aE. coli isolate selected for *in vitro* and *ex vivo* bacterial time-killing study

4.3.2 In vitro antibacterial activity of levofloxacin and time-killing curves

Figure 4.5 represents the time-dependent antibacterial activity of levofloxacin *in vitro* against a selected isolate of *P. multocida* (isolate No. 7697, MIC = $0.015 \mu \text{g/mL}$).



Figure 4.5 *In vitro* time-killing curves representing the growth of *P. multocida* (No. 7697, MICw=0.015 µg/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in rabbit serum

In the absence of the drug, the 24-hour incubation resulted in bacterial growth of approximately 3 log₁₀ CFU/mL. Levofloxacin concentrations equivalent to 0.25 and 0.5 MIC were not able to inhibit bacterial growth, and after 24 hours of incubation, bacterial counts exceeded the initial inoculum. One MIC concentration reduced the bacterial growth, but after 24 hours of incubation, the bacterial count was similar to the initial inoculum. Concentrations of levofloxacin equal to 2 and 4 MIC reduced the number of bacteria gradually at 3 and 6 hours of incubation and eradicated the bacteria at 24 hours of incubation. Levofloxacin concentrations higher than 4 MIC decreased the number of bacteria to the limit of detection already at 3 hours of incubation.

Figure 4.6 shows the time-dependent antibacterial activity of levofloxacin *in vitro* against a selected isolate of *E. coli* (isolate No. 1, MIC = $0.03 \mu g/mL$).



Figure 4.6 *In vitro* time-killing curves representing the growth *E. coli* (No. 1, MIC=0.03 µg/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in rabbit serum

In the absence of the drug, the 24-hour incubation resulted in bacterial growth of approximately $3 \log_{10}$ CFU/mL. Levofloxacin concentrations equivalent to 0.5 and 1 MIC were not able to inhibit bacterial growth, and after 24 hours of incubation, bacterial counts exceeded the initial inoculum. Concentrations of levofloxacin equal to 2 MIC reduced the number of

bacteria gradually at 3 and 6 hours of incubation and eliminated the bacteria after 24 hours of incubation. Levofloxacin concentrations equal to and higher than 4 MIC decreased the number of bacteria to the limit of detection already at 3 hours of incubation.

4.3.3 *Ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin after intramuscular and subcutaneous administration and time-killing curves

Figures 4.7 and 4.8 represent the bacterial time-killing curves for levofloxacin *ex vivo* against a selected isolate of *P. multocida* (isolate No. 7697, MIC = $0.015 \,\mu$ g/mL) after IM and SC dosage of 5 mg/kg body weight of levofloxacin solution to rabbits.



Figure 4.7 *Ex vivo* time-killing curves representing the growth of *P. multocida* (No. 7697, MIC=0.015 μg/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in serum samples obtained after intramuscular administration of 5 mg/kg to healthy rabbits (n=6)



Figure 4.8 Ex vivo time-killing curves representing the growth of P. multocida (No. 7697, MIC=0.015 μg/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in samples obtained after subcutaneous administration of 5 mg/kg to healthy rabbits (n=4)

Concentrations of levofloxacin achieved in serum after 0.5, 1, 2 and 4 hours of both IM and SC administration reduced the bacterial count to the limit of detection already after 3 hours of incubation. Considering 25 % protein binding, free levofloxacin concentrations in these serum samples were 2.45 (163 MIC), 1.98 (132 MIC), 1.11(74 MIC) and 0.44 (29 MIC) μ g/mL, and 1.94 (130 MIC), 2.03 (135 MIC), 1.43 (96 MIC) and 0.56 (38 MIC) μ g/mL for IM and SC samples, respectively. After incubation for 24 hours, all serum samples containing levofloxacin were able to reduce the *P. multocida* bacterial count to the limit of quantification.

Figures 4.9 and 4.10 represent the bacterial time-killing curves for levofloxacin *ex vivo* against a selected isolate of *E. coli* (isolate No. 1, MIC = $0.03 \mu g/mL$) after IM and SC dosage of 5 mg/kg body weight of levofloxacin solution to rabbits.



Figure 4.9 *Ex vivo* time-killing curves representing the growth *E. coli* (No. 1, MIC=0.03 μg/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in samples obtained after intramuscular administration of 5 mg/kg to healthy rabbits (n=6)



Figure 4.10 *Ex vivo* time-killing curves representing the growth *E. coli* (No. 1, MIC=0.03 μg/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in samples obtained after subcutaneous administration of 5 mg/kg to healthy rabbits (n=4)

Only serum samples collected at 0.5, 1 and 2 hours, representing the highest drug concentrations, were able to reduce the bacterial count to the limit of quantification after 3 hours of incubation. Considering 25 % protein binding, free levofloxacin concentrations in these serum samples were 2.45 (82 MIC), 1.98 (66 MIC) and 1.11 (37 MIC) μ g/mL, and 1.94 (65 MIC), 2.03 (68 MIC) and 1.43 (48 MIC) μ g/mL for IM and SC samples, respectively. After incubation for 24 hours, all serum samples containing levofloxacin were able to reduce the *E. coli* bacterial count to the limit of quantification.

4.3.4 Pharmacodynamic modelling and daily dose calculation

For the pharmacodynamic analysis, the plots of AUC₂₄/MIC ratios versus changes in bacterial counts after 24 hours of incubation for selected *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolates are presented in Figures 4.11 and 4.12, respectively. Pharmacodynamic data obtained from the I_{max} model, namely, AUC₂₄/MIC required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination for selected *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolates, are presented in Tables 4.7 and 4.8, respectively.

Calculated daily doses of parenteral levofloxacin required to achieve antibacterial effects are reported in Table 4.9. Calculated daily doses for *P. multocida* isolates exhibiting highest MIC value ($0.5 \mu g/mL$) are 8.30, 11.55 and 30.18 mg/kg daily, for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects, respectively.



Figure 4.11 Plot of *in vitro* AUC₂₄/MIC versus *P. multocida* (No. 7697, MIC=0.015 µg/mL) bacterial count difference in levofloxacin containing rabbit serum

Parameter	Units	Estimated value
I _{max}	Log ₁₀ CFU/mL	7.75
E ₀	Log ₁₀ CFU/mL	3.54
E ₀ - I _{max}	Log ₁₀ CFU/mL	-4.21
IC_{50}	h	21.41
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacteriostatic	h	20.76
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bactericidal	h	28.88
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacterial elimination	h	75.46
Slope (y)	N/A	5.64

Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic levofloxacin data integration of P.	multocida
(No. 7697, MIC=0.015 μg/mL) <i>in vitro</i> growth inhibition	

 I_{max} – difference between log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24 h in the control sample ($logE_0$) and the log_{10} difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24 hours when the limit of detection of 100 CFU/mL is reached $E_0 - log_{10}$ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24 hours of incubation in the control sample E_0 - $I_{max} - log_{10}$ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24 hours of incubation in samples incubated with levofloxacin when the detection limit of 100 CFU/mL is reached $IC_{50} - AUC_{24}/MIC$ producing 50 % of the maximal antibacterial effect γ – the Hill coefficient, slope of the AUC₂₄/MIC response curve N/A – not applicable.



Figure 4.12 Plot of *in vitro* AUC₂₄/MIC versus *E. coli* (No. 1, MIC=0.03 µg/mL) bacterial count difference in levofloxacin containing rabbit serum

Parameter	Units	Estimated value
I _{max}	Log ₁₀ CFU/mL	7.28
E ₀	Log ₁₀ CFU/mL	1.98
E ₀ - I _{max}	Log ₁₀ CFU/mL	-5.30
IC ₅₀	h	30.08
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacteriostatic	h	27.25
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bactericidal	h	32.49
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacterial elimination	h	59.62
Slope (y)	N/A	9.98

Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic levofloxacin data integration of *E. coli* (No. 1, MIC=0.03 µg/mL) *in vitro* growth inhibition

 I_{max} – difference between log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24 hours in the control sample ($logE_0$) and the log_{10} difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24 hours when the limit of detection of 100 CFU/mL is reached $E_0 - log_{10}$ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24 hours of incubation in the control sample $E_0 - I_{max} - log_{10}$ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24 hours of incubation in samples incubated with levofloxacin when the detection limit of 100 CFU/mL is reached $IC_{50} - AUC_{24}/MIC$ producing 50 % of the maximal antibacterial effect γ – the Hill coefficient, slope of the AUC₂₄/MIC response curve N/A – not applicable

Table 4.9

Calculated daily doses of levofloxacin for parenteral administration to rabbits against *P. multocida* (MIC=0.015 µg/mL) and *E. coli* (MIC=0.03 µg/mL)

Dose per day	P. multocida (MIC=0.015 µg/mL)	<i>E. coli</i> (MIC=0.03 μg/mL)
Bacteriostatic effect	0.25 mg/kg	0.65 mg/kg
Bactericidal effect	0.35 mg/kg	0.78 mg/kg
Bacterial elimination	0.91 mg/kg	1.43 mg/kg

5 Discussion

5.1 First study. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first-time levofloxacin PK profiles after IM and SC administration in healthy rabbits were evaluated, although IV administration had been examined previously in rabbits infected by *S. pneumoniae*.

The 5 mg/kg dose used in this study was based on the dose used previously in a levofloxacin study involving broiler chicken (Lee et al., 2017). This dose is within the range of doses previously used in other mammalian and bird species (Aboubakr, 2012; Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014; Albarellos et al., 2005; Kumar et al., 2012; Urzúa et al., 2020; Varia et al., 2009); a dose associated with reduced risks of side effects. One rabbit died during the current experiment, and the death may be attributed to the stress of the sampling procedures. While necropsy showed no noticeable organ changes in the rabbit, a single IV dose of levofloxacin in humans has been reported to produce cardiovascular side effects – increased heart rate and QT interval prolongation (Basyigit et al., 2005). Thus, cardiovascular effects may also be involved in the lethal outcome in this individual.

All 3 routes of administration (IV, IM, and SC) used in this study produced very similar results for key pharmacokinetic parameters. This could be explained by the fast absorption and rapid distribution of the drug after the extravascular administration routes mimicking the pharmacokinetic profile of the IV administration. In this study, the AUC values for all 3 routes of administration were similar, and there was complete (calculated over 100 %) systemic bioavailability of levofloxacin reported following both IM and SC administration. Maximal plasma concentrations for both extravascular routes were reached at around the same time (30-45 min post-administration) and were of similar value (around 3 µg/mL). Similar parallel results were observed for SC and IM mean residence times, clearances, and volumes of distribution compared to those for IV administration. These similarities in PKs suggest that the same drug efficacy should be expected for all 3 routes of administration when levofloxacin is given at a dose of 5 mg/kg. Moreover, previous studies of other fluoroquinolones in rabbits (Fernandez-Varon et al., 2005; Marín et al., 2008) and of levofloxacin in other animal species (Lee et al., 2017; Madsen et al., 2019; Patel et al., 2012) showed very similar pharmacokinetic profiles after different routes of administration. The levofloxacin terminal plasma half-life appeared to be one of the shortest among the species tested (1.8-2.06 hours, depending on the route of parenteral administration).

The volume of drug distribution at a steady-state after IV administration of 1.37 mL/g suggests moderate penetration of the drug through the biological membranes of the body. This

value is within the range reported in avian and mammalian species, 0.56 mL/g in sheep (Sartini et al., 2020) and 2.88–3.25 mL/g in broiler chickens (Lee et al., 2017; Varia et al., 2009).

The results of the non-compartmental PK analysis showed that bioavailability values after IM and subcutaneous SC administration exceeded 100 %. Complete bioavailability of levofloxacin after extravascular administration has also been reported in other species (Vercelli et al., 2020, Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Lee et al., 2017; Madsen et al., 2019, Sartini et al., 2020). Interestingly, other fluoroquinolones studied in rabbits after IM and SC administration have also shown complete bioavailability, with actual values exceeding 100 % (Fernandez-Varon et al., 2007; Marín et al., 2008; Marín et al., 2018). This may be due to various factors that have already described in the literature (Brown, 1996; Martinez et al., 2006; Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004a), e.g. non-linear clearance. The IM administration of orbifloxacin, norfloxacin, danofloxacin, and marbofloxacin have all been reported to exceed the 100 % bioavailability level in rabbits (Abo-El-Sooud & Goudah, 2010; Fernandez-Varon et al., 2005; Marín et al., 2008; Marín et al., 2018). Moreover, SC ofloxacin, orbifloxacin, and danofloxacin administration to rabbits also showed complete bioavailability (Fernandez-Varon et al., 2007; Marangos et al., 1997; Marín et al., 2008). These observations indicate that, in general, fluoroquinolones are well absorbed and widely distributed after IM or SC administration in rabbits. The application of compartmental PK analysis using PKanalix software (Lixoft, Simulations Plus, USA) to the same levofloxacin rabbit plasma concentrations supported the complete levofloxacin bioavailability in rabbits after the parenteral administration. IM administration data was best fitted to the two-compartmental with central and peripheral compartments and a linear elimination model with first order absorption. Akaike's Information Criterion was applied to determine the goodness of fit. The mean bioavailability was calculated to be 97 %. SC administration data was best fitted to the one compartment and a linear elimination model with first order absorption. The mean bioavailability was calculated to be 108 %.

Compared to the study in rabbits infected with *S. pneumoniae* (Destache et al., 2001), the AUC values of levofloxacin were much lower (at least twice corrected to the dose administered) in the present study. The plasma terminal half-lives of the drug were at least 3 times longer than that observed in our study. These differences might be due to differences in rabbit breed (New Zealand white vs. cross-bred in this study), size of the animals in the 2 studies (2–3 kg vs. 4.2 kg in the study performed in the scope of this Thesis) and the provision of other drugs (e.g. anaesthetic administration in). Additionally, the presence of infection may have slowed the elimination of the drug from the body in a manner similar to that observed in a PK study of marbofloxacin in infected rabbits (Abo-El-Sooud & Goudah, 2010).

The AUC values reported for rabbits appear to be the lowest among the other species studied, taking into account the administered dose differences. This might be related to the rapid elimination of the drug from the rabbit body. The average plasma clearance of levofloxacin was 0.6 mL/g×h with some variability among the study animals. This is the highest clearance rate thus far reported in all previous mammalian and avian species studied, except sheep, which had similar reported clearance (0.55 mL/g×h (Patel et al., 2012) vs. 0.6 mL/g×h in rabbits) and halflife of elimination (2.38 hours vs. 2.06 hours in rabbits) values. However, another study in sheep showed a lower clearance of 0.2 mL/g×h and a longer elimination half-life (3.3 hours), but that study was performed using sheep with a body mass almost twice as large, possibly, resulting in slower drug elimination (Goudah & Hasabelnaby, 2010). The longest levofloxacin elimination half-life after the extravascular administration is currently reported in Asian elephants (up to 12.11 hours) by Kilburn et al. (2022). The high rate of elimination in rabbits may be due to their high cardiac output and heart rate (Mitchell & Tully, 2008). Higher clearance in rabbits is observed after administration of other fluoroquinolones; orbifloxacin, norfloxacin, danofloxacin, and moxifloxacin are cleared even faster than levofloxacin with clearance values of 0.9, 0.8, 0.8, and 0.8 mL×g/h, respectively (Fernandez-Varon et al., 2005; Fernandez-Varon et al., 2007; Marín et al., 2008; Marín et al., 2018). These results indicate that parenteral fluoroquinolone administration in rabbits will require frequent dosing. Alternatively, the route of administration could be changed to consider practitioners' convenience and/or reduction of the handling stress of the infected animal.

A low extraction ratio (around 7 %) may indicate that levofloxacin is not fully metabolised and may be excreted unchanged by the kidney (Brown, 1996; Martinez et al., 2006). This suggests the use of orally administered dosage forms (Toutain & Bousquet-Mélou, 2004b). Although extraction ratio values were not computed in other species in which levofloxacin pharmacokinetics were established, we calculated approximate extraction ratios for the above-mentioned studies. Low levofloxacin extraction ratios were predicted in cats, dogs, and rabbits (around 2 %) based on the clearance and mean animal body weights (Albarellos et al., 2005; Destache et al., 2001; Landoni & Albarellos, 2019; Madsen et al., 2019). In food-producing animals, the levofloxacin extraction rate is also low. Based on data provided in the literature for goats (Goudah & Abo-El-Sooud, 2009), sheep (Goudah & Hasabelnaby, 2010; Patel et al., 2012), and camels (Goudah, 2009) the values are 3.2 %, 3.9 %, and 9.5 %, respectively. The estimated extraction ratio values in all of the animal species investigated indicate similar drug elimination abilities among the species.

As the elimination half-life of levofloxacin for all 3 routes of administration was short, frequent administration, which is potentially stressful to the animal, would be required. The

authors, therefore, do not suggest than any of these parenteral routes are suitable for regular clinical use of levofloxacin in the studied dosage form. While the therapeutic efficacy of fluoroquinolones may be inferred through pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic surrogate index assessment and the use of the AUC₂₄/MIC ratio, the low AUC value and the inability to quantify levofloxacin in rabbit plasma at 24 hours post drug administration resulted in the inability to perform these surrogate calculations based on the experimental data. Based on the results of this study, a dose of 5 mg/kg of levofloxacin is unlikely to produce a therapeutic effect in rabbits. The calculated effective daily dose for levofloxacin, based on an Enterobacteriaceae MIC value of 0.5 μ g/mL reported in dogs (Madsen et al., 2019), was 29 ± 8 mg/kg, The estimate is in agreement with the oral dose of 25 mg/kg in dogs supposed to attain similar therapeutic targets. In rabbit management, the oral route for drug administration (in medicated feed or water) is the most common one used. Levofloxacin is reported to have complete oral bioavailability in 2 pet mammalian species; dog $(104 \pm 30 \%)$ (Albarellos et al., 2005; Madsen et al., 2019) and cat (86 ± 43 %) (Albarellos et al., 2005). If this trend in oral bioavailability is similar in rabbits, the effective daily dose of levofloxacin reported in our study could be added to pelleted rabbit food or drinking water. However, as infected animals may lose their appetite while maintaining water intake, we suggest the daily dose could be prepared in 50-100 mL of drinking water (i.e. the average daily water intake of rabbits) (Harcourt-Brown, 2002).

This study is the first to investigate the effect of systemic administration of levofloxacin on some ocular parameters. The high variability in the qualitative parameters of tears between individual animals before and after treatment with levofloxacin made identification of trends difficult. The authors suggest that the dose may have been too small or a single administration insufficient to produce any discernible effects on tear production. The basal level of the tear production assessed with STT method (7 ± 3 mm/min) was slightly higher than those reported for English angora rabbits and Dutch rabbits (5.4 and 4.6 mm/min, respectively) (Rajaei et al., 2016). Regardless, tear osmolarity appeared to decrease slightly but significantly (p = 0.002) at 48 hours after drug administration. Therefore, we suggest that levofloxacin administration at 5 mg/kg is unlikely to cause major changes in the qualitative and quantitative properties of tears. However, studies with multiple-dose administration and a larger number of animals are warranted to make solid conclusions.

According to obtained study results, a levofloxacin dose of 5 mg/kg is unlikely to be effective in rabbits. Moreover, a single administration of that dose is unlikely to have any effect on tear parameters. Based on the calculations, a daily dose of 29 mg/kg may be effective for IV administration of levofloxacin.

5.2 Second study. Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in geese

The geese did not show any adverse effects during or after drug treatments. The dose was chosen on the basis of a previous study on chickens (Lee et al., 2017). This is the first study which dealt with the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in geese. The drug showed a moderate half-life (7.39 hours) comparable with results from chickens (6.93 hours, (Lee et al., 2017), but was longer than in ducks (2.76 hours), with a slower clearance (geese, 0.28 mL/g×h; ducks, 0.41 mL/g×h) (Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014). The V_{ss} in geese (1.40 mL/g) was in line with the value found in ducks (1.37 mL/g). Levofloxacin showed higher AUC (7.59 µg×h/mL), if normalised for dose, than values reported in ducks (4.89 μ g×h/mL) and chicken (5.09 μ g×h/mL) (Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014; Lee et al., 2017). Species specific differences, such as variations in metabolic pathways, plasma protein binding or differences in absorption processes, may have caused these variances. After oral administration, levofloxacin showed faster (t_{max}) and higher (C_{max}) absorption in geese than ducks, turkeys and chickens (Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014; Aboubakr et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2017; Patel et al., 2012; Varia et al., 2009). The different formulations administered, variability in experimental design, climatic conditions or feed management might have contributed to such differences. Levofloxacin's oral bioavailability is high in avian species in general (ducks, 73.6 %; chickens, 59.5 %; leghorn hens, 71.6 %; turkeys, 79.9 %), but is highest in geese (95.6 %), suggesting that the oral route is an appropriate route of administration in birds, and especially geese (Aboubakr & Soliman, 2014; Aboubakr et al., 2014; Patel et al., 2012; Varia et al., 2009).

The MIC of levofloxacin has not yet been determined for bacteria isolated from geese. Regarding the AUC₂₄ value obtained in the present study after oral administration (5 mg/kg), levofloxacin in geese appeared be effective against bacteria at an MIC <0.24 μ g/mL. For the MIC against *E. coli* isolated in broilers (0.125 μ g/m, Lee et al., 2017), an AUC₂₄/MIC ratio of 136 was obtained, which suggests that the dose regimen in the present study might be effective in geese. Levofloxacin's plasma protein binding has not been evaluated in geese, but has resulted in a low percentage (25 %) in broilers (Lee et al., 2017) and may be considered negligible for the pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic surrogate calculation. However, further studies are required to establish if the plasma protein binding of levofloxacin in geese is in line with that found in other avian species.

Levofloxacin was detected in all tissues selected, and the concentration was highest at 6 hours and gradually decreased over 48 hours. Considering that in humans approximately 90 % of levofloxacin is rapidly absorbed from the intestinal tract into the hepatic portal vein and, similarly to other fluoroquinolones, is primarily excreted unchanged from the kidney in the

urine (Fish & Chow, 1997). Hence, it was reasonable to expect a higher drug residue in liver and kidney in geese. Probable tropisms related to levofloxacin have not yet been evaluated. The tissue depletion profile found in the present study was in line with that found in chickens (Kyuchukova et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017). In this study, muscle levofloxacin concentrations, normalised for dose, were higher than concentrations found in chickens (Kyuchukova et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017). These differences could be due to species specific difference, or the diverse analytical techniques used.

The MRL for fluoroquinolones in poultry liver is about 0.1 μ g/g (EMA, 1997, 1999, 2002). On the basis of this value, a preliminary withdrawal time has been computed with the CI of 95 % for liver, resulting in a time of 89.7 hours. Despite the fact that this matched well with the data reported in chickens – 4 days (Ravikumar et al., 2015), caution should be taken because of the small population sample size. Further studies are required to confirm this finding. Drug penetration in tissue can be described using the AUC tissue/AUC_{plasma} ratio. A ratio value over 1 indicates relatively higher drug concentrations in the tissue than in blood, with potential for tissue accumulation (Bellmann et al., 2004). The AUC_{tissue}/AUC_{plasma} ratios in our study were high in all tissues, and especially in liver. Further studies could clarify this point (e.g. whether levofloxacin may be stored specifically in hepatocytes).

5.3 Third study. *In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*)

To the best of our knowledge, this study describes for the first-time levofloxacin timekilling curves for *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolates from rabbits. None of the bacterial isolates included in this study showed resistance to levofloxacin. However, reports are indicating cases of *P. multocida* and *E. coli* resistance to this drug (Saha et al., 2021; Sitovs et al., 2021). MIC values for both *P. multocida* and *E. coli* were low, compared to other pathogens' MIC reported in the literature (See Annex 5, Table A2). Two *P. multocida* isolates (No. 7042 and 0634) showed relatively high MIC (0.5 µg/mL). As no clinical breakpoints for levofloxacin for *P. multocida* isolates from rabbits currently exist, applying CLSI M100 (CLSI, 2018b) levofloxacin breakpoints, these isolates could be considered susceptible. Applying fluoroquinolone clinical breakpoints for respiratory *P. multocida* (pradofloxacin, enrofloxacin and danofloxacin) according to the CLSI VET08 (CLSI, 2018a), these isolates would not be considered susceptible, anymore (susceptible defined as MIC $\leq 0.25 \mu g/mL$), but rather intermediate. All other *P. multocida* isolates showed MIC values (0.008–0.03 µg/mL) in line with MIC₉₀ values reported for veterinary fluoroquinolones and their active metabolites – difloxacin, enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, marbofloxacin, orbifloxacin and pradofloxacin $(0.008-0.05 \ \mu\text{g/mL})$ against *P. multocida* (Riviere & Papich, 2018). MIC₉₀ values for the same veterinary fluoroquinolones against *E. coli* (0.03-0.39 $\mu\text{g/mL}$) were slightly higher compared to *E. coli* MIC values obtained in the present study (0.008-0.03 $\mu\text{g/mL}$). Only 15 bacterial isolates were used in our study; thus, it is not yet obvious that levofloxacin is significantly superior to other veterinary fluoroquinolones.

Minimal bactericidal concentration/MIC ratios of levofloxacin were not high in the present study. The median ratios for *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolates were 2 and 4, respectively. That is similar to ratios obtained from isolates from humans in which, levofloxacin was reported to achieve a reduction in CFU/ mL of \geq 99.9 % of most aetiology of bacteremia faster compared to other fluoroquinolones (Akinjogunla et al., 2022). MBC/MIC ratios >8 were reported to be associated with antibiotic tolerance (Gonzalez et al., 2013). Our pharmacodynamic study results do not suggest levofloxacin tolerance in rabbits.

AUC₂₄/MIC is described as the most important factor to determine efficacy of concentration-dependent antibacterial drugs, including fluoroquinolones (Aliabadi & Lees, 2001). In the present study, the use of *ex vivo* AUC₂₄/MIC was not suitable for pharmacokinetic–pharmacodynamic modelling. The reason for that was bacterial count reduction to the detection limit after 24 hours of incubation with all experimentally obtained levofloxacin concentrations in rabbit serum. All samples from time points collected after IM and SC dose of 5 mg/kg had levofloxacin concentrations higher than 1 MIC for both bacterial isolates used in the time-killing study. *In vitro* AUC₂₄/MIC data were used for modelling instead. AUC₂₄/MIC values obtained for lower levofloxacin concentrations (0.25, 0.5 and 1 MIC, which did not reduce the bacterial counts to the detection limit) provided more data for creating the model. When time-killing curves for *in vitro* and *ex vivo* experiments were visually compared, their similarity provided almost identical bacterial killing patterns. That justifies the use of *in vitro* AUC₂₄/MIC data for modelling.

Slightly slower killing rate was observed in the *in vitro* study compared to the *ex vivo* study. That could be attributable to chemical differences between experimental rabbit serum and commercially available rabbit serum used for the *in vitro* study. Hill coefficient values in both models in this study were high, 5.64 for *P. multocida* and 9.98 for *E. coli*, respectively. These values illustrate the rapid increase in levofloxacin activity with the small increase in the concentration. A slightly less steep slope of 5.21 for levofloxacin against *E. coli* isolated from broiler chickens is reported (Lee et al., 2017). Levofloxacin in this study showed similar AUC₂₄/MIC ratios required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects for *P. multocida* (20.76, 28.88 and 75.46 hours), compared to marbofloxacin, (20.9, 45.2 and 71.7 hours) for *P. multocida* isolates from pigs (Dorey et al., 2017) and slightly lower than

marbofloxacin for isolates from calves (48.6, 64.9 and 74.8 hours, respectively) (Potter et al., 2013). AUC₂₄/MIC ratios for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects in this study for E. coli (27.25, 32.49 and 59.62 hours) were higher compared to values reported in chickens -18.77, 24.02 and 36.27 hours, respectively (Lee et al., 2017). AUC₂₄/MIC ratios obtained by for danofloxacin against E. coli isolated from turkeys were significantly lower (0.42, 1.90 and 6.73 hours) (Haritova et al., 2006) and for enrofloxacin against E. coli isolated from chickens were much higher (257.40 and 2794.40 hours for bacteriostatic effect and bacterial elimination, respectively) (Haritova & Russenova, 2010). Despite the previous conclusion from our levofloxacin pharmacokinetic study in rabbits, that a dose of 5 mg/kg levofloxacin is unlikely to be effective in rabbits, the ex vivo time-killing curves showed a reduction of the bacterial counts to the limit of quantification at 24 hours. Calculated daily doses appear to be even lower. In our pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic study, proposed doses per day required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects (0.25–1.43 mg/kg daily) were lower compared to the levofloxacin doses calculated for broilers (1.1-4.3 mg/kg daily) (Lee et al., 2017) and for rabbits – 29 mg/kg daily (Sitovs et al., 2020). Previously reported dose was up to 100-fold higher that doses obtained in this study. Compared to the dose reported by previously, this study utilises experimental pharmacodynamic data from susceptible bacterial time-killing curves, while previous pharmacodynamic data were from the published literature. Difference in doses between two studies originates from the higher AUC₂₄/MIC used in calculations – 72 hours, as reported the literature (Madsen et al., 2019) and with lower MIC values used in calculations. In the current study, doses were calculated based on the experimentally obtained MIC values, while previously we used MIC = $0.5 \mu g/mL$ (Sitovs et al., 2020). Doses calculated using highest P. multocida MIC (0.5 µg/mL) are less different from the dose reported in the rabbit levofloxacin pharmacokinetics study, 8.30, 11.55 and 30.18 vs. 29 mg/kg daily. Real, rather than theoretical MIC values were used in dose calculations here. As we determined that levofloxacin bioavailability in rabbits after IM and SC routes of administration is around 100 % it is considered complete. From the point of view of bioavailability, there is no difference between IM and SC administration for suggested daily doses. However, compared to SC, the IM administration is generally more painful and considering relatively small muscle mass in rabbits, rarely used (Shellim, 2011). Additional factors that can contribute to the calculation of daily doses are associated with changes in fluoroquinolone pharmacokinetics in rabbits in the diseased state. For example, P. multocida infection results in the change in the primary pharmacokinetic parameter clearance for marbofloxacin (Abo-El-Sooud & Goudah, 2010). If the same could apply to levofloxacin, that may impact the calculation of the dose. To prove this, an additional pharmacokinetic study of levofloxacin in infected animals would be required. There are also some known limitations in our study. First, a small number of animals in the pharmacokinetic study do not cover all possible inter-animal difference in clearance, necessary for dose calculation. Impact of infection was not considered in this study, as serum samples from healthy rabbits were used. Small number of bacterial isolates used in this study does not represent all MIC variability within one isolate and among population of wild-type pathogenic bacteria in rabbits. The *ex vivo* study does not take into account the immune response of the animal organism, which could contribute to the elimination of bacteria and possibly allow lower doses of the antimicrobial agent to be used. The effect of inoculum concentration was not assessed in terms of antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin. Finally, this study did not predict further resistance development against levofloxacin for the tested microbial isolates, and no mutant prevention concentrations values were obtained in this study. However, fluoroquinolone resistance is an important issue in global health (Brown, 1996; WHO, 2019). Lastly, consideration of antimicrobial stewardship principles (Lloyd & Page, 2018) in the selection and possible use of levofloxacin in rabbits has to be considered.
Conclusions

Levofloxacin shows favourable pharmacokinetic profiles and is generally well tolerated in rabbits and geese. Levofloxacin dose of 5 mg/kg is likely to be effective in studied animal species and even lower doses are active for highly susceptible bacteria. Our studies provide preliminary examination of key elements of the dose regimen in rabbits and geese. Highest concentrations of levofloxacin were observed in the liver and kidneys, suggesting possible drug accumulation.

The results of this study do not encourage the use of levofloxacin instead of conventional veterinary antibiotics, but provide and up-to-date information on levofloxacin, that will help veterinary practitioners and scientists to make informed choices regarding appropriate levofloxacin use.

Proposals

Safe and effective use of an antibiotic requires require additional issues to be addressed.

- 1. Despite susceptibility of microbial isolates have been reported in multiple studies, it does not exclude further resistance development. The resistance development mechanisms and resistance possibility against levofloxacin for the microbial isolates of interest is advised to be evaluated using the mutant-prevention concentration determination.
- 2. The dose optimisation for levofloxacin in veterinary medicine is advised to be performed. This could be achieved by using population pharmacokinetics methods and utilizing extensive MIC data from microorganisms of interest.
- 3. The impact of the infected state is advised to be evaluated in order to account for the pharmacokinetic differences in real clinical cases where levofloxacin could be used.
- 4. Levofloxacin MRL values for food producing are advised to be defined in countries where levofloxacin is used in food-producing animals.

Publications and reports on topics of Thesis

Publications

- 1. **Sitovs, A.**, Voiko, L., Kustovs, D., Kovalcuka, L., Bandere, D., Purvina, S., & Giorgi, M. (2020). Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). Journal of veterinary science, 21(2), e32. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32
- Sartini, I., Łebkowska-Wieruszewska, B., Sitovs, A., Lisowski, A., Poapolathep, A., & Giorgi, M. (2021). Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in Bilgorajska geese. British poultry science, 62(2), 193–198. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2020.1842855
- 3. **Sitovs, A.**, Sartini, I., & Giorgi, M. (2021). Levofloxacin in veterinary medicine: a literature review. Research in veterinary science, 137, 111–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.031
- 4. Sitovs, A., Skadins, I., Purvina, S., & Bandere, D. (2023). *In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) A preliminary study. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 10.1111/jvp.13383. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvp.13383

Reports and theses at international congresses and conferences

- Sitovs A., Kustovs D., Giorgi M., Kovalcuka L., Voiko L., Purviņa S., Bandere D. (2019). Levofloxacin Assay in Rabbit Plasma: UPLC Method Optimisation and Validation – Rīga Stradiņš University International Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences "Knowledge for Use in Practice": Abstracts April 1–3, 2019, 396.
- Sitovs A., Kustovs D., Giorgi M., Kovalcuka L., Voiko L., Purviņa S., Bandere D. (2019). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after three different routes of single parenteral administration to domestic rabbits – 4th conference "Current approach to health and diseases in animals and humans" Lublin, Poland: Abstracts, September 19–20, 2019, Oral presentation II.O.7
- 3. **Sitovs, A.**, Voiko L., Purviņa S., Bandere D., Giorgi M. (2020). Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and efficacy prediction in domestic rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). ICECVM 2nd International Conference of the European College of Veterinary Microbiology, Online: Abstracts, October 25–27, 2020, Oral presentation
- 4. **Sitovs A.**, Skadins I., Dovbenko A., Purvina S., Bandere D. (2021). Levofloxacin efficacy against E.coli isolated from pet rabbits: a pilot study Rīga Stradiņš University International Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences "Knowledge for Use in Practice": Abstracts March 24 26, 2021, 393
- Sartini I., Łebkowska-Wieruszewska B., Sitovs A., Lisowski A., Poapolathep A., Giorgi M. (2021). Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residues after oral administration in geese – Rīga Stradiņš University International Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences "Knowledge for Use in Practice": Abstracts March 24–26, 2021, 394
- Sitovs A., Sartini I., Giorgi M. (2021). The role of levofloxacin in veterinary medicine currently Rīga Stradiņš University International Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences "Knowledge for Use in Practice": Abstracts March 24– 6, 2021, 398
- Sitovs A., Skadins I., Bandere D. (2023). Levofloxacin Antibacterial Activity against *Pasteurella multocida* Isolated from Domestic Rabbits Rīga Stradiņš University International Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences "Knowledge for Use in Practice": Abstracts March 30–31, 2023
- 8. **Sitovs A.**, Skadins I., Purvina S., Bandere D. (2023). *In vitro* and *Ex vivo* Levofloxacin Antibacterial Activity against *Escherichia coli* Isolated from Domestic Rabbits Rīga Stradiņš University International Conference on Medical and Health Care Sciences "Knowledge for Use in Practice": Abstracts March 30–31, 2023
- Sitovs A., Skadins I., Purvina S., Bandere D. (2023). *In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial effects of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits- EAVPT 15th International congress of the European Association for Veterinary Pharmacology and toxicology, Bruges, Belgium: Abstracts July 2–5, 2023

References

- 1. Abo-El-Sooud, K., & Goudah, A. (2010). Influence of Pasteurella multocida infection on the pharmacokinetic behavior of marbofloxacin after intravenous and intramuscular administrations in rabbits. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 33(1), 63–68.
- 2. Aboubakr, M. (2012). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in Japanese quails (Coturnix japonica) following intravenous and oral administration. British Poultry Science, 53(6), 784–789. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2012.745928
- 3. Aboubakr, M., & Soliman, A. (2014). Comparative pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in healthy and renal damaged Muscovy ducks following intravenous and oral administration. Veterinary medicine international, 2014.
- 4. Aboubakr, M., Uney, K., & Elmas, M. (2014). Bioavailability and pharmacokinetic profile of levofloxacin following intravenous, intramuscular and oral administration in turkeys. British Poultry Science, 55(1), 115-119. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2013.860214
- Agnoletti, F., Mazzolini, E., Bacchin, C., Bano, L., Berto, G., Rigoli, R., Muffato, G., Coato, P., Tonon, E., & Drigo, I. (2014). First reporting of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) ST398 in an industrial rabbit holding and in farm-related people. Veterinary microbiology, 170(1), 172–177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2014.01.035
- 6. Ajayi, A., Oluyege, A., Olowe, O., & Famurewa, O. (2011). Antibiotic resistance among commensal Escherichia coli isolated from faeces of cattle in Ado-Ekiti, Nigeria. Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances, 10(2), 174–179.
- 7. Akinjogunla, O. J., Odeyemi, A. T., Alozie, M. F., Ehinmore, I., Ukpong, U. E., Ediomo, J., & Akpanson, E. K. (2022). Fluoroquinolone antibiotics: in vitro antibacterial and time-kill bactericidal evaluation against etiology of bacteremia in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected patients. Bulletin of the National Research Centre, 46(1), 135.
- 8. Al-Soufi, W., & Al-Rekabi, F. M. (2018). Evaluating some biochemical parameters after repeated orally administration of levofloxacin in male rats. Jornal of Biotechnology Research Center, 12(2).
- 9. Al Masud, A., Rousham, E., Islam, M., Alam, M., Rahman, M., Mamun, A., & Sarker, S. (2020). Drivers of antibiotic use in poultry production in Bangladesh: dependencies and dynamics of a patron-client relationship. Front Vet Sci, 7(78).
- 10. Albarellos, G., Ambros, L., & Landoni, M. (2005). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous and repeat oral administration to cats. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 28(4), 363–369.
- 11. Aliabadi, F. S., & Lees, P. (2001). Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of danofloxacin in serum and tissue fluids of goats following intravenous and intramuscular administration. American journal of veterinary research, 62(12), 1979–1989.
- 12. Alvarez-Perez, S., Blanco, J. L., Martínez-Nevado, E., Peláez, T., Harmanus, C., Kuijper, E., & García, M. E. (2014). Shedding of Clostridium difficile PCR ribotype 078 by zoo animals, and report of an unstable metronidazole-resistant isolate from a zebra foal (Equus quagga burchellii). Veterinary microbiology, 169(3–4), 218–222.
- Álvarez-Pérez, S., Blanco, J. L., Peláez, T., Astorga, R. J., Harmanus, C., Kuijper, E., & García, M. E. (2013). High prevalence of the epidemic Clostridium difficile PCR ribotype 078 in Iberian free-range pigs. Research in veterinary science, 95(2), 358-361.
- Álvarez-Pérez, S., Blanco, J., Peláez, T., Lanzarot, M., Harmanus, C., Kuijper, E., & García, M. (2015). Faecal shedding of antimicrobial-resistant Clostridium difficile strains by dogs. Journal of Small Animal Practice, 56(3), 190–195.
- Ambrose, P. G., Bhavnani, S. M., Rubino, C. M., Louie, A., Gumbo, T., Forrest, A., & Drusano, G. L. (2007). Pharmacokinetics-pharmacodynamics of antimicrobial therapy: it's not just for mice anymore. Clinical Infectious Diseases, 44(1), 79–86.

- 16. Andrews, J. M. (2001). Determination of minimum inhibitory concentrations. J Antimicrob Chemother, 48 Suppl 1, 5–16. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/48.suppl_1.5
- Anes, J., Nguyen, S. V., Eshwar, A. K., McCabe, E., Macori, G., Hurley, D., Lehner, A., & Fanning, S. (2020). Molecular characterisation of multi-drug resistant Escherichia coli of bovine origin. Veterinary microbiology, 242, 108566.
- 18. ANSES. (2020). Resapath French surveillance network for antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from diseased animals, 2018 annual report. Lyon et Ploufragan- Plouzané- Niort
- Ara, C., Asmatullah, A., Kanwal, S., Chaudhary, A., & Siddiqua, A. (2020). Haematological and histopathological analyses of levofloxacin induced toxicity in mammals. Punjab University Journal of Zoology, 35(1), 1–6.
- 20. Arya Kumar, L., Kumar, M., Priya, P., Saurabh, K., & Kumari, N. (2020). Isolation and identification of Klebsiella pneumoniae from a milk sample. Indian Vet. J, 97(01), 15–17.
- 21. Backues, K., & Wiedner, E. (2019). Recommendations for the diagnosis, treatment and management of tuberculosis, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, in elephants in human care. International Zoo Yearbook, 53(1), 116–127.
- 22. Badr, H., Soliman, M. A., & Nasef, S. A. (2020). Bacteriological and molecular study of Salmonella species associated with central nervous system manifestation in chicken flocks. Veterinary World, 13(10), 2183.
- 23. Bai, X., Liu, S., Zhao, J., Cheng, Y., Zhang, H., Hu, B., Zhang, L., Shi, Q., Zhang, Z., & Wu, T. (2019). Epidemiology and molecular characterization of the antimicrobial resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa in Chinese mink infected by hemorrhagic pneumonia. Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research, 83(2), 122–132.
- 24. Bajaj, N., Agrawal, S., Jain, S., Sharma, V., Mourya, A., & Shrivastava, O. (2018). Antibiogram and total viable bacteria count in uterine lavage of normal, sub-clinical and clinical endometritic postpartum buffaloes. Buffalo Bulletin, 37(1), 17–24.
- 25. Bandelj, P., Golob, M., Ocepek, M., Zdovc, I., & Vengust, M. (2017). Antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of clostridium difficile isolates from family dairy farms. Zoonoses and public health, 64(3), 213–221.
- 26. Bandyopadhyay, S., Lodh, C., Rahaman, H., Bhattacharya, D., Bera, A., Ahmed, F., Mahanti, A., Samanta, I., Mondal, D., & Sarkar, S. (2012). Characterization of shiga toxin producing (STEC) and enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) in raw yak (Poephagus grunniens) milk and milk products. Research in veterinary science, 93(2), 604–610.
- Bastos, I. P. B., Campos, D. R., Costa, G. C. S., de Souza Magalhães, V., Scott, F. B., & Fernandes, J. I. (2019). Topical treatment of external otitis in cats with combination of levofloxacin, miconazole and dexamethasone. Acta Veterinaria Brasilica, 13(2).
- 28. Basyigit, I., Kahraman, G., Ilgazli, A., Yildiz, F., & Boyaci, H. (2005). The effects of levofloxacin on ECG parameters and late potentials. American journal of therapeutics, 12(5), 407–410.
- Batabyal, K., Banerjee, A., Pal, S., Dey, S., Joardar, S. N., Samanta, I., Isore, D. P., & Singh, A. D. (2018). Detection, characterization, and antibiogram of extended-spectrum beta-lactamase Escherichia coli isolated from bovine milk samples in West Bengal, India. Veterinary World, 11(10), 1423.
- Baynes, R. E., Dedonder, K., Kissell, L., Mzyk, D., Marmulak, T., Smith, G., Tell, L., Gehring, R., Davis, J., & Riviere, J. E. (2016). Health concerns and management of select veterinary drug residues. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 88, 112–122.
- Beach, N. M., Thompson, S., Mutnick, R., Brown, L., Kettig, G., Puffenbarger, R., Stockwell, S. B., Miyamoto, D., & Temple, L. (2012). Bordetella avium antibiotic resistance, novel enrichment culture, and antigenic characterization. Veterinary microbiology, 160(1-2), 189–196.
- Bellmann, R., Kuchling, G., Dehghanyar, P., Zeitlinger, M., Minar, E., Mayer, B. X., Müller, M., & Joukhadar, C. (2004). Tissue pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in human soft tissue infections. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 57(5), 563-568. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2125.2004.02059.x

- 33. Benameur, Q., Tali-Maamar, H., Assaous, F., Guettou, B., Rahal, K., & Ben-Mahdi, M.-H. (2019). Detection of multidrug resistant Escherichia coli in the ovaries of healthy broiler breeders with emphasis on extended-spectrum β -lactamases producers. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 64, 163–167.
- Berlamont, H., Smet, A., De Bruykere, S., Boyen, F., Ducatelle, R., Haesebrouck, F., & De Witte, C. (2019). Antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of Helicobacter suis isolates from pigs and macaques. Veterinary microbiology, 239, 108459.
- Bhadaniya, A., Prasad, M., Savsani, H., Kalaria, V., Fefar, D., Mathapati, B., Javia, B., Ghodasara, S., & Odedra, M. (2019). Bacteriological and their antibiogram studies of endometritis in slaughtered buffaloes. Buffalo Bulletin, 38(2), 229–236.
- 36. Bisht, P., Ahmad, A., Mishra, A., & Sharma, S. (2018). Pharmacokinetics and tissue residue study of levofloxacin following multiple dose intramuscular administration in poultry. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci., 7(7), 2614–2618.
- 37. Blomquist, P. H., & Palmer, B. F. (2011). Ocular complications of systemic medications. The American journal of the medical sciences, 342(1), 62–69.
- 38. Boyal, P., Meena, D., Sharma, S., Meena, D., & Soni, S. (2018). Determination of antibiogram pattern in Escherichia coli strains isolated from cattle faeces. Veterinary Practitioner, 19(2).
- 39. Brown, S. (1996). Fluoroquinolones in animal health. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 19(1), 1–14.
- 40. Buckland, R., & Guy, G. (2002). FAO animal production and health paper 154: Goose production. Rome, Italy: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 158.
- 41. Buxton, I. L. O. (2023). Pharmacokinetics: The Dynamics of Drug Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism, and Elimination. In L. L. Brunton & B. C. Knollmann (Eds.), Goodman & Gilman's: The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics, 14e. McGraw-Hill Education. accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1193226397
- 42. Casas, L., Vaz, S., & Landoni, M. F. (2019). Eficacia clínica de levofloxacina en el tratamiento de caninos con procesos infecciosos cutáneos y urinarios. Revista veterinaria, 30(1), 17-22.
- 43. Chen, X., Zhang, W., Yin, J., Zhang, N., Geng, S., Zhou, X., Wang, Y., Gao, S., & Jiao, X. (2014). Escherichia coli isolates from sick chickens in China: changes in antimicrobial resistance between 1993 and 2013. The Veterinary Journal, 202(1), 112–115.
- 44. Cheng, F., Tsai, T., Chen, Y., Hung, L., & Tsai, T. (2002). Pharmacokinetic study of levofloxacin in rat blood and bile by microdialysis and high-performance liquid chromatography. Journal of Chromatography A, 961(1), 131–136.
- 45. Cheng, P., Yang, Y., Li, F., Li, X., Liu, H., Fazilani, S. A., Guo, W., Xu, G., & Zhang, X. (2020). The prevalence and mechanism of fluoroquinolone resistance in Escherichia coli isolated from swine farms in China. BMC Veterinary Research, 16(1), 1–9.
- 46. CLSI. (2018a). Performance standards for antimicrobial disk and dilution susceptibility tests for bacteria isolated from animals. CLSI report VET08. In. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- 47. CLSI. (2018b). Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing Supplement M100. In: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
- 48. CLSI. (2019a). Fluoroquinolone breakpoints for Enterobacteriaceae and Pseudomonas aeruginosa 1st ed. In. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- 49. CLSI. (2019b). Understanding susceptibility test data as a component of antimicrobial stewardship in veterinary settings VET09. In. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
- 50. Czyrski, A., Kondys, K., Szałek, E., Karbownik, A., & Grześkowiak, E. (2015). The pharmacokinetic interaction between levofloxacin and sunitinib. Pharmacological Reports, 67, 542–544.

- D'Amico, F., Casalino, G., Bozzo, G., Camarda, A., Lombardi, R., Dimuccio, M. M., & Circella, E. (2022). Spreading of Pasteurella multocida infection in a pet rabbit breeding and possible implications on healed bunnies. Veterinary Sciences, 9(6), 301.
- 52. Da Silva, G., Monteiro, F., Dias, H., Cavalcante, R. d. O., Sampaio, A. d. F., da Conceição, M., Takeshita, R., de Castro, P., Feijó, F., & Rahal, S. C. (2013). Qualitative analysis of preputial and vaginal bacterial microbiota in owl monkeys (A otus azarai infulatus) raised in captivity. Journal of Medical Primatology, 42(2), 71–78.
- 53. Davedow, T., Narvaez-Bravo, C., Zaheer, R., Sanderson, H., Rodas-Gonzalez, A., Klima, C., Booker, C. W., Hannon, S. J., Bras, A. L., & Gow, S. (2020). Investigation of a reduction in tylosin on the prevalence of liver abscesses and antimicrobial resistance in enterococci in feedlot cattle. Frontiers in Veterinary Science, 7, 90.
- 54. del Blanco, N. G. a., Martin, C. G., De La Puente Redondo, V., & Ferri, E. R. g. (2004). In vitro susceptibility of field isolates of Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica recovered in Spain to several antimicrobial agents. Research in veterinary science, 76(3), 195–198.
- 55. Destache, C. J., Pakiz, C. B., Larsen, C., Owens, H., & Dash, A. K. (2001). Cerebrospinal fluid penetration and pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in an experimental rabbit meningitis model. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 47(5), 611–615.
- 56. Dharuman, J. G., Rajasekaran, A., & Krishnasamy, K. (2010). Bioequivalence study and bioanalytical method development of levofloxacin tablets in albino rat plasma using RP-HPLC method. Archives of Applied Science Research, 2(4), 103–110.
- 57. Dorey, L., Pelligand, L., & Lees, P. (2017). Prediction of marbofloxacin dosage for the pig pneumonia pathogens Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae and Pasteurella multocida by pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling. BMC Veterinary Research, 13, 1–10.
- Dumka, V., & Srivastava, A. (2007). Disposition kinetics, urinary excretion and dosage regimen of levofloxacin formulation following single intravenous administration in crossbred calves. Veterinary research communications, 31(7), 873.
- 59. Dumka, V. K., & Srivastava, A. K. (2006). Pharmacokinetics, urinary excretion and dosage regimen of levofloxacin following a single intramuscular administration in cross bred calves. Journal of Veterinary Science, 7(4), 333–337.
- 60. Durna Corum, D., Corum, O., Yildiz, R., Eser Faki, H., Ider, M., Cetin, G., & Uney, K. (2020). Influences of tolfenamic acid and flunixin meglumine on the disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in sheep. Acta Veterinaria Hungarica.
- 61. Edelstein, P. H., Edelstein, M. A., Lehr, K., & Ren, J. (1996). In-vitro activity of levofloxacin against clinical isolates of Legionella spp, its pharmacokinetics in guinea pigs, and use in experimental Legionella pneumophila pneumonia. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 37(1), 117–126.
- 62. EFSA. (2021). Assessmentof animal diseases caused by bacteria resistant to antimicrobials: Rabbits. In P. o. A. H. a. W. (AHAW) (Ed.), EFSA Journal (Vol. 19).
- 63. Eisenberg, T., Rau, J., Westerhüs, U., Knauf-Witzens, T., Fawzy, A., Schlez, K., Zschöck, M., Prenger-Berninghoff, E., Heydel, C., & Sting, R. (2017). Streptococcus agalactiae in elephants–A comparative study with isolates from human and zoo animal and livestock origin. Veterinary microbiology, 204, 141–150.
- 64. El-Ashram, S., Aboelhadid, S. M., Abdel-Kafy, E.-S. M., Hashem, S. A., Mahrous, L. N., Farghly, E. M., & Kamel, A. A. (2020). Investigation of pre-and post-weaning mortalities in rabbits bred in Egypt, with reference to parasitic and bacterial causes. Animals, 10(3), 537.
- 65. El-Banna, H., E.-H. M., & Abd El Latif, A. (2013). Influence of amprolium and toltrazuril on the disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in broiler chickens. Egyptian Academic Journal of Biological Sciences, B. Zoology, 5(2), 1-10.

- 66. Elfeil, W., Ezzat, M., Fathi, A., Alkilany, M., & Abouelmaatti, R. (2020). Prevalence and genotypic analysis and antibiotic resistance of salmonella species isolated from imported and freshly slaughtered chicken. Am. J. Anim. Vet. Sci, 15, 134–144.
- 67. EMA. (1997). Danofloxacin: Summary Report (2). European Medicines Agency. Retrieved February 1, 2020 from https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/mrl-report/danofloxacin-summary-report-2-committee-veterinary-medicinal-products_en.pdf
- 68. EMA. (1999). Marbofloxacin: Summary Report (2). European Medicines Agency. Retrieved February 1, 2020 from https:// www.ema.europa.eu/documents/mrl-report/marbofloxacin-summary-report-2-committee-veterinary-medicinal-products_en.pdf
- 69. EMA. (2002). Enrofloxacin: Summary Report (5). European Medicines Agency. Retrieved February 1, 2020 from https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/mrl-report/enrofloxacin-extension-all-foodproducing-species-summary-report-5-committee-veterinary-medicinal_en.pdf
- EMA. (2018a). Guideline on bioanalytical method validation (EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/2009). In. London: Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use.
- 71. EMA. (2018b). Guideline on Determination of Withdrawal Periods for Edible Tissues. European Medicines Agency. Retrieved February 1, 2020 from https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientificguideline/guideline-determination-withdrawal-periods-edible-tissues-revision-1_en.pdf
- 72. EMA. (2019). List of nationally authorised medicinal products Active substance: levofloxacin (except for the centrally authorised product). In. London, UK: European Medicines Agency.
- 73. EMA. (2020). Committee for Medicinal Products for veterinary use (CVMP) Committee for Medicinal Products for human use (CHMP) categorisation of antibiotics in the European Union https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/categorisation-antibiotics-used-animals-promotes-responsible-use-protect-public-animal-health
- 74. Eraky, R., Abd El-Ghany, W., & Soliman, K. (2020). Studies on Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in hatcheries and chicken. Journal of the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society, 71(1), 1953–1962.
- 75. Erden, B., Ulak, G., Yildiz, F., Utkan, T., Ozdemirci, S., & Gacar, N. (2001). Antidepressant, anxiogenic, and antinociceptive properties of levofloxacin in rats and mice. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 68(3), 435–441.
- 76. EUCAST. (2019). Redefining susceptibility testing categories S, I and R. The European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing. Retrieved August 20 from https://www.eucast.org/newsiandr
- 77. Farghaly, E. M. (2017). Advanced studies on Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in chicken* Eman M. Farghaly,* Heba Roshdy,** Aml A. Bakheet,* Abd El-Hafez S. Abd El-Hafez and* Heba Badr. Anim Health Res.
- 78. Farid, A. S., & Hegazy, A. M. (2020). Ameliorative effects of Moringa oleifera leaf extract on levofloxacin-induced hepatic toxicity in rats. Drug and Chemical Toxicology, 43(6), 616-622.
- 79. FDA. (2021). Levofloxacin. Retrieved February 18 from https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts /cder/daf/index.cfm
- 80. Fernandez-Varon, E., Bovaira, M., Espuny, A., Escudero, E., Vancraeynest, D., & Cárceles, C. (2005). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration of moxifloxacin in rabbits after intravenous, intramuscular and oral administration. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 28(4), 343–348.
- 81. Fernandez-Varon, E., Marin, P., Escudero, E., Vancraeynest, D., & Cárceles, C. (2007). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration of danofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 30(1), 18–24.
- 82. Fernandez, J., Barrett, J. F., Licata, L., Amaratunga, D., & Frosco, M. (1999). Comparison of efficacies of oral levofloxacin and oral ciprofloxacin in a rabbit model of a staphylococcal abscess. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 43(3), 667–671.

- 83. Fish, D. N., & Chow, A. T. (1997). The clinical pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin. Clinical pharmacokinetics, 32, 101–119.
- 84. Gabrielsson, J., & Weiner, D. (2001). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data analysis: concepts and applications.
- 85. Gaur, P., Hada, V., Rath, R. S., Mohanty, A., Singh, P., & Rukadikar, A. (2023). Interpretation of Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Using European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (EUCAST) and Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) Breakpoints: Analysis of Agreement. Cureus, 15(3), e36977. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.36977
- 86. Giguère, S., Prescott, J. F., & Dowling, P. M. (2013). Antimicrobial therapy in veterinary medicine. John Wiley & Sons.
- Goldberg, D. W., Fernandes, M. R., Sellera, F. P., Costa, D. G., Loureiro Bracarense, A. P., & Lincopan, N. (2019). Genetic background of CTX-M-15-producing Enterobacter hormaechei ST114 and Citrobacter freundii ST265 co-infecting a free-living green turtle (Chelonia mydas). Zoonoses and public health, 66(5), 540–545.
- Gonzalez, N., Sevillano, D., Alou, L., Cafini, F., Gimenez, M.-J., Gomez-Lus, M.-L., Prieto, J., & Aguilar, L. (2013). Influence of the MBC/MIC ratio on the antibacterial activity of vancomycin versus linezolid against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates in a pharmacodynamic model simulating serum and soft tissue interstitial fluid concentrations reported in diabetic patients. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 68(10), 2291–2295.
- 89. Goudah, A. (2009). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in male camels (Camelus dromedarius). Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 32(3), 296–299.
- 90. Goudah, A., & Abo-El-Sooud, K. (2009). Pharmacokinetics, urinary excretion and milk penetration of levofloxacin in lactating goats. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 32(1), 101–104.
- 91. Goudah, A., Abo el-sooud, K., Shim, J. H., Shin, H. C., & Abd el-aty, A. (2008). Characterization of the pharmacokinetic disposition of levofloxacin in stallions after intravenous and intramuscular administration. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 31(5), 399–405.
- 92. Goudah, A., & Hasabelnaby, S. (2010). Disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in sheep after intravenous and intramuscular administration. Veterinary medicine international, 2010.
- 93. Gurung, M., Nam, H., Tamang, M., Chae, M., Jang, G., Jung, S., & Lim, S. (2013). Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of Acinetobacter from raw bulk tank milk in Korea. Journal of dairy science, 96(4), 1997–2002.
- 94. Harcourt-Brown, F. (2002). Infectious diseases of domestic rabbits. Textbook of rabbit medicine. Elsevier.
- 95. Haritova, A., & Russenova, N. (2010). In vitro antibacterial effect of enrofloxacin determined by time-killing curves analysis. Bulg J Vet Med, 13(4), 218–226.
- 96. Haritova, A. M., Rusenova, N. V., Parvanov, P. R., Lashev, L. D., & Fink-Gremmels, J. (2006). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling of danofloxacin in turkeys. Veterinary research communications, 30, 775–789.
- Hashem, M. A., El-Mahallawy, H., Moursi, M., Abd El-Fattah, R., & Enany, M. (2022). Betalactam and Fluoroquinolone Resistant Extraintestinal Escherichia coli from Broiler Chickens and Ducks: Public Health Threat. Journal of the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society, 73(4), 4689– 4696.
- 98. Heikkinen, M. (2017). The domestication history of the European goose: a genomic perspective.
- 99. Hemeryck, A., Mamidi, R., Bottacini, M., Macpherson, D., Kao, M., & Kelley, M. (2006). Pharmacokinetics, metabolism, excretion and plasma protein binding of 14C-levofloxacin after a single oral administration in the Rhesus monkey. Xenobiotica, 36(7), 597–613.

- Herbert, R., Caddick, M., Somerville, T., McLean, K., Herwitker, S., Neal, T., ... & Kaye, S. B. (2022). Potential new fluoroquinolone treatments for suspected bacterial keratitis. BMJ open ophthalmology, 7(1), e001002.
- 101. Honka, J., Heino, M., Kvist, L., Askeyev, I., Shaymuratova, D., Askeyev, O., Askeyev, A., Heikkinen, M., Searle, J., & Aspi, J. (2018). Over a thousand years of evolutionary history of domestic geese from Russian archaeological sites, analysed using ancient DNA. Genes (Basel) 9: 367. MDPI.
- 102. Huamán, M., Pérez, C., Rodríguez, J., Killerby, M., Lovón, S., & Chauca, L. (2020). Genetic characterization and antimicrobial resistance patterns of Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Typhimurium in guinea pigs under intensive breeding. Revista de Investigaciones Veterinarias del Perú (RIVEP), 31(1).
- 103. Huang, G., Goldstein, R., & Mildvan, D. (2013). Catfish spine envenomation and bacterial abscess with Proteus and Morganella: a case report. Journal of Medical Case Reports, 7, 1–5.
- 104. Hurtado, F. K., Weber, B., Derendorf, H., Hochhaus, G., & Dalla Costa, T. (2014). Population pharmacokinetic modeling of the unbound levofloxacin concentrations in rat plasma and prostate tissue measured by microdialysis. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 58(2), 678–686.
- 105. Hussein, M., Fahmy, H., & Abd El Tawab, A. (2022). Fluoroquinolones resistance pattern of escherichia coli from apparently healthy broiler chickens in egypt. Adv Anim Vet Sci, 10, 472– 479.
- 106. Ibrahim, W. A., Marouf, S. A., Erfan, A. M., Nasef, S. A., & El Jakee, J. K. (2019). The occurrence of disinfectant and antibiotic-resistant genes in Escherichia coli isolated from chickens in Egypt. Veterinary World, 12(1), 141.
- 107. Ichikawa, T., Oshima, M., Yamagishi, J., Muramatsu, C., & Asai, T. (2020). Changes in antimicrobial resistance phenotypes and genotypes in Streptococcus suis strains isolated from pigs in the Tokai area of Japan. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science, 82(1), 9–13.
- 108. Inoue, I., Shibata, S., & Fukata, T. (2013). Efficacy of fosfomycin on Escherichia coli isolated from bitches with pyometra. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science, 75(5), 657–658.
- 109. Isogai, E., Isogai, H., Hirose, K., Kubota, T., Kimura, K., Fujii, N., Hayashi, S., Takeshi, K., & Oguma, K. (2001). Therapeutic effect of anti-TNF-α antibody and levofloxacin (LVFX) in a mouse model of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157 infection. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 24(4), 217–231.
- 110. Ito, T., Yano, I., Masuda, S., Hashimoto, Y., & Inui, K.-I. (1999). Distribution characteristics of levofloxacin and grepafloxacin in rat kidney. Pharmaceutical research, 16, 534–539.
- 111. Jassim, W. G., & Shareef, A. (2023). Antibiotic Resistance Patterns of Escherichia coli Isolated From Broiler Chickens with Colibacillosis in Duhok Province. Egyptian Journal of Veterinary Sciences, 54(1), 137–148.
- 112. Jatin, H. P., Priti, D. V., Kamlesh, A. S., Urvesh, D. P., Rasesh, D. V., Shailesh, K. B., & Ashwin, M. T. (2018). Effect of ketoprofen co-administration and febrile state on pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in goats following intravenous administration. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci, 7(10), 2477–2483.
- 113. Jekl, V. (2021). Respiratory Medicine, An Issue of Veterinary Clinics of North America: Exotic Animal Practice (Vol. 24). Elsevier Health Sciences.
- 114. Jiang, H.-X., Lü, D.-H., Chen, Z.-L., Wang, X.-M., Chen, J.-R., Liu, Y.-H., Liao, X.-P., Liu, J.-H., & Zeng, Z.-L. (2011). High prevalence and widespread distribution of multi-resistant Escherichia coli isolates in pigs and poultry in China. The Veterinary Journal, 187(1), 99–103.
- 115. Judy, B. M., Whitlock, G. C., Torres, A. G., & Estes, D. M. (2009). Comparison of the in vitro and in vivo susceptibilities of Burkholderia mallei to Ceftazidime and Levofloxacin. BMC microbiology, 9, 1–7.

- 116. Kanaan, M. H. G., Al-Shadeedi, S. M., Al-Massody, A. J., & Ghasemian, A. (2020). Drug resistance and virulence traits of Acinetobacter baumannii from Turkey and chicken raw meat. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 70, 101451.
- 117. Kanegi, R., Yasugi, M., Nabetani, T., Tanaka, T., Wada, Y., Hirai, K., Sugiura, K., & Hatoya, S. (2019). Clinical findings and treatment of disseminated 'Mycobacterium avium subspecies hominissuis' infection in a domestic cat. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science, 81(12), 1842–1849.
- 118. Kang, H.-W., & Woo, G.-J. (2014). Increase of multidrug efflux pump expression in fluoroquinolone-resistant Salmonella mutants induced by ciprofloxacin selective pressure. Research in veterinary science, 97(2), 182–186.
- 119. Kao, L. M., Bush, K., Barnewall, R., Estep, J., Thalacker, F. W., Olson, P. H., Drusano, G. L., Minton, N., Chien, S., & Hemeryck, A. (2006). Pharmacokinetic considerations and efficacy of levofloxacin in an inhalational anthrax (postexposure) rhesus monkey model. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 50(11), 3535–3542.
- 120. Karim, S. J. I., Islam, M., Sikder, T., Rubaya, R., Halder, J., & Alam, J. (2020). Multidrug-resistant Escherichia coli and Salmonella spp. isolated from pigeons. Veterinary World, 13(10), 2156.
- 121. Khan, A. M., & Rampal, S. (2013). Effect of meloxicam and its combination with levofloxacin, pazufloxacin, and enrofloxacin on the plasma antioxidative activity and the body weight of rabbits. Veterinary World, 6(12), 950.
- 122. Kilburn, J. J., Schmitt, D., Kiso, W., Papich, M. G., & Backues, K. A. (2023). Pharmacokinetics Of Rectally And Orally Administered Levofloxacin In Asian Elephants (Elephas Maximus). J Zoo Wildl Med, 53(4), 670-678. https://doi.org/10.1638/2022-0011
- 123. Kim, J. H., Cho, J. K., & Kim, K. S. (2013). Prevalence and characterization of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes in Salmonella isolated from poultry in Korea. Avian Pathology, 42(3), 221–229.
- 124. Klesel, N., Geweniger, K., Koletzki, P., Isert, D., Limbert, M., Markus, A., Riess, G., Schramm, H., & Iyer, P. (1995). Chemotherapeutic activity of levofloxacin (HR 355, DR-3355) against systemic and localized infections in laboratory animals. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 35(6), 805–819.
- 125. Klimpel, G. R., Eaves-Pyles, T., Moen, S. T., Taormina, J., Peterson, J. W., Chopra, A. K., Niesel, D. W., Carness, P., Haithcoat, J. L., Kirtley, M., & Nasr, A. B. (2008). Levofloxacin rescues mice from lethal intra-nasal infections with virulent Francisella tularensis and induces immunity and production of protective antibody. Vaccine, 26(52), 6874-6882. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.09.077
- 126. Krustev, S. Z., Rusenova, N. V., & Haritova, A. M. (2014). Effect of diclofenac on ocular levels of ciprofloxacin and lomefloxacin in rabbits with endophthalmitis. Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 40(11), 1459–1462.
- 127. Ksiazkiewicz, J. (2006). The role and importance of geese species included by genetic stock protection program. Wiadomosci Zootechniczne, 4, 34–38.
- 128. Kumar, Kumar, S., Kumar, V., Singh, K. K., & Roy, B. K. (2009). Pharmacokinetic studies of levofloxacin after oral administration in healthy and febrile cow calves. Veterinary research communications, 33(8), 887-893. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-009-9237-0
- 129. Kumar, A., Anu, R., Ram, R., Atul, P., Rajesh, M., & Garg, S. (2012). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following intravenous and intramuscular administration in cattle calves. Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances, 7(10), 1006–1013.
- 130. Kumar, S., Niyogi, D., Kumar, D., Singh, Y. D., Sarkar, S., & Mukhopadhayay, S. (2009). Clinicopathological changes of induced levofloxacin toxicity in croiler chickens. Ind. J. Vet. Pathol., 33(2), 180–182.
- 131. Kyuchukova, R., Urumova, V., Lyutskanova, M., Petrov, V., & Pavlov, A. (2013). Levofloxacin residues in chicken meat and giblets. Bulg. J. Vet. Med, 16(1), 216–219.

- 132. Landoni, M. F., & Albarellos, G. A. (2019). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous, oral and subcutaneous administration to dogs. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 42(2), 171–178.
- 133. Ledbetter, E. C., Hendricks, L. M., Riis, R. C., & Scarlett, J. M. (2007). In vitro fluoroquinolone susceptibility of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates from dogs with ulcerative keratitis. American journal of veterinary research, 68(6), 638–642.
- 134. Lee, H. K., DeVito, V., Vercelli, C., Tramuta, C., Nebbia, P., Re, G., Kovalenko, K., & Giorgi, M. (2017). Ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against Escherichia coli and its pharmacokinetic profile following intravenous and oral administrations in broilers. Research in veterinary science, 112, 26–33.
- 135. Lees, P., & Toutain, P. L. (2012). The role of pharmacokinetics in veterinary drug residues. Drug testing and analysis, 4, 34–39.
- 136. Li, M., Zhao, L., Ma, J., Zhao, N., Luo, J., Wang, C., Chen, L., Ma, G., Wang, Y., & He, H. (2018). Vibrio vulnificus in aquariums is a novel threat to marine mammals and public health. Transboundary and emerging diseases, 65(6), 1863–1871.
- 137. Liu, B.-T., Liao, X.-P., Yang, S.-S., Wang, X.-M., Li, L.-L., Sun, J., Yang, Y.-R., Fang, L.-X., Li, L., & Zhao, D.-H. (2012). Detection of mutations in the gyrA and parC genes in Escherichia coli isolates carrying plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes from diseased food-producing animals. Journal of medical microbiology, 61(11), 1591–1599.
- 138. Liu, H.-F., Huang, X.-Y., Li, Z.-M., Zhou, Z.-Y., Zhong, Z.-J., & Peng, G.-N. (2023). Virulence gene detection and antimicrobial resistance analysis of Enterococcus faecium in captive giant pandas (Ailuropoda melanoleuca) in China. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica, 65(1), 1–9.
- 139. Liu, H. H. (2010). Safety Profile of the Fluoroquinolones. Drug Safety, 33(5), 353-369. https://doi.org/10.2165/11536360-00000000-00000
- 140. Lloyd, D. H., & Page, S. W. (2018). Antimicrobial stewardship in veterinary medicine. Antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from livestock and companion animals, 675–697.
- 141. Lozano, C., Aspiroz, C., Lasarte, J. J., Gómez-Sanz, E., Zarazaga, M., & Torres, C. (2011). Dynamic of nasal colonization by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus ST398 and ST1 after mupirocin treatment in a family in close contact with pigs. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 34(1), e1-e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2010.06.006
- 142. Madsen, M., Messenger, K., & Papich, M. G. (2019). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following oral administration of a generic levofloxacin tablet and intravenous administration to dogs. American journal of veterinary research, 80(10), 957–962.
- 143. Mahmud, S., Nazir, K. N. H., & Rahman, M. T. (2018). Prevalence and molecular detection of fluoroquinolone-resistant genes (qnrA and qnrS) in Escherichia coli isolated from healthy broiler chickens. Veterinary World, 11(12), 1720.
- 144. Manning, D. R., & Blumenthal, D. K. (2023). Pharmacodynamics: Molecular Mechanisms of Drug Action. In L. L. Brunton & B. C. Knollmann (Eds.), Goodman & Gilman's: The Pharmacological Basis of Therapeutics, 14e. McGraw-Hill Education. accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?aid=1193226677
- 145. Marangos, M., Zhu, Z., Nicolau, D., Klepser, M., & Nightingale, C. (1997). Disposition of ofloxacin in female New Zealand white rabbits. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 20(1), 17–20.
- 146. Marín, P., Fernandez-Varon, E., Escudero, E., Vancraeynest, D., & Cárceles, C. (2008). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration of orbifloxacin in rabbits after intravenous, subcutaneous and intramuscular administration. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 31(1), 77–82.
- 147. Marín, P., García-Martínez, F., Hernándis, V., & Escudero, E. (2018). Pharmacokinetics of norfloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 41(1), 137–141.

- 148. Markandeya, N., Muley, V., Digraskar, S., & Bhattacharyya, J. (2011). Efficacy of levofloxacinornidazole and α-tocopherol combination in the treatment as well as prevention of post-partum affections in buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis). Veterinary Practitioner, 12(2), 260–263.
- 149. Marques, C., Belas, A., Aboim, C., Trigueiro, G., Cavaco-Silva, P., Gama, L. T., & Pomba, C. (2019). Clonal relatedness of Proteus mirabilis strains causing urinary tract infections in companion animals and humans. Veterinary microbiology, 228, 77–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2018.10.015
- 150. Martinez, M., McDermott, P., & Walker, R. (2006). Pharmacology of the fluoroquinolones: a perspective for the use in domestic animals. The Veterinary Journal, 172(1), 10–28.
- 151. McKellar, Q. A., Sanchez Bruni, S. F., & Jones, D. G. (2004). Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relationships of antimicrobial drugs used in veterinary medicine. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 27(6), 503–514.
- 152. Miller, M. A., Finnegan, M., Storms, T., Garner, M., & Lyashchenko, K. P. (2018). Outbreak of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in a herd of captive Asian elephants (Elephas maximus): Antemortem diagnosis, treatment, and lessons learned. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine, 49(3), 748–754.
- 153. Mitchell, M., & Tully, T. N. (2008). Manual of exotic pet practice. Elsevier Health Sciences.
- 154. Mochizuki, K., Ohkubo, S., Torisaki, M., Yamashita, Y., Tanahashi, T., Jin, Y., Okamura, Y., & Tanaka, M. (1994). Intraocular penetration of oral levofloxacin in rabbits. Nippon Ganka Gakkai Zasshi, 98(11), 1085–1090.
- 155. Mohanty, N., Das, P., Subhadarsini Pany, S., Narayan Sarangi, L., Ranabijuli, S., & Kumar Panda, H. (2013). Isolation and antibiogram of Staphylococcus, Streptococcus and Escherichia coli isolates from clinical and subclinical cases of bovine mastitis. Veterinary World, 6(10).
- 156. Morales-Estrada, A., Hernández-Castro, R., López-Merino, A., Singh-Bedi, J., & Contreras-Rodríguez, A. (2016). Isolation, identification, and antimicrobial susceptibility of Brucella spp. cultured from cows and goats manure in Mexico. Austral Journal of Veterinary Sciences, 48(2), 231–235.
- 157. Mueller, M., de la Peña, A., & Derendorf, H. (2004). Issues in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of anti-infective agents: kill curves versus MIC. Antimicrob Agents Chemother, 48(2), 369-377. https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.48.2.369-377.2004
- 158. Mustafa, R., Qi, J., Ba, X., Chen, Y., Hu, C., Liu, X., Tu, L., Peng, Q., Chen, H., & Guo, A. (2013). In vitro quinolones susceptibility analysis of Chinese Mycoplasma bovis isolates and their phylogenetic scenarios based upon QRDRs of DNA topoisomerases revealing a unique transition in ParC. Pak Vet J, 33(3), 364–369.
- 159. Nelson, M., Lever, M. S., Dean, R. E., Pearce, P. C., Stevens, D. J., & Simpson, A. J. (2010). Bioavailability and efficacy of levofloxacin against Francisella tularensis in the common marmoset (Callithrix jacchus). Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy, 54(9), 3922–3926.
- 160. NITA-FARM (2022). Lexoflon. Retrieved from: https://www.nita-farm.ru/produktsiya/leksoflon/instruktsiya/ on 13.09.2023.
- 161. North, D. S., Fish, D. N., & Redington, J. J. (1998). Levofloxacin, a second-generation fluoroquinolone. Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy, 18(5), 915–935.
- 162. Nowara, A., Burhenne, J., & Spiteller, M. (1997). Binding of fluoroquinolone carboxylic acid derivatives to clay minerals. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 45(4), 1459–1463.
- 163. Onanga, R., Mbehang Nguema, P. P., Ndong Atome, G. R., Mabika Mabika, A., Ngoubangoye, B., Komba Tonda, W. L., Obague Mbeang, J. C., & Lebibi, J. (2020). Prevalence of extended-spectrum β-lactamases in E. coli of Rats in the Region North East of Gabon. Veterinary medicine international, 2020.

- 164. Özer, S., Aslan, G., Tezcan, S., Bulduklu, P. S., Serin, M. S., & Emekdaş, G. (2008). Genetic heterogeneity and antibiotic susceptibility of Vibrio alginolyticus strains isolated from Horse-Mackerel (Trachurus trachurus L., 1758). Turkish Journal of Veterinary & Animal Sciences, 32(2), 107–112.
- 165. Panda, B., Padhi, M., Sahoo, S., Panda, S., & Rath, S. (2010). Incidence of coli bacillosis in ducks. Indian Veterinary Journal, 87(5), 443–444.
- 166. Papich, M. G. (2021). Antimicrobial agent use in small animals what are the prescribing practices, use of PK-PD principles, and extralabel use in the United States? Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 44(2), 238–249.
- 167. Park, Y., Oh, J., Park, S., Sum, S., Song, W., Chae, J., & Park, H. (2020). Antimicrobial resistance and novel mutations detected in the gyrA and parC genes of Pseudomonas aeruginosa strains isolated from companion dogs. BMC Veterinary Research, 16, 1–8.
- 168. Park, Y. W., Kang, B. J., Lim, J. H., Ahn, J. M., & Lim, H. S. (2015). Corneal plaque containing levofloxacin in a dog. Veterinary Ophthalmology, 18(6), 521–526.
- Patel, J. H., Bhavsar, S. K., & Thaker, A. M. (2012). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following intravenous and subcutaneous administration in sheep. Asian Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances, 7(1), 85-93.
- 170. Patel, Vihol, P. D., Sadariya, K. A., Patel, U. D., Varia, R. D., Bhavsar, S. K., Thaker, A. M., & Raval, J. K. (2019). Pretreatment with trikatu augments pharmacokinetic profile and bioavailability of orally administered levofloxacin in goat. Ann. Phytomed, 8(1), 172–177.
- 171. Patel, J., Varia, R., Vihol, P., Singh, R., Patel, U., Bhavsar, S., & Thaker, A. (2012). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in white leghorn birds. Indian Veterinary Journal, 89(8), 69.
- 172. Pathirana, H., Shin, G.-W., Wimalasena, S., De Silva, B., Hossain, S., & Heo, G.-J. (2018). Prevalence and characterization of quinolone resistance genes in Proteus species isolated from pet turtles. Journal of Exotic Pet Medicine, 27(4), 67–73.
- 173. Pauzi, N. A., Mohamad, N., Azzam-Sayuti, M., Yasin, I. S. M., Saad, M. Z., Nasruddin, N. S., & Azmai, M. N. A. (2020). Antibiotic susceptibility and pathogenicity of Aeromonas hydrophila isolated from red hybrid tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus× Oreochromis mossambicus) in Malaysia. Veterinary World, 13(10), 2166.
- 174. Percy, D. H., & Barthold, S. W. (2013). Pathology of laboratory rodents and rabbits. John Wiley & Sons.
- 175. Potter, T., Illambas, J., Pelligand, L., Rycroft, A., & Lees, P. (2013). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic integration and modelling of marbofloxacin in calves for Mannheimia haemolytica and Pasteurella multocida. The Veterinary Journal, 195(1), 53–58.
- 176. Pouplin, T., Bang, N. D., Toi, P. V., Phuong, P. N., Dung, N. H., Duong, T. N., Caws, M., Thwaites, G. E., Tarning, J., & Day, J. N. (2016). Naïve-pooled pharmacokinetic analysis of pyrazinamide, isoniazid and rifampicin in plasma and cerebrospinal fluid of Vietnamese children with tuberculous meningitis. BMC infectious diseases, 16(1), 1–13.
- 177. Prajapati, B., Solanki, K., Devi, S., Katira, B., Patel, S., Raval, S., & Momin, R. (2020). Phenotypic and molecular characterization of ESBLs producing Escherichia coli in bovine faecal and milk samples of North Gujarat. Indian Journal of Animal Sciences, 90(7), 987–992.
- 178. Qi, J., Li, L., Du, Y., Wang, S., Wang, J., Luo, Y., Che, J., Lu, J., Liu, H., Hu, G., Li, J., Gong, Y., Wang, G., Hu, M., ShiganYan, & Liu, Y. (2014). The identification, typing, and antimicrobial susceptibility of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolated from mink with hemorrhagic pneumonia. Veterinary microbiology, 170(3), 456–461. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2014.02.025
- 179. Rahman, M. M., Rahman, M. M., Meher, M. M., Islam Khan, M. S., & Anower, A. (2016). Isolation and antibiogram of Salmonella spp. from duck and pigeon in Dinajpur, Bangladesh. Journal of Advanced Veterinary & Animal Research, 34(4).

- 180. Rajaei, S. M., Ansari mood, M., Selk ghaffari, M., & Razaghi manesh, S. M. (2015). Effects of short-term oral administration of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole on tear production in clinically normal Syrian hamsters. Veterinary Ophthalmology, 18(1), 83–85.
- 181. Rajaei, S. M., Rafiee, S. M., Ghaffari, M. S., Masouleh, M. N., & Jamshidian, M. (2016). Measurement of Tear Production in English Angora and Dutch Rabbits. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci, 55(2), 221–223.
- 182. Ram, D., Dumka, V., Sharma, S., & Sandhu, H. (2008). Pharmacokinetics, dosage regimen and in vitro plasma protein binding of intramuscular levofloxacin in buffalo calves.
- 183. Ram, M., Singh, V., Roy, B. K., Prasad, R., & Singh, K. K. (2011). Effect of mastitis on pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following single dose intravenous administration in goats. Journal of Bioanalysis & Biomedicine, 3.
- 184. Ravikumar, C., Sanganal, J., Shridhar, N., Narayanaswamy, H., Kamran, C. A., & Ramachandra, S. (2015). Estimation of withdrawal period of levofloxacin in liver and breast muscle tissue of dual purpose chicken. Electronic Journal of Environmental Sciences, 8, 43–48.
- 185. Riviere, J. E., & Papich, M. G. (2018). Veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics. John Wiley & Sons.
- 186. Rodriguez-Palacios, A., Stämpfli, H. R., Duffield, T., Peregrine, A. S., Trotz-Williams, L. A., Arroyo, L. G., Brazier, J. S., & Weese, J. S. (2006). Clostridium difficile PCR ribotypes in calves, Canada. Emerging infectious diseases, 12(11), 1730.
- 187. Rougier, S., Galland, D., Boucher, S., Boussarie, D., & Vallé, M. (2006). Epidemiology and susceptibility of pathogenic bacteria responsible for upper respiratory tract infections in pet rabbits. Veterinary microbiology, 115(1–3), 192–198.
- 188. Rubin, J., Walker, R. D., Blickenstaff, K., Bodeis-Jones, S., & Zhao, S. (2008). Antimicrobial resistance and genetic characterization of fluoroquinolone resistance of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolated from canine infections. Veterinary microbiology, 131(1), 164–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2008.02.018
- 189. Ruscher, C., Lübke-Becker, A., Semmler, T., Wleklinski, C.-G., Paasch, A., Šoba, A., Stamm, I., Kopp, P., Wieler, L. H., & Walther, B. (2010). Widespread rapid emergence of a distinct methicillin- and multidrug-resistant Staphylococcus pseudintermedius (MRSP) genetic lineage in Europe. Veterinary microbiology, 144(3), 340–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2010.01.008
- 190. Safi, M., Albalaa, B., & Al-Mariri, A. (2013). Prophylactic efficacy of some antibiotic combinations against Brucella melitensis 16M in BALB/c mice. Bulgarian Journal of Veterinary Medicine, 16(3).
- 191. Safi, M., Albalaa, B., & Al-Mariri, A. (2014). Efficacy of some second-and third-generation fluoroquinolones against Brucella melitensis 16M in BALB/c mice. Bulgarian Journal of Veterinary Medicine, 17(1), 42–49.
- 192. Saha, O., Islam, M. R., Rahman, M. S., Hoque, M. N., Hossain, M. A., & Sultana, M. (2021). First report from Bangladesh on genetic diversity of multidrug-resistant Pasteurella multocida type B: 2 in fowl cholera. Veterinary World, 14(9), 2527.
- 193. Sakai, T., Shinno, K., Kurata, M., & Kawamura, A. (2019). Pharmacokinetics of azithromycin, levofloxacin, and ofloxacin in rabbit extraocular tissues after ophthalmic administration. Ophthalmology and Therapy, 8, 511–517.
- 194. Salauddin, M., Akter, M. R., Hossain, M. K., Nazir, K. N. H., Noreddin, A., & El Zowalaty, M. E. (2020). Molecular detection of multidrug resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolated from bovine mastitis milk in Bangladesh. Veterinary Sciences, 7(2), 36.
- 195. Saleem, N., Nawaz, M., Ghafoor, A., Javeed, A., Mustafa, A., Yousuf, M. R., & Khan, I. (2018). Phenotypic and Molecular Analysis of Antibiotic Resistance in Lactobacilli of Poultry Origin from Lahore, Pakistan. Pakistan Veterinary Journal, 38(4).

- 196. Sartini, I., Łebkowska-Wieruszewska, B., Kim, T. W., Lisowski, A., Poapolathep, A., & Giorgi, M. (2020). Pharmacokinetic and tissue analyses of levofloxacin in sheep (Ovis aries Linnaeus) after multiple-dose administration. Research in veterinary science, 128, 124–128.
- 197. Sartini, I., Łebkowska-Wieruszewska, B., Sitovs, A., Lisowski, A., Poapolathep, A., & Giorgi, M. (2021). Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in Bilgorajska geese. British Poultry Science, 62(2), 193–198.
- 198. Sasaki, T., Kikuchi, K., Tanaka, Y., Takahashi, N., Kamata, S., & Hiramatsu, K. (2007). Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus pseudintermedius in a veterinary teaching hospital. Journal of clinical microbiology, 45(4), 1118–1125.
- 199. Scherf, B. D. (2000). World watch list for domestic animal diversity. Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO).
- 200. Sharma, S. K., Yadav, R., Mehta, S. C., & Kataria, A. K. (2020). Detection and analysis of antibiotic resistance variability among Staphylococcus aureus isolates from animal and human sources. Veterinarski arhiv, 90(5), 493–508.
- 201. Shellim, C. (2011). Parenteral drug administration. Veterinary Nursing Journal, 26(4), 117-119.
- 202. Sherman, A., Daniels, J. B., Wilkie, D. A., & Lutz, E. (2013). Actinomyces bowdenii ulcerative keratitis in a dog. Veterinary Ophthalmology, 16(5), 386–391.
- 203. Shirani, D., Selk Ghaffari, M., Akbarein, H., & Haji Ali Asgari, A. (2010). Effects of short-term oral administration of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole on Schirmer II tear test results in clinically normal rabbits. Veterinary Record, 166(20), 623–625.
- 204. Siqueira, E., Rahal, S. C., Ribeiro, M. G., Paes, A. C., Listoni, F., & Vassalo, F. (2014). Exogenous bacterial osteomyelitis in 52 dogs: a retrospective study of etiology and in vitro antimicrobial susceptibility profile (2000–2013). Veterinary Quarterly, 34(4), 201–204.
- 205. Sitovs, A., Sartini, I., & Giorgi, M. (2021). Levofloxacin in veterinary medicine: a literature review. Research in veterinary science, 137, 111–126.
- 206. Sitovs, A., Skadins, I., Purvina, S., & Bandere, D. (2023). *In vitro* and *ex vivo* antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) A preliminary study. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvp.13383
- 207. Sitovs, A., Voiko, L., Kustovs, D., Kovalcuka, L., Bandere, D., Purvina, S., & Giorgi, M. (2020). Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*). J Vet Sci, 21(2), e32. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32
- 208. Soares, T. C. S., Paes, A. C., Megid, J., Ribolla, P. E. M., Paduan, K. d. S., & Gottschalk, M. (2014). Antimicrobial susceptibility of Streptococcus suis isolated from clinically healthy swine in Brazil. Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research, 78(2), 145–149.
- 209. Stipkovits, L., & Szathmary, S. (2012). Mycoplasma infection of ducks and geese. Poultry Science, 91(11), 2812–2819.
- 210. Stratev, D., Vashin, I., & Daskalov, H. (2013). Antimicrobial resistance of β-haemolytic Aeromonas hydrophila strains isolated from rainbow trouts (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Bulgarian Journal of Veterinary Medicine, 16(4), 289–296.
- 211. Subedi, M., Luitel, H., Devkota, B., Bhattarai, R. K., Phuyal, S., Panthi, P., Shrestha, A., & Chaudhary, D. K. (2018). Antibiotic resistance pattern and virulence genes content in avian pathogenic Escherichia coli (APEC) from broiler chickens in Chitwan, Nepal. BMC Veterinary Research, 14(1), 1–6.
- 212. Sun, N., Liu, J.-H., Yang, F., Lin, D.-C., Li, G.-H., Chen, Z.-L., & Zeng, Z.-L. (2012). Molecular characterization of the antimicrobial resistance of Riemerella anatipestifer isolated from ducks. Veterinary microbiology, 158(3), 376-383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.03.005

- 213. Sun, Y., Wen, S., Zhao, L., Xia, Q., Pan, Y., Liu, H., Wei, C., Chen, H., Ge, J., & Wang, H. (2020). Association among biofilm formation, virulence gene expression, and antibiotic resistance in Proteus mirabilis isolates from diarrhetic animals in Northeast China. BMC Veterinary Research, 16(1), 1–10.
- 214. Suzuki, T., Yamamoto, T., & Ohashi, Y. (2016). The antibacterial activity of levofloxacin eye drops against staphylococci using an in vitro pharmacokinetic model in the bulbar conjunctiva. Journal of Infection and Chemotherapy, 22(6), 360-365. https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.jiac.2016.01.011
- 215. Tamuly, S., Saxena, M., Ambwani, T., & Lakhchaura, B. (2011). Multiple drug resistance and plasmid profilling in Salmonella Galiema, Salmonella Typhimurium, Salmonella Virchow and Salmonella Heidelberg.
- 216. Tanzin, T., Nazir, K. N. H., Zahan, M. N., Parvej, M. S., Zesmin, K., & Rahman, M. T. (2016). Antibiotic resistance profile of bacteria isolated from raw milk samples of cattle and buffaloes. Journal of Advanced Veterinary and Animal Research, 3(1), 62–67.
- 217. Thitaram, S. N., Frank, J. F., Siragusa, G. R., Bailey, J. S., Dargatz, D. A., Lombard, J. E., Haley, C. A., Lyon, S. A., & Fedorka-Cray, P. J. (2016). Antimicrobial susceptibility of Clostridium difficile isolated from food animals on farms. International Journal of Food Microbiology, 227, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2016.03.017
- 218. Toutain, P.-L., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2004a). Bioavailability and its assessment. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 27(6), 455–466.
- 219. Toutain, P.-L., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2004b). Plasma clearance. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 27(6), 415–425.
- 220. Toutain, P.-L., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2004c). Plasma terminal half-life. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 27(6), 427–439.
- 221. Toutain, P.-L., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2004d). Volumes of distribution. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 27(6), 441–453.
- 222. Toutain, P.-L., Del Castillo, J. R., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2002). The pharmacokinetic– pharmacodynamic approach to a rational dosage regimen for antibiotics. Research in veterinary science, 73(2), 105–114.
- 223. Toutain, P.-L., Ferran, A., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2010). Species differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. Comparative and veterinary pharmacology, 19–48.
- 224. Toutain, P., & Lees, P. (2004). Integration and modelling of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data to optimize dosage regimens in veterinary medicine. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 27(6), 467–477.
- 225. Tungsiripat, T., Sarayba, M. A., Kaufman, M. B., Sweet, P. M., Taban, M., Carpenter, T. R., & McDonnell, P. J. (2003). Fluoroquinolone therapy in multiple-drug resistant staphylococcal keratitis after lamellar keratectomy in a rabbit model. American Journal of Ophthalmology, 136(1), 76-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9394(02)02280-8
- 226. Upadhyay, A., & Kataria, A. (2009). Antibiogram of Staphylococcus aureus isolates obtained from clinically mastitic cattle and goats. Veterinary Practitioner, 10(2), 145–147.
- 227. Urzua, N., Messina, M. J., Caverzan, M., Prieto, G., Lüders, C., & Errecalde, C. (2020). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous and oral administration, and its interaction with sucralfate in mixed-breed dogs. Xenobiotica, 50(12), 1490–1493.
- 228. Van den Eede, A., Martens, A., Floré, K., Denis, O., Gasthuys, F., Haesebrouck, F., Van den Abeele, A., & Hermans, K. (2013). MRSA carriage in the equine community: An investigation of horse-caretaker couples. Veterinary microbiology, 163(3), 313–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2012.12.038
- 229. Vanni, M., Tognetti, R., Pretti, C., Crema, F., Soldani, G., Meucci, V., & Intorre, L. (2009). Antimicrobial susceptibility of Staphylococcus intermedius and Staphylococcus schleiferi isolated from dogs. Research in veterinary science, 87(2), 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1016 /j.rvsc.2009.01.011

- 230. Varia, R., Patel, J., Patel, U., Bhavsar, S., & Thaker, A. (2009). Disposition of levofloxacin following oral administration in broiler chickens. Israel journal of veterinary medicine, 64(4), 118.
- 231. Vercelli, C., Łebkowska-Wieruszewska, B., Barbero, R., Lisowski, A., Re, G., & Giorgi, M. (2020). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in non-lactating goats and evaluation of drug effects on resistance in coliform rectal flora. Res Vet Sci, 133, 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2020.09.028
- 232. Vos, P., Garrity, G., Jones, D., Krieg, N. R., Ludwig, W., Rainey, F. A., Schleifer, K.-H., & Whitman, W. B. (2011). Bergey's manual of systematic bacteriology: Volume 3: The Firmicutes (Vol. 3). Springer Science & Business Media.
- 233. Wang, C., Deng, L., Zhu, Y., Wu, K., Wei, M., Huang, S., Wei, R., Liu, W., Huang, Y., & Zhang, H. (2021). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin mesylate in healthy adult giant panda after single-dose administration via different routes. Journal of veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics, 44(4), 644–649.
- 234. Watanabe, T., Fujikawa, K., Harada, S., Ohura, K., Sasaki, T., & Takayama, S. (1992). Reproductive toxicity of the new quinolone antibacterial agent levofloxacin in rats and rabbits. Arzneimittel-forschung, 43(3A), 374–377.
- 235. WHO. (2019). Critically important antimicrobials for human medicine. In: World Health Organization.
- 236. WHO. (2021). The selection and use of essential medicines: report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2021 (including the 22nd WHO model list of essential medicines and the 8th WHO model list of essential medicines for children). In: World Health Organization.
- 237. Wright, D. H., Brown, G. H., Peterson, M. L., & Rotschafer, J. C. (2000). Application of fluoroquinolone pharmacodynamics. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 46(5), 669–683.
- 238. Yang, X., Wang, D., Li, J., Meng, X., Wei, Y., Tuerxun, G., Jin, Y., Xue, J., Ali, T., & Han, B. (2020). Molecular Epidemiology and Characteristics of Streptococcus agalactiae Isolated from Bovine Mastitis in Large Dairy Herds of China. Pakistan Veterinary Journal, 40(3).
- 239. Yarsan, E., Tanyuksel, M., KOc, F., Essiz, D., & Babur, C. (2003). Influence of experimentally induced toxoplasmosis (Toxoplasma gondii) on the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin. BULLETIN-VETERINARY INSTITUTE IN PULAWY, 47(2), 479–486.
- 240. Yee, S. B., Hatkin, J. M., Dyer, D. N., Orr, S. A., & Pitt, M. L. M. (2010). Aerosolized Bacillus anthracis infection in New Zealand white rabbits: natural history and intravenous levofloxacin treatment. Comparative medicine, 60(6), 461–468.
- 241. Yin, L.-F., Huang, S.-J., Jiang, S.-G., Zhao, C.-J., Pei, Z.-Q., & Zhang, Q. (2011). In vitro and in vivo evaluation of levofloxacin sustained-release capsules. Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 37(1), 33–40.
- 242. Zdolec, N., Dobranić, V., Butković, I., Koturić, A., Filipović, I., & Medvid, V. (2016). Antimicrobial susceptibility of milk bacteria from healthy and drugtreated cow udder. Veterinarski arhiv, 86(2), 163–172.
- 243. Zhang, J., Xu, C., Shen, H., Li, J., Guo, L., Cao, G., Feng, S., & Liao, M. (2014). Biofilm formation in Haemophilus parasuis: relationship with antibiotic resistance, serotype and genetic typing. Research in veterinary science, 97(2), 171-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2014.04.014
- 244. Zhao, S., Maurer, J. J., Hubert, S., De Villena, J. F., McDermott, P. F., Meng, J., Ayers, S., English, L., & White, D. G. (2005). Antimicrobial susceptibility and molecular characterization of avian pathogenic Escherichia coli isolates. Veterinary microbiology, 107(3), 215-224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2005.01.021
- 245. Zhao, Y., Guo, L., Li, J., Huang, X., & Fang, B. (2018). Characterization of antimicrobial resistance genes in Haemophilus parasuis isolated from pigs in China. PeerJ, 6, e4613.

- 246. Zhou, Z., Zhang, M., Li, H., Yang, H., Li, X., Song, X., & Wang, Z. (2017). Prevalence and molecular characterization of Staphylococcus aureus isolated from goats in Chongqing, China. BMC Veterinary Research, 13, 1–8.
- 247. Zhu, Z., Shi, Y., Zhou, X., Li, B., & Zhang, J. (2018). Molecular characterization of fluoroquinolone and/or cephalosporin resistance in Shigella sonnei isolates from yaks. BMC Veterinary Research, 14, 1–9.

Acknowledgments

Preparation of this Thesis was a long and laborious process, made possible by the invaluable help and support from my knowledgeable supervisors, Professor Dace Bandere and the late Professor Santa Purvina. I am immensely grateful to both of them, and I deeply mourn the fact that Professor Purvina will not be present at the defence.

I am wholeheartedly thankful to my mentor in science, a researcher, an inspirer, Professor Mario Giorgi. This work would not be complete without the participation of my collaborators: Līga Kovaļčuka, Dmitrijs Kustovs, Beata Lebkowska-Wieruszewska, Andrzej Lisowski, Amnart Poapolathep, Irene Sartini, Ingus Skadiņš, and Laura Voiko, to whom I extend my sincere appreciation. I am grateful to the brilliant scientists Victoria Llewellyn, Aneliya Milanova, and Cristina Vercelli for their invaluable advice and assistance. Lastly, I want to express my gratitude to my JC family!

Along this scientific journey, the two non-scientists who have always cared are my beloved wife, Viktorija, and my friend, Igors. I salute you!

Annexes

First Publication

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

	Contents lists available at ScienceDirect Research in Veterinary Science	VETERINARY VETERINARY
ELSEVIER	journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/rvsc	AVER &

Levofloxacin in veterinary medicine: a literature review

Andrejs Sitovs^{a,*}, Irene Sartini^b, Mario Giorgi^c

^a Department of Pharmacology, Riga Stradinji University, Riga, Latvia
^b Department of Veterinary Medicine, University of Sassari, Sassari, Italy
^c Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Pisa, San Piero a Grado, Pisa, Italy

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: levofloxacin MIC pharmacokinetics review tissue residue	A potent third-generation antimicrobial fluoroquinolone drug, levofloxacin was introduced into human clinical practice in 1993. Levofloxacin is also used in veterinary medicine, however its use is limited: it is completely banned for veterinary use in the EU, and used extralabel in only companion animals in the USA. Since its introduction to clinical practice, many studies have been published on levofloxacin in animal species, including pharmacokinetic studies, tissue drug depletion, efficacy, and animal microbial isolate susceptibility to levofloxacin. This literature overview highlights the most clinically relevant and scientifically important levofloxacin studies linked to the field of veterinary medicine.

1. Introduction

Although more commonly used in human medicine, the fluoroquinolone antimicrobial agent levofloxacin has also been a focus of research in veterinary medicine. Levofloxacin is a third-generation fluoroquinolone drug. Compared to previous generations of fluoroquinolones, it possesses expanded activity against Gram-positive bacteria and atypical intracellular pathogens (North et al., 1998). Indications for levofloxacin in human medicine include chronic bronchitis, acute sinusitis, inhalational anthrax (post-exposure), nosocomial and community-acquired pneumonia, prostatitis, pyelonephritis, skin and soft tissue infections and urinary tract infections. Levofloxacin is a drug included in the World Health Organization's List of Essential Medicines (WHO, 2019).

Several research papers reporting on levofloxacin in non-human animals have been published in recent years (Casas et al., 2019; Vercelli et al., 2020; Sartini et al., 2020a, 2020b; Wang et al., 2021), indicating an increasing interest in levofloxacin as an extralabel drug in companion and food-producing animals. This interest is likley due to many of the currently approved antimicrobial agents for veterinary use not meeting the needs of veterinarians in the management of antibioticresistant infections (Papich, 2020). With emerging resistance to fluoroquinolones of first and second generations, worldwide (WHO, 2012), levofloxacin is used in animals in many countries, including both registered and extralabel uses. In non-EU countries (e.g., Argentina, India, China, and Russia) levofloxacin is registered as a veterinary drug (Table 1), whereas in the USA, all veterinary use is extralabel. In the USA, the Animal Medicinal Drug Use Clarification Act of 1994 (AMDUCA, 1994) allows the use of extralabel drugs registered for use in other species or humans, when the health of an animal is threatened, or when suffering or death may result from failure to treat. This has led to inexpensive generic human levofloxacin tablets being used in pet animals (Papich, 2020) and the inclusion of levofloxacin in the International Society for Companion Animal Infectious Diseases Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Bacterial Urinary Tract Infections in Dogs and Cats (We e et al., 2019). However, it is of importance to note that under the AMDUCA, extralabel use of fluoroquinolones, including levofloxacin, is prohibited in food animals. The use of levofloxacin in verteinary medicine in the countries described above is in stark contrast to the countries of the EU, where all non-veterinary fluoroquinolones are deemed "critically important in human medicine and their use in animals should be restricted to mitigate the risk to public health" by the European Medical Agency (i. e. they are included in the "restricted" category B), and so are not used in non-human animals (EMA, 2020). The differing restictions on the use of levofloxacin in veterinary medicine worldwide has lead to the availability of a large volume of information on its use, however such information has not been compiled into a single source. This review intends to summarize the existing data from the veterinary field related to levofloxacin, so veterinary care professionals worldwide can evaluate the appropriateness of its use in their practice. As such, human medicine studies are mostly avoided in this review. Detailed information about levofloxacin use in humans can be

* Corresponding author at: Department of Pharmacology, RSU, Dzirciema str 16, Riga LV-1007, Latvia. E-mail address: andrejs.sitovs@rsu.lv (A. Sitovs).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.031

Received 22 December 2020; Received in revised form 26 March 2021; Accepted 27 April 2021 Available online 30 April 2021 0034-5288/© 2021 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

found in the review of North et al. (1998).

The Scopus database (keywords: "levofloxacin" and "veterinary") and references of the research papers found were used as data sources. In cases where full-text articles were unable to be sourced, data cited is from the abstracts only. Additionally, although some research data was sourced from domestic journals, only peer-reviewed publications were considered. This resulted in 43 research articles on levofloxacin pharmacokinetics in mammals and birds, 8 tissue depletion articles and 111 articles referring to the antimicrobial activity (*in vivo* and *in vitro*) of levofloxacin against microorganisms isolated from various animal species and/or their primary habitats.

2. Description and physicochemical properties

Levofloxacin (chemical name: (S)-9-Fluoro-2,3-dihydro-3-methyl-10-(4-methyl-1-piperazinyl)-7-oxo-7H-pyrido[1,2,3-de]-1,4-benzox-azine-6-carboxylic acid (Fig. 1); molecular mass 361.37 g/mol; pharmaceutically available as a heminydrate, $(C_{18}H_{20}FN_3O_4^{-1}/_2H_2O; 370.38$

Table 1

Veterinary formulations containing levofloxacin.



Fig. 1. Levofloxacin chemical structure.

g/mol)) is the optical S-(-) isomer of ofloxacin. Ofloxacin is a racemic mixture, but most of its antimicrobial activity is due to the S-isomer, which is 32- to 128-fold more potent than the R-isomer. Levofloxacin was developed to take advantage of this antimicrobial potency, which requires approximately half the usual dose of ofloxacin to achieve

Country	Name	Active ingredient(s)	Dosage form	Manufacturer	Species	Indication	Dosing	Treatment duration	Withdrawal time	Reference
Argentina	Floxaday	Levofloxacin	Tablets	Holliday - Scott S. A.	Dog	Soft tissue/ respiratory/ prostate/	PO 10 mg/kg every 24h	N/A	N/A	https://www. floxaday.com. ar/
Argentina	Floxaday	Levofloxacin	Injectable solution	Holliday - Scott S. A.	Dog	nammary gland infections, UTI, osteomyelitis, septicemia, pyoderma	1.5 mL /10 kg every 24h	N/A	N/A	
China	ZDHF- Levofloxacin W.S. P	Levofloxacin	Powder	Shijiazhuang ZDHF Stock- Raising Co., Ltd	Fowl	Increase poultry laying rate	100g of the powder + 150kg water, twice daily	3-5 days	N/A	http://www. cnleader.com. cn/
India	LEVOVET	Levofloxacin	Powder	Paramount Agrovet (P) Ltd	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	http://vetn eedsgroup. com/products /poultry -medicines /levovet/
India	Veterinary Levofloxacin Injection	Levofloxacin	Injectable solution	Zuche Pharmaceuticals Private Ltd	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	http://facme dpharma. com/product s/veterinar y-medicine -manufact urer/injection
India	Levosept	Levofloxacin, colistin	Oral liquid	Vetbiochem India Private Ltd	Poultry	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	https://www. vetbiochem. in/search. html?ss =Levosept
India	LCB-Vet	Levofloxacin, colistin and bromhexine	Oral liquid	Vetline (A Divison of Simfa Labs Pvt. Ltd)	N/A	N/A	4-8 mL per 10 L of drinking water	3-5 days	Meat: 28 days; Eggs: 7days	http://vetline. in/lcb-vet. html
Russia	Лексофлон (Leksoflon)	Levofloxacin	Injectable solution	NITA-FARM	Cattle, pig	N/A	IM injection 1 mL per 30 kg BW	3-5 days	Cattle/Pig (meat): 9 days; Milk: 4 days	https://www. nita-farm.ru/ produktsiya/l eksoflon/
Russia	Лексофлон OR (Leksoflon OR)	Levofloxacin	Oral liquid	NITA-FARM	Poultry, pig	N/A	1 mL per 20 kg BW (0.5 mL per 1 L drinking water)	3-5 days	Poultry (meat): 7 days; Pigs (meat): 9 days	https://www. nita-farm. ru/produkts iya/leks oflon-or/

BW - body weight, N/A - data not available in the reference source.

similar efficacy, with a reduced toxicity profile.

Levofloxacin is a light-sensitive, pale yellow-white to yellow-white crystal or crystalline powder, and is odorless with a bitter taste. It expresses slightly acidic (carboxylic acid moiety dissociation constant of 6.24 (Nowara et al., 1997)) and strongly lipophilic properties (log Kow -0.39, logP = 2.1). It is soluble in dimethyl sulfoxide, dimethyl formamide, glacial acetic acid and chloroform, slightly soluble in ethanol, sparingly soluble in water, and practically insoluble in ether. At a pH range of 0.6-5.8, levofloxacin water solubility is essentially constant at approximately 100 pg/mL (sparingly soluble). Above pH 5.8, the solubility increases rapidly to a maximum at pH 6.7 (272 pg/mL) (North et al., 1996; https://infectweb.com/product/cravit/).

3. History

Levofloxacin was patented in 1985 by Daiichi Seiyaku Pharmaceutical Co. Ltd in Japan, but was not introduced to the human pharmaceutical market until 1993, when it was produced as oral tablets under the brand name Cravit®. Also in 1993, Daiichi Sankyo entered into a licensing agreement with Sanofi-Aventis, and levofloxacin was subsequently marketed and sold under the trade name Tavanic®. Since 2010, generic formulations have also been available. Levofloxacin is currently registered for human use by both the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and EMA, with a variety of formulations available. Oral tablets, oral, injectable and ophthalmic solutions are approved for use in human medicine in the USA (FDA, 2021). Oral tablets, injectable and ophthalmic solutions are approved in the EU (EMA, 2019).

4. Pharmacology

4.1. Mechanism of action

Like other fluoroquinolones, levofloxacin inhibits bacterial DNA gyrase (an enzyme required for DNA replication, transcription, repair, and recombination) and topoisomerase IV, thereby inhibiting the introduction of single-strand breaks on bacterial chromosomes, and resealing them after supercoiling. This prevents bacterial DNA replication and transcription, leading to a bactericidal effect.

4.2. Use of levofloxacin

Levofloxacin is effective in the treatment of a variety of infectious diseases. Its spectrum of activity includes Gram-positive aerobic bacteria, Gram-negative aerobic bacteria, some anaerobic bacteria, and other microorganisms including *Chlamydia* spp., *Mycoplasma* spp., and *Mycobacterium* spp. Similar to human levofloxacin, veterinary levofloxacin is available as both oral and parenteral forms in non-EU countries (Table 1). These products are used for farm animals with infectious disease (Al Masud et al., 2020); Лексофлон (Leksoflon), for example, is

Table 2

Reported antimicrobial spectrum of activity of veterinary levofloxacin formulation Лексофлон (Leksoflon)

Gram-positive	Gram-negative	Atypical intracellul			
Clostridium spp.	Bacteroides spp.	Chlamydia spp.			
Listeria monocytogenes	Campylobacter spp.	Mycoplasma spp.			
Staphylococcus spp.	Enterobacter spp.	Rickettsia spp.			
Streptococcus spp.	E. coli				
	Fusobacterium spp.				
	Haemophilus spp.				
	Moraxella spp.				
	Pasteurella spp.				
	Proteus spp.				
	Pseudomonas aeruginosa				
	Salmonella spp.				

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

To achieve maximum therapeutic efficacy, adequate susceptibility of the microorganism to the therapeutic agent is required. Often, pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) surrogate indices such as area under the concentration vs time curve divided by the minimal inhibitory concentration (AUC/MIC) are applied (Toutain et al., 2002) to predict therapeutic efficacy. The AUC/MIC target for fluoroquinolones derived from human data was originally estimated at over 125 hours (McKellar et al., 2004), however, more recent studies have suggested a lower value of 72 hours (Madsen et al., 2019). Susceptibility and MIC values for levofloxacin have been reported for multiple microorganisms isolated from animal sources, however as no veterinaryspecific breakpoint values are available for levofloxacin, human medical breakpoints have been used. It is of great importance that, according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute VET09 report (CLSI, 2019a), susceptibility test results interpretations based on human breakpoints should be made with low confidence in the correlation between in vitro results and clinical outcomes in animals. Authors of most of the publications included in this review used susceptibility breakpoint values from the Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (28th edition, supplement M100; CLSI, 2018). According to these standards, levofloxacin MIC breakpoints for most of the microorganisms are as follows: susceptible = $\leq 2 \mu g/mL$, intermediate = $4 \mu g/mL$ mL, resistant = $\geq 8 \ \mu g/mL$; and for the disk diffusion method, zone diameter breakpoints: suceptible = zone diameter \geq 17 mm, intermediate = 14-16 mm, resistant = \leq 13 mm. It is of importance to note that the newer CLSI rationale document (CLSI, 2019b) suggests different breakpoint values for Enterobacteriaceae and Pseudomonas aureginosa: Enterobacteriaceae susceptible = $<0.5 \,\mu$ g/mL, intermediate = 1 μ g/mL, resistant = $\geq 2 \ \mu$ g/mL; *P. aureginosa* susceptible = $\leq 1 \ \mu$ g/mL, intermediate = $2 \mu g/mL$, resistant = >4 $\mu g/mL$.

4.3. Microbial resistance

listed in Table 2

Microbial resistance to fluoroquinolones may result from mutations in defined regions of DNA gyrase or topoisomerase IV (i.e., quinolone resistance determining regions (QRDRs) - gyrA and parC) or altered efflux. The development of microbial resistance to levofloxacin has been studied in human medicine, however there is limited research in other animal species. Mutations in microbial genes isolated from animals associated with increased resistance to levofloxacin, such as an increase in efflux pump expression, have been doucumented in molecular studies in a variety of microorganisms, including Escherichia coli (Liu et al., 2012; Cheng et al., 2020), Riemerella anatipestifer (Sun et al., 2012), Salmonella spp. (Kang and Woo, 2014; Kim et al., 2013), Haemophilus parasuis (Zhao et al., 2018), and Staphylococcus aureus (Suzuki et al., 2016). Of interest, a pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic study by Vercelli et al. (2020) also identified an increase in levofloxacin resistance of E. coli isolated from goats within 48 hours of low dose (2 mg/kg bodyweight) parenteral levofloxacin administration, however the authors did not investigate the underlying mechanism for this finding.

4.4. Antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin

4.4.1. Gram-negative microorganisms

Gram-negative bacterial susceptibility to levofloxacin are presented in Tables 3a, 3b and 3c, with data expressed as reported (i.e., if only the percentage of resistant strains were reported, the percentage of sensitive strains was not calculated herein). As a result, some data is missing or incomplete (e.g., sampling period, MIC value or type of tissues sampled); the same approach has been taken for all other tables in this review. More than 30 studies evaluated the susceptibility of *E. coli* isolated from animals to levofloxacin (Tables 3a and 3b), some of which report almost complete resistance (Anes et al., 2020; Benameur et al., 2019). Additionally, an increase in the percentage of resistant *E. coli* strains from

Table 3a Susceptibility of Gram-negative microorganisms isolated from animals to levofloxacin

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Country	Sampling period	N	Sample type	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Various (19 species; mostly P. mirabilis)	Owl monkey (Aotus azarai infulatus)	Healthy	Brazil	2011	N/ A	Swabs	100.0			0.12	Da Silva et al., 2013
Haemophilus parasuis (BP)	Pig	Diseased	China	2008-2010	73	Tissue			24.7	N/A	Zhang et al., 2014
Haemophilus parasuis (NBP)	Pig	Diseased	China	2008-2010	37	Tissue			24.3	N/A	Zhang et al., 2014
Haemophilus parasuis	Pig	Diseased	China	2014-2017	143	Tissue			20.3	<0.25-128	Zhao et al., 2018
Haemophilus parasuis	Pig	Diseased	China	2007-2008	110	N/A	93.6			0.008-16	Zhou et al., 2010
Brucella abortus	Cattle	Diseased	Mexico	2012	3	Feces	100.0			N/A	Morales- Estrada et al., 2016
Brucella melitensis	Cattle	Diseased	Mexico	2012	3	Feces	66.0		33.0	N/A	Morales- Estrada et al., 2016
Brucella suis	Cattle	Diseased	Mexico	2012	1	Feces	100.0			N/A	Morales- Estrada et al.,
Brucella abortus	Goat	Diseased	Mexico	2012	3	Feces	100.0			N/A	Morales- Estrada et al., 2016
Bordetella hinzii	Turkey	Diseased	USA	2004	1	Swabs, tissue	100.0			N/A	Beach et al., 2012
Bordetella avium	Turkey	Diseased	USA	Pre1979-2010	12	Swabs, tissue		8.33		N/A	Beach et al., 2012
Bordetella avium	Saw-whet owl Aegolius acadicus)	Healthy	USA	2006	1	Swabs, tissue	100.0			N/A	Beach et al., 2012
Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica	Various (hare, vole)	N/A	Spain	N/A	32	N/A	S			<0.25	del Blanco et al., 2004
Aeromonas hydrophilia Aeromonas	Iilapia Bainbara trout	Diseased	Malaysia	2019	1	Tissue	100.0			N/A	2020 Stratov et al
hydrophilia	(Oncorhynchus mykiss)	N/A	Duigaria	N/A	12	owabs	100.0			N/A	2013
Klebsiella	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A		Milk	S			N/A	Arya et al.,
Escherichia coli	Various (pig, chicken_duck)	Diseased	China	2002-2010	495	Feces, tissues			70.5	0.0625 - >256	Liu et al., 2012
Escherichia coli	Dog	Diseased	Japan	2009-2012	38	Swabs			18.4	N/A	Inoue et al., 2013
Escherichia coli (ESBL 34%)	Rat	N/A	Gabon	2010	32	Feces			56.3	N/A	Onanga et al., 2020
Escherichia coli	Pig	N/A	China	2014-2017	479	Wastewater			38.8	N/A	Cheng et al., 2020
Escherichia coli (ESBL)	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A	30	Feces, milk			74.7	N/A	Prajapati et al., 2020
Escherichia coli (MDR)	Cattle	N/A	Ireland	2007	12	N/A			100.0	N/A	Anes et al., 2020
Escherichia coli (ESBL)	Cattle	Healthy	India	2018	22	Milk	83.3	16.7	0.0	N/A	Batabyal et al., 2018
Escherichia coli	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A	31	Feces	87.1			N/A	Boyal et al., 2018
Escherichia coli	Cattle	Healthy	Bangladesh	N/A	2	Milk	s			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Escherichia coli	Buffalo	Healthy	Bangladesh	N/A	1	Milk	s			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016

BP – biofilm producing, NBP – non-biofilm producing, ESBL – extended-spectrum beta-lactamases, MDR – multidrug resistant, N – number of isolates, S – susceptible, I – intermediate, R – resistant, MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

1993 to 2013 was reported by Chen et al. (2014). Many studies investigating the efficacy of levofloxacin in other Gram-negative infections have been undertaken in mouse models (Judy et al., 2009; Safi et al., 2013; Safi et al., 2014; Isogai et al., 2001; Klimpel et al., 2008). Judy et al. (2009) reported that levofloxacin resulted in 100% animal survival, but failed to fully eradicate *Burkholderia mallei* (MIC 2.5 µg/mL), whereas Safi et al.'s (2013, 2014), studies indicated that levofloxacin alone and in combination with rifampicin is effective in *Brucella melitensis* infections. Isogai et al. (2001) found it effective to use levofloxacin together with anti-TNF- α antibodies against enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli*,

and Klimpel et al. (2008) demonstrated levofloxacin efficacy against a seemingly lethal dose (intra-nasal infection with approximately 99 colony-forming units) of *Francisella tularensis* and subsequent antibody development post-treatment.

4.4.2. Gram-positive and other microorganisms

The susceptability of Gram-positive and atypical microorganisms to levofloxacin are presented in Tables 4a and 4b. The majority of investigated microbes of this class have susceptibility to levofloxacin, e.g., a retrospective study of dog osteomyelitis showed that less than 10% of

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

Table 3b Susceptibility of Gram-negative microorganisms isolated from animals to levofloxacin

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Country	Sampling period	N	Sample type	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Escherichia coli	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	15	Swabs	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al.,
Escherichia coli	Cattle	Diseased	India	2009-2011	30	Milk	96.7	3.3	0.0	N/A	Mohanty et al., 2013
Escherichia coli (MDR)	Cattle	Healthy	Nigeria	2006-2008	500	Feces	4.6			N/A	Ajayi et al., 2011
Escherichia coli (31 STEC and 6 EPEC)	Yak	N/A	India	N/A	37	Milk, milk products	100.0			N/A	Bandyopadhyay et al., 2012
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	China	1993-1995	91	Feces, tissues			13.2	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	China	1996-2000	95	Feces, tissues			22.1	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	China	2001-2005	112	Feces, tissues			40.2	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	China	2006-2010	112	Feces, tissues			53.6	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	China	2011-2013	130	Feces, tissues			54.6	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	China	1993-2013	540	Feces, tissues			38.7	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Pig	Healthy, diseased	China	2003-2005	203	Feces, tissues			50.2	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Chicken, geese, duck, partridge)	Healthy, diseased	China	2003-2005	389	Feces, tissues			20.8	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Pig, poultry	Healthy	China	2003-2005	300	Feces, tissues			14.0	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Pig, poultry	Diseased	China	2003-2005	292	Feces, tissues			48.3	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Duck	Healthy	China	2003-2005	10	Feces			0.0	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Chicken (Broiler breeder)	Healthy	Algeria	2017-2018	37	Tissues			89.1	N/A	Benameur et al., 2019
Escherichia coli	Chicken	Diseased	Egypt	2015-2016	34	Tissues, yolk sac	38.2	35.3	26.5	N/A	Ibrahim et al., 2019
Escherichia coli (90% APEC)	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased (suspected)	Nepal	2016-2017	50	Tissues			50.0	N/A	Subedi et al., 2018
Escherichia coli	Chicken (Broiler)	Healthy	Bangladesh	N/A	54	Swabs, feces			22.0	N/A	Mahmud et al., 2018
Escherichia coli (APEC)	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased	USA	1996-2000	56	Tissues	98.0		2.0	0.25 - 8	Zhao et al., 2005
Escherichia coli	Duck	Diseased	India	N/A	25	Tissues	S			N/A	Panda et al., 2010
Escherichia coli	Pigeon	Healthy	Bangladesh	2017	21	Swabs, feces	100.0		0.0	N/A	Karim et al., 2020
Enterobacter hormaechei (ESBL)	Green turtle (Chelonia mydas)	Diseased	Brazil	2016	1	Tissues	100.0			N/A	Goldberg et al., 2019
Citrobacter freundii	Green turtle (Chelonia mydas)	Diseased	Brazil	2016	1	Tissues	100.0			N/A	Goldberg et al., 2019
Vibrio vulnificus	Seal (Phoca largha)	Diseased	China	2016	1	Tissues	S			N/A	Li et al., 2018
Vibrio spp.	Horse mackerel (Trachurus)	N/A	Turkey	2006	9	Tissues	100.0			N/A	Özer et al., 2008
Pseudomonas spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	3	Swabs	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Dog	Healthy	South Korea	2017-2018	38	Swabs			13.2	0.015 - 32	Park et al., 2020

ESBL – extended-spectrum beta-lactamases, MDR – multidrug resistant, STEC – Shiga toxin producing *E. coli*, EPEC – Enteropathogenic *E.coli*, APEC – avian pathogenic *E. coli*, N – number of isolates, S – susceptible, I – intermediate, R – resistant, MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

various isolated microorganisms were resistant to this drug (Siqueira et al., 2014). However, there are some exceptions. Multiple studies (Rodriguez-Palacios et al., 2006; Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2013; Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2014). have indicated complete clostridial resistance to levofloxacin, and Sasaki et al. (2007) and Ruscher et al. (2010) reported complete *Staphylococcus pseudintermedius* resistance to levofloxacin in dogs. Studies into the suceptability of *S. aureus* have reported mixed results: Fernandez et al. (1999) reported that oral administration of levofloxacin was more effective than ciprofloxacin in rabbits with *S. aureus* abscesses, whereas ophthalmic administration in rabbits was not effective in the reduction of keratitis caused by a resistant *S. aureus* strain (Tungsiripat et al., 2003). Similarly, an *in vitro* pharmacokinetic indel of bulbar conjunctiva of rabbits reported a stronger bactericidal effect of 1.5% levofloxacin ophthalmic solution compared to 0.5% solution against different MIC *S. aureus* strains (Suzuki et al., 2016). Interestingly, Backues and Wiedner (2019) identified levofloxacin as the fluoroquniolone of choice in elephant tuberculosis, despite an earlier study by Miller et al. (2018) reporting unsuccessful treatment of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection in captive elephants due to poor complience and adverse effects.

Rabbits infected with *Bacillus anthracis* (MIC 0.12 μ g/mL) showed high survival rates, suggesting that intravenous levofloxacin is an effective therapeutic agent against inhalational anthrax (Yee et al., 2010). Oral administration of levofloxacin was also effective in the anthrax model in Rhesus monkeys, where an initial dose of 15 mg/kg followed by 4 mg/kg every 12 hours prevented morbidity and mortality

Table 3c Suscentibility of Gram-negative microorganisms isolated from animals to levofloxaeir

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Country	Sampling period	N	Sample type	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Pseudomonas	Dog	Diseased	South	-	46	Swabs			15.2	0.015 -	Park et al.,
Pseudomonas aeruvinosa	Dog	Diseased	USA	2003-2006	106	Swabs			16.0	0.015 -	Rubin et al., 2008
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Dog	Diseased	USA	3 years	27	Swabs	100.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	Ledbetter et al., 2007
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Mink	Dead	China	2007-2015	69	Tissues, soil			13.0	16 - 128 (R)	Bai et al., 2019
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Mink	Diseased/ dead	China	2010-2011	30	Feces, feed, tissues			13.3	N/A	Qi et al., 2014
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Chicken	N/A	Egypt	2018	33	Environment swabs, yolk sac	100.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	Eraky et al., 2020
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Chicken	Diseased/ dead	Egypt	N/A	42	Tissues, yolk sac	73.8	7.2	19.0	N/A	Farghaly et al., 2017
Proteus mirabilis	Various (Dog, cat)	Diseased	Portugal	1999-2015	107	N/A		0.0	7.5	N/A	Marques et al., 2019
Proteus mirabilis (BP)	Various (Dog, mink, cattle, fowl)	Diseased	China	2014-2016	162	Feces	57.4	18.5	24.1	N/A	Sun et al., 2020
Proteus mirabilis (NBP)	Various (Dog, mink, cattle, fowl)	Diseased	China	2014-2016	14	Feces	57.1	0.0	42.9	N/A	Sun et al., 2020
Proteus mirabilis	Turtle	N/A	South Korea	N/A	15	Feces	73.0	20.0	7.0	0.03 - 8	Pathirana et al., 2018
Proteus vulgaris	Turtle	N/A	South Korea	N/A	7	Feces	85.7	14.3	0.0	0.03 - 4	Pathirana et al., 2018
Proteus hauseri	Turtle	N/A	South Korea	N/A	2	Feces	100.0			0.06	Pathirana et al., 2018
Proteus vulgaris	Human (Catfish wound)	Diseased	USA	N/A	1	Swabs	100.0			< 0.25	Huang et al., 2013
Helicobacter suis	Various (Pig, monkey)	N/A	Belgium	N/A	35	Tissues			5.7	0.03 - 32	Berlamont et al., 2019
Shigella sonnei	Yak	Diseased	China	2014-2016	44	Feces	(0.0	14.0	9.1	N/A	Zhu et al., 2018
saimonella typhimurium	Guinea pig	N/A	Peru	2016, 2018	35	N/A	60.0	14.3	24.7	N/A	Huaman et al., 2020
Samoneua spp.	Poultry	N/A	India	N/A	30	reces, eggs		3.3	93.3	N/A	2008 12008
Salmonella spp.	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased	Egypt	2017-2019	5	Tissues	60.0	40.0		N/A	Badr et al., 2020
Salmonella spp.	Chicken	N/A	Egypt	N/A	19	Tissues	78.9		15.8	N/A	Elfeil et al., 2020
Salmonella spp.	Duck	Diseased, dead	Bangladesh	N/A	19	Tissues, feces	s			N/A	Rahman et al., 2016
Salmonella spp.	Pigeon	Diseased, dead	Bangladesh	N/A	12	Tissues, feces	s			N/A	Rahman et al., 2016
Salmonella spp.	Pigeon	Healthy	Bangladesh	N/A	11	Swabs, feces			18.2	N/A	Karim et al., 2020
Acinetobacter spp.	Cattle	Healthy	South Korea	N/A	176	Milk	100.0		0	N/A	Gurung et al., 2013
Acinetobacter baumannii	Cattle	Healthy	South Korea	N/A	57	Milk	100.0		0	N/A	Gurung et al., 2013
Acinetobacter baumannii	Chicken	Healthy	Iraq	2017-2019	80	Tissues			37.5	N/A	Kanaan et al., 2020
Acinetobacter baumannii	Turkey	Healthy	Iraq	2017-2019	120	Tissues			37.5	N/A	Kanaan et al., 2020
Fusobacterium spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	5	Swabs	100.0			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019

BP – biofilm producing, NBP – non-biofilm producing, N – number of isolates, S – susceptible, I – intermediate, R – resistant, MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

and did not cause development of microbial resistance (Kao et al., 2006). Finally, a topical formulation containing levofloxacin, miconazole, and dexamethasone was found to be effective in external otitis management in cats (Barbieri Bastos et al., 2019), and in buffalos intrauterine coadministration of levofloxacin with ornidazole and α -tocopherol was effective in treating and preventing postpartum affection (Markandeya et al., 2011).

4.5. Adverse effects

Levofloxacin side effects have been comprehensivley documented in human medicine, and encompass common gastrointestinal effects (nausea, diarrhea, constipation), headache, insomnia, dizziness, and rare, but severe tendinitis and peripheral neuropathy (Liu, 2010). However, reports of side effects in animals are limited. Most of the studies included in this review performed a single dose administration (dose range 2 – 810 mg/kg body weight) and not all of them reported on side effects. Of those that did report on side effects, most suggested a lack of side effects associated with levofloxacin treatment (Casas et al., 2019; Urzúa et al., 2020; Landoni and Albarellos, 2019; Albarellos et al., 2005; Dumka and Srivastava, 2006; Vercelli et al., 2020; Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Sartini et al., 2020a; Patel et al., 2012a; Goudah and Hasabelnaby, 2010; Goudah et al., 2008; Goudah, 2008; Bisht et al., 2012; Aboubakr, 2012; Sartini et al., 2020b; Aboubakr and Soliman, 2014), however Madsen et al. (2019) reported transient vomiting, soft

Table 4a Susceptibility of Gram-positive microorganisms isolated from animals against levofloxacin

1 5 1	0		0								
Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Country	Sampling period	Ν	Sample type	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Various	Cattle	Healthy, diseased	India	N/A	31	Lavage	87.1			N/A	Bajaj et al., 2018
Staphylococcus spp.	Cattle	Diseased	Croatia	N/A	53	Milk			<5%	N/A	Zdolec et al., 2016
Staphylococcus spp.	Cattle	Healthy	Croatia	N/A	41	Milk			<5%	N/A	Zdolec et al., 2016
Staphylococcus spp.	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A	68	Milk	88.2	8.8	2.9	N/A	Mohanty et al., 2013
Staphylococcus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	15	Swabs	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Staphylococcus pseudintermedius (MRSP)	Various (dog, cat, horse, donkey)	Diseased	Germany	2005-2008	146	N/A	2.1	0.0	97.9	<1 - 4	Ruscher et al., 2010
Staphylococcus pseudintermedius	Dog	Healthy, diseased	South Korea	N/A	49	Swabs			34.7	N/A	Kang and Woo, 2014
Staphylococcus pseudintermedius (MRSP)	Dog	Healthy, diseased	Japan	2006	18	Swabs			100.0	8 - >8	Sasaki et al., 2007
Staphylococcus intermedius	Dog	Healthy, diseased	Italy	2006-2007	114	Swabs	98.2			N/A	Vanni et al., 2009
Staphylococcus schleiferi	Dog	Healthy, diseased	Italy	2006-2007	8	Swabs	37.5			N/A	Vanni et al., 2009
Staphylococcus aureus	Dog	Diseased	India	N/A	6	Swabs	100.0			N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Pig	N/A	India	N/A	2	Swabs		50.0	50.0	N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A	28	Milk	82.1	10.7	7.1	N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	21	Milk	81.0	19.0		N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Goat	Diseased	India	N/A	28	Milk	92.9	7.1		N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Sheep	Diseased	India	N/A	6	Swabs	100.0			N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Camel	Diseased	India	N/A	8	Swabs	62.5	37.5		N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Horse	Diseased	India	N/A	3	Swabs	100.0			N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA ST 398)	Various (rabbit, human)	N/A	Italy	2013	7	Swabs	100.0			0.25 - 0.5	Agnoletti et al., 2014
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA ST 398)	Pig	N/A	Spain	N/A	7	Swabs	S (5 iso)	I (2 iso)		N/A	Lozano et al., 2011
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA ST 793)	Pig	N/A	Spain	N/A	1	Swabs			R (1 iso)	N/A	Lozano et al., 2011
Staphylococcus aureus (MDR)	Cattle	Diseased	Bangladesh	2017-2018	48	Milk	s			N/A	Salauddin et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Cattle	Healthy	Bangladesh	N/A	11	Milk	s			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Staphylococcus aureus	Buffalo	Healthy	Bangladesh	N/A	1	Milk	s			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Staphylococcus aureus	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A	20	N/A	s			N/A	Upadhyay and Kataria, 2009
Staphylococcus aureus	Goat	Diseased	India	N/A	10	N/A	s			N/A	Upadhyay and Kataria, 2009
Staphylococcus aureus Staphylococcus aureus	Goat Horse	Healthy Healthy	China Belgium	N/A 2010-2011	32 2	Swabs Swabs	84.4 S		15.6	N/A N/A	Zhou et al., 2017 Van den Eede et al., 2013

MRSP - Multidrug-resistant Staphylococcus pseudintermedius, MRSA - methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, MDR – multidrug resistant, N – number of isolates, S – susceptible, I – intermediate, R – resistant, MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

feces, diffuse erythema, pruritus, and signs of depression in two of the animals in their study following intravenous administration of 15 mg/kg levofloxacin in dogs. High single doses (810 mg/kg) of oral levofloxacin have also been reported to cause gastrointestinal side effects in female rats (Watanabe et al., 1992). Interestingly, the same study found that a much lower single oral dose (50 mg/kg) of levofloxacin in rabbits also caused gastrointestinal issues (reduction in food intake and body weight). Similarly, a toxicological study in broiler birds reported that a dose of 60 mg/kg bodyweight (considered therapeutic) was associated with gastrointestinal and hematological adverse effects, while supratherapeutic doses caused more severe gastrointestinal and hematological toxicity as well as muscle weakness and loss of body weight (Kumar et al., 2009b). Despite the few reports of overt side effects in animals, molecular studies have found adverse effects of levofloxacin on various tissues, especially with extended dosing regimens. Khan and Rampal (2013) reported a reduction in antioxidant activity in rabbits following 21 days of oral treatment with 10 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin. In rats, oral administration of levofloxacin for 4 weeks revealed cytotoxic but not genotoxic effects (Al-Soufi and Al-Rekabi, 2018). Oral administration of levofloxacin for 30 days at doses from 9.37 to 37.5 mg/kg body weight resulted in deleterious effects on the liver, kidney and testes in mice (Ara et al., 2020), however Farid and

Table 4b Susceptibility of Gram-positive and atypical microorganisms isolated from animals against levofloxacin

1 7 1	21	0		0							
Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Country	Sampling period	Ν	Sample type	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Enterococcus spp.	Cattle	N/A	Canada	2018	176	Feces		0.0	0.0	N/A	Davedow et al.,
Lactobacillus spp.	Poultry (Indigenous)	N/A	Pakistan	N/A	59	Rectal swabs, feces			81.4	32 - >128	Saleem et al., 2018
Lactobacillus spp.	Poultry (commercial)	N/A	Pakistan	N/A	46	Rectal swabs, feces			97.8	32 - >128	Saleem et al., 2018
Actinomyces bowdenii	Dog	Diseased	USA	N/A	1	Tissue			R	N/A	Sherman et al., 2013
Streptococcus spp.	Cattle	Diseased	India	N/A	46	Milk	89.1	6.5	2.2	N/A	Mohanty et al., 2013
Streptococcus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/Λ	1	Swabs	100.0			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Streptococcus agalacticae	Elephants (captive)	Diseased	Germany	2014-2015	25	Swabs	100.0			<1	Eisenberg et al., 2017
Strantococcur analacticae	Cattla	Disancad	China	2014 2017	122	Mill	101	101	62.0	NI/A	Vang at al. 2020
Streptococcus suis	Pig	Diseased	Japan	2004-2007	16	Tissues	100.0	10.1	03.9	0.25 -	Ichikawa et al., 2020
Streptococcus suis	Pig	Healthy, diseased	Japan	2014-2016	98	Tissues, swabs	100.0			0.5 - 4	Ichikawa et al., 2020
Streptococcus suis	Pig	Healthy	Brazil	2019-2010	260	Swabs	62.3	6.2	31.5	N/A	Soares et al., 2014
Clostridium difficile	Dog (puppy)	Healthy	Spain	N/A	34	Rectal			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al. 2014a b
Clostridium difficile	Cattle (beef)	N/A	USA	N/A	94	Feces			100.0	2 -	Thitaram et al.,
Clostridium difficile	Cattle (dairy)	N/A	USA	N/A	188	Feces			96.8	2 -	Thitaram et al.,
Clostridium difficile	Pig	N/A	USA	N/A	94	Feces			100.0	2 -	Thitaram et al.,
Clostridium difficile	Cattle (calf)	Healthy, diseased	Canada	2004	30	Feces			73.0	4 - >32	Rodriguez- Palacios et al.,
Clostridium difficile	Cattle	N/A	Slovenia	N/A	103	Feces				<2 -	2006 Bandelj et al.,
Clostridium difficile	Pig	Healthy	Spain	N/A	41	Rectal			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez
Clostridium difficile	Zebra (Equus quagga	Healthy	Spain	N/A	4	Rectal			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez
Clostridium difficile	Goat	Healthy	Spain	N/A	1	Rectal			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez
Clostridium difficile	Iberian ibex (Capra	Healthy	Spain	N/A	1	Rectal			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez
Clostridium difficile	Chimpanzee (Pan	Diseased	Spain	N/A	1	Tissues			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez
Bacillus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	3	Swabs	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al.,
Micrococcus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	9	Swabs	88.8			N/A	Bhadaniya et al.,
Corynebacterium spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	India	N/A	11	Swabs	90.9			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Mycoplasma bovis	Cattle (beef, dairy)	N/A	China	2008-2011	26	N/A	s			0.5 - 2	Mustafa et al.,
Mycobacterium avium subsp.hominissuis	Cat	Diseased	Japan	N/A	1	Tissues			R	1	Kanegi et al., 2019

N – number of isolates, S – susceptible, I – intermediate, R – resistant, MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

Hegazy (2020), found no clinical signs of levofloxacin-induced liver toxicity after oral administration of 40 mg/kg bodyweight in rats for just two weeks (although liver enzymes associated with liver damage and oxidative stress markers were elevated). Finally, some experimental reports and case studies have reported other potential effects of levofloxacin in animals. An experiment by Erden et al. (2001) revealed an anxiety-like effect in rats, and a reduction in sleep in mice. Interestingly, this study also suggested that levofloxacin had analgesic activity in mice. Finally, a case report (Park et al., 2015) reported the development of a corneal plaque containing levofloxacin in a dog, following administration of levofloxacin eye drops for a period of 2 weeks.

4.6. Pharmacokinetics

Levofloxacin pharmacokinetic profiles have been established for different animal species, however these used different analytical techniques for levofloxacin concentration detection (microbiological assay, HPLC with fluorescence detection, HPLC with UV/Vis detection, HPLC/ MS), different experimental protocols and different pharmacokinetic modelling approaches. This makes comparing such data challenging. Some authors indicate that the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin is best described by a two-compartmental pharmacokinetic model (Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud, 2009; Ram et al., 2011; Czyrski et al., 2015), while others applied a non-compartmental approach (Lee et al., 2017; Vercelli et al., 2020; Sitovs et al., 2020). Comparison of the main

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

pharmacokinetic parameters in mammalian species is presented in Tables 5a and 5b. The fastest clearance was observed in rabbits (Sitovs et al., 2020) and sheep (Patel et al., 2012a), and the longest elimination in cats (Albarellos et al., 2005). Bird pharmacokinetic parameters are presented in Table 6. Here, the fastest clearance was observed in broiler chickens by El-Banna et al. (2013), however other studies on chickens have shown slower clearance values. In particular, Lee et al. (2017) reported the longest elimination in broiler chickens. Of other poultry, Bilgorajska geese had the longest elimination time (Sartini et al., 2020b).

4.6.1. Plasma protein binding Plasma protein binding of levofloxacin in animals is generally lower than reported in humans (38%; Fish and Chow, 1997). The *in vitro* plasma protein binding of levofloxacin has been assessed in various species (Table 7), with the highest reported plasma protein binding in rats (45.5%, Hurtado et al., 2014), and the lowest in broiler chickens (4.2%, El-Banna et al., 2013). Protein binding was never high enough to significantly affect levofloxacin pharmacokinetics.

4.6.2. Tissue disposition and residues

Table 8 presents levofloxacin disposition in poultry tissues, including suggested withdrawal times. Withdrawal times for registered veterinary

Tal	Ы	e	5a

Main levofloxacin pharmacoki	inetic parameters (±SD) reported i	in mammals after a single administration ^a .
------------------------------	------------------------------------	---

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg BW)	Cl (mL/g/ h)	T1/2el (h)	Vdss (L∕ kg)	MRT	F%	Reference
Dog	IV	5.0	0.29 ± 0.09	7.93 ± 1.41		8.75 ± 1.57		Urzúa et al., 2020
Dog	PO	5.0		7.65 ± 1.38		9.37 ± 1.70	72 ± 10	
Dog	IV	15.0	0.15 ± 0.03	6.23 ± 0.91	1.19 ± 0.20	$\textbf{8.31} \pm \textbf{0.94}$		Madsen et al., 2019
Dog	PO	23.7		5.84 ± 1.17			104 ± 30	
Dog	IV	2.5	0.11 ± 0.03	7.85 ± 2.30	1.20 ± 0.13			Landoni and Albarellos, 2019
Dog	SC	5.0		7.78 ± 1.55			80 ± 8	
Dog	PO	5.6		6.01 ± 1.32			61 ± 15	
Dog	PO 300mg			4.92 ± 1.94				Yin et al., 2011
Dog	PO 300mg (SR 1)			7.15 ± 2.13			42 ± 5	
Dog	PO 300mg (SR 2)			8.40 ± 1.01			103 ± 4	
Cat	IV	10.0	$\begin{array}{c} 0.14 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$	9.31 ± 1.63	1.75 ± 0.42	12.99 ± 2.12		Albarellos et al., 2005
Cat	PO (4 days mean)	10.0		8.39 ± 2.14			86 ± 44	
Giant panda (Ailuropoda melanoleuca)	IM	2.0		5.40 (0.70) ^b				Wang et al., 2021
Giant panda (Ailuropoda melanoleuca)	PO	3.0		7.14 (0.63) ^b				
Rabbit	IV	5.0	0.60 ± 0.18	2.06 ± 0.18	$\frac{1.37 \pm 0.39}{1.37 \pm 0.39}$	2.19 ± 0.83		Sitovs et al., 2020
Rabbit	IM	5.0		2.01 ± 0.24		3.75 ± 1.16	$\frac{106 \pm}{28}$	
Rabbit	SC	5.0		1.80 ± 0.14		3.44 ± 1.31	$\frac{119 \pm}{41}$	
Rabbit	IV (30 min inf)	20.0	1.7 (L/h)	3.99 ± 0.92		3.64 ± 0.76		Czyrski et al., 2015
Rabbit (Meningitis model)	IV (10 min inf)	7.0		7.60 ± 3.50				Destache et al., 2001
Rabbit (Meningitis model)	IV (10 min inf)	10.5		7.00 ± 1.60				
Rabbit (Meningitis model)	IV (10 min inf)	14.0		9.50 ± 3.50				
Guinea pig (Pneumonia model)	IP	10.0		1.00 ± N/ A				Edelstein et al., 1996
Rat	IV	7.0	0.21 (L/h)	5.00 ± 1.70	1.20 ± 0.40	6.10 ± 2.70		Hurtado et al., 2014
кат	PO	100.0		1.76 ± N/ A				Dharuman et al., 2010
Rat	IV	3.0		E / E /		1.66 ± 0.58		Cheng et al., 2002
Mouse	РО	10.0		5.65 ± 0.14		8.46 ± 0.27		Yarsan et al., 2003
Mouse (Toxoplasmosis model)	PO	10.0		4.54 ± 0.50		6.63 ± 0.71		Yarsan et al., 2003

SD – standard deviation, ROA – route of administration, IV – intravenous, IM – intramuscular, SC – subcutaneous, IP – intraperitoneal, PO – oral, BW – body weight, SR – sustained release, inf – infusion, Cl – plasma clearance, T1/2el – half-life of elimination, Vdss – volume of distribution at steady state, MRT – mean residence time, F – bioavailability, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

^a Unless otherwise noted.

^b Median value (range).

 Table 5b

 Main levofloxacin pharmacokinetic parameters (±SD) reported in mammals after a single administration^a

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg BW)	Cl (mL/g/	T1/2el (h)	Vdss (L/kg)	MRT	F%	Reference
Cattle (calf)	IV	10.0	0.34 ±	$2.12~\pm$	0.98 ± 0.10	$2.87~\pm$		Kumar et al., 2012
Cattle (calf)	IM	10.0	0.01	0.21 2.76 ±		0.31 4.72 ±	63 ± 6	
Cattle (crossbred calf)	РО	20.0		$0.36 \\ 2.99 \pm$		0.72 4.66 ±		Kumar et al., 2009a, 2009b
Cattle (crossbred calf;	РО	20.0		0.15 $3.05 \pm$		0.14 5.04 ±		
cattle (crossbred calf)	IV	4.0	0.32 ±	0.16 1.61 ±	0.74 ± 0.03	0.14 2.13 ±		Dumka and Srivastava, 2007
Cattle (crossbred calf)	IM	4.0	0.05	3.67 ±	(varea)	5.57 ±	57 ± 12	Dumka and Srivastava, 2006
Buffalo (calf)	IM	3.0		3.27 ±		5.40 ±	68 ± 5	Ram et al., 2008
Goat (non-lactating)	IV	2.0	0.46 ±	0.31 4.56 ±	1.22 ± 0.22	0.59		Vercelli et al., 2020
Goat (non-lactating)	SC	2.0	0.11	1.24 5.14 ±			92 ± 59	
Goat	IV	10.0	0.34 ±	4.04 ±	1.89 ± 0.18	5.61 ±		Ram et al., 2011
Goat (Mastitis model)	IV	10.0	0.35 ±	5.08 ±	(varea) 2.56 ± 0.21 (Varea)	7.77 ±		
Goat (lactating)	IV	4.0	0.18 ±	2.95 ±	(valea) 0.73 ± 0.22	3.74 ±		Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud,
Goat (lactating)	IM	4.0	0.04	3.64 ±		5.24 ±	85 ± 8	2007
Sheep	IV	2.0	0.19 ± 0.02	4.06 ±	0.56 ± 0.18	3.24 ±		Sartini et al., 2020a
Sheep	PO (5 days)	2.0	0.02	3.76 ±		4.25 ±	$\frac{115 \pm 28}{28}$	
Sheep	IV	4.0	0.39 ± 0.04	1.82 ± 0.05	0.96 ± 0.08	2.48 ±	20	Corum et al., 2020
Sheep	IV	3.0	0.55 ± 0.02	2.38 ± 0.22	0.92 ± 0.08	1.73 ± 0.11		Patel et al., 2012a, 2012b
Sheep	SC	3.0		1.73 ± 0.04		2.67 ± 0.04	91 ± 4	
Sheep	IV	4.0	0.20 ± 0.05	3.29 ± 0.23	0.86 ± 0.23	4.26 ± 0.94		Goudah and Hasabelnaby, 2010
Sheep	IM	4.0		3.58 ± 0.30		5.33 ± 1.05	91 ± 7	
Camel	IV	4.0	0.28 ± 0.03	2.92 ± 0.61	1.01 ± 0.36	3.47 ± 0.81		Goudah, 2008
Camel	IM	4.0		3.47 ± 0.86		5.58 ± 0.94	94 ± 8	
Horse (Stallion)	IV	4.0	0.21 ± 0.18	2.58 ± 0.51	0.81 ± 0.26	3.94 ± 0.61		Goudah et al., 2008
Horse (Stallion)	IM	4.0		2.94 ± 0.78		4.72 ± 0.54	92 ± 13	
Marmoset	РО	40.0		3.90 ± N/ A				Nelson et al., 2010
Marmoset	PO (7 days)	40.0		2.30 ± N/ A				
Rhesus monkey (Anthrax model)	РО	15.0		$\begin{array}{c} 2.10 \pm \\ 0.12 \end{array}$				Kao et al., 2006
Rhesus monkey (Anthrax model)	РО	25.0		1.86 ± 0.28				
Rhesus monkey (male)	PO (C14- labelled)	15.0		1.67 ± N/ A				Hemeryck et al., 2006
Rhesus monkey (female)	PO (C14- labelled)	15.0		1.90 ± N/ A				

SD – standard deviation, ROA – route of administration, IV – intravenous, IM – intramuscular, SC – subcutaneous, PO – oral, BW – body weight, SR – sustained release, Cl – plasma clearance, T1/2el – half-life of elimination, Vdss – volume of distribution at steady state, MRT – mean residence time, F – bioavailability, N/A – data not available in the reference source.

^a Unless otherwise noted.

products containing levofloxacin are reported in Table 1.

Multiple pharmacokinetic studies have also reported on the distribution of levofloxacin in the tissues of various mammalian species. In rats, levofloxacin reached its highest concentration (2.31 µg/mL) in prostate dialysate fluid following intravenous administration of 7 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin (Hurtado et al., 2014). After a single intravenous administration of 0.5 µmol/kg to rats (0.18 mg/kg), lto et al.

(1999) reported the highest levofloxacin concentration within 3 minutes in the kidney medulla - 10.4 nmol/g (3758 µg/kg), followed by the kidney cortex - 6.2 nmol/g (2241 µg/kg) and the lowest concentration in brain - 0.03 nmol/g (11 µg/kg). Sartini et al. (2020a) investigated the distribution of levofloxacin in several tissues in sheep (muscle, liver, kidney, heart, lung), following intravenous administration of the drug daily for five days. The highest reported concentration of levofloxacin

 Table 6

 Main levofloxacin pharmacokinetic parameters (±SD) reported in birds after a single administration

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg BW)	Cl (mL/g/h)	T1/2el (h)	Vdss (L/kg)	MRT	F%	Reference
Poultry (not specified)	IM (5 days)	10.0		2.97 ± 0.11				Bisht et al., 2018
Chicken (broiler)	IV	5.0	0.38 ± 0.09	6.93 ± 2.94	2.88 ± 1.07	5.37 ± 1.31		Lee et al., 2017
Chicken (broiler)	PO	5.0		8.09 ± 1.71		6.90 ± 0.37	$123 \pm N/A$	
Chicken (broiler)	IV	10.0	0.44 ± 0.01	4.07 ± 0.24	2.36 ± 0.13	5.40 ± 0.26		El-Banna et al., 2013
Chicken (broiler)	PO	10.0		4.24 ± 0.28		6.59 ± 0.44	107 ± 9	
Chicken (Leghorn bird)	IV	10.0	0.25 ± 0.00	3.08 ± 0.05	3.23 ± 0.06	3.57 ± 0.05		Patel et al., 2012b
Chicken (Leghorn bird)	PO	10.0		3.62 ± 0.12		6.41 ± 0.13	72 ± 1	
Chicken (broiler)	IV	10.0	0.25 ± 0.00	3.18 ± 0.07	3.25 ± 0.06	3.69 ± 0.08		Varia et al., 2009
Chicken (broiler)	PO	10.0		3.64 ± 0.15		6.12 ± 0.13	60 ± 2	
Turkey	IV	10.0	0.23 ± 0.03	4.49 ± 0.12	1.31 ± 0.04	5.20 ± 0.30		Aboubakr, 2012
Turkey	IM	10.0		4.60 ± 0.22		6.68 ± 0.17	96 ± 4	
Turkey	PO	10.0		4.07 ± 0.17		6.30 ± 0.13	80 ± 3	
Quail (Japanese)	IV	10.0	0.40 ± 0.03	2.52 ± 0.07	1.27 ± 0.06	2.72 ± 0.09		Aboubakr, 2012
Quail (Japanese)	PO	10.0		2.83 ± 0.30		4.26 ± 0.08	69 ± 2	
Geese (Bilgorajska)	IV	2.0	0.28 ± 0.06	7.39 ± 1.21	1.40 ± 0.28	5.12 ± 0.37		Sartini et al., 2020b
Geese (Bilgorajska)	PO	5.0		6.60 ± 2.46			96 ± 21	
Duck (Muscovy)	IV	10.0	0.41 ± 0.04	2.76 ± 0.10	1.37 ± 0.07	3.34 ± 0.16		Aboubakr and Soliman, 2014
Duck (Muscovy; renal damage)	IV	10.0	0.20 ± 0.02	4.71 ± 0.54	1.18 ± 0.04	6.13 ± 0.76		
Duck (Muscovy)	PO	10.0		2.89 ± 0.09		4.08 ± 0.14	74 ± 2	
Duck (Muscovy; renal damage)	PO	10.0		3.94 ± 0.14		6.83 ± 0.19	72 ± 2	

SD – standard deviation, ROA – route of administration, IV – intravenous, IM – intramuscular, PO – oral, BW – body weight, Cl – plasma clearance, T1/2el – half-life of elimination, Vdss – volume of distribution in steady state, MRT – mean residence time, F – bioavailability, N/A –data not available in the reference source.

Table 7

Average levofloxacin plasma protein binding (\pm SD).

Mammals	Protein binding %	Reference				
Dog	23.7 ± 3.8	Madsen et al., 2019				
Rabbit	$25.0 \pm N/A$	Destache et al., 2001				
Rat	45.5 ± 9.4	Hurtado et al., 2014				
Cattle (crossbred calf)	17.0 ± 1.2	Dumka and Srivastava, 2006				
Buffalo (calf)	19.1 ± 1.5	Ram et al., 2008				
Goat	Range: 23.0 – 34.8	Ram et al., 2011				
Goat (lactating)	$22.0\pm\mathrm{N/A}$	Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud, 2009				
Sheep	$23.7 \pm N/A$	Goudah and Hasabelnaby, 2010				
Camel	23.5 (Range 21.0 – 27.0)	Goudah, 2008				
Horse (stallion)	27.8 (Range 20.0 – 29.0)	Goudah et al., 2008				
Rhesus monkey	$11.2 \pm N/A$	Hemeryck et al., 2006				
Birds	Protein binding %	Reference				
Chicken (broiler)	24.0 ± 5.0	Lee et al., 2017				
Chicken (broiler)	4.2 ± 0.5	El-Banna et al., 2013				
Turkey	$24.3 \pm N/A$	Aboubakr et al., 2014				
Quail (Japanese)	$23.0 \pm N/A$	Aboubakr, 2012				

SD – standard deviation, N/A –data not available in the reference source

was in the kidney, and all tissues had detectable levels of levofloxacin 48 hours after the final dose was administered. This study also reported no accumulation of levofloxacin in the plasma or organs. Levofloxacin was found to penetrate better than other fluoroquinolones into the lungs of mice (Klesel et al., 1995) and to accumulate in the lung of guinea pigs (Edelstein et al., 1996). Ocular concentrations reached their highest levels 1 hour post oral administration of 20 mg/kg bodyweight levo-floxacin in rabbits (Mochizuki et al., 1994). Interestingly, in this study, ocular concentration was higher in pigmented rabbits compared to al-bino ones. Finally, after ophthalmic administration, Sakai et al. (2019) reported comparable concentrations in extraocular tissues, eyelid, conjunctiva and cornea.

Given the importance of minimising antibiotic residues in milk for human consumption, levofloxacin distribution into and elimination from the milk has been studied. As a weak organic acid, levofloxacin is expected to rapidly diffuse into the milk (Ram et al., 2008). It is therefore unsurprising that studies have investigated this phenomenon in milk-producing animals. Levofloxacin distribution in goat milk was studied by Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud (2009) and Ram et al. (2011). After the administration of 4 mg/kg bodyweight, Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud (2009) reported milk protein binding of 37% and a good penetration rate from blood to milk after intravenous and intramuscular administration. AUC_{milk}/AUC_{plasma} ratios were 0.81 and 1.01 respectively. Elimination half-life from milk was similar regardless of administration route, and shorter than 4 hours. Interestingly, Ram et al. (2011) reported a longer elimination half-life from milk in mastitic goats (7.5 hours) versus in healthy goats (4.5 hours) after intravenous administration of 10 mg/kg bodyweight levofloxacin, highlighting the importance of considering potential differences in elimination induced by concurrent disease.

4.6.3. Metabolism

Formation of metabolites is negligible in view of levofloxacin antimicrobial activity in humans, with no active metabolites identified. Very limited data is available regarding the metabolic pathways of levofloxacin in animals. Fish and Chow (1997) reported minimal formation of levofloxacin beta-glucuronide (M1, not identified in humans), desmethyl-levofloxacin (M2), and levofloxacin-N-oxide (M3) in rats, dogs and monkeys. Similar results were also reported by Hemeryck et al. (2006) in Rhesus monkeys, with a further two unnamed metabolites also identified. The authors proposed that metabolites were formed directly from levofloxacin by N-demethylation, N-oxidation and glucuronide conjugation. All metabolites were in far lower concentrations than the parent compound.

4.6.4. Bioavailability

Relative bioavailability of levofloxacin is among the highest of all fluoroquinolones, reported as over 100% in multiple studies (Madsen et al., 2019; Sartini et al., 2020a; Lee et al., 2017), and thus considered complete (Tables 5a, 5b, 6). Complete oral bioavailability was reported of sartini et al., 2020a; Lee et al., 2011; Madsen et al., 2019), and chickens (El-Banna et al., 2013; Lee et al., 2017). The lowest oral bioavailability was reported by Yin et al. (2011) after administration of a sustained-release formulation in dogs. Bioavilability following intramuscular and subcutaneous administration is variable between species, with the range of intramuscular bioavailability being 57-106%, and subcutaneous bioavailability 80-119%. Complete bioavailability following intramuscular and subcutaneous administration has been

Table 8 greated withdrawal times of levefloyagin in no

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/	Dose	Cmax (µg/	Tmax	Tlast	PCO	Tissues analyzed	S WT	Reference
		Kg)	irequency	ĸġj						
Chicken	PO	10	5 days	1051	Od	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver, gizzard, heart,	N/A	Kyuchukova et al.,
								skin		2013
Chicken (broiler)	PO	10	3 days	9330	2h	9d	Kidney	Muscle, liver, kidney, lung, fat,	>9	El-Banna et al., 2013
								spleen	days	
Chicken	PO	10	5 days	1429	1d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver	4 days	Ravikumar et al.,
										2016
Chicken (broiler)	PO	5	Single	657	1h	48h	Liver	Muscle, liver, kidney, lung	N/A	Lee et al., 2017
Chicken	PO	10	28 days	1222	1 d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver	5 days	Suman et al., 2018
Chicken	PO	20	28 days	2251	1 d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver	5 days	Suman et al., 2018
Poultry	IM	10	5 days	140	24h	72h	Kidney	Muscle, liver, kidney	N/A	Bisht et al., 2018
Geese	PO	5	Single	642	6h	48h	Liver	Muscle, liver, lung, kidney,	90 h	Sartini et al., 2020b
(Bilgorajska)								heart		

ROA - route of administration, IV - intravenous, IM - intramuscular, PO - oral, Cmax - maximum detected levofloxacin concentration, Tmax - time of maximum detected levofloxacin concentration, Tlast - last detectable levofloxacin concentration, S WT - suggested withdrawal time, PCO - organ or tissue where maximum levofloxacin concentration was detected, N/A - data not available in the reference source

reported in rabbits (Sitovs et al., 2020), with the average value exceeding 90% in multiple studies (Tables 5a and 5b). The lowest parenteral bioavailability was reported by Kumar et al. (2012) in cattle calves - 60% after intramuscular administration. Similarly, the reported range of average oral bioavailability in animals is 42-123%.

4.6.5. Excretion

In Rhesus monkeys, levofloxacin is rapidly excreted unchanged, mainly in urine (58-65%), while minor metabolites (reported above) represented <5% in urine (Hemeryck et al., 2006). In the same study, a minor fraction of administered levofloxacin was excreted in feces (7.4-14.7%) with approximately 1-2% being the parent compound and 4-7% an unknown levofloxacin metabolite. Urinary excretion in cattle and goats has been investigated in several studies (Dumka and Srivastava 2007; Kumar et al., 2009a, 2009b; Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud, 2009). Dumka and Srivastava (2007) found levofloxacin was detectable in urine 24 hours post intravenous administration in calves, whereas Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud detected levofloxacin in goat urine up to 36 hours after intravenous administration. Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud (2009) also reported urinary levofloxacin concentrations up to 18 times higher than levels in the plasma and milk. Of note for clinicians, Kumar et al. (2009a, 2009b) reported higher urinary excretion of levofloxacin in febrile calves compared to healthy calves.

4.6.6. Pharmacokinetic interactions of levofloxacin with other compounds The impact of co-administration of levofloxacin with other drugs or natural products on levofloxacin pharmacokinetics has been reported in several research papers. Sucralfate pre-treatment significantly decreased oral levofloxacin absorption in mixed-breed dogs, reducing maximum plasma concentration from 1.95 $\mu g/mL$ to 0.57 $\mu g/mL$, and bioavailability from 72% to 32% (Urzúa et al., 2020). Co-administration of levofloxacin with sunitinib in rabbits (Czyrski et al., 2015) resulted in an increase in the levofloxacin elimination rate constant and decreased its half-life. Corum et al. (2020) reported that co-administration of levofloxacin with either tolfenamic acid or flunixin meglumine resulted in slower levofloxacin elimination. El-Banna et al. (2013) found that pretreatment of broiler chickens with amprolium and toltrazuril before levofloxacin administration reduced bioavailability and distribution to the internal organs. A number of medications have been reported to not interfere with levofloxacin pharmacokinetics: cyclosporin pretreatment did not affect levofloxacin biliary distribution in rats (Cheng et al., 2002), administration of intramuscular paracetamol did not affect the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in cattle calves (Dumka, 2007), and intramuscular ketoprofen did not influence levofloxacin pharmacokinetics in goats (Jatin et al., 2018). Pretreatment with trikatu (mix of plant extracts Piper nigrum, Piper longum, and Zingiber officinale), however, increased levofloxacin bioavailability in the same goat species

(Patel et al., 2019).

5. Conclusion

Regardless of its legal status in veterinary medicine around the world, levofloxacin is used in veterinary and human medicine in some of the biggest countries. Whether it is used extralabel in animals or restricted only to human use, does not eliminate the fact that microbial resistance could spread across borders, and the impact of inappropriate levofloxacin use could have enormous repercussions for antimicrobial drug efficacy and global health. This review provides up-to-date information on levofloxacin that will assist veterinary practitioners and scientists to make informed choices regarding appropriate levofloxacin use.

Author contribution

A.S. performed the literature search and review, and wrote the manuscript, I. S. performed searching the literature and contributed to the ideas. M. G. contributed to the idea of this manuscript and has consulted and helped with writing of the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interests

Acknowledgements

Authors sincerely thank Dr. Victoria Llewelyn (College of Nursing and Health Sciences, Flinders University, Adelaide, Australia) for revision of the manuscript's grammar, and scientific comments.

References

- Aboubakr, M., 2012. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in Japanese quails (Coturnix
- Aboubakr, M., 2012. Pharmacokinetics of levoltoxacin in Japanese qualis (Coturnix japonica) following intravenous and oral administration. Br. Poult. Sci. 53, 784–789. Aboubakr, M., Soliman, A., 2014. Comparative pharmacokinetics of levoftoxacin in healthy and renal damaged muscovy ducks following intravenous and oral administration. Vet. Med. Int. 12, 147–154. Aboubakr, M., Uney, K., Elmas, M., 2014. Bioavailability and pharmacokinetic profile of levoftoxacin following intravenous, intramuscular and oral administration in turkeys. Br. Poult. Sci. 55, 115–119.
- turkeys. Br. Poutt. Sci. 55, 115–119.
 Agnoletti, F., Mazzolini, E., Bacchin, C., Bano, L., Berto, G., Rigoli, R., Muffato, G., Coato, P., Tonon, E., Drigo, I., 2014. First reporting of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) ST398 in an industrial rabbit holding and in farm-related people. Vet. Microbiol. 170, 172–177.
 Ajayi, A.O., Oluyege, A.O., Olowe, O.A., Famurewa, O., 2011. Antibiotic resistance among commensal Escherichia coli isolated from faeces of cattle in Ado-Ekiti, Weight and the Microbiol. 270.272.
- Nigeria. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 10 (2), 174-179.

- Al Masud, A., Rousham, E.K., Islam, M.A., Alam, M.U., Rahman, M., Al Mamun, A., Sarker, S., Asaduzzaman, M., Unicomb, L., 2020. Drivers of antibiotic use in poultry production in Bangladesh: fependencies and dynamics of a patron-client relationship. Front. Vet. Sci. 7, 1–9.
 Albarellos, G.A., Ambros, I.A., Iandoni, M.F., 2005. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous and repeat oral administration to cats. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther. 28, 365–360.
- Ther. 28, 363-369
- her. 28, 363-369. ufi, W.F., Al Rekabi, F.M.K., 2018. Evaluating some biochemical parameters after epeated orally administration of levofloxacin in male rats. J. Biotechnol. Res. A1 6 eated orally administrates (2), 51–60.
- repeated orally administration of levofloxacin in male rats. J. Biotechnol. Res. Center. 12 (2), 51–60.
 Álvarez-Pérez, S., Blanco, J.L., Martínez-Nevado, E., Peláez, T., Harmanus, C., Kuijper, E., García, M.E., 2014b. Shedding of Clostridium difficile PCR ribotype 078 by zoo animals, and report of an unstable metronidazole-resistant isolate from a zebra foal (Equus quaga burchelli). Vet. Microbiol. 169, 218–222.
 Álvarez-Pérez, S., Blanco, J.L., Peláez, T., Astorga, R.J., Harmanus, C., Kuijper, E., García, M.E., 2013. High prevalence of the epidemic Clostridium difficile PCR ribotype 078 in Iberian free rauge pigs. Res. Vet. Sci. 95, 358–361.
 Klvarez-Pérez, S., Blanco, J.L., Peláez, T., Lanzarot, M.P., Harmanus, C., Kuijper, E., García, M.E., 2014a. Faecal shedding of antimicrobial resistant Clostridium difficile strains by dogs. J. Small Anim. Pract. 56, 190–195.
 MDUCA, 1994. Animal Medicinal Drug Use Clarification Act of 1904. Estralabel Use of FDA Approved Drugs in Animals, Limitations to Extralabel Use Provisions of AMDUCA, Estralabel Use in Food producing Animals, pp. 5–9.
 Anes, J., Nguyen, S.V., Eshwar, A.K., McCabe, E., Macori, G., Hurley, D., Lehner, A., Faming, S., 2020. Molecular characterisation of multi drug resistant Escherichia coli of bovine origin. Vet. Microbiol. 242, 108566.
 Ara, C., Asmarullah, S.K., Chaudhary, A., Siddiqua, A., 2020. Isolation and identification of Klebsiella pneumoniae from a milli sample. Ind. Vet. J 97 (1), 15–17.
 Backues, K.A., Wiedney, E., 2019. Recommendations for the diagnosis, treatment and management of tuberculosis, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, in elephants in human care. Int. Zoo Yearb. 53 (1), 116–127.
 Badr, H., Soliman, M.A., Nasef, S.A., 2020. Bacteriological and molecular study of Salmonella species associated with central nervous system manifestation in chicken flocks. Vet. Wold 13, 2183–2190.

- Salmonella species associated with central nervous system manifestation in chicken
- Saimonelia species associated with central nervous system manifestation in chicken flocks. Vet. World 13, 2183–2190. , X., Liu, S., Zhao, J., Cheng, Y., Zhang, H., Hu, B., Zhang, L., Shi, Q., Zhang, Z., Wu, T., Luo, G., Lian, S., Xu, S., Wang, J., Zhang, W., Yan, X., 2019. Epidemiology and molecular characterization of the antimicrobial resistance of pseudomonas aeruginosa in Chinese mink infected by hemorrhagic pneumonia. Can. J. Vet. Res. *Co.* 2019. *4*00. 83, 122-132.
- Bajaj, N.K., Agrawal, S., Jain, S.K., Sharma, V., Mourya, A., Shrivastava, O.P., 2018.
- Bajaj, N.K., Agrawal, S., Jain, S.K., Sharma, V., Mourya, A., Shrivastava, O.P., 2018. Antibiogram and total viable bacteria count in uterine lavage of normal, sub-clinical and clinical endometritic postpartum buffaloes. Buffalo Bull. 37, 17–24.
 Bandelj, P., Golob, M., Ocepek, M., Zdovc, I., Vengust, M., 2017. Antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of Clostridium difficile isolates from family dairy farms. Zoonoses Public Health 64, 213–221.
 Bandyopadhyay, S., Lodh, C., Rahaman, H., Bhattacharya, D., Bera, A.K., Ahmed, F.A., Malanti, A., Samanta, I., Mondal, D.K., Bandyopadhyay, S., Sarkar, S., Dutta, T.K., Malianti, A., Samanta, I., Mondal, D.K., Bandyopadhyay, S., Sarkar, S., Dutta, T.K., Maity, S., Paul, V., Ghosh, M.K., Sarkar, M., Baruah, K.K., 2012. Characterization of shiga toxin producing (STEC) and enteropathogenic Escherichia coli (EPEC) in raw yak (Poephagus grunniens) milk and milk products. Res. Vet. Sci. 93, 604–610.
 Barbieri Bastos, I.P., Campos, D.R., Santos Costa, G.C., De Souza Magalhães, V., Scott, F. B., Fernandes, J.L. 2019. Torical treatment of external otitis in cats with
- B., Fernandes, J.I., 2019. Topical treatment of external otitis in cats with combination of levofloxacin, miconazole and dexamethasone. Acta Vet. Bras. 13, 100-104
- 100-104. abyal, K., Banerjee, A., Pal, S., Dey, S., Joardar, S.N., Samanta, I., Isore, D.P., Singh, A. D., 2018. Detection, characterization, and antibiogram of extended spectrum beta-lactanuase *Escherichia coli* isolated from bovine milk samples in West Bengal, India.
- Construct 11, 1423–1427.
 ch, N.M., Thompson, S., Mutnick, R., Brown, L., Ketig, G., Puffenbarger, R., Stockwell, S.B., Miyamoto, D., Temple, L. 2012. Bordetella avium antibioti resistance, novel enrichment culture, and antigenic characterization. Vet. Mi 160, 189–196.
- 160, 189–196. nameur, Q., Tali-Maamar, H., Assaous, F., Guettou, B., Rahal, K., Ben-Mahdi, M.H., 2019. Detection of multidrug resistant *Escherichia coli* in the ovaries of healthy
- 2019. Detection of multidrug resistant *Escherichia coli* in the ovaries of healthy broiler breeders with emphasis on extended-spectrum β-lactamases producers. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 64, 163–167.
 Berlamont, H., Smet, A., De Bruykere, S., Boyen, F., Ducatelle, R., Haesebrouck, F., De Witte, C., 2019. Antimicrobial susceptibility pattern of Helicobacter suis isolates from pigs and macaques. Vet. Microbiol. 239, 109459.
 Bhadaniya, A.R., Prasad, M.C., Savsani, H.H., Kalaria, V.A., Fefar, D.T., Mathpati, B.S., Javia, B.B., Ghodasara, S.N., Odedra, M.D., 2019. Bacteriological and their antibiogram studies of endometritis in slaughtered buffaloes. Buffalo Bull. 38, 2792–376.
- 229–236. Bisht, P., Ahmad, A.H., Mishra, A., Sharma, S., 2018. Pharmacokinetics and ti
- residue study of levofloxacin following multiple dose intramuscular administration in poultry. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci. 7, 2614–2618.Boyal, P.K., Meena, D.S., Smir, S.S., 2018. Determination of antibiogram pattern in Escherichia coli strains isolated from cattle faeces. Vet. Pract. antibiogram patiern in Escherichia con strains isolated from cattle factes. Ver 19 (2), 176–177. as, L., Vaz, S., Landoni, M.F., 2019. Eficacia clínica de levofloxacina en el trata
- de caninos con proce os cutáneos y urinarios. Rev. Vet. 30, 17-22.

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

- Chen, X., Zhang, W., Yin, J., Zhang, N., Geng, S., Zhou, X., Wang, Y., Gao, S., Jiao, X., 2014. Escherichia coli isolates from sick chickens in China: changes in antimicrobial resistance between 1993 and 2013. Vet J. 202, 112–115.
 Cheng, F.C., Tsai, T.R., Chen, Y.F., Hung, L.C., Tsai, T.H., 2002. Pharmacokinetic study of levofloxacin in rat blood and bile by microdialysis and high-performance liquid chromatography. J. Chromatogr. A 961, 131–136.
 Cheng, P., Yang, Y., Li, Y., Li, X., Liu, H., Fazilani, S.A., Guo, W., Xu, G., Zhang, X., 2020. The prevalence and mechanism of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Escherichia coli* isolated from svine farms in China. BMC Vet. Res. 16 (1), 1–9.
 CLSI (Ed.), 2018. Performance Stundards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 28th ed. Clinical and Laboratory Stundards Institute, Wavne, PA. CLSI supplement M100.
- CLSI (Ed.), 2018. Performance Standards for Aniumetrobial susceptionity result, 26th ed. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA CLSI supplement M100. Understanding susceptibility test data as a component of antimicrobial stewardship in veterinary settings, 1st ed. In: CLSI (Ed.), 2019a. CLSI report VET09. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
 Fluoroquinolone breakpoints for Enterobacteriaceae and Pseudomonas aeruginosa 1st ed. In: CLSI (Ed.), 2019b. CLSI rationale document MR02. Clinical and Laboratory Standards the functional structure.
- ed. htt CLSI (Ed.), 20150. CLSI rationate document whole. Clinical and rationatory Standards Institute, Wayne, PA.
 Corrum, D.D., Corrum, O., Yildiz, R., Faki, H.E., Ider, M., Cetin, G., Uney, K., 2020. Influences of tolfenancia acid and flunixin meglumine on the disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in sheep. Acta Vet. Hung. 68, 65–70.
 Czyrski, A., Kondys, K., Szalek, E., Karbownik, A., Grzeskowiak, E., 2015. The pharmacokinetic interaction between levofloxacin and sunitinib. Pharmacol. Rep. 67, 562, 564. ition kinetics of
- 67, 542-544.

- 67, 542-544.
 Da Silva, G.A., Monteiro, F.O.B., Dias, H.L.T., Cavalcante, R.O., Sampaio, A.L.P., da Conceição, M.E.B.A.M., Takeshita, R.S.C., de Castro, P.H.G., Feijó, F.M.C., Rahal, S. C., 2013. Qualitative analysis of preputial and vaginal bacterial microbiota in own monkeys (Aotus azara infulatus) raised in captivity. J. Med. Primatol. 42, 71–78.
 Davedow, T., Narvaez-Bravo, C., Zaheer, R., Sanderson, H., Rodas-Gonzalez, A., Klima, C., Booker, C.W., Hannon, S.J., Bras, A.L., Gow, S., McAllister, T., 2020. Investigation of a reduction in tybosin on the prevalence of liver abscesses and antimicrobial resistance in Enterococci in feedlot cattle. Front. Vet. Sci. 7, 1–10.
 del Blanco, N.G., Gutiérrez Martín, C.B., de la Puente Redondo, V.A., Rodriguez Ferri, E. F., 2004. In vitro susceptibility of field isolates of Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica recovered in Spain to several antimicrobial agents. Res. Vet. Sci. 76, 195–198. 195-198
- Destache, C.J., Pakiz, C.B., Larsen, C., Owens, H., Dash, A.K., 2001. Cerebro spinal fluid Destache, G.J., Pakiz, C.B., Iarsen, C., Owens, H., Dash, A.K., 2001. Cerebrospinal flipenetration and pharmacokinetics of levolloxacin in an experimental rabbit meningitis model. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 47, 611–615.
 Dharuman, J.G., Rajasekaran, A., Krishnasamy, K., 2010. Bioequivalence study and bioanalytical method development of levofloxacin tablets in albino rat plasma usi RP HPLC method. Arch. Appl. Sci. Res. 2 (4), 103–110.
 Dumka, V.K., 2007. Disposition kinetics and dosage regimen of levofloxacin on concomitant administration with paracetamol in crossbred calves. J. Vet. Sci. 8, 357–360
- 357-360
- Dumka, V.K., Srivastava, A.K., 2006. Pharmacokinetics, urinary excretion and dosage regimen of levofloxacin following a single intramuscular administration in cross bred calves. J. Vet. Sci. 7, 333-337.
 Dumka, V.K., Srivastava, A.K., 2007. Disposition kinetics, urinary excretion and dosage
- regimen of levofloxacin formulation following single intravenous administration in
- regimen of levoltoxacni formulation following single intravenous administr crossbred calves, Vet. Res. Commun. 31, 873–879.
 Edelstein, P.H., Edelstein, M.A.C., Lehr, K.H., Ren, J., 1996. In-vitro activity of levoltoxacin against clinical isolates of Legionella spp, its pharmacokinetics guinoa pigs, and use in experimental Legionella pneumophila pneumonia. J. Antimicrob. Chemother, 37, 117–126.
- J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 37, 117–126.
 Eisenberg, T., Rau, J., Westerhis, U., Knauf-Witzens, T., Fawzy, A., Schlez, K., Zschöck, M., Prenger Berninghoff, E., Heydel, C., Sting, R., Glaeser, S.P., Pulami, D., van der Linden, M., Ewers, C., 2017. Streptococcus agalactiae in elephants A comparative study with isolates from human and zoo animal and livestock origin. Vet. Microbiol. 204, 141–150.
 El-Banna, H.A., El-Hewaity, M.H., El Latif, Amera Abd, 2013. Influence of amprolium and thematic and human in and strengther helphane iterative function.
- and toltrazuril on the disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in broiler chickens. Egypt.
- and totrization of the upportion meeting of reconstantial in order checkets Lgypt. Acad. J. Biol. Sci. 5 (2), 1–10.
 Elfeil, W.K., Ezzat, M.E., Fathi, A., Alkilany, M.A.A. Abouelmaatti, R.R., 2020.
 Prevalence and genotypic analysis and antibiotic resistance of salmonella species isolated from imported and freshly slaughtered chicken. Ann. J. Anim. Vet. Sci. 15, 134-144.
- 134-144.
 EMA. European Medicines Agency, 2019. EMA/397212/2019 Human Medicines Evaluation Division List of Nationally Authorised Medicinal Products Active Substance: Levofloxacin (Except for the Centrally Authorised Product).
 EMA. European Medicines Agency, 2020. EMA/CVMP/CHMP/682198/2017 Categorisation of Antibiotics in the European Union.
 Eraky, R.D., Abd El-Ghany, W.A., Soliman, K.M., 2020. Studies on Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in hatcheries and chicken. J. Hell. Vet. Med. Soc. 71 (1), 1062-1062.
- 1953-1963
- Ende n, B.F., Ulak, G., Yildiz, F., Utkan, T., Ozdemirci, S., Gacar, N., 2001, Antidep Erden, B.F., Ulak, G., Tuldiz, F., Utkan, L., Ozdemirci, S., Gačar, N., 2001. Attidepressal anxiogenic, and antinociceptive properties of levolloxacin in rats and mice. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 68 (3), 435–441.
 Farghaly, E.M., Roshdy, H., Bakheet, A.A., Abd, El-Hafez S., El-Hafez, Abd, Badr, H., 2017. Advanced studies on Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection in chicken. Anim.
- Health Res. J. 5 (4), 207–217. Farid, A.S., Hegazy, A.M., 2020. Ameliorative effects of Moringa oleifera leaf extract on
- levofloxacin-induced hepatic toxicity in rats. Drug Chem. Toxicol. 43 (6), 616-62; FDA, 2021. USA Food and Drug Administration. Retrieved on 18.02.2021 from. https

- Fernandez, J., Barrett, J.F., Licata, L., Amaratunga, D., Frosco, M., 1999. Comparison of efficacies of oral levofloxacin and oral ciprofloxacin in a rabbit model of a staphylococcal abscess. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 43, 667–671.
 Fish, D.N., Chow, A.T., 1997. The clinical pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin. Clin. Pharmacokinet. 32, 101–119.
 Goldberg, D.W., Fernandes, M.R., Sellera, F.P., Costa, D.G.C., Loureiro Bracarense, A.P., Lincopan, N., 2019. Genetic background of CTX-M-15-producing Enterobacter hormacchei ST114 and Citrobacter freundii ST265 co infecting a free living green turtle (Chelonia mydas). Zoonoses Public Health 66, 540–545.
 Goudah, A., Abo El Soond, K., 2009. Pharmacokinetics, urinary excretion, and milk penetration of levofloxacin in lactating goats. J. Vet. Pharmacel. Ther. 32, 101–104.

- penetration or levoltoxacm in lactating goals. J. Vel. Pharmacol. Iner. 32, 101–104. Goudah, A., Hasabelnaby, S., 2010. Disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in sheep after intravenous and intranuscular administration. Vet. Med. Int. 2010, 18–23. Goudah, A., 2008. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in male cannels (*Camelus dromedarius*). J. Vet. Pharmacokinetics of Sec. 299. Goudah, A., Abo El-Sooud, K., Shim, J.H., Shin, H.C., Abd El-Aty, A.M., 2008. Characterization of the pharmacokinetic disposition of levofloxacin in stallions after intraveneus and interpuscular administration. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther. 31. intravenous and intra scular administration. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther. 31. 399-405
- Grung, M., Nam, H.M., Tamang, M.D., Chae, M.H., Jang, G.C., Jung, S.C., Lim, S.K., 2013. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of Acinetobacter from raw bulk tank milk in Korea. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 1997–2002. Hemeryck, A., Mamidi, R.N.V.S., Bottacini, M., Macpherson, D., Kao, M., Kelley, M.F.,
- 2006. Pharmacokinetics, metabolism, excretion and plasma protein binding of 14C-levofloxacin after a single oral administration in the Rhesus monkey. Xenobiotica 36, 507-613
- 597-613.
 Huamán, M., Pérez, C., Rodríguez, J., Killerby, M., Lovón, S., Chauca, L., 2020. Genetic characterization and antimicrobial resistance patterns of Salmonella enterica subsp. enterica serovar Typhimurium in guinea pigs under intensive breeding. Rev. Investig. Vet. del Peru 31, 1–12.
 Huang, G., Goldstein, R., Mildvan, D., 2013. Catfish spine envenomation and bacterial abscess with Proteus and Morganella: a case report. J. Med. Case Rep. 7, 1–5.
 Hurtado, F.K., Weber, B., Derendorf, H., Hochhaus, G., Costa, T.D., 2014. Population pharmacokinetic modeling of the unbound levofloxacin concentrations. In rat plasma and morganted tissue measured by microidayis. Antimicrob. Aceuts Chemother. 58.
- and prostate tissue measured by microdialysis. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 678-686.
- Ibrahim, W.A., Marouf, S.A., Erfan, A.M., Nasef, S.A., El Jakee, J.K., 2019. Th

- Ibrahim, W.A., Marouf, S.A., Irfan, A.M., Nasef, S.A., El Jakee, J.K., 2019. The occurrence of disinfectant and antibiotic resistant genes in *Escherichia coli* isolated from chickens in Egypt. Vet. World 12, 141–145.
 Ichikawa, T., Oshima, M., Yamagishi, J., Muramatsu, C., Asai, T., 2020. Changes in antimicrobial resistance phenotypes and genotypes in *Streptococcus suis* strains isolated from pigs in the Tokai area of Japan. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 82, 9–13.
 Inoue, J., Shibata, S., Fukata, T., 2013. Efficacy of fosfomycrin on *Escherichia coli* isolated from bitches with pyometra. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 75, 657–658.
 Isogai, E., Isogai, I.L, Hirose, K., Kubota, T., Kimura, K., Fujil, N., Hayashi, S., Takeshi, K., Oguma, K., 2001. Therapeutic effect of anti-TNF-a antibody and levolfoxacin in a mouse model of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* 0157 infection. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 24, 217–231.
- mouse model of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli 0157 infection. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 24, 217–231.
 Ito, T., Yano, I., Masuda, S., Hashimoto, Y., Inui, K., 1999. Distribution characteristics of levofloxacin and grepafloxacin in rat kidney. Pharm. Res. 16 (4), 534–539.
 Jatin, H.P., Priti, D.V., Kamlesh, A.S., Urvesh, D.P., Rasesh, D.V., Shailesh, K.B., Ashwin, M.T., 2018. Effect of ketoprofen co-administration and febrile state on pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in goats following intravenous administration. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci. 7 (10), 2477–2483.
 Jiang, H.X., Lü, D.H., Chen, Z.L., Wang, X.M., Chen, J.R., Liu, Y.H., Liao, X.P., Liu, J.H., Zeng, Z.L., 2011. High prevalence and widespread distribution of multi resistant Escherichia coli isolates in pigs and poultry in China. Vet. J. 187, 99–103.
 Judy, B.M., Whitlock, G.C., Torres, A.G., Estes, D.M., 2009. Comparison of the in vitro and in vivo susceptibilities of Burkholderia mallei to ceftazidime and levofloxacin. BMC Microbiol. 9, 1–7.
- BMC Microbiol. 9, 1–7. Kanaan, M.H., Al-Shadeedi, S.M.J., Al-Massody, A.J., Ghasemian, A., 2020. Drug
- naan, M.H., Al-Shadeedt, S.M.J., Al-Massody, A.J., Ghasemian, A., 2020. Drug resistance and virulence traits of Acinetobacter baumannii from Turkey and chicken raw meat. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 70, 101451.
 key, R., Yasugi, M., Nabetani, T., Tanaka, T., Wada, Y., Hirai, K., Sugiura, K., Hatoya, S., 2019. Clinical findings and treatment of disseminated 'Mycobacterium avium subspecies hoministuis' infection in a domestic cat. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 81, 1000 Detect. 1842-1849
- Kang, H.W., Woo, G.J., 2014. Increase of multidrug efflux pump expr
- 19, H.W., Woo, G.J., 2014. Increase of multidrug efflux pump expression in fluoroquinolone resistant Salmonella mutants induced by ciprofloxacin selective pressure. Res. Vet. Sci. 97, 182–186.
 1, L.M., Bush, K., Barnewall, R., Estep, J., Thalacker, F.W., Olson, P.H., Drusano, G.L., Minton, N., Chien, S., Hemeryck, A., Kelley, M.F., 2006. Pharmacokinetic considerations and efficacy of levofloxacin in an imbalational anthrax (postexposure)
- Considerations and entracy of revoluciant in an immunous names (postepse) Rhesus model, Antimicrob, Agents Chemother, 50, 3535–3542, rim, S.J.I., Islam, M., Sikder, T., Rubaya, R., Halder, J., Alam, J., 2020. Multidru, resistant Escherichia coli and Salmonella spp. isolated from pigeons. Vet. World
- Khan, A.M., Rampal, S., 2013. Effect of meloxicam and its combination with
- Knan, A.M., Kampai, S., 2013. Effect of meloxican and its combination with levofloxacin, pazufloxacin, and enrofloxacin on the plasma antioxidative activity and the body weight of rabbits. Vet. World 6, 950–954.Kim, J.H., Cho, J.K., Kim, K.S., 2013. Prevalence and characterization of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes in Salmonella isolated from poultry in Korea Avian Pathol. 42, 221–229.Klesel, N., Geweniger, K.H., Koletzki, P., Isert, D., Limbert, M., Markus, A., Riess, G., Schwamp, H. Jurg, P. (106) Chemothemateria entitivity of Levofloxacoir (J20 55).
- Schramm, H., Iver, P., 1995, Chemotherapeutic activity of levofloxacin (HR 355, DR

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

- 3355) against systemic and localized infections in laboratory animals. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 35, 805-819.Klimpel, G.R., Faves-Pyles, T., Moen, S.T., Taormina, J., Peterson, J.W., Chopra, A.K., Niesel, D.W., Carness, P., Haithcoat, J.J., Kirtley, M., Nasr, A. Ben, 2008. Levofloxacin rescues mice from lethal intra-nasal infections with virulent Francisella ularensis and induces immunity and production of protective antibody. Vaccine 26, 6874-6882
- 6874-6882.
 Kumar, Santosh, Kumar, Subodh, Kumar, V., Singh, K.K., Roy, B.K., 2009a.
 Pharmacokinetic studies of levofloxacin after oral administration in healthy and febrile cow calves. Vet. Res. Commun. 33, 887-893.
 Kumar, S., Niyogi, D., Kumar, D., Singh, Y.D., Sarkar, S., Mukhopadhayay, S.K., 2009b. Clinicopathological changes of induced levofloxacin toxicity in croiler chickens. Ind. J. Vet. Pathol. 33 (2), 180-182.
 Kumar, R., Verma, A.K., Kumar, A., Srivastava, M., Lal, H.P., 2012. Prevalence and antibiogram of Campylobacter infections in dogs of Mathura, India. Asian J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 7 (5), 484-540.
 Kynchukova, R., Ibruniova, V., Lyutskanova, M., Petrov, V., Pavlov, A., 2013. Levofloxacin residues in chicken meat and giblets. Bulg. J. Vet. Med. 16 (1), 216-219.

- 216-219. Landoni, M.F., Albarellos, G.A., 2019. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous, oral and subcutaneous administration to dogs. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther.
- 42, 171–178. Ledbetter, E.C., Hendricks, L.M., Riis, R.C., Scarlett, J.M., 2007. In vitro fl
- Lednetter, E.C., Henoricks, L.M., Kus, K.C., Scartert, J.M., 2007. In vitro funoroquinolous susceptibility of Pseudomonas aeruginosa isolates from dogs with ulcerative keratitis. Am. J. Vet. Res. 68, 638–642.
 Lee, H.K., DeVito, V., Vercelli, C., Tramuta, C., Nebbia, P., Re, G., Kovalenko, K., Giorgi, M., 2017. Ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Escherichia col* and its pharmacokinetic profile following intravenous and oral administrations in broilers. Res. Vet. Sci. 112, 26–33.
- DTOHERS, RES. VEI, SCi. 112, 26–33.
 Li, M., Zhao, L., Ma, J., Zhao, N., Luo, J., Wang, C., Chen, L., Ma, G., Wang, Y., He, H., 2018. Vibrio vulnificus in aquariums is a novel threat to marine mammals and public health. Transbound. Emerg. Dis. 65, 1863–1871.
 Liu, H.H., 2010. Safety profile of the fluoroquinolones: focus on levofloxacin. Drug Saf. 33, 933–360.

- Liu, H.H., 2010. Safety profile of the fluoroquinolones: focus on levofloxacin. Drug Sat. 33, 353–369.
 Liu, B.T., Lino, X.P., Yang, S.S., Wang, X.M., Li, L.L., Sun, J., Yang, Y.R., Fang, L.X., Li, L., Zhao, D.H., Liu, Y.H., 2012. Detection of mutations in the gyrA and parC genes in Escherichia coli isolates carrying plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance genes from diseased food-producing animals. J. Med. Microbiol. 61, 1591–1599.
 Lozano, C., Aspiroz, C., Lasarte, J.J., Gómez-Sanz, E., Zarazaga, M., Torres, C., 2011. Dynamic of nasal colonization by methicillin-resistant *StaplyOcoccus aureus* ST398 and ST1 after muprirocin treatment in a family in close contact with pigs. Comp. Immunol. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 34, e1–e7.
 Madsen, M., Messenger, K., Papich, M.G., 2019. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following oral administration of a generic levofloxacin tablet and intravenous administration to dogs. Am. J. Vet. Res. 80 (10), 957–962.
 Mahmud, S., Nazir, K.H.M.N.H., Rahman, M.T., 2018. Prevalence and molecular detection of microphiler chickens. Vet. World 11, 1720–1724.
 Markandeya, N.M., Muley, V.D., Digraskar, S.U., Bhattacharyya, J., 2011. Efficacy of levofloxacin ornidazoile and a tocopherol combination in the treatment as well as prevention of post-partum affections in buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis). Vet. Pract. 2, 260–263.
- prevention of post-partum affections in buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis). Vet. Pract. 2, 260–263. Marques, G., Belas, A., Aboim, G., Trigueiro, G., Cavaco-Silva, P., Gama, L.T., Pomba, G., 2019. Clonal relatedness of Proteus mirabilis strains causing urinary tract infections in companion animals and humans. Vet. Microbiol. 228, 77–82. McKellar, Q.A., Sanchez Bruni, S.F., Jones, D.G., 2004. Pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic relationships of antimicrobial drugs used in veterinary medicine. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther. 27, 503–514. Miller, M.A., Finnegau, M., Storns, T., Garner, M., Lyashchenko, K.P., 2018. Outbreak of mycobacterium tuberculosis in a herd of captive asian elephants (*Elephas maximus*): antemore disprocise treatment and laccore lacrose 1. 700 Wild Mod. 40 temortem diagnosis, treatment, and lessons learned. J. Zoo Wildl. Med. 49, 748_754

- 748-754.
 Mochizuki, K., Ohkubo, S., Torisaki, M., Yamashita, Y., Tanahashi, T., Jin, Y., Okamura, Y., Tanaka, M., 1994. Intraocular penetration of oral levofloxacin in rabbits. Jpn. J. Ophthalmol. 98, 1085–1090.
 Mohanty, N.N., Das, P., Pany, S.S., Sarangi, L.N., Ranabijuli, S., Panda, H.K., 2013. Isolation and antibiogram of Staphylococcus, Streptococcus and *Escherichia coli* isolates from clinical and subclinical cases of bovine mastitis. Vet. World 6, 739–743.
 Morales: Estrada, A.I., Hernández-Castro, R., López-Merino, A., Singli-Bedi, J., Contreras. Rodríguez, A., 2016. Isolation, identification, and antimicrobial susceptibility of Brucella spp. cultured from cows and goats manure in Mexico. Arch. Med. Vet. 48 (2), 221–235. (2), 231-235.
- Mustafa, R., Qi, J., Ba, X., Chen, Y., Hu, C., Liu, X., Guo, A., 2013. In vitro quinolones susceptibility analysis of Chinese Mycoplasma bovis isolates and their phylogeneti scenarios based upon ORDRs of DNA topoisomerases revealing a unique transition in
- susceptibility analysis of Chinese Mycoplasma bovis isolates and their phylogenetic scenarios based upon QRDRs of DNA topoisomerases revealing a unique transition in ParC. Pak. Vet. J. 33 (3), 364–369.
 son, M., Lever, M.S., Dean, R.E., Pearce, P.C., Stevens, D.J., Simpson, A.J.H., 2010.
 Bioavailability and efficacy of levoltoxacin against Francisella tularensis in the common marmoset (Callithrix jacchus). Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 54, ended occur. 3922-3926
- 3922-3926.
 North, D.S., Fish, D.N., Redington, J.J., 1998. Levofloxacin, a second-generation fluoroquinolone. Pharmacotherapy 18 (5), 915-935.
 Nowara, A., Burhenne, J., Spiteller, M., 1997. Binding of fluoroquinolone carboxylic derivatives to clay minerals. J. Agric. Food Chem. 45 (4), 1459-1463.
 Onanga, R., Mbehang Nguema, P.P., Ndong Atome, G.R., Mabika Mabika, A., Ngoubangoye, B., Komba Tonda, W.L., Obague Mbeang, J.C., Lebibi, J., 2020.

- Prevalence of extended-spectrum β-Lactamases in *E. coli* of rats in the region North East of Gabon. Vet. Med. Int. 2020.
 Özer, S., Aslan, G., Tezcan, S., Bulduklu, P.S., Serin, M.S., Emekdaş, G., 2008. Genetic heterogeneity and antibiotic susceptibility of Vibrio alginolyticus strains isolated from horse-mackerel (*Trachurus trachurus* L., 1758). Turk. J. Vet. Anim. Sci. 32 (2),
- 107-112
- 107–112.
 Panda, B.K., Padhi, M.K., Sahoo, S.K., Panda, S.K., Rath, S.K., 2010. Incidence of coli bacillosis in ducks. Ind. Vet. J. 87 (5), 443–444.
 Papich, M.G., 2020. Antimicrobial agent use in small animals what are the prescribing practices, use of PK-PD principles, and extralabel use in the United States? J. Vet.

- practices, use of PK-PD principles, and extralabel use in the United States? J. Vet.
 Pharmacol. Ther. 44, 1–12.
 Park, Y.W., Kang, B.J., Lim, J.H., Ahn, J.M., Lim, H.S., 2015. Corneal plaque containing levolloxacin in a dog. Vet. Ophthalmol. 18, 521–526.
 Park, Y., Oh, J., Park, S., Sum, S., Song, W., Chne, J., Park, H., 2020. Antimicrobial resistance and novel mutations detected in the gyrA and parC genes of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* strains isolated from companion dogs. BMC Vet. Res. 16, 1–8.
 Patel, U.D., Patel, J.H., Bhavsar, S.K., Thaker, A.M., 2012a. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following intravenous and subcutaneous administration in sheep. Asian LAPRIN Vet. Adv. 71, 01–86.
- Berlonakari Ukowang intarenous and succuanteous aumanatation in sucep. Fasan J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 7 (1), 85–93.
 Patel, J.H., Varia, R.D., Vihol, R.S., Patel, U.D., Bhavsar, S.K., Thaker, A.M., 2012b.
 Pharmacokinetics of levolfoxacin in white Leghorn birds. Ind. Vet. J. 89 (8), 69–72.
 Patel, J.H., Vihol, P.D., Sadariya, K.A., Patel, U.D., Varia, R.D., Bhavsar, S.K., Raval, J.K.,
- 2019. Pretrea tment with trikatu augments pharmacokinetic profile and ilability of orally administered levofloxacin in goat. Ann. Phytomed. 8 (1),
- 172–177.
 Pathirana, H.N.K.S., Shin, G.W., Wimalasena, S.H.M.P., De Silva, B.C.J., Hossain, S., Heo, G.J., 2018. Prevalence and characterization of quinolone resistance genes in Proteus species isolated from pet turtles. J. Exot. Pet. Med. 27, 67–73.
 Pauzi, N.A., Mohamad, N., Azzam. Sayuti, M., Yasin, L.S.M., Saad, M.Z., Nasruddin, N.S., Azmai, M.N.A., 2020. Antibiotic susceptibility and pathogenicity of Aerononas hydrophila isolated from red hybrid tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus x Oreochromis mosambicus*) in Malaysia. Vet. World 13, 2166–2171.
 Prajapati, B.I., Solanki, K.M., Devi, S., Katira, B.P., Patel, S.S., Raval, S.H., Momin, R.R., 2020. Phenotypic and molecular characterization of ESBIs producing *Escherichia* coli in bovine faceal and milk samples of North Gujarat. Ind. J. Anim. Sci. 90 (7).
- in bovine faecal and milk samples of North Gujarat. Ind. J. Anim. Sci. 90 (7), 987-992.
- in bovine faecal and milk samples of North Gujarat. Ind. J. Anim. Sci. 90 (7), 987–992.
 Qi, J., Li, L., Du, Y., Wang, S., Wang, J., Luo, Y., Che, J., Lu, J., Liu, H., Hu, G., Li, J., Gong, Y., Wang, G., Hu, M., Yan, Shigan, Liu, Y., 2014. The identification, typing, and antinicrobial susceptibility of *Peadodonosa* arenginosa isolated from mink with hemorrhagic pneumonia. Vet. Microbiol. 170, 456–461.
 Rahman, M.M., Rahman, M.M., Meler, M.M., Khan, M.S.L, Anover, A.M., 2016. Isolation and antibiogram of Salmonella spp. from duck and pigeon in Dinajpur, Bangladesh. J. Adv. Vet. Anim. Res. 3 (4), 386–391.
 Ram, D., Dumka, V.K., Sharma, S.K., Sandhu, H.S., 2008. Pharmacokinetics, dosage regimen and in vitro plasma protein binding of intramuscular levofloxacin in buffalo calves. Iran. J. Vet. Res. 9, 121–126.
 Ram, M., Singh, V., Kumar Roy, B., Prasad, R., Kumar Singh, K., 2011. Effect of mastitis on pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following single dose intravenous administration in goats. J. Bioanal. Biomed. 3 (4), 081–084.
 Ravikumar, C., Sanganal, J.S., Shridhar, N.B., Narayamaswamy, H.D., Ansar Kamran, C., Ramachandra, S.G., 2016. Determination of withdrawal period of levofloxacin in liver and breast muscle of dual purpose chicken. North-East Vet. 15 (4), 22–26.
 Rodriguez-Palacios, A., Stämpfli, H.R., Duffleld, T., Peregrine, A.S., Trotz. Williams, L.A., Arroyo, I.G., Brazier, J.S., Weese, J.S., 2006. Clostridium difficile PCR ribotypes in calves, Canada. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 12, 1730–1736.
 Rubin, J., Walker, R.D., Blickenstaff, K., Bodeis-Jones, S., Zhao, S., 2008. Antimicrobial resistance and genetic characterization of fluoropulnolone resistance of *Pseudomona arenginosa* isolated from canine infections. Vet. Microbiol. 131, 164–172.
 Ruscher, C., Libke Becker, A., Semmler, T., Wicklinski, C.G., Paasch, A., Soba, A., Stamm, I., Kopp, P., Wieler, L.H., Walther, B., 2010. Widespread rapid emergence of a distinct methicillin- and multid

- a distinct methicillin- and multidrug-resistant Staphylococcus pseudintermedius
- a using the characteristic mass in additional pressuance and physicological productions (MRSP) genetic lineage in Europe. Vet. Microbiol. 144, 340–346.
 M., Albalaa, B., Al-Mariri, A., 2013. Prophylactic efficacy of some antibiotic combinations against Brucella melitensis 16M in BALB/c mice. Bulg. J. Vet. Med. 16 Safi, M., Alb
- Safi, M., Albala, B., Al-Mariri, A., 2014. Efficacy of some cond-and third-ger roquinolones against Brucella melitensis 16M in BALB/c mice, Bulg, J. Vet. Med.

- Salezi, T., Shino, K., Kurata, M., Kawanura, A., 2019. Pharmacokinetics of azithromycin, levofloxacin, and ofloxacin in rabbit extraocular tissues after ophthalmic administration. Ophthalmol. Therapy 8 (4), 511–517.
 Salauddin, M., Akter, M.R., Hossain, M.K., Nazir, K.H.M.N.H., Noreddin, A., El Zowalaty, M.E., 2020. Molecular detection of multidrug resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from bovine mastifis milk in Bangladesh. Vet. Sci. 7 (2), 36.
 Salecan, N., Nawaz, M., Ghafoor, A., Javeed, A., Mustafa, A., Yousuf, M.R., Khan, I., 2018. Phenotypic and molecular analysis of antibiotic resistance in lactobacill o poultry origin from Lahore, Pakistan. Pak. Vet. J. 38, 409–413.
 Sartini, I., Lebkowska Wieuszewska, B., Kim, T.W., Lisowski, A., Poapolathep, A., Giorgi, M., 2020a. Pharmacokinetic and tissue analyses of levofloxacin in sheep (Ovis aries Linnacus) after multiple dose administration. Res. Vet. Sci. 128, 124–128. 124-128
- 124-126. ini, I., Lebkowska-Wieruszewska, B., Sitovs, A., Lisowski, A., Poapolathep, A., Giorgi, M., 2020b. Levofloxacin planmacokinetics and tissue residue concentra after oral administration in Bilgorajska geese. Br. Poult. Sci. 1–6.

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

- Sasaki, T., Kikuchi, K., Tanaka, Y., Takahashi, N., Kamata, S., Hiramatsu, K., 2007 Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus pseudintermedius in a veterinary teaching Sasaki, T., Kikuchi, K., Tanaka, Y., Takahashi, N., Kamata, S., Hiramatsu, K., 2007. Methicillin resistant Staphylococcus pseudintermedius in a veterinary teaching hospital. J. Clin. Microbiol. 45, 1118–1125.
 Sharma, S.K., Yadav, R., Mehta, S.C., Kataria, A.K., 2020. Detection and analysis of antibiotic resistance variability among *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates from animal and human sources. Vet. Arh. 90, 493–508.
 Sherman, A., Daniels, J.B., Wilkie, D.A., Lutz, E., 2013. Actinomyces bowdenii ulcerative keratiits in a dog. Vet. Ophthalmol. 16, 386–391.
 Siqueira, E.G.M., Rahal, S.C., Ribeiro, M.G., Paes, A.C., Listoni, F.P., Vassalo, F.G., 2014.

- uerra, E.G.M., Rahal, S.C., Ribeiro, M.G., Paes, A.C., Listoni, F.P., Vassalo, F.G., 2014. Exogenous bacterial osteomyellits in S2 dogs a retrospective study of etiology and in vitro antimicrobial susceptibility profile (2000–2013). Vet. O. 34, 201–204. ws; A., Voiko, I., Kustovs, D., Kvvalcuka, I., Bandere, D., Purvina, S., Giorgi, M., 2020. Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits (*Dryctologus cuniculus*). J. Vet. Sci. 21, 1–13. res, T., Paes, A.C., Megid, J., Eduardo, P., Ribolla, M., 2014. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Streptococcus suis isolated from clinically healthy swine in Brazil. Can. J. Vet. Res. 78 (2) 145–149.
- Can. J. Vet. Res. 78 (2), 145–149. Stratev, D., Vashin, I., Daskalov, H., 2013. Antimicrobial resistance of B-haemolytic
- tev, D., Vashin, I., Daskalov, H., 2013. Antimicrobial resistance of B-haemolytic Aeromonas hydrophila strain isolated from rainbow trouts-*Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Bulg. J. Vet. Med. 16 (4), 289–296. edi, M., Luitel, IL, Devkota, B., Bhattarai, R.K., Phuyal, S., Panthi, P., Shrestha, A., Chaudhary, D.K., 2018. Antibiotic resistance pattern and virulence genes content in avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* (APEC) from broiler chickens in Chitwan, Nepal. BMC Vet. Res. 14 (1), 1-6.
- BMC Vet. Res. 14 (1), 1–6.
 Suman, S., Kumar, D., Kumar, K., Kumar, S., Arya, D., Suman, S., Kumar, D., Kumar, K., Kumar, S., Arya, D., Gautam, A.K., Yadav, S., Kumar, H., 2018. Clinicohaemato biochemical alteration due to oral feeding of levofloxacin in broiler birds. Int. J. Curr. Microbiol. App. Sci. 7, 3081–3087.
 Sun, N., Liu, J.H., Yang, F., Lin, D.C., Li, G.H., Chen, Z.L., 2012. Molecular characterization of the antimicrobial resistance of Riemerella anatipestifer isolated from the U. M. Nichel, V. 10, 2017. 2017.
- characterization of the antimicrobial resistance of Riemerella analpestuer isolated from ducks. Vet. Microbiol. 158, 376–383.
 Sun, Y., Wen, S., Zhao, L., Xia, Q., Pan, Y., Liu, H., Wei, C., Chen, H., Ge, J., Wang, H., 2020. Association among biofilm formation, virulence gene expression, and antibiotic resistance in Proteus mirabilis isolates from diarrhetic animals in Northeast China. BMC Vet. Res. 16, 1–10.
 Suzuki, T., Yanamoto, T., Ohashi, Y., 2016. The antibacterial activity of levofloxacin eye biotectication in the more mirability in the mean discussion of the hubber.

- Stuzuki, T., Yamamoto, T., Ohashi, Y., 2016. The antibacterial activity of levofloxacin eye drops against staphylococci using an in vitro pharmacokinetic model in the bulbar conjunctiva. J. Infect. Chemother. 22, 360–365.
 Tamuly, S., Saxena, M.K., Sonal, Anubwani T., Lakhchaura, B.D., 2008. Multiple drug resistance and plasmid profiling in Salmonella galema, Salmonella virchow, and Salmonella heidelberg. Ind. J. Animal. Sci. 78 (2), 156–158.
 Tanzi, T., Nazir, K.N.H., Zahan, M.N., Parvej, M.S., Zesmin, K., Rahman, M.T., 2016. Antibiotic resistance profile of bacteria isolated from raw milk samples of cattle and buffaloes. J. Adv. Vet. Anim. Res. 3 (1), 62–67.
 Thitaram, S.N., Frank, J.F., Siragusa, G.R., Bailey, J.S., Dargatz, D.A., Lombard, J.E., Haley, C.A., Lyon, S.A., Fedorka-Cray, P.J., 2016. Antimicrobial susceptibility of Clostridium difficile isolated from food animals on farms. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 227, 1–5. 227, 1-5
- tain, P.L., Del Castillo, J.R.E., Bousquet-Mélou, A., 2002. The pharmacokin
- Toutan, P.L., Det Castillo, J.K.E., Bousquet-Melou, A., 2002. The pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic approach to a rational dosage regimen for antibiotics. Res. Vet. Sci. 73, 105–114.
 Tungsiripat, T., Sarayba, M.A., Kaufman, M.B., Sweet, P.M., Taban, M., Carpenter, T.R., McDomell, P.J., 2003. Fluoroquinolone therapy in multiple-drug resistant staphylococcal kernitiis after lamellar keratectomy in a rabbit model. Am J.
- Up
- staphylococcal kerantis after lamentar keratectomy in a rabbit model. Am J. Ophthalmol. 136, 76–81.
 adhyay, A., Kataria, A.K., 2009. Antibiogram of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolates obtained from clinically mastitic cattle and goats. Vet. Pract. 10 (2), 145–147.
 úáa, N., Messina, M.J., Caverzan, M., Prieto, G., Lüders, C., Errecalde, C., 2020.
 Pharmacokinetics of levolfoxacin after single intravenous and oral administrati and its interaction with sucrafate in mixed-breed dogs. Xenobiotica 50 (12), 1400–1470. 1490-1493.
- 1490–1493.
 Van den Eede, A., Martens, A., Floré, K., Denis, O., Gasthuys, F., Haesebrouck, F., Van den Abeele, A., Hermans, K., 2013. MRSA carriage in the equine community: an investigation of horse-caretaker couples. Vet. Microbiol. 163, 313–318.
 Vanni, M., Tognetti, R., Pretti, C., Crema, F., Soldani, G., Meucci, V., Intorre, L., 2009. Antimicrobial susceptibility of *Staphylococcus intermedius and Staphylococcus schlafferi* isolated from dogs. Res. Vet. Sci. 87, 192–195.
 Varia, R.D., Patel, J.H., Patel, U.D., Blavsar, S.K., Thaker, A.M., Varia, R.D., Thaker, A. M., 2009. Disposition of levofloxacin following oral administration in broiler chickens. Isr. J. Vet. Med. 64 (A) 118.

- Vana, R.D., Patel, J.H., Patel, U.D., Binavsar, S.K., Hinker, A.M., Varia, R.D., Ihaker, A. M., 2000. Disposition of levofloxacin following oral administration in broiler chickens. Isr. J. Vet. Med. 64 (d), 118.
 Vercelli, C., Lebkowska-Wieruszewska, B., Barbero, R., Lisowski, A., Re, G., Giorgi, M., 2020. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in non-lactating goats and evaluation of drug effects on resistance in coliform rectal flora. Res. Vet. Sci. 133, 283–288.
 Wang, C., Deng, L., Zhu, Y., Wu, K., Wei, M., Huang, S., Wei, R., Liu, W., Huang, Y., Zhang, H., Li, D., 2021. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin mesylate in healthy adult giant panda after single-dose administration via different routes. J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther. 1–6. Online ahead of print.
 Watanabe, T., Fujikawa, K., Harada, S., Ohura, K., Sasaki, T., Takayama, S., 1992.
 Reproductive toxicity of the new quinolone antibacterial agent levofloxacin in rats and rabbits. Drug Res. 43 (3A), 374–377.
 Wesse, J.S., Blondeau, J., Boothe, D., Guardabassi, L.G., Gumley, N., Papich, M., Jessen, L.R., Lappin, M., Rankin, S., Westropp, J.L., Sykes, J., 2019. International society for companion animal infectious diseases (ISCAID) guidelines for the diagnosis and management of bacterial urinary tract infections in dogs and cats. Vet. J. 207, 8–25. J. 247. 8-25.
A. Sitovs et al.

WHO, 2019. The Selection and Use of Essential Medicines: Report of the WHO Expert Committee on Selection and Use of Essential Medicines, 2019 (Including the 21st WHO Model List of Essential Medicines and the 7th WHO Model List of Essential Medicines for Children). World Health Organization, Geneva. WHO Advisory Group on Integrated Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance (AGISAR), 2012. Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine. World Health Organization, Geneva. Yang, X., Wang, D., Li, J., Meng, X., Wei, Y., Tuerxun, G., Jin, Y., Xue, J., Ali, T., Han, B., Jia, B., 2020. Molecular epidemiology and characteristics of streptococcus agalactiae isolated from bovine mastitis in large dairy herds of China. Pak. Vet. J. 40, 301–306. Yarsan, E., Tanyuksel, M., Koe, F., Essiz, D., Babur, C., 2003. Influence of experimentally induced toxoplasmosis (Toxoplasma gondii) on the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin. B. Vet. I. Pulawy 74, 749–485. Yee, S.B., Hatkin, J.M., Dyer, D.N., Orr, S.A., Pitt, M.L.M., 2010. Aerosolized Bacillus anttracis infection in New Zealand white rabbits: natural history and intravenous levofloxacin reatment. Comp. Med. 60, 461–468. Yin, L.F., Huang, S.J., Jiang, S.G., Zhao, C.J., Pei, Z.Q., Zhang, Q., 2011. In vitro and in vivo evaluation of levofloxacin sustained-release capsules. Drug Dev. Ind. Pharm. 37, 33–40.

- Statistick (K. 1996) Statistics and a statemeter relative strategy bey link. Financial 33–40.
 Zdolec, N., Dobranić, V., Butković, I., Koturić, A., Filipović, I., Medvid, V., 2016.
 Osjetljivost na antimikrobne tvari bakterija izdvojenih iz mlijeka zdravih i liječe vimena krava. Vet. Arh. 86, 163–172.

Research in Veterinary Science 137 (2021) 111-126

- Zhang, J., Xu, C., Shen, H., Li, J., Guo, L., Cao, G., Feng, S., Liao, M., 2014. Biofilm formation in Haemophilus parasuis: relationship with antibiotic resistance, serotype and genetic typing. Res. Vet. Sci. 97, 171–175.
 Zhao, S., Maurer, J.J., Hubert, S., De Villena, J.F., McDermott, P.F., Meng, J., Ayers, S., English, L., White, J.G., 2005. Antimicrobial susceptibility and molecular characterization of avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* isolates. Vet. Microbiol. 107, 215–224.
- Characterization of avian pathogenic *eschericita* con isolates. Vel. Microbiol. 107, 215-224.
 Zhao, Y., Guo, L., Li, J., Huang, X., Fang, B., 2018. Characterization of antimicrobial resistance genes in Haemophilus parasuis isolated from pigs in China. Peer J. 2018, resista 1–17.
- Zhou, X., Xu, X., Zhao, Y., Chen, P., Zhang, X., Chen, H., Cai, X., 2010. Distribution of
- Zhou, X., Xu, X., Zhao, Y., Chen, F., Zhang, X., Chen, H., Cu, X., 2010. Distribution of antimicrobial resistance among different servorars of Haemophilus parasuis isolates. Vet. Microbiol. 141, 168–173.
 Zhou, Z., Zhang, M., Li, H., Yang, H., Li, X., Song, X., Wang, Z., 2017. Prevalence and molecular characterization of *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from goats in Chongqing, China. BMC Vet. Res. 13, 1–8.
 Zhu, Z., Shi, Y., Zhou, X., Li, B., Zhang, J., 2018. Molecular characterization of fluoroquinolone and/or cephalosporin resistance in Shigella sonnel isolates from webs. PMC Vet. Res. 14, 10.
- yaks. BMC Vet. Res. 14, 1-9.

126

Second Publication

J Vet Sci. 2020 Mar:21(2):e32 https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32 pISSN 1229-845X-eISSN 1976-555X

Original Article Pharmacology

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

Received: Dec 20, 2019

Revised: Jan 20, 2020 Accepted: Jan 22, 2020

*Corresponding author:

E-mail: andrejs.sitovs@rsu.lv

Department of Pharmacology, Riga Stradins

University, 16 Dzirciema Street, Riga, LV-1007,

© 2020 The Korean Society of Veterinary

This is an Open Access article distributed

under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License (https://

creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0)

which permits unrestricted non-commercial

medium, provided the original work is properly

use, distribution, and reproduction in any

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9529-8799

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4552-6167

https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8788-0204

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2524-7427

https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9144-8799

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4934-3106

https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3657-4703

Andrejs Sitovs

Latvia

Science

cited.

ORCID iDs Andrejs Sitovs 🔟

Laura Voiko 匝

Dmitrijs Kustovs 间

Liga Kovalcuka 厄

Dace Bandere 🕩

Santa Purvina 匝

Mario Giorgi 匝

Journal of Veterinary Science

Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus)

Andrejs Sitovs (2)^{1,*}, Laura Voiko (2², Dmitrijs Kustovs (2¹, Liga Kovalcuka (2², Dace Bandere 💿 ³, Santa Purvina 💿 ¹, Mario Giorgi 🕞 ⁴

¹Department of Pharmacology, Riga Stradins University, Riga, LV-1007, Latvia ²Clinical Institute, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Jelgava, LV-3001, Latvia

³Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Riga Stradins University, Riga, LV-1007, Latvia ⁴Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Pisa, Pisa 56126, Italy

ABSTRACT

Levofloxacin pharmacokinetic profiles were evaluated in 6 healthy female rabbits after intravenous (I/V), intramuscular (I/M), or subcutaneous (S/C) administration routes at a single dose of 5 mg/kg in a 3 × 3 cross-over study. Plasma levofloxacin concentrations were detected using a validated Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography method with a fluorescence detector. Levofloxacin was quantifiable up to 10 h post-drug administration. Mean AUC_{0-last} values of 9.03 ± 2.66 , 9.07 ± 1.80 , and 9.28 ± 1.56 mg/h*L were obtained via I/V, I/M, and S/C, respectively. Plasma clearance was 0.6 mL/g*h after I/V administration. Peak plasma concentrations using the I/M and S/C routes were 3.33 ± 0.39 and $2.91 \pm 0.56 \mu g/mL$. Bioavailability values, after extravascular administration were complete, - 105% ± 27% (I/M) and 118% ± 40% (S/C). Average extraction ratio of levofloxacin after I/V administration was 7%. Additionally, levofloxacin administration effects on tear production and osmolarity were evaluated. Tear osmolarity decreased within 48 h post-drug administration. All 3 levofloxacin administration routes produced similar pharmacokinetic profiles. The studied dose is unlikely to be effective in rabbits; however, it was calculated that a daily dose of 29 mg/kg appears effective for I/V administration for pathogens with MIC < 0.5 µg/mL.

Keywords: Levofloxacin; rabbits; pharmacokinetics; tears; osmolar concentration

INTRODUCTION

Rabbits have a small role as food-producing veterinary species [1]; however, they are frequently kept as companion animals. Like other small mammals, rabbits are susceptible to a variety of microbial infections, with the most common infective organisms identified as Pasteurella spp., Enterobacteriaceae spp., Streptococcus spp., and Staphylococcus spp. [2,3].

Fluoroquinolones, among the most important antimicrobial drugs in veterinary medicine [4], are known for their bactericidal action against a broad spectrum of microorganisms and for their high penetration to tissues and intercellular fluid after systemic administration [5,6].

https://vetsci.org

Journal of Veterinary Science

Jour Veterinary So

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author Contribution

Conceptualization: Sitovs A, Giorgi M; Data curation: Sitovs A; Formal analysis: Sitovs A; Funding acquisition: Sitovs A, Bandere D, Purvina S; Investigation: Sitovs A, Voiko L, Kovalcuka L, Kustovs D; Methodology: Sitovs A, Giorgi M; Project administration: Sitovs A, Purvina S, Kovalcuka L; Resources: Sitovs A, Bandere D, Purvina S; Software: Sitovs A, Giorgi M; Supervision: Bandere D, Purvina S, Giorgi M; Validation: Sitovs A, Kustovs D, Giorgi M; Visualization: Sitovs A; Writing - original draft: Sitovs A; Writing - review & editing: Sitovs A, Purvina S, Giorgi M. The developing threat of antimicrobial resistance due to over- or misuse of antimicrobials [5] can limit the use of existing antimicrobial agents, especially fluoroquinolones in veterinary medicine. Fluoroquinolones are used in veterinary medicine based on strong evidence of their efficacy and the lack of alternative treatment options. Therefore, understanding of drug kinetics and efficacy from experimental modeling of as-yet unapproved drugs for animal use can contribute to the potential use of these drugs in the future. At present, levofloxacin is approved for veterinary use in some countries [7] and might be used in other countries where antimicrobial agent use is not regulated/controlled by local laws. Regardless, the authors do not endorse the extra-label use of levofloxacin; instead, we undertook this study to investigate the potential use of levofloxacin in rabbits as a basis for further research.

Levofloxacin, a third-generation fluoroquinolone, is active against a wide range of Grampositive and Gram-negative microorganisms and has improved activity, compared to older fluoroquinolones, against streptococci and anaerobes [6,8,9]. The pharmacokinetics (PKs) of levofloxacin has already been established in several domesticated mammalian pets [7,10,11], non-pets [12-14], and birds [15-18]. Moreover, there are several research papers published in recent years that show increased interest in levofloxacin having potential application as an off-label drug for some pet animals (dogs). Pharmacokinetic/ pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) indices of fluoroquinolones indicate the effectiveness of this class of drugs [19,20], and they imply that levofloxacin has promise in the treatment of infections in animals [7,11].

In rabbits, the PKs of levofloxacin have been studied only after intravenous (I/V) administration, with limited samples taken following drug administration [21]. Further, the animals in that study were infected with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* for use as a model for meningitis; thus, the kinetics obtained may have been altered due to infective processes. Regardless, the full PK profile of levofloxacin in healthy rabbits has not been established.

I/V administration requires specific administration skills and is unlikely to become routinely used in rabbits as prey species are less tolerant of handling than predator species [9]. In contrast, intramuscular (I/M) and subcutaneous (S/C) routes of administration are suitable for use in rabbits [22] as those methods are easily performed, minimizing handling of and stress to the animal. Thus, I/M or S/C administration in rabbits is more convenient and faster for veterinary practitioners, and, in exceptional cases, the drug could even be administered by the owner. Despite all 3 routes of administration being parenteral, the PKs of each route could differ, affecting the onset and duration of action and bioavailability.

Rabbits have been used as a model to test the effects of eye drops containing fluoroquinolones [23,24]. However, there is no data on the effect on tear production and quality after parenteral administration of levofloxacin or any other fluoroquinolone approved for systemic use in rabbits. The ocular surface requires a tear film to cover the eye surface in order to maintain eye health and function. Dry eye syndrome (DES) occurs as a result of decreased tear production or increased tear film evaporation. DES in humans and animals can lead not only to discomfort but also corneal and conjunctival damage. There are reports in humans and animals showing that systemic use of drugs such as beta-blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, diuretics, and antimicrobials have ocular side effects, and most of those drugs have been reported to cause DES [25-27]. In addition, there is evidence that systemic administration of other antimicrobial agents—sulphonamides can decrease tear production in rabbits [26].

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32



The aims of this study were to establish and compare the PK profiles of levofloxacin after single administration via I/V, I/M, and S/C routes in healthy rabbits. Subsequently, the antimicrobial efficacy of levofloxacin was predicted based on the area under the concentration-time curve to the minimal inhibitory concentration (AUC/MIC) ratio obtained, and additionally, the effects on tear quantitative and qualitative parameters were assessed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Six cross-bred female rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) (body mass 4.21 ± 0.74 kg), 6 months of age at the beginning of the study, were obtained from the animal facility of the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies. Animals were determined to be healthy based on physical examination, complete blood analysis, and complete ocular examination including biomicroscopy, indirect ophthalmoscopy, and tonometry. Animals received no drug treatment before the study and were allowed to acclimate in their cages for 7 days before the beginning of the study. Rabbits were housed individually in cages under 12-h light/12-h dark cycle with *ad libitum* access to drinking water and hay. Animals were fed standard pelleted food once daily (Purina Professional Rabbit Feed, Purina, USA). The room temperature was maintained at 20°C. Before the study, animals were randomly divided into 3 groups of 2 using research randomizer software. Identifying numbers were placed on each of the animal cages. Animals were weighed immediately before the beginning of the study and before every drug administration period.

Chemicals and reagents

Analytical standard (purity > 98%) levofloxacin and enrofloxacin (used as the internal standard) and tetraethylammonium chloride were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (USA). Acetonitrile, methanol, sodium dihydrogen phosphate, sodium hydrogen phosphate, chloroform, and isopropanol were of high-performance liquid chromatography grade. A levofloxacin solution (Levoflox 500 mg/100 mL; Claris, India) was used for administration to the animals.

Experimental design and sample collection

A 3-phase, 3-treatment cross-over study design was applied. The experimental protocol was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Republic of Latvia Food and Veterinary Service (Permission 025564). The study was performed according to the guideline for the care and use of laboratory animals. The levofloxacin solution was administered as a single dose of 5 mg/kg body weight. In each phase, doses were administered as follows: I/V route— as a 1 min bolus into the marginal ear vein; I/M route—half of the dose was administered to each of the musculus biceps femoris consecutively (half dose used to avoid muscle damage due to large volume of solution to be administered); S/C route—administered as an injection in the back of the neck region. A fourteen-day washout period was applied, allowing animals to fully clear the drug and to recover from stress related to the experimental procedures. Animal groups for levofloxacin administration were rotated until all 3 phases of the study were completed.

For each phase, a sterile 24G catheter was placed in the central ear artery (for blood collection) and a second one into the marginal ear vein (for I/V drug administration) prior to drug administration on the day of commencement of the experiment. The venous catheter was removed immediately after I/V drug administration while the arterial one remained until

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

Journal of Veterinary Science



blood collection at 10 h post-administration. Catheters were flushed with heparin containing saline after blood collection, and before any blood collection, the first 0.3 mL of blood were discharged. Blood samples (approximately 0.5 mL) were collected immediately before levofloxacin administration and at 0.083, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 24, and 48 h post-administration. Blood samples at 24 and 48 h were collected by syringe from the jugular vein. Collected blood was immediately transferred to lithium-heparin containing test tubes, centrifuged at $1000 \times g$ for 10 min, and the plasma harvested and stored at -20° C until analysis.

Tear fluid evaluations included tests of tear production and tear film osmolarity. All evaluations were conducted the day before levofloxacin administration to obtain baseline values, and then at 1, 4, 8, 10, 24, and 48 h after each levofloxacin administration.

Baseline Schirmer Tear Test values for tear production were obtained with standardized sterile Schirmer Tear Test I (Eickemeyer, Germany) tips that were inserted under the lower lateral eyelid margin for 1 min. The length of the wet section of the STT tip was immediately measured in millimeters (mm/min). Immediately after the STT result was obtained, STT strips were placed into 1.5 mL polypropylene vials and held at -20°C for further quantification of levofloxacin in the lacrimal fluid. Tear production was also evaluated by applying I-TEAR TEST strips (I-MED Pharma Inc., Canada) into both eves at the same period post levofloxacin solution administration as that for the STT-based evaluations. A strip was applied to the central lower lid tear meniscus without touching the cornea or conjunctiva in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The number of millimeters on the strip reached in 5 sec was obtained (unit: mm/5 sec). Tear film osmolarity was assessed by applying the I-PEN VET device (I-MED Pharma Inc.) immediately after the tear production tests were performed. The I-PEN VET sensor was applied to the palpebral conjunctiva until a sound signal, indicating the end of the measurement, was heard (unit: mOsms/L).

Plasma chromatographic analysis

Levofloxacin concentrations in plasma samples were assessed using a Waters Acquity H Class Ultra Performance Liquid Chromatography system equipped with a fluorescence detector (Waters Corporation, USA). The chromatographic analytical method and the sample extraction procedure were based on those previously described by Lee et al. [16]. Briefly, to 200 μL of plasma, 100 μL of 10 $\mu g/mL$ internal standard solution in methanol, 800 μL of phosphate buffer solution (pH = 7.0), and 4 mL of chloroform:isopropanol (5:1 v/v) were added. The mixture was shaken by a vertical rotating device (Biosan Bio-RS 24, Latvia) at 30 rotations per minute for 20 min, and then centrifuged at $3,000 \times g$ for 10 min at 4°C. Three milliliters of the lower organic layer was transferred into a clean polypropylene tube and evaporated to dryness under a nitrogen stream at 40°C. The dry residue was reconstituted with 200 µL of the mobile phase. One microliter of the resultant solution was injected into the chromatographic system. The chromatographic column used was a Waters Acquity C18 BEH 2.1 × 75 mm with a 1.7 μ m particle size (Waters Corporation). The column temperature was maintained at 35°C. The mobile phase was 83% 0.02 M potassium dihydrogen phosphate solution with 0.012 M tetraethylammonium chloride (pH = 2.5) and 17% acetonitrile. The isocratic flow rate was 0.3 mL/min. The fluorescence detector wavelengths were set to 295 nm excitation and 420 nm emission. The sample run time was 5 min.

Chromatographic method validation

Drug-free rabbit plasma was used for both standard curve construction and quality control method validation in accordance with the Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

Veterinary Science



(EMEA/CHMP/EWP/192217/2009). Drug-free pooled plasma was harvested from all 6 experimental rabbits (2 mL of blood collected) immediately before the beginning of the first phase of the experiment but after the catheters had been placed.

The calibration curve was linear from 0.01 to 10 μ g/mL (R² > 0.999). The levofloxacin recovery from plasma was 96% ± 3.5%. The lower limit of quantification was 0.01 µg/mL. Five level standards of levofloxacin quality controls of 0.01, 0.025, 0.05, 0.5, and 5 µg/mL were used. The between-run accuracy of the method was 1.0%–13.9% and the within-run accuracy was within 15%. The inter- and intra-day precision coefficients of variation were below 5.73% and 5.84%, respectively.

PK analysis

Individual PK parameters were estimated for every animal after treatment using all 3 administration routes. Estimation was performed using non-compartmental analysis and based on visual inspection of the obtained graph (ThothPro Version 1.6.66, Poland). The linear trapezoidal interpolation method was used to calculate the area under the plasma vs. time curve (AUC) after I/V administration, whereas the linear up/log down method was used for the I/M and S/C routes of administration. At least 3 of the last points of the elimination phase of the plasma vs. time curve were used to calculate the elimination constant. The peak plasma concentration (C_{max}) , and time to reach peak plasma concentration (t_{max}) were obtained from the data. The bioavailability (F%) was calculated for every single subject as F% = (AUC_{I/M or S/C}/AUC_{I/V}) × 100, and the mean absorption time (MAT) as MAT = MRT I/M or S/C - $MRT_{\rm I/V}.$ Numerical differences of individual $AUC_{\rm 0-last}$ values were lower than 20% of $AUC_{\rm 0-inf},$ and the R² of the terminal phase regression line was > 0.85. Extraction ratio (E%) after I/V administration was calculated using the clearance value after I/V administration and the cardiac output value (i.e., E% = clearance/cardiac output ×100), where cardiac output = 180 × body weight-0.19 [28].

PK/PD index

Because the levofloxacin concentrations were below the LOQ at 24 h, in order to predict the $\mathrm{AUC}_{\text{0-24h}}$ and to calculate the PK/PD surrogates, a dose 5 times that administered was modeled. The levofloxacin concentration values for all sampled times from 0.083 h to 10 h post-administration were multiplied by 5. Applying the superposition principle and assuming the same first-order kinetics [29], approximate values of the concentration at 24 h post-administration were calculated for each rabbit for all 3 routes of administration. The non-compartmental PK analysis was re-run to obtain an $\mathrm{AUC}_{\text{o-}24\text{h}}$ value from this adjusted data, and the PK/PD surrogate $AUC_{\text{o-24h}}/\text{MIC}$ was calculated. Since fluoroquinolones produce a concentration-dependent antimicrobial effect over time [5], a target AUC 0-24h/MIC ratio for fluoroquinolones of 72 was used [11].

Drug accumulation prediction

A prediction based on a single administration was used to evaluate the possible accumulation ratio (R) at 12 h dosing intervals (τ). The following formula was used [30]:

$$\mathbf{R} = \frac{1}{\left[1 - (0.5)^{\tau/t_{1/2}}\right]}$$

where τ is the dosing interval and $t^{1/2}$ is the half-life of elimination.

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32



MIC breakpoints prediction

Based on the equation AUC_{0-24h}/MIC > 72, the antimicrobial activity breakpoint for the theoretically computed dose of 25 mg/kg for rabbits, a MIC < AUC_{0-24h}/72 was assumed to be effective [11]. The AUC was expressed in terms of the unbound drug; levofloxacin was previously reported to be 25% bound to plasma proteins in rabbits [21].

Theoretical effective daily dose calculation

As fluoroquinolones are antimicrobials that possess concentration/time-dependent effects, a theoretical optimal daily dosage was calculated for all 3 routes of administration based on the following formula [19]:

Dose per day =
$$\frac{\frac{AUC}{MIC} \times MIC \times Cl}{fu \times F}$$
/24 h

where AUC_{0-24b}/MIC is the ratio for optimal efficacy (= 72), Cl = clearance, fu = free fraction of drug in plasma (= 0.75) and F = bioavailability (considered 1 if complete).

Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (version 21.0; IBM Corporation, USA). Most statistical parameters are reported as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) values. The exceptions are for plasma half-lives (harmonic means were calculated) and t_{max} (median values are reported). The normality of the data was assessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Paired *t*-tests were used to compare the statistical differences for PK parameters with normal data distributions in different administration groups. Where data did not have a normal distribution (e.g., V_{area}/F after I/M or S/C administration), the Wilcoxon test was applied. The *p* values lower than 0.05 were considered to indicate statistical significance.

RESULTS

For all 3 administration routes, the drug was quantifiable in plasma for up to 10 h postadministration of 5 mg/kg.

Animals

All 6 animals received levofloxacin via I/V or I/M routes; however, only 4 completed the S/C administration. In the third phase of the cross-over study, 2 animals were excluded—one animal was excluded because of the inability to fix the catheter in either ear artery. The other animal suffered cramps post I/V administration of levofloxacin and died within 48 h post-administration. Post-mortem examination of this animal showed no respiratory tract, kidney, gastrointestinal tract, or liver abnormalities.

The semilogarithmic plots of mean levofloxacin plasma concentrations (± SD) after the 5 mg/kg single dose via all 3 routes of administration are presented in Fig. 1. The mean values of PK parameters obtained (± SD) are reported in **Table 1**. The average AUC_{0-last} values were 9.03 (± 2.66), 9.07 (± 1.80) and 9.28 (± 1.56) mg*h/L after I/V, I/M, and S/C administration, respectively. Maximum plasma concentration reached 3.33 (± 0.39) and 2.91 (± 0.56) µg/mL after I/M and S/C administrations, respectively. The mean extraction rate after 5 mg/kg I/V administration was 7.2% ± 2.1%.

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

Concentration (µg/mL)



Journal of

Fig. 1. Semilogarithmic plots of average levofloxacin plasma concentrations in rabbits (error bars represent standard deviations) after I/V (n = 6), I/M (n = 6), and S/C (n = 4) levofloxacin administration of 5 mg/kg bodyweight. I/V, intravenous; I/M, intramuscular; S/C, subcutaneous.

Table 1. Mean (± SD) pharmacokinetic parameters of levofloxacin in plasma following I/V, I/M or S/C adminis	stration
to rabbits at a dose of 5 mg/kg bodyweight	

10 1000113 01 0 0030 01	5 mg/ kg bodyweight			
PK parameters	Units	I/V (n = 6)	I/M (n = 6)	S/C (n = 4)
AUC _{o-last}	mg*h/L	9.03 ± 2.66	9.07 ± 1.80	9.28 ± 1.56
AUC _{o-inf}	mg*h/L	9.08 ± 2.64	9.07 ± 1.80	9.31 ± 1.50
AUMC _{0-last}	mg*h*h/L	22.93 ± 12.46	37.87 ± 18.35*	36.62 ± 17.35
AUMC _{0-inf}	mg*h*h/L	23.64 ± 12.17	37.89 ± 18.34*	36.98 ± 16.82
C _{max}	μg/mL	N/A	3.33 ± 0.39	2.91 ± 0.56
C _{first}	μg/mL	7.13 ± 1.47	N/A	N/A
t _{max} MEDIAN	h	N/A	0.50 (0.08-0.75)†	0.75
t _{1/2λz} HM	h	2.06 ± 0.18	2.01 ± 0.24	1.80 ± 0.14
λz	1/h	0.34 ± 0.03	0.34 ± 0.04	0.39 ± 0.03
MRT _{0-last} HM	h	2.19 ± 0.83	3.75 ± 1.16*	3.44 ± 1.31
MRT _{0-inf} HM	h	2.27 ± 0.80	3.75 ± 1.16*	3.52 ± 1.25
MAT HM	h	N/A	1.29 ± 0.61	0.45 ± 1.47
cl	mL/g*h	0.60 ± 0.18	N/A	N/A
Cl/F	mL/g*h	N/A	0.57 ± 0.11	0.55 ± 0.10
V _{ss}	mL/g	1.37 ± 0.39	N/A	N/A
V _{area} /F	mL/g	N/A	1.66 ± 0.34	1.42 ± 0.18
F	%	N/A	105.69 ± 27.50	118.93 ± 40.51

F%N/A105.69 ± 27.50118.93 ± 40.51PK, pharmacokinetic; AUC_{0-list}, area under the plasma-concentration time curve from zero to the last quantified sampling point time; AUC_{0-list}, area under the plasma-concentration time curve from zero extrapolated to infinity;
AUMC_{0-list}, area under the first moment curve from zero to the last quantified sampling point time; AUMC_{0-list}, area under the plasma-concentration time curve from zero extrapolated to infinity;
C_{max}, maximum plasma drug concentration; C_{first}, concentration at first sample collection point; t_{max}, time of the alimination part of the curve; NRT_{0-list}, mean residence time from zero to the last quantified sampling point time; ALMC_{0-list}, mean residence time from zero extrapolated to infinity;
V_{max}, wolume of distribution corrected to the bioavailability; n, umber of
experimental animals receiving levofloxacin via the corresponding route of administration; I/V, intravenous; I/M,
intramuscular; S/C, subcutaneous; N/A, not applicable; HM, harmonic mean.
*Significantly different from I/V administration ($\rho < 0.05$); [†]Range reported.

PK/PD index

The *in silico* obtained AUC_{0-24h} values for the theoretical dose of 25 mg/kg were 44.98 (± 12.54) mg*h/L for I/V administration, 43.11 (± 6.85) mg*h/L for I/M administration, and 43.62 (± 13.65) mg*h/L for S/C administration. The levofloxacin accumulation ratio when administered twice daily (τ =12 h) was predicted to be 1.019 (± 0.006).

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

To obtain the AUC/MIC of 72, considering that levofloxacin is 25% bound to plasma proteins, it was calculated that 25 mg/kg of levofloxacin by I/V administration would be effective against pathogens with a MIC < 0.47 μ g/mL. In the case of I/M and S/C routes of administration, this dose would be effective against pathogens with a MIC < 0.45 μ g/mL. Thus, an effective daily dose against pathogens with a MIC of 0.5 μ g/mL was calculated for the I/V administration to be 29 (± 8) mg/kg body weight.

Journal of Veterinary Science

Effects on tear quality

Average tear production observed with STT was 6.4 (\pm 3.1) mm/min and 7.0 (\pm 3.1) mm/min, for left and right eyes, respectively (no significant difference, *p* = 0.536). Absolute values varied from 2 to 14 mm/min. No significant changes in tear production were observed among all routes of drug administration within 48 h (data not shown).

Strip meniscometry values, obtained by following the manufacturer's instructions, of 5 mm and higher are considered to indicate normal tear production while smaller values suggest decreased tear production. The average SM measurement results were normal, 6.9 (\pm 1.3) mm/5 sec and 6.3 (\pm 1.9) mm/5 sec, for the left and right eyes, respectively (no significant difference, p = 0.145). No significant changes in baseline tear production after levofloxacin I/V, I/M, and S/C administration were observed (data not shown).

Tear osmolarity was 324 (± 21) mOsms/L and 331 (± 22) mOsms/L for the 2 eyes prior to drug administration, and the difference was not significant (p = 0.255). Mean tear osmolarity decreased in all 3 routes of administration within 48 h after treatment. Changes in tear osmolarity up to 48 h after levofloxacin administration are summarized in **Fig. 2**.

Another area of interest was the quantification of the levofloxacin level in tear fluid in order to evaluate the rationale of ocular infection treatment (conjunctival and corneal infection treatments may be affected by drug distribution in tears). However, the small volume of tear fluid harvested, and the limited sensitivity of the detection method used did not allow quantification of levofloxacin in rabbit tear fluid.



Fig. 2. Changes in tear osmolarity in rabbits after a single 5 mg/kg levofloxacin dose administered via I/V (n = 6), I/M (n = 6), or S/C (n = 4) routes (mean values indicated; error bars represent standard deviation). I/V, intravenous; I/M, intramuscular; S/C, subcutaneous.

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

DISCUSSION

To the authors' best knowledge, this is the first time levofloxacin PK profiles after I/M and S/C administration in healthy rabbits were evaluated, although I/V administration had been examined previously in rabbits infected by *S. pneumoniae*.

The 5 mg/kg dose used in this study was based on the dose used previously in a levofloxacin study involving broiler chicken [16]. This dose is within the range of doses previously used in other mammalian and bird species [10,15,17,18,31]; a dose associated with reduced risks of side effects. Fluoroquinolones are reported to cause tendon damage, seizures, diarrhea in humans, and blindness in cats [4], and Madsen et al. [11] reported side effects, including vomiting, soft feces, and depression, after I/V administration of 15 mg/kg of levofloxacin in dogs. One rabbit died during the current experiment, and the death may be attributed to the stress of the sampling procedures. While necropsy showed no noticeable organ changes in the rabbit, a single I/V dose of levofloxacin in humans has been reported to produce cardiovascular side effects—increased heart rate and QT interval prolongation [32]; thus, cardiovascular effects may also be involved in the lethal outcome in this individual.

All 3 routes of administration (I/V, I/M, and S/C) used in this study produced very similar results for key PK parameters. This could be explained by the fast absorption and rapid distribution of the drug after the extravascular administration routes mimicking the PK profile of the I/V administration. In this study, the AUC values for all 3 routes of administration were similar, and there was complete (calculated over 100%) systemic bioavailability of levofloxacin reported following both I/M and S/C administration. Maximal plasma concentrations for both extravascular routes were reached at around the same time (30–45 min post-administration) and were of similar value (around 3 μ g/mL). Similar parallel results were observed for S/C and I/M mean residence times, clearances, and volumes of distribution compared to those for I/V administration. These similarities in PKs suggest that the same drug efficacy should be expected for all 3 routes of other fluoroquinolones in rabbits [33,34] and of levofloxacin in other animal species [11,16,35] showed very similar PK profiles after different routes of administration. The levofloxacin terminal plasma half-life appeared to be one of the shortest among the species tested (1.8–2.06 h, depending on the route of parenteral administration).

The volume of drug distribution at a steady-state after I/V administration of 1.37 L/kg suggests moderate penetration of the drug through the biological membranes of the body. This value is within the range reported in avian and mammalian species, 0.92 L/kg in sheep and 2.88–3.25 L/kg in broiler chickens [15,16,35].

Complete bioavailability of levofloxacin after extravascular administration has also been reported in other species [11,13,16]. Interestingly, other fluoroquinolones studied in rabbits after I/M and S/C administration have also shown complete bioavailability, with actual values exceeding 100% [33,36,37]. This may be due to various factors that have already described in the literature [5,6,38], e.g., non-linear clearance. The I/M administration of orbifloxacin, norfloxacin, danofloxacin, and marbofloxacin have all been reported to exceed the 100% bioavailability level [33,34,36,39]. Moreover, S/C ofloxacin, orbifloxacin, and danofloxacin administration also showed complete bioavailability [33,37,40]. These observations indicate that, in general, fluoroquinolones are well absorbed and widely distributed to plasma after I/M or S/C administration in rabbits.

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

Journal of Veterinary Science



Compared to the study in rabbits infected with S. pneumoniae [21], the AUC values of levofloxacin were much lower (at least twice corrected to the dose administered) in the present study. The plasma terminal half-lives of the drug were at least 3 times longer than that observed in our study. These differences might be due to differences in rabbit breed (New Zealand white vs. cross-bred in this study), size of the animals in the 2 studies (2-3 kg vs. 4.2 kg in this study) and the provision of other drugs (e.g., anesthetic administration in [21]). Additionally, the presence of infection may have slowed the elimination of the drug from the body in a manner similar to that observed in a PK study of marbofloxacin in infected rabbits [39].

The AUC values reported for rabbits appear to be the lowest among the other species studied, taking into account the administered dose differences. This might be related to the rapid elimination of the drug from the rabbit body. The average plasma clearance of levofloxacin was 0.6 mL/g*h with some variability among the experimental animals. This is the highest clearance rate thus far reported in all previous mammalian and avian species studied, except sheep, which had similar reported clearance (0.55 mL/g*h [35] vs. 0.6 mL/g*h in rabbits) and half-life of elimination (2.38 h vs. 2.06 h in rabbits) values. However, another study in sheep [14] showed a lower clearance of 0.2 mL/g $^{\star}h$ and a longer elimination half-life (3.3 h), but that study was performed using sheep with a body mass almost twice as large, possibly, resulting in slower drug elimination. The high rate of elimination in rabbits may be due to their high cardiac output and heart rate [41]. Higher clearance in rabbits is observed after administration of other fluoroquinolones; orbifloxacin, norfloxacin, danofloxacin, and moxifloxacin are cleared even faster than levofloxacin with clearance values of 0.9, 0.8, 0.8, and 0.8 mL*g/h, respectively [33,34,36,37]. These results indicate that parenteral fluoroquinolone administration in rabbits will require frequent dosing. Alternatively, the route of administration could be changed to consider practitioners' convenience and/or reduction of the handling stress of the infected animal.

A low extraction ratio (around 7%) may indicate that levofloxacin is not fully metabolized and may be excreted unchanged by the kidney [5,6]. This suggests the use of orally administered dosage forms [28]. Although extraction ratio values were not computed in other species in which levofloxacin PKs were established, we calculated approximate extraction ratios for the above-mentioned studies. Low levofloxacin extraction ratios were predicted in cats, dogs, and rabbits (around 2%) based on the clearance and mean animal body weights reported by Albarellos et al. [10], Landoni and Albarellos [7], Madsen et al. [11] and Destache et al. [21]. In food-producing animals, the levofloxacin extraction rate is also low. Based on data provided by Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud [13], Goudah and Hasabelnaby [14], and Patel et al. [35], the authors have calculated average extraction levels for goats, sheep, and camels of 3.2%, 3.9%, and 9.5%. The estimated extraction ratio values in all of the animal species investigated indicate similar drug elimination abilities among the species.

As the elimination half-life of levofloxacin for all 3 routes of administration was short, frequent administration, which is potentially stressful to the animal, would be required. The authors, therefore, do not suggest than any of these parenteral routes are suitable for regular clinical use of levofloxacin in the studied dosage form. While the therapeutic efficacy of fluoroquinolones may be inferred through PK/PD assessment and the use of the AUC/ MIC ratio, the low AUC value and the inability to quantify levofloxacin in rabbit plasma at 24 h post drug administration resulted in the inability to perform these surrogate calculations based on our experimental data. Based on our results, a dose of 5 mg/kg of levofloxacin is unlikely to produce a therapeutic effect in rabbits. Our calculated effective daily dose for

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

levofloxacin, based on an *Enterobacteriaceae* MIC value of 0.5μ g/mL reported in dogs [11], was 29 (± 8) mg/kg, based on a plasma protein binding value of 25% [21]. The estimate is in agreement with the oral dose of 25 mg/kg in dogs to attain similar PK/PD therapeutic targets. In rabbit management, the oral route for drug administration (in medicated feed or water) is the most common one used. Levofloxacin is reported to have complete oral bioavailability in 2 other mammalian species; dog (104 [± 30]%) [11] and cat (86 [± 43]%) [10]. If this oral trend in oral bioavailability is similar in rabbits, the effective daily dose of levofloxacin reported in the current study could be added to pelleted rabbit food or drinking water. However, as infected animals may lose their appetite while maintaining water (i.e., the average daily water intake of rabbits) [42].

Journal of Veterinary Science

This study is the first to investigate the effect of systemic administration of levofloxacin on ocular parameters. The high variability in the qualitative parameters of tears between individual animals before and after treatment with levofloxacin made identification of trends difficult. The authors suggest that the dose may have been too small or a single administration insufficient to produce any discernible effects on tear production. The basal level of the tear production assessed with STT method (7 [\pm 3] mm/min) was slightly higher than those reported for English angora rabbits and Dutch rabbits (5.4 and 4.6 mm/min, respectively) [43]. Regardless, tear osmolarity appeared to decrease slightly but significantly (p = 0.002) at 48 h after drug administration. The authors, therefore, suggest that levofloxacin administration at 5 mg/kg is unlikely to cause major changes in the qualitative and quantitative properties of tears. However, studies with multiple-dose administration and a larger number of animals are warranted.

In conclusion, a levofloxacin dose of 5 mg/kg is unlikely to be effective in rabbits. Moreover, a single administration of that dose is unlikely to have any effect on tear parameters. Based on our calculations, a daily dose of 29 mg/kg may be effective for I/V administration of levofloxacin, but further PK/PD assessments are required to determine its effects.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors sincerely thank Dr. Victoria Llewellyn (James Cook University, Australia) for manuscript grammar correction and the ThothPro (Gdansk, Poland) team for software supply. This work was supported by Riga Stradins University doctorate grants.

REFERENCES

- Toutain PL, Ferran A, Bousquet-Melou A. Species differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. In: Cunningham F, Elliott J, Lees P, editors. *Comparative and Veterinary Pharmacology*. 1st ed. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag; 2010, 19-48.
- Rougier S, Galland D, Boucher S, Boussarie D, Vallé M. Epidemiology and susceptibility of pathogenic bacteria responsible for upper respiratory tract infections in pet rabbits. Vet Microbiol 2006;115:192-198. PUBMED | CROSSREF
- 3. Percy DH, Barthold SW. Pathology of Laboratory Rodents and Rabbits. 3rd ed. Ames: Blackwell Publishing; 2008.
- 4. Riviere JE, Papich MG. Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics. 10th ed. Ames: John Wiley & Sons; 2018.
- 5. Brown SA. Fluoroquinolones in animal health. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 1996;19:1-14. PUBMED | CROSSREF

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32



- Martinez M, McDermott P, Walker R. Pharmacology of the fluoroquinolones: a perspective for the use in domestic animals. Vet J 2006;172:10-28.
 PUBMED I CROSSREF
- Landoni MF, Albarellos GA. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous, oral and subcutaneous administration to dogs. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2019;42:171-178.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Davis R, Bryson HM. Levofloxacin. A review of its antibacterial activity, pharmacokinetics and therapeutic efficacy. Drugs 1994;47:677-700.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- 9. Giguère S, Prescott JF, Dowling PM. Antimicrobial Therapy in Veterinary Medicine. Ames: John Wiley & Sons; 2013.
- Albarellos GA, Ambros LA, Landoni MF. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin after single intravenous and repeat oral administration to cats. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2005;28:363-369.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Madsen M, Messenger K, Papich MG. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following oral administration of a generic levofloxacin tablet and intravenous administration to dogs. Am J Vet Res 2019;80:957-962.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Goudah A. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in male camels (*Camelus dromedarius*). J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2009;32:296-299.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Goudah A, Abo-El-Sooud K. Pharmacokinetics, urinary excretion and milk penetration of levofloxacin in lactating goats. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2009;32:101-104.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Goudah A, Hasabelnaby S. Disposition kinetics of levofloxacin in sheep after intravenous and intramuscular administration. Vet Med Int 2010;2010:727231.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Varia RD, Patel JH, Patel UD, Bhavsar SK, Thaker AM. Disposition of levofloxacin following oral administration in broiler chickens. Isr J Vet Med 2009;64:118-121.
- Lee HK, DeVito V, Vercelli C, Tramuta C, Nebbia P, Re G, Kovalenko K, Giorgi M. Ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against Escherichia coli and its pharmacokinetic profile following intravenous and oral administrations in broilers. Res Vet Sci 2017;112:26-33.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Aboubakr M. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in Japanese quails (*Coturnix japonica*) following intravenous and oral administration. Br Poult Sci 2012;53:784-789.
- Aboubakr M, Soliman A. Comparative pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in healthy and renal damaged Muscovy ducks following intravenous and oral administration. Vet Med Int 2014;2014:986806.
 PUBMED
- Toutain PL, del Castillo JR, Bousquet-Mélou A. The pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic approach to a rational dosage regimen for antibiotics. Res Vet Sci 2002;73:105-114.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Papich MG. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic (PK-PD) modeling and the rational selection of dosage regimes for the prudent use of antimicrobial drugs. Vet Microbiol 2014;171:480-486.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Destache GJ, Pakiz CB, Larsen C, Owens H, Dash AK. Cerebrospinal fluid penetration and pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in an experimental rabbit meningitis model. J Antimicrob Chemother 2001;47:611-615.
 PUBMED [CROSSREF
- 22. Shellim C. Parenteral drug administration. Vet Nurs J 2011;26:117419.

CROSSREF

- Krustev SZ, Rusenova NV, Haritova AM. Effect of diclofenac on ocular levels of ciprofloxacin and lomefloxacin in rabbits with endophthalmitis. Drug Dev Ind Pharm 2014;40:1459-1462.
- 24. Sakai T, Shinno K, Kurata M, Kawamura A. Pharmacokinetics of azithromycin, levofloxacin, and ofloxacin in rabbit extraocular tissues after ophthalmic administration. Ophthalmol Ther 2019;8:511-517. PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Blomquist PH, Palmer BF. Ocular complications of systemic medications. Am J Med Sci 2011;342:62-69. PUBMED | CROSSREF

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

Journal of Veterinary Science

- Shirani D, Selk Ghaffari M, Akbarein H, Haji Ali Asgari A. Effects of short-term oral administration of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole on Schirmer II tear test results in clinically normal rabbits. Vet Rec 2010;166:623-624.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Rajaei SM, Ansari Mood M, Selk Ghaffari M, Razaghi Manesh SM. Effects of short-term oral administration of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole on tear production in clinically normal Syrian hamsters. Vet Ophthalmol 2015;18:83-85.
 PUBMED I CROSSREF
- 28. Toutain PL, Bousquet-Mélou A. Plasma clearance. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2004;27:415-425. PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Gabrielsson J, Daniel W. Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Data Analysis Concepts and Applications. 5th ed. Stockholm: Swedish Pharmaceutical Press; 2016.
- Toutain PL, Bousquet-Mélou A. Plasma terminal half-life. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2004;27:427-439.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Kumar A, Rahal A, Ragvendra R, Prakash A, Mandil R, Garg SK. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following intravenous and intramuscular administration in cattle calves. Asian J Anim Vet Adv 2012;7:1006-1013. CROSSREF
- Basyigit I, Kahraman G, Ilgazli A, Yildiz F, Boyaci H. The effects of levofloxacin on ECG parameters and late potentials. Am J Ther 2005;12:407-410.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Marín P, Fernández-Varón E, Escudero E, Vancraeynest D, Cárceles CM. Pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic integration of orbifloxacin in rabbits after intravenous, subcutaneous and intramuscular administration. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2008;31:77-82. PUBMED [CROSSREF
- Fernández-Varón E, Bovaira MJ, Espuny A, Escudero E, Vancraeynest D, Cárceles CM. Pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic integration of moxifloxacin in rabbits after intravenous, intramuscular and oral administration. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2005;28:343-348.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Patel UD, Patel JH, Bhavsar SK, Thaker AM. Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following intravenous and subcutaneous administration in sheep. Asian J Anim Vet Adv 2012;7:85-93.
 CROSSREF
- Marín P, García-Martínez F, Hernándis V, Escudero E. Pharmacokinetics of norfloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2018;41:137-141.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Fernández-Varón E, Marin P, Escudero E, Vancraeynest D, Cárceles CM. Pharmacokineticpharmacodynamic integration of danofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2007;30:18-24.
 PUBMED I CROSSREF
- Toutain PL, Bousquet-Mélou A. Bioavailability and its assessment. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2004;27:455-466.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- Abo-el-Sooud K, Goudah A. Influence of *Pasteurella multocida* infection on the pharmacokinetic behavior of marbofloxacin after intravenous and intramuscular administrations in rabbits. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 2010;33:63-68.
 PUBMED [CROSSREF
- Marangos MN, Zhu Z, Nicolau DP, Klepser ME, Nightingale CH. Disposition of ofloxacin in female New Zealand white rabbits. J Vet Pharmacol Ther 1997;20:17-20.
 PUBMED | CROSSREF
- 41. Mitchell M, Tully TN. Manual of Exotic Pet Practice. St. Louis: Elsevier Health Sciences; 2008.
- 42. Harcourt-Brown F. Textbook of Rabbit Medicine. London: Elsevier; 2002.
- Rajaei SM, Rafiee SM, Ghaffari MS, Masouleh MN, Jamshidian M. Measurement of tear production in English Angora and Dutch rabbits. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci 2016;55:221-223.
 PUBMED

https://vetsci.org

https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32

Third Publication

BRITISH POULTRY SCIENCE 2021, VOL. 62, NO. 2, 193–198 https://doi.org/10.1080/00071668.2020.1842855



Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and tissue residue concentrations after oral administration in Bilgorajska geese

I. Sartini 📭°, B. Łebkowska-Wieruszewska 📭°, A. Sitovs 📭°, A. Lisowski 📭⁴, A. Poapolathep 🕞 and M. Giorgi 🎁

^aDepartment of Veterinary Medicine, University of Sassari, Sassari, Italy; ^bDepartment of Pharmacology, Toxicology and Environmental Protection, University of Life Sciences, Lublin, Poland; ^cDepartment of Pharmacology, Riga Stradins University, Riga, Latvia; ^dInstitute of Animal Breeding and Biodiversity Conservation, University of Life Sciences, Lublin, Poland; ^cDepartment of Pharmacology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand; ^fDepartment of Veterinary Sciences, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy

ABSTRACT

1. The aim of this study was to assess the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin, a third-generation fluoroquinolone antimicrobial drug, in geese (n = 26) after either single intravenous or oral administration, and to evaluate the depletion profile in goose muscle, heart, liver, kidney and lung after a single oral dose.

ARTICLE HISTORY Received 8 May 2020 Accepted 30 August 2020

KEYWORDS

Pharmacokinetics; levofloxacin; goose; organs; HPLC

2. The pharmacokinetic study involved 16 geese which were randomly divided into two groups (n = 8/group), the first received levofloxacin (2 mg/kg) intravenously while the second was treated with orally (5 mg/kg). The tissue depletion study involved 10 geese which were dosed orally (5 mg/kg) and two animals were killed at different time-points in order to collect the selected tissues. Levofloxacin was quantified in all the matrices tested by a validated high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) method, using a spectrofluorimetric detector. The pharmacokinetics were analysed using a non-compartmental model.

3. Plasma concentrations were quantified after up to 24 h in animals administered intravenously and up to 48 h after oral treatment. Levofloxacin was rapidly absorbed after oral administration (T_{max} = 0.38 h) showing high bioavailability (95.57 ± 20.61%). The drug showed a moderate volume of distribution (1.40 ± 0.28 ml/g) and rapid clearance (0.28 ± 0.06 ml/g/h). No statistical differences in estimates were found between the two different administration methods (P > 0.05). Drug residues were highest at 6 h and decreased constantly up to 48 h in all the selected tissues. Liver and kidney had the highest levofloxacin concentrations.

4. According to the pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic surrogate index (AUC/MIC) the levofloxacin dose regimen (after oral administration) used in the present study could be active against bacteria at a minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) > 0.24 µg/ml in geese. In addition, drug accumulation in the liver might be controlled using an estimated preliminary withdrawal time of 90 h.

Introduction

Geese are often considered wild birds, but they were domesticated a long time ago for their eggs, meat and feathers (Heikkinen 2017; Honka et al. 2018). Waterfowls' meat and eggs have high nutritional quality and geese breeding is increasing all over the world, especially in Europe and Asia (Buckland and Guy 2002). Almost 60 different geese breeds exist, with many located in Eastern Europe (Buckland and Guy 2002). The Bilgorajska goose (*Anser anser domesticus*), the subject of the present study, is a primitive breed from northeastern Poland (Bilgoraj region) and is actively preserved because of its genetic significance (Ksiązkiewicz 2006).

The health and productive performance of commercial geese is supported *via* modern pharmaceutical management and facilities, nutritional practices and genetic improvement. Infections, caused by pathogens such as *Mycoplasma spp*. or *Pseudomonas spp*., are common in geese, chickens, turkeys, ducks and ostriches (De Vos et al. 2009; Stipkovits and Szathmary 2012). These pathogens can infect eggs, destroy embryos and, consequently, lead to a significant economic loss (De Vos et al. 2009; Stipkovits and Szathmary 2012). Thus, poultry health is an important factor that constantly requires new protocols in pathogen prevention, control and treatment.

Fluoroquinolones are antimicrobial agents frequently used in poultry production (Gouvêa et al. 2015). There is increasing concern about the uncontrolled and inappropriate use of antibacterial drugs in animal species, and particularly in production animals. Overuse may lead to the transmission of resistant bacteria to humans through meat and eggs, and spread in the environment, compromising human health (EFSA and ECDC 2014; WHO, and AGISAR 2017). An optimal dosing regimen based on a thorough knowledge of the pharmacokinetic profile of any antimicrobial drug can help to minimise the risk of resistance development. Levofloxacin, a third-generation fluoroquinolone, is not yet registered for veterinary species in Europe and the US, but is used to treat animal disease in a small number of countries (e.g. South America (Landoni and Albarellos 2018; Floxaday, Ranbaxy, Argentina). Even where not approved for veterinary use, veterinarians might prescribe the generic form developed for human purposes because of better antimicrobial activity and/or low cost compared to other formulations (Madsen et al. 2019). It is worth emphasising that the aim of this study was not to promote the extra-label use of levofloxacin, but to provide a preliminary investigation on the potential effectiveness of this antimicrobial in geese, as a basis for further studies.

CONTACT M. Giorgi 🙆 mgiorgi@vet.unipi.it 🖸 Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy
© 2020 British Poultry Science Ltd

194 😉 I. SARTINI ET AL.

Levofloxacin is the S(-)-enantiomer of ofloxacin and has excellent broad-spectrum activity against Gram-positive, Gram-negative and anaerobic bacteria as well as atypical pathogens. It is active especially against *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, most Enterococci, *Enterobacteriaceae*, *Escherichia coli*, *Klebsiella*, *Proteus*, *Pseudomonas*, *Bacteroides*, *Clostridium*, *Haemophilus*, *Moraxella*, *Legionella* and *Mycoplasma spp*. (Langtry and Lamb 1998). Levofloxacin pharmacokinetics have been investigated in ducks (Aboubakr and Soliman 2014), chickens (Varia et al. 2009; Patel et al. 2012; Kyuchukova et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2017), quail (Aboubakr 2012) and turkeys (Aboubakr et al. 2014). There are no studies regarding the pharmacokinetics or the tissue disposition of levofloxacin in geese.

The aims of this study were (1) to assess the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in Bilgorajska geese after a single intravenous (IV) (2 mg/kg) or oral (PO) (5 mg/kg) administration and (2) to evaluate the drug residue concentrations in selected tissues (muscle, heart, liver, kidney, lung) after a single 5 mg/kg *per os* levofloxacin administration.

Materials and methods

Chemicals and reagents

Levofloxacin and the internal standard (IS) enrofloxacin powder with a standard purity of 99.0% were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milan, Italy). High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC)-grade acetonitrile, methanol, trichloromethane and isopropanol were procured from Merck (Kenilworth, NJ, USA). Tetraethylamine was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MI, US). Orthophosphoric acid, sodium dihydrogen phosphate and potassium hydrogen phosphate were purchased from Carlo Erba Reagents (Milan, Italy). Deionised water was produced using a Milli-Q Millipore Water System (Millipore, Darmstadt, Germany).

Experimental design

The experiment was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Life Sciences (Lublin, Poland) and carried out in accordance with the European law (2010/63/UE). There were two parts of the study, pharmacokinetic and a tissue depletion.

Geese were supplied by a local farm (Majątek Rutka, Puchaczów, Poland). Their health status was evaluated based on a complete physical examination by a veterinarian before the beginning of the study, and through daily observation of behaviour and appetite. Geese were acclimatised for one week in their new environment before the beginning of the trial, and a ring with an identity code was applied to the left leg for easy identification. Birds were housed in a 60 m² enclosed area with an indoor shelter of 8 m². Animals were allowed to graze freely during the day and were fed a balanced, drug-free pelleted diet (Purina duck feed pellets, Purina Animal Nutrition, Gray Summit, MO, USA) twice a day and water was supplied *ad libitum*. No pharmacological treatment was received by the birds before the experiment.

The pharmacokinetic trial involved 16 healthy male Bilgorajska geese (body weight (BW), 3.4-4.9 kg; age, 3-4 years) which were randomly divided into two subgroups (n = 8/group). Sub-group 1 received a single IV dose (2 mg/kg) of levofloxacin (levofloxacin TEVA 5 mg/ml; Teva Pharmaceutical, Hungary) into the left brachial vein using a sterile 26-gauge 1.75 cm needle. The geese in sub-group 2 were given a single oral dose (5 mg/kg) of levofloxacin. The oral doses were prepared by grinding, homogenising, and partitioning the marketed drug (levofloxacin ACCORD 250 mg/tablet; Accord Healthcare Limited, UK) and dosed relative to the BW of each bird. The correct weight of the solid formulation was dissolved in water and administered via crop gavage using a rounded tip metal catheter 3 h after being fed. Blood samples (1 ml) were collected in vacutainer lithium heparin tubes (BD, Vaud, Switzerland) from a 24-gauge catheter inserted immediately before the experiment in the right brachial vein at 0, 5, 15, 30, 45 min and 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 10, 24, 34, and 48 h after IV and at 15, 30, 45 min and 1, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 24, and 48 h after the last drug administration after per os (PO) treatment. After 12 h, the catheter was removed, and blood was collected from the left brachial vein directly with a 24-gauge syringe. The catheter was cleaned by flushing with 1 ml of 0.9% saline with the addition of 10 IU/ml heparin at each collection timepoint. For each blood collection, the first 0.2 ml of blood was discarded. Tubes were centrifuged at 1500 x g and the harvested plasma was stored at -20 °C until analysis within 30 d of collection.

The tissue depletion trial involved 10 geese which were given an oral dose (5 mg/kg) of levofloxacin, as described for sub-group 2. Two animals were humanely killed by stunning and exsanguination at 6, 10, 24, 34 and 48 h after treatment. Approximately 4 g of muscle, heart, liver, lung and kidney were collected and stored at -20 °C until further analysis.

Drug extraction procedure

The procedure was validated for plasma and all tissues collected from the geese, according to Lee et al. (2017), with slight modifications. An aliquot (0.2 ml) of plasma was added to 0.1 ml of IS (0.1 µg/ml) solution in methanol and 0.8 ml of 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.1. After the addition of 6 ml of a mixture of trichloromethane and isopropanol (5:1 v/v%), the samples were shaken at 60 oscillations/min for 10 min and centrifuged at 4000 x g for 5 min. Then 5 ml of the organic layer was transferred into a clean tube and dried at 40 °C under a nitrogen stream. The residue was dissolved in 0.2 ml of mobile phase, vortexed and an aliquot (50 µl) was injected on to the HPLC system.

Liver, kidney, lung, heart and muscle samples were thawed and immediately dissected into small pieces (Sartini et al. 2020). An aliquot of 1 g per tissue was placed into 5 ml plastic tubes containing 3 ml of homogenisation solution (0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.1). The suspension was homogenised for approximately 40 s and then 0.2 ml were processed, as described for the plasma samples.

HPLC instrumentation

The HPLC was an LC system (Jasco, Japan) consisting of a high-pressure mixer pump (model PU 980 Plus), spectrofluorometric detector (model 2020 Plus), auto sampler (model AS 950), and Peltier system (model CO-4062). The injection loop volume was set at 50 µl. Data was processed using the CromNav 2.0 software (Jasco, Inc.). The chromatographic separation assay, modified from Lee et al. (2017), was performed using a Gemini analytical column (250 × 4.6 mm inner diameter, 5 µm particle size, Phenomenex, Torrance, California, USA) at 15°C. The mobile phase consisted of acetonitrile: aqueous solution (20:80 v/v%) at a flow rate of 1 ml/min. The aqueous solution consisted of potassium dihydrogenphosphate (0.02 M), phosphoric acid (0.006 M) and tetraethyl amine (0.012 M) in water (pH = 4.0). Excitation and emission wavelengths were set at 295 and 490 nm, respectively.

Validation of the analytical method

The quantitative HPLC method was fully validated for each tissue (liver, kidney, lung, heart and muscle) and plasma in terms of linearity, intra-day and inter-day precision, recovery, limits of detection (LOD) and quantification (LOQ), according to the EMA guidelines (Anonymous 2012).

Linearity was determined by linear regression analysis, using calibration curves constructed using replicates (n = 3) of samples from the control geese spiked with levofloxacin at concentrations of 0.005, 0.01, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 5 µg/ml. The intra- and inter-day precision was calculated after analysis of six plasma and tissue samples spiked with levofloxacin at three different concentrations (0.005, 0.1 and 5 µg/ml) with the same instrument and the same operator on the same and on different days, respectively. Precision was calculated and expressed as the coefficient of variation (CV%). The extraction recovery experiment was carried out by analysing samples spiked with the same concentration (0.005, 0.1 and 5 µg/ml) by comparing the response (measured as area) of high, middle, low standards and the IS spiked into blank goose plasma and tissues (control), to the response of equivalent standards. Recovery was expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD). The LOD was estimated as the plasma and tissue drug concentrations that produced a signal to noise ratio of 3 and LOQ was determined as the lowest plasma concentration that produced a signal to noise ratio of 10.

Pharmacokinetic analysis and statistical analysis

Levofloxacin plasma concentration was modelled for each subject using a non-compartmental model using ThothPro 4.3.0 v software (www. thothpro.com, Gdansk, Poland). The maximum plasma concentration (C_{max}) and time to reach the C_{max} (T_{max}) were determined directly from the concentration vs time curves. The elimination half-life ($t_{1/2}\lambda z$) was calculated using least squares regression analysis of the concentration-time curve, and the area under the curve (AUC) was calculated by linear log trapezoidal and the linear-up log-down rule was applied to the final concentration-time points for both IV and PO administration, respectively. From these values, the volume of distribution at steady

state (Vss = dose x AUMC/AUC²), mean residence time (MRT = AUMC/AUC), and systemic clearance (Cl = dose/AUC) were calculated. Pharmacokinetic estimates were calculated only if the individual value of AUC_{rest%} was lower than 20% of AUC_(0-∞) and the square of coefficient of determination (R²) of the terminal phase regression line was >0.85.

Absolute oral bioavailability (F) was calculated using the following formula:

$$F(\%) = \frac{AUCPO \text{ individual } \times \text{ dose IV}}{AUCIV \text{ avarage } \times \text{ dose PO}} \times 100$$

A naïve pooled-data approach, using a non-compartmental analysis (Pouplin et al. 2016), was used to calculate the pharmacokinetic parameters for levofloxacin in all tissue samples.

The penetration of levofloxacin into each tissue was determined by comparing the AUC ratios between tissues and plasma (AUC $_{\rm tissue}/{\rm AUC}_{\rm plasma})$ after PO administration (Sartini et al. 2019). Levofloxacin concentration in the selected tissues were used to calculate preliminary withdrawal times using the software WT 1.4, developed by the European Medicines Agency (Anonymous 2018). The withdrawal time was established as being the time when the upper-one sided tolerance limit (99%) with 95% confidence interval (CI) was below the maximum residue limit of 0.1 µg/g levofloxacin, which reflected the maximum residue limit (MRL) for many fluoroquinolones in poultry liver (Anonymous 1997, 1999, 2002). The pharmacokinetic parameters were normally distributed (tested by Shapiro-Wilk test) and mean values were compared between the two routes of administration using unpaired t-tests using GraphPad Prism v 5.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

Results

Analytical method validation

The validated analytical method showed a good linearity in the range of 0.005–5 $\mu g/ml$ for every matrix considered in the present study (Table 1). The main results from the analytical method validation in plasma and all tissues selected are reported in Table 1.

Pharmacokinetic results

The semilogarithmic plasma concentration vs time curves are shown in Figure 1 after IV and PO administration of a single dose of levofloxacin at 2 mg/kg and 5 mg/kg, respectively.

Plasma levofloxacin concentrations were quantifiable up to 24 h in birds administered intravenously, and up to 48 h after

			-	-	-		
Parameter	Unit	Plasma	Muscle	Heart	Liver	Lung	Kidney
Equation		y = 2.5446x - 0.0611	y = 0.1113x - 0.0029	y = 0.1356x - 0.0035	y = 0.1894x - 0.0079	y = 0.1722x - 0.0099	y = 0.1454x - 0.0063
R ²		0.999	0.998	0.997	1	0.998	0.996
Inter-day CV	%	5.6	6.1	5.9	6	8.9	7.2
Intra-day CV	%	6.9	10.9	9.6	7.4	10.6	9.9
Recovery	%	96 ± 5	94 ± 10	95 ± 8	98 ± 3	93 ± 8	91 ± 9
LOD	µg/ml	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
LOQ	µg/ml	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.005

196 👄 I. SARTINI ET AL.



Figure 1. Semilogarithmic plasma levofloxacin concentrations vs time curve following IV (----, n = 8) and PO (---, n = 8) administration to Bilgorajska geese at a dose of 2 mg/kg BW and 5 mg/kg BW, respectively.

Table 2. Mean (\pm SD) pharmacokinetic parameters of levofloxacin in plasma following IV (2 mg/kg BW, n = 8) or PO (5 mg/kg BW, n = 8) administration to Bilgorajska geese.

		IV (2 m	ng/kg)	PO (5 r	ng/kg)
Parameter	Unit	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
AUC(0-t)	µg*h/ml	7.59	1.77	17.24	4.86
AUC _(0-inf)	µg*h/ml	8.11	1.76	19.37	4.18
MRT _(0-t)	h	5.12	0.37	5.71	2.48
MRT _(0-inf)	h	7.08	0.97	7.65	2.17
λz	1/h	0.10	0.02	0.12	0.05
t _{1/2} λz	h	7.39	1.21	6.60	2.46
Vss	ml/g	1.40	0.28	N/A	N/A
CI	ml/g*h	0.28	0.06	N/A	N/A
Vss/F	m/g	N/A	N/A	1.63	0.49
CI/F	ml/g*h	N/A	N/A	0.31	0.085
Cmax	µg/ml	N/A	N/A	3.20	0.65
T _{max} [†]	h	N/A	N/A	0.38 (0.	25–1.5)
F	%	N/A	N/A	95.57	20.61

 $\begin{array}{l} \mathsf{AUC}_{(0+1)} = \mbox{area} \mbox{ under the curve from 0 h to last time collected samples, $\mathsf{AUC}_{(0-inf)} = \mbox{area} \mbox{ under the curve from 0 h to infinity, $\mathsf{MRT}_{(0-i)}$ = mean residence time from 0 h to infinity, AZ terminal phase rate constant, $\mathsf{t}_{1/2} \lambda z$ = terminal phase rate constant, $\mathsf{t}_{1/2} \lambda z$ = terminal half-life, Vss = volume of distribution, CI = plasma clearance, $\mathsf{Vss} F$ = volume of distribution normalised for F, $\mathsf{CI} F$ = plasma clearance normalised for F, Cmax = peak plasma concentration, T_{max} = time of peak concentration, F = bioavailability. Median value and range. } \end{array}$

PO treatment. The slope of the elimination phase appears to be similar for both routes of administration (Table 2).

Table 2 shows the main pharmacokinetic parameters for levofloxacin in geese. Levofloxacin was absorbed rapidly after PO administration displaying a high bioavailability. The drug showed a moderate volume of distribution and a fast clearance. The half-life was not statistically different between the two routes of administration. If normalised for the dose, C_{max} and AUC were not statistically different between the two different administration methods (P > 0.05).

Residual tissues analysis results

Results from tissue residue analysis are displayed in Figure 2 as semilogarithmic plots of tissue concentrations *vs* time curves.

Drug residues were highest at 6 h and decreased constantly, remaining over the LOQ up to 48 h (last time-point of collection) in all selected tissues. Liver samples had the highest levofloxacin concentration, followed by kidney samples (Table 3). The pharmacokinetic parameters, calculated by the naïve pooled-data approach for each tissue, are shown in Table 3.

Discussion

The geese did not show any adverse effects during or after drug treatments. The dose was chosen on the basis of a previous study on chickens (Lee et al. 2017). This is the first study which dealt with the pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in geese. The drug showed a moderate half-life (7.39 h) comparable with results from chickens (6.93 h, Lee et al. 2017), but was longer than in ducks (2.76 h), with a slower Cl (geese, 0.28 ml/g*h; ducks, 0.41 ml/g*h). The Vss in geese (1.40 ml/g) was in line with the value found in ducks (1.37 ml/g). Levofloxacin showed higher AUC (7.59 µg*h/ml), if normalised for dose, than values reported in ducks (4.89 µg*h/ml) and chicken (5.09 µg*h/ml) (Aboubakr and Soliman 2014; Lee et al. 2017). Species specific differences, such as variations in metabolic pathways, plasma protein binding or differences in absorption processes, may have caused these variances. After oral administration, levofloxacin showed faster (T_{max}) and higher (C_{max}) absorption in geese than ducks, turkeys and chickens (Varia et al. 2009; Patel et al. 2012; Aboubakr et al. 2014; Aboubakr and Soliman 2014; Lee et al. 2017). The different formulations administered, variability in experimental design, climatic conditions or feed management might have contributed to such differences. Levofloxacin's oral bioavailability is high in avian species in general (ducks, 73.6%; chickens, 59.5%; leghorn hens, 71.6%; turkeys, 79.9%), but is highest in geese (95.6%), suggesting that the oral route is an appropriate route of administration in birds, and especially geese (Varia et al. 2009; Patel et al. 2012; Aboubakr and Soliman 2014: Aboubakr et al. 2014).

Fluoroquinolones are drugs that act in a concentrationtime dependent manner (Forrest et al. 1993), and the ratio of AUC/MIC is considered the pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) index to predict their antimicrobial effects (Turnidge 1999). It has been proposed that a value of 72 for fluoroquinolones can indicate maximum clinical effect in dogs (Madsen et al. 2019). The MIC of levofloxacin has not yet been determined for bacteria isolated from geese. Regarding the $AUC_{(0-24)}$ value obtained in the present study after oral administration (5 mg/kg), levofloxacin in geese appeared be effective against bacteria at a MIC <0.24 µg/ml. For the MIC against E. coli isolated in broilers (0.125 µg/m, Lee et al. 2017), a AUC/MIC ratio of 136 was obtained, which suggests that the dose regimen in the present study might be effective in geese. Levofloxacin's plasma protein binding has not been evaluated in geese, but has resulted

BRITISH POULTRY SCIENCE 👄 197



Figure 2. Levofloxacin concentrations (logarithmic scale) in muscle, heart, liver, lung, and kidney following PO administration to Bilgorajska geese (n = 2/ timepoint) at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW.

Table 3. Pharmacokinetic parameters calculated by the naive pooled-data approach for levofloxacin in different tissues following oral administration to Bilgorajska geese at a dose of 5 mg/kg BW.

Parameter	Unit	Muscle	Heart	Liver	Lung	Kidney
AUC _(0-t)	µg*h/ml	218.72	249.8	687.94	165.26	329.51
MRT _(0-t)	h	10.41	9.94	12.56	14.31	13.58
t _{1/2} λz	h	8.25	5.07	9.68	14.17	11.84
C _{max}	µg/ml	24.95	30.55	64.2	14.13	18.64
T _{max}	h	6	6	6	6	10
AUC _{tissue} /AUC _{plasma}		11.87	13.56	37.35	8.97	17.89

 $AUC_{(0:t)}$ = area under the curve from zero to 48 h; MRT_{(0:t)} = mean residence time zero to 48 h; $t_{1/2}\lambda z$ = terminal half-life; C_{max} = maximum concentration; T_{max} = time at maximum concentration AUC_{tissue}/AUC_{plasma} = area under the curve ratio of tissue; plasma.

in a low percentage (=25%) in broilers (Lee et al. 2017) and may be considered negligible for the PK/PD surrogate calculation. However, further studies are required to establish if the plasma protein binding of levofloxacin in geese is in line with that found in other avian species.

Levofloxacin was detected in all tissues selected, and the concentration was highest at 6 h and gradually decreased over 48 h. In humans approximately 90% of levofloxacin is rapidly absorbed from the intestinal tract into the hepatic portal vein and, as with other fluoroquinolones, is primarily excreted unchanged from the kidney in the urine (Fish and Chow 1997). Hence, it was reasonable to expect a higher drug residue in liver and kidney (Figure 2, Table 3). Probable tropisms related to levofloxacin have not yet been evaluated. The tissue depletion profile found in the present study was in line with that found in chickens (Kyuchukova et al. 2013; Lee et al. 2017). In this study, muscle levofloxacin concentrations, normalised for dose, were higher than concentrations found by Lee et al. (2017) and Kyuchukova et al. (2013) in chickens. These differences could be due to species specific difference, or the diverse analytical techniques used.

The MRL for many fluoroquinolones in poultry liver is about 0.1 μ g/g (Anonymous 1997, 1999, 2002). On the basis of this value, a preliminary withdrawal time has been computed with the CI of 95% for liver, resulting in a time of 89.7 h. Despite the fact that this matched well with the data reported by Ravikumar et al. (2015) in chickens (4 d), caution should be taken because of the small population sample size. Further studies are required to confirm this finding. Drug penetration in tissue can be described using the AUC $_{\rm tissue}/{\rm AUC}$ $_{\rm plasma}$ ratio. A ratio value over 1 indicates relatively higher drug concentrations in the tissue than in blood, with potential for tissue accumulation (Bellmann et al. 2004). The AUC $_{\rm tissue}/{\rm AUC}$ $_{\rm plasma}$ ratios in the current study were high in all tissues, and especially in liver (Table 3). Further studies are needed to clarify this point (*e.g.* whether levofloxacin may be stored specifically in hepatocytes).

In conclusion, a single oral dose (5 mg/kg) of levofloxacin might be effective against bacteria with a MIC <0.24 µg/ml in geese. However, further pharmacodynamic studies are needed to assess the efficacy of levofloxacin in healthy, as well as diseased, Bilgorajska geese. Liver and kidney had the highest concentrations of levofloxacin compared to other organs tested, suggesting that drug accumulation might be an issue. The authors would like to emphasise that the results of this study were purely experimental and the use of levofloxacin in avian species is not encouraged.

Acknowledgments

None of the authors has any financial or personal relationships that could inappropriately influence or bias the content of this paper. This work was supported by the University of Pisa (ex 60%). The authors are grateful to ThothPro for supplying the ThothPro software and Dr H. Owen (University of Queensland, Brisbane, Australia) for the scientific and English editing of the manuscript.

Disclosure statement

No potential conflict of interest was reported by the authors.

Funding

This work was supported by the Università di Pisa [ex 60% 2017].

ORCID

- I. Sartini 🕞 http://orcid.org/0000-0002-0538-4563
- B. Łebkowska-Wieruszewska D http://orcid.org/0000-0002-1569-0599
- A. Sitovs () http://orcid.org/0000-0002-9529-8799
- A. Lisowski (D) http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1463-9908

198 😉 I. SARTINI ET AL.

A. Poapolathep (p) http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5322-3281 M. Giorgi (p) http://orcid.org/0000-0003-3657-4703

References

- ABOUBAKR, M. 2012. "Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin in Japanese Quails (*Coturnix Japonica*) following Intravenous and Oral Administration." *British Poultry Science* 53: 784-789. doi:10.1080/ 00071668.2012.745928.
- ABOUBARR, M., and A. SOLIMAN. 2014. "Comparative Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin in Healthy and Renal Damaged Muscovy Ducks following Intravenous and Oral Administration." Veterinary Medicine International. Article ID 986806. doi:10.1155/2014/986806.
- ABOUBAKR, M., K. UNEY, and M. ELMAS. 2014. "Bioavailability and Pharmacokinetic Profile of Levofloxacin following Intravenous, Intramuscular and Oral Administration in Turkeys." *British Poultry Science* 55: 115–119. doi:10.1080/00071668.2013.860214.
- Anonymous. 1997. "Danofloxacin: Summary Report (2)." European Medicines Agency, London, UK. Accessed 1 February 2020. https:// www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/mrl-report/danofloxacin-summary -report-2-committee-veterinary-medicinal-products en.pdf
- Anonymous. 1999. "Marbofloxacin: Summary Report (2)." European Medicines Agency, London, UK. Accessed 1 February 2020. https:// www.ema.europa.eu/documents/mrl-report/marbofloxacin-summary -report-2-committee-veterinary-medicinal-products_en.pdf
- Anonymous. 2002. "Enrofloxacin: Summary Report (5)." European Medicines Agency, London, UK. Accessed 1 February 2020. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/mrl-report/enrofloxa cin-extension-all-food-producing-species-summary-report-5-com mittee-veterinary-medicinal_en.pdf
- Anonymous. 2012. "Guideline on Bioanalytical Method Validation. EMEA/ CHMP/EWP/192217/2009 Rev. 1 Corr. 2**." EMA Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use (CHMP). Accessed 1 February 2020. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/scientific-guideline /guideline-bioanalytical-method-validation_en.pdf
- Anonymous. 2018. "Guideline on Determination of Withdrawal Periods for Edible Tissues." European Medicines Agency, London, UK. Accessed 1 February 2020. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/docu ments/scientific-guideline/guideline-determination-withdrawalperiods-edible-tissues-revision-1_en.pdf
- BELLMANN, R., G. KUCHLING, P. DEHGHANYAR, M. ZEITLINGER, E. M. MINAR, M. B. X. MULER, and C. JOUKHADAR. 2004. "Tissue Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin in Human Soft Tissue Infections." *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 57: 563–568.
- BUCKLAND, R., and G. GUY. 2002. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper 154: Goose Production. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- DE VOS, P., G. M. GARRITY, D. JONES, N. R. KRIEG, W. LUDWIG, F. A. RAINEY, K. H. SCHLEIFER, and W. B. WHITMAN. 2009. Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. New York: Springer.
- EFSA and ECDC. 2014. "The European Union Summary Report on Antimicrobial Resistance in Zoonotic and Indicator Bacteria from Humans, Animals and Food in 2012." EFSA Journal 12: 3590. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2014.359.
- FISH, D. N., and A. T. CHOW. 1997. "The Clinical Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin." *Clinical Pharmacokinetics* 32: 101–119. doi:10.2165/ 00003088-199732020-00002.
- FORREST, A., C. H. BALLOW, D. E. NIX, M. C. BIRMINGHAM, and J. J. SCHENTAG. 1993. "Development of a Population Pharmacokinetic Model and Optimal Sampling Strategies for Intravenous Ciprofloxacin." *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 37: 1065–1072.
- GOUVEA, R., F. F. DOS SANTOS, M. H. C. DE AQUINO, and A. V. L. DE PEREIRA. 2015. "Fluoroquinolones in Industrial Poultry Production, Bacterial Resistance and Food Residues: A Review." *Revista Brasileira De Ciência Avicola* 17: 1-10. doi:10.1590/1516-635x17011-10.
- HEIKKINEN, M. 2017. The Domestication History of the European Goose: A Genomic Perspective. Finland: Acta Universitatis Ouluensis A 692. University of Oulu.

- HONKA, J., M. T. HEINO, L. KVIST, I. V. ASKEYEV, D. N. SHAYMURATOVA, O. V. ASKEYEV, A. O. ASKEYEV, M. E. HEIKKINEN, J. B. SEARLE, and J. ASPI. 2018. "Over a Thousand Years of Evolutionary History of Domestic Geese from Russian Archaeological Sites, Analysed Using Ancient DNA." Genes 9: 367. doi:10.3390/genes9070367.
- KSIAZKIEWICZ, J. 2006. "The Role and Importance of Geese Species Included by Genetic Stock Protection Program." Wiadomosci Zootechniczne 4: 34–38.
- KYUCHUKOVA, R., V. URUMOVA, M. LYUTSKANOV, V. PETROV, and A. PAVLOV. 2013. "Studies on Levofloxacin Residues in Chicken Meat and Giblets." Bulgarian Journal of Veterinary Medicine 16: 216–219.
- LANDONI, M. F., and G. A. ALBARELLOS. 2018. "Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin after Single Intravenous, Oral and Subcutaneous Administration to Dogs." *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 42: 171–178. doi:10.1111/jvp.12726.
 LANCTRY, H. D., and H. M. LAMB. 1998. "Levofloxacin: Its Use in Network and Statement a
- LANGTRY, H. D., and H. M. LAMB. 1998. "Levofloxacin: Its Use in Infections of the Respiratory Tract, Skin, Soft Tissues and Urinary Tract." *Drugs* 56: 487–515.
- LEE, H. K., V. DE VITO, C. VERCELLI, C. TRAMUTA, P. NEBBIA, G. RE, K. KOVALENKO, and M. GIORGI. 2017. "EX Vivo Antibacterial Activity of Levofloxacin against Escherichia Coli and Its Pharmacokinetic Profile following Intravenous and Oral Administrations in Broilers." *Research in Veterinary Science* 112: 26–33. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.01.003.
- MADSEN, M., K. MESSENGER, and M. G. PAPICH. 2019. "Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin following Oral Administration of a Generic Levofloxacin Tablet and Intravenous Administration to Dogs." *American Journal of Veterinary Research* 80: 957–962. doi:10.2460/ aivr.80.10.957.
- PATEL, J. H., R. D. VARIA, P. D. VIHOL, R. D. SINGH, U. D. PATEL, S. K. BHAVSAR, and A. M. THAKER. 2012. "Pharmacokinetics of Levofloxacin in White Leghorn Birds." *Indian Veterinary Journal* 89: 69–72.
- POUPLIN, T., N. D. BANG, P. V. TOI, P. N. PHUONG, N. H. DUNG, T. N. DUONG, M. CAWS, G. E. THWAITES, J. TARNING, and J. N. DAY. 2016. "Naïve Pooled Pharmacokinetic Analysis of Pyrazinamide, Isoniazid and Rifampicin in Plasma and Cerebrospinal fluid of Vietnamese Children with Tuberculous Meningitis." BMC Infectious Diseases 16: 144.
- RAVÍKUMAR, C., J. S. SANGANAL, N. B. SHRIDHAR, H. D. NARAYANASWAMY, C. ANSAR KAMRAN, and S. G. RAMACHANDRA. 2015. "Estimation of Withdrawal Period of Levofloxacin in Liver and Breast Muscle Tissue of Dual Purpose Chicken." *Electronic Journal of Environmental Sciences* 8: 43–48.
- SARTINI I, B. ŁEBKOWSKA-WIERUSZEWSKA, A. LISOWSKI, A. POAPOLATHEP, H. OWEN, M. GIORGI. 2020. "Concentrations in plasma and selected tissues of marbofloxacin after oral and intravenous administration in Bilgorajska geese (Anser anser domesticus)." New Zealand Veterinary Journal 68: 31–37. doi:10.1080/ 00480169.2019.1658553
- ANDIOLOS IN I. B. LEBROWSKA-WIERUSZEWSKA, T. W. KIM, A. LISOWSKI, A. POAPOLATHEP, and M. GIORGI. 2019. "Pharmacokinetic and Tissue Analyses of Levofloxacin in Sheep (Ovis Aries Linnaeus) after Multiple-dose Administration." Research in Veterinary Science 128: 124–128. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2019.11.008.
- STIPKOVITS, L., and S. SZATHMARY. 2012. "Mycoplasma Infection of Ducks and Geese." *Poultry Science* 91: 2812–2819. doi:10.3382/ps.2012-02310.
- TURNIDGF, J. 1999. "Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of fluoroquinolones." Drugs 58: 29–36.
- VARIA, R. D., J. H. PATEL, U. D. PATEL, S. K. BHAVSAR, and A. M. THAKER. 2009. "Disposition of Levofloxacin following Oral Administration in Broiler Chickens." Israel Journal of Veterinary Medicine 64: 118-121.
- WHO, and AGISAR. 2017. Critically Important Antimicrobials for Human Medicine: Ranking of Antimicrobial Agents for Risk Management of Antimicrobial Resistance Due to Non-human Use. Geneva: World Health Organization.

Fourth Publication

 Received: 27 January 2023
 Revised: 4 April 2023
 Accepted: 5 April 2023

 DOI: 10.1111/jvp.13383
 Constant of Willey

 ORIGINAL ARTICLE
 Willey

In vitro and ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against Pasteurella multocida and Escherichia coli isolated from rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus) – A preliminary study

Andrejs Sitovs¹ | Ingus Skadins² | Santa Purvina¹ | Dace Bandere³

¹Department of Pharmacology, Riga Stradins University, Riga, Latvia ²Department of Biology and Microbiology, Riga Stradins University, Riga, Latvia ³Department of Pharmaceutical Chemistry, Riga Stradins University, Riga, Latvia

Correspondence Andrejs Sitovs, Department of Pharmacology, Riga Stradins University, Konsula str. 21, Riga LV-1007, Latvia. Email: andrejs.sitovs@rsu.lv

Funding information Rīgas Stradiņa Universitāte

Abstract

Levofloxacin veterinary formulations are available in Argentina, China and India for the use in dogs, cattle, pig and sheep, but not currently in the rabbit. Only the extralabel use in rabbits is possible. Levofloxacin is not labelled for veterinary use in the EU or the USA. The activity of levofloxacin against rabbit pathogens Pasteurella multocida (P. multocida) and Escherichia coli (E. coli) was evaluated. Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimal bactericidal concentration (MBC) were determined in broth and serum for 10 P. multocida isolates and 5 E. coli isolates from rabbits. One isolate of each bacterial species was used for the time-killing curve study in vitro and ex vivo. In vitro AUC₂₄/MIC ratios were used for building the inhibitory pharmacodynamic I_{max} model. The P.multocida MIC were 0.008–0.5 µg/mL, MBC – 0.015–0.5 µg/mL. Escherichia coli MIC was 0.008-0.03 µg/mL and MBC - 0.03-0.25 µg/mL. Bacterial counts were reduced to the limit of detection after 24h with levofloxacin concentrations of 2 MIC and higher. All serum samples from rabbits treated with levofloxacin eliminated the bacteria within 24h. AUC₂₄/MIC ratios for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects for P. multocida and E. coli isolates were 21, 29 and 75 h and 27, 32 and 60 h, respectively. Proposed daily doses against P. multocida (MIC=0.015 $\mu g/mL)$ and E. coli (MIC=0.03 $\mu g/mL)$ isolates were calculated as ${\leq}0.91$ and ≤1.43 mg/kg, respectively. Fluoroquinolones are categorized by WHO as 'highest priority critically important antimicrobials'. Considering the increasing importance of antimicrobial stewardship, antimicrobials from a lower importance category that are active against the isolate of interest should be used in preference to fluoroquinolones. Fluoroquinolone use in veterinary medicine should be based on antimicrobial susceptibility testing in order to mitigate the risk to public health and prevent the spread of bacterial resistance.

KEYWORDS

Escherichia coli, levofloxacin, Pasteurella multocida, rabbit, time-killing curves

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2023 The Authors. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

wileyonlinelibrary.com/journal/jvp 1

'doi/10.1111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]

See the

and Cond

wiley Unline

Library

med by the applicable Creative

1 | INTRODUCTION

Rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) are becoming more popular as companion animals (D'Amico et al., 2022). Also, rabbits are kept as laboratory animals and food-producing animals (Toutain et al., 2010). Rabbits are prone to infectious diseases, frequently caused by Gram-negative bacteria *Pasteurella multocida* (*P.multocida*) and *Enterobacteriaceae* family, including *Escherichia coli* (*E.coli*). *Pasteurella multocida* in rabbits can cause productive rhinitis, conjunctivitis, otitis, subcutaneous abscesses, bronchopneumonia, metritis and pyometra (EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW) et al., 2021; Jekl, 2021; Percy & Barthold, 2008). *Escherichia coli* infection in rabbits is generally associated with neonatal and post-weaning colibacillosis, accompanied by gastrointestinal tract pathology (Anses, 2020; EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW) et al., 2021; Iel-Ashram et al., 2020).

Fluoroquinolone antimicrobials are among the most important drugs in the treatment of bacterial infections in animals (Papich, 2018). Fluoroquinolones are categorized by WHO (2019) as 'highest priority critically important antimicrobials'. Considering the increasing importance of antimicrobial stewardship principles (Lloyd & Page, 2018), antimicrobials of a lower importance category, active against the isolate of interest, should be used in preference to fluoroquinolones. Wherever possible, fluoroquinolone use in veterinary medicine should be based on antimicrobial susceptibility testing in order to mitigate the risk to public health and prevent the spread of bacterial resistance (EMA/CVMP/CHMP/682198/2017, 2020). Currently, low levels of resistance to fluoroquinolones were reported in P.multocida isolates (EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW) et al., 2021; Gardhouse et al., 2017; Jekl, 2021; Wang et al., 2019). Escherichia coli resistance to fluoroquinolones, including levofloxacin, was reported in animals (Marco-Fuertes et al., 2022; Sitovs et al., 2021). Levofloxacin is being used in both human and veterinary medicine (Sitovs et al., 2021). In some countries, such as Argentina. China and India, veterinary levofloxacin formulations are approved for dogs, cattle, pigs and poultry (Sitovs et al., 2021), but not rabbits. In the EU and the USA, levofloxacin is not currently labelled for veterinary use. More information on levofloxacin pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics could be useful for the effective use of this drug. Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin in rabbits were previously described (Destache et al., 2001; Sitovs et al., 2020).

In order to minimize risks and make antimicrobial therapy more effective, dosage regimen optimization is necessary (Toutain et al., 2002). The use of pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration is a proven tool for dose optimization (Toutain & Lees, 2004). The approach that is based on bacterial time-killing curves shows more rationality compared with the approach based only on minimal inhibitory concentration value, which is a static parameter (Ambrose et al., 2007).

The aims of this study were to evaluate levofloxacin's antibacterial activity against *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolated from rabbits and to calculate proposed daily doses for parenteral (subcutaneous or intramuscular) levofloxacin administration.

2 | MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 | Bacterial isolates

This study included P. multocida clinical isolates (n=10), E. coli isolates (n=5) and commercially available E. coli ATCC 25922 (ATCC) as a reference strain. All E.coli isolates were collected from rectal swabs of clinically healthy rabbits that did not previously receive any treatment. Health status was verified by the veterinarian, based on the physical examination and complete blood analysis. Rabbits were housed on a farm near Riga, Latvia. Rectal swabs from were obtained using TRANSWAB® Gel Amies Plain (MWE) with gel media. Within the same day, the samples were transported to the laboratory of microbiology at Riga Stradins University. Swabs were cultured on McConkey agar and identified with VITEK2 Compact system (bio-Mérieux). One E. coli isolate from one rabbit was selected. Isolates were considered part of commensal flora and not pathogenic. All P. multocida isolates were from rabbits with clinical rhinitis and/or pneumonia. Six P. multocida isolates were provided by the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies (Jelgava, Latvia), and 4 isolates were provided by the Institute of Food Safety Animal Health and Environment BIOR (Riga, Latvia). One P. multocida isolate from one rabbit was used in this study.

2.2 | Determination of minimum inhibitory and minimum bactericidal concentrations in broth and serum

Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) values were determined using the microdilution method according to the CLSI guidelines M100 (CLSI, 2018a, 2018b). Levofloxacin standard (>99%) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. Levofloxacin stock solution (5120µg/ mL) was prepared in Milli-Q ultra-purified water (Millipore) with the addition of 0.1 M NaOH and further diluted to working concentrations with cation-adjusted Mueller Hinton broth (MHB) or in commercially available drug-free sterile rabbit serum (Biowest), respectively. *Escherichia coli* MIC and minmal bactericidal concentration (MBC) were detected in MHB and serum. *Pasteurella multocida* MIC and MBC were determined in MHB with the addition of 5% defibrinated sheep blood (bioTRADING Benelux B.V.) and in serum. After the overnight growth on agar plates, colonies were suspended in MHB to reach the same turbidity as the McFarland turbidity standard of 0.5.

Each *E.coli* culture was diluted 1:100 in MHB to obtain a bacterial count of approximately 10⁶ colony-forming units per millillitre (CFU/mL); each *P.multocida* culture was diluted 1:100 in MHB supplemented with 5% defibrinated sheep blood. Levofloxacin 128 μ g/mL working solutions were prepared in MHB and in serum. Final incubation for 24 h at 37°C was performed with levofloxacin serial dilutions from 64 to 0.004 μ g/mL in both media in the presence of 5x10⁵CFU/mL of bacteria. After the incubation, *E. coli*-containing microdilution plates were read at 600 nm using Infinite F50 Plus reader (Tecan). MIC was reported as the lowest levofloxacin concentration, which showed no turbidity in the microdilution tray wells. For *P. multocida* in MHB with blood, MIC was reported as the lowest concentration where no colour change from red to brown was visually observed.

To determine the MBC, $10 \,\mu$ L of the content of wells showing no bacterial growth was transferred to plates, containing Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) for *E. coli* and TSA supplemented with 5% defibrinated sheep blood for *P. multocida*. After incubation for 24 h at 37°C, colonies were counted. The limit of detection was 100CFU/mL. The lowest concentration showing no bacterial growth was reported as MBC. Reference culture *E. coli* ATCC 25922 MIC and MBC values were determined on MHB only. Experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.3 | Levofloxacin serum samples for ex vivo bacterial killing curve evaluation

Serum samples containing levofloxacin at known concentrations were obtained from the study of Sitovs et al. (2020). The experimental protocol was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Republic of Latvia Food and Veterinary Service (Permission 025564). In that study, a 5 mg/kg single dose of levofloxacin was administered to clinically healthy domestic rabbits, intramuscularly (IM) and subcutaneously (SC). After each drug administration, serum samples for ex vivo study were obtained after 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 4.0, 8.0 and 10.0h. Pooled serum samples from experimental rabbits (3mL) were used for the present study. Levofloxacin concentrations in pooled serum samples were determined prior to the time-killing study with a validated HPLC method (Sitovs et al., 2020).

2.4 | In vitro bacterial killing curves for Pasteurella multocida and Escherichia coli

One isolate of *P.multocida* and one isolate of *E.coli* were chosen to be used in the bacterial time-killing curve study. The bacterial killing curve study protocol was based on the method described by Lee et al. (2017). Levofloxacin solutions in drug-free rabbit serum were prepared at concentrations relative to the MIC in the serum of the bacterial isolate. For *P.multocida*, concentrations were $0.00 \mu g/mL$ (control), 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32 and 64 times the MIC and for *E.coli* concentrations were $0.00 \mu g/mL$ (control), 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16 and 32 times the MIC. For each bacterial isolate, 8 colonies from overnight growth on agar plates were added to 9 mL of MHB and incubated for 20h at 37°C in presence of 5% CO₂. Ten microlitres of

-WILEY^{___3}

doi/10.1111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane

Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]

See the

and Conc

wiley

Online Library for rules of

rned by the applicable

broth culture were added to 1 mL of levofloxacin solutions in serum in order to reach the concentration of approximately 1.6×10^6 CFU/mL for *P.multocida* isolate and 2×10^7 CFU/mL *E.coli*. Samples were incubated for 24 h at 37°C in an orbital shaker; $20\,\mu$ L from all samples were withdrawn at 3, 6 and 24 h of incubation. Prior to withdrawal, samples were vortexed. Dilutions ranging from 10^{-1} to 10^{-8} in sterile 0.9% saline were prepared to count the CFU. A $10\,\mu$ L volume of each saline dilution was inoculated on a TSA plate and incubated for 16h. TSA plates for *P.multocida* samples were supplemented with 5% defibrinated sheep blood. CFU were counted and the limit of detection was 100 CFU/mL. The count of bacteria in the initial inoculum was approved with the same dilution in the sterile saline method. All experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.5 | Ex vivo bacterial killing curves for Escherichia coli and Pasteurella multocida

The same *P.multocida* and *E.coli* isolates, as for the in vitro bacterial killing study, were used in the ex vivo study. The study protocol was almost identical, to the in vitro bacterial killing. The difference was that instead of levofloxacin dilutions in antibiotic-free rabbit serum, we used serum samples obtained from rabbits that received 5 mg/ kg of levofloxacin parenterally. Pooled serum samples collected at 0, 0.5, 1, 2, 4, 8 and 10h after administration contained 0.00, 3.26, 2.64, 1.48, 0.58, 0.13 and 0.07 μ g/mL for IM and 0.00, 2.59, 2.70, 1.91, 0.75, 0.14 and 0.08 μ g/mL for SC routes of administration, respectively. Levofloxacin concentrations were determined immediately prior to this study with a validated HPLC method described by Sitovs et al. (2020). All experiments were performed in triplicate.

2.6 | Pharmacodynamic modelling and daily dose calculation

To determine AUC₂₄/MIC ratios, each in vitro levofloxacin concentration was multiplied by 24 (period of incubation) and then divided by the MIC value of each bacterial isolate tested, respectively. The relationship between in vitro AUC₂₄/MIC and \log_{10} difference in bacterial count from the initial inoculum to the bacterial count after 24h of incubation for serum was evaluated by using the sigmoid inhibitory I_{max} model in Phoenix WinNonlin (Certara). Akaike's Information Criterion was applied to determine the goodness of fit. The model is described with the following equation:

$$E = E_0 - \frac{I_{\max} \times C^{\gamma}}{C^{\gamma} + IC_{50}^{\gamma}}$$

E – antibacterial effect of levofloxacin; I_{max} – difference between \log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24h in the control sample (log E_0) and the log_{10} difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24h when the limit of detection of 100CFU/mL is reached; E_0 –log_{10} difference in the bacterial count

10.11111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]. See the

I erm

Willey

Unline

use; O/

the applicabl

ICCUS

4 WILEY-Veter

from 0 to 24h of incubation in the control sample, antibiotic-free; IC₅₀ is the AUC₂₄/MIC producing 50% of the maximal antibacterial effect; C is the AUC₂₄/MIC in the effect compartment (serum); γ the Hill coefficient which characterizes the slope of the AUC₂₄/MIC response curve.

The antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against both bacteria species in this study was assessed by calculation of AUC₂₄/MIC values required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal effects and bacterial elimination. AUC₂₄/MIC for bacteriostatic effect was calculated using *E*=0, that is, no change in bacterial counts after the incubation for 24h with levofloxacin. AUC₂₄/MIC for bactericidal effect was calculated using *E*=-3, that is, bacterial counts reduction by 99.9% after the incubation for 24 h with levofloxacin. AUC₂₄/MIC for bacterial elimination effect was calculated using the lowest *E* value when the maximal antibacterial effect was reached, that is, bacterial count reduction to the limit of quantification (100CFU/mL) after the incubation for 24 h with levofloxacin.

Obtained from pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic integration, antibacterial effects AUC₂₄/MIC values were used to calculate optimal doses for three effect levels – bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination. The following formula (McKellar et al., 2004) was used:

Dose per day =
$$\frac{\frac{AUC24}{MIC} \times MIC \times CI}{f_u \times F \times 24}$$

where AUC₂₄/MIC are ratios for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects, MIC is minimum inhibitory concentration in serum, Cl is clearance, *F* is bioavailability, and f_u is a free fraction of levofloxacin in plasma. As reported by Sitovs et al. (2020), the following values were used, Cl=0.6mL/g/h and *F*=1. As reported by Destache et al. (2001), levofloxacin protein binding in rabbit plasma was 25%, thus, f_u =0.75.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Minimal inhibitory and minimal bactericidal concentration

All 10 isolates of *P.multocida* and all six isolates (including reference strain) of *E. coli* were susceptible to levofloxacin. None of the isolates were considered resistant. MIC and MBC values and MBC/MIC ratios in both media of all bacterial isolates are represented in Tables 1 and 2. Year of isolate collection is provided in Table 1, as well as diagnosis and origin of isolate.

3.2 | In vitro antibacterial activity of levofloxacin and time-killing curves

Figure 1 represents the time-dependent antibacterial activity of levofloxacin in vitro against a selected isolate of *P. multocida* (Isolate Nr. 7697, MIC=0.015 μ g/mL). In the absence of the drug, the 24-h incubation resulted in bacterial growth of approximately 3 \log_{10} CFU/mL. Levofloxacin concentrations equivalent to 0.25 and 0.5 MIC were not able to inhibit bacterial growth, and after 24h of incubation, bacterial counts exceeded the initial inoculum. One MIC concentration reduced the bacterial growth, but after 24h of incubation, the bacterial count was similar to the initial inoculum. Concentrations of levofloxacin equal to 2 and 4 MIC reduced the number of bacteria gradually at 3 and 6h of incubation and eradicated the bacteria at 24h of incubation. Levofloxacin concentrations higher than 4 MIC decreased the number of bacteria to the limit of detection already at 3h of incubation.

Figure 2 shows the time-dependent antibacterial activity of levofloxacin in vitro against a selected isolate of *E.coli* (Isolate Nr. 1, MIC= $0.03 \,\mu$ g/mL). In the absence of the drug, the 24-h incubation resulted in bacterial growth of approximately $3 \, \log_{10}$ CFU/mL. Levofloxacin concentrations equivalent to 0.5 and 1 MIC were not able to inhibit bacterial growth, and after 24h of incubation, bacterial counts exceeded the initial inoculum. Concentrations of levofloxacin equal to 2 MIC reduced the number of bacteria gradually at 3 and 6h of incubation and eliminated the bacteria after 24h of incubation. Levofloxacin concentrations equal to and higher than 4 MIC decreased the number of bacteria to the limit of detection already at 3 h of incubation.

3.3 | Ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin after intramuscular and subcutaneous administration and time-killing curves

Figures 3 and 4 represent the bacterial time-killing curves for levofloxacin ex vivo against a selected isolate of *P. multocida* (isolate Nr. 7697, MIC=0.015 μ g/mL) after IM and SC dosage of 5 mg/kg body weight of levofloxacin solution to rabbits. Concentrations of levofloxacin achieved in serum after 0.5, 1, 2 and 4h of both IM and SC administration reduced the bacterial count to the limit of detection already after 3h of incubation. Considering 25% protein binding, free levofloxacin concentrations in these serum samples were 2.45 (163 MIC), 1.98 (132 MIC), 1.11(74 MIC) and 0.44 (29 MIC) μ g/mL, and 1.94 (130 MIC), 2.03 (135 MIC), 1.43 (96 MIC) and 0.56 (38 MIC) μ g/mL for IM and SC samples, respectively. After incubation for 24h, all serum samples containing levofloxacin were able to reduce the *P. multocida* bacterial count to the limit of quantification.

Figures 5 and 6 represent the bacterial time-killing curves for levofloxacin ex vivo against a selected isolate of *E. coli* (isolate Nr. 1, MIC=0.03 μ g/mL) after IM and SC dosage of 5 mg/kg body weight of levofloxacin solution to rabbits. Only serum samples collected at 0.5, 1 and 2h, representing the highest drug concentrations, were able to reduce the bacterial count to the limit of quantification after 3h of incubation. Considering 25% protein binding, free levofloxacin concentrations in these serum samples were 2.45 (82 MIC), 1.98 (66 MIC) and 1.11(37 MIC) μ g/mL, and 1.94 (65 MIC), 2.03 (68 MIC) and 1.43 (48 MIC) μ g/mL for IM and SC samples, respectively. After

	S
12	Ľ
	õ
	7
	2
	σ
	_
	⊏
	õ
	2
	₽.
	Ξ.
	S
	e.
	<u> </u>
	σ,
	~
	2
	5
	Ξ.
	σ
	0
	-
	ō
	0
- 4	÷
	-
	2
	2
	_
	0
	=
	e
	~
	3
	e
- 1	÷
	2
	0
- 1	1
	. T.
	5
	o
	~
	5
	0
	=
	1
	5
	÷
	ē
	5
	Ψ.
	0
	0
	õ.
	~
	_
	01
1	ő
1	g
Ì	Icida
ļ	ricida
	ericida
	tericida
	ctericida
	actericida
	oactericida
	bactericida
	al bactericida
	al bactericida
	mal bactericida
	imal bactericida
	nimal bactericida
	inimal bactericida
	ninimal bactericida
	minimal bactericida
	d minimal bactericida
	nd minimal bactericida
	ind minimal bactericida
	and minimal bactericida
	i and minimal bactericida
	in and minimal bactericida
	on and minimal bactericida
	tion and minimal bactericida
	ation and minimal bactericida
	ation and minimal bactericida
	tration and minimal bactericida
	ntration and minimal bactericida
	entration and minimal bactericida
	entration and minimal bactericida
	centration and minimal bactericida
	ncentration and minimal bactericida
	oncentration and minimal bactericida
	concentration and minimal bactericida
	concentration and minimal bactericida
	y concentration and minimal bactericida
	ry concentration and minimal bactericida
	ory concentration and minimal bactericida
	tory concentration and minimal bactericida
	itory concentration and minimal bactericida
	bitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	libitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	hibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	nhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	I inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	al inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	nal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	mal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	nimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	inimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	10 Inimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	: 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	E 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	LE 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	LE 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	BLE 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	VBLE 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida
	A B L E 1 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericida

										Vete	R N A Prinar	y Pharmacology and Therapeutics -WILEY
	Diagnosis and isolate origin	Nasal catarrh, pneumonia Nasal swab	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	Rhinitis, Nasal swab	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	Rhinitis, Nasal swab	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	Rhinitis, Nasolacrimal flush fluid	
oits.	MBC/MIC _{serum}	4	4	4	2	2	2	2	16	1	1	
tocida isolates from rabb	MBC/MIC _{broth}	2	4	4	1	2	2	2	16	1	1	
ion of Pasteurella mult	MBC _{serum} (μg/mL)	0.125	0.125	0.125	0.015	0.015	0.03	0.03	0.125	0.5	0.5	antration.
icidal concentrat	MBC _{broth} (μg/mL)	0.06	0.125	0.125	0.008	0.015	0.03	0.03	0.125	0.5	0.5	ling study. Ing study.
and minimal bacter	MIC _{serum} (µg/mL)	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.008	0.008	0.015	0.015	0.008	0.5	0.5	ivo bacterial time-kil
ry concentration	MIC _{broth} (µg/mL)	0.03	0.03	0.03	0.008	0.008	0.015	0.015	0.008	0.5	0.5	actericidal conce or in vitro and ex v
TABLE 1 Minimal inhibito		P. multocida 297 (2021)	P. multocida 320 (2021)	P. multocida 306 (2021)	P. multocida 122 (2021)	P. multocida 2101 (2021)	P. multocida 298 (2021)	P. multocida 7697 ^a (2022)	P. multocida 3178 (2022)	P. multocida 7042 (2022)	P. multocida 0634 (2022)	Abbreviations: MBC, minimal t ^a P. <i>multocida</i> isolate selected fc

1363285, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinedhtary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jyp.1383 by Cochanne Larxia, Wiley Online Lheary on [15/08/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinedhtary.wiley.com/terms.and-conditions) on Wiley Online Lheary for rules of use; 0.0 and eds are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

3027883

DOV

11/jvp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023].

. See the

villey

Library for rules

med by the applicable.

WILEY-

TABLE 2 Minimal inhibitory concentration and minimal bactericidal concentration of *Escherichia coli* reference strain ATCC25922 and isolates from rabbits.

	MIC _{broth} (µg/mL)	MIC _{serum} (μg/mL)	MBC _{broth} (μg/mL)	MBC _{serum} (μg/mL)	MBC/MIC _{broth}	MBC/MIC _{serum}
E. coli ATCC 25922	0.03	-	0.03	-	1	-
E. coli 1ª	0.03	0.03	0.25	0.25	8	8
E. coli 2	0.008	0.008	0.03	0.03	4	4
E. coli 5	0.015	0.015	0.06	0.06	4	4
E. coli 11	0.015	0.015	0.03	0.06	2	4
E. coli 12	0.008	0.008	0.03	0.03	4	4

Abbreviations: MBC, minimal bactericidal concentration; MIC, minimal inhibitory concentration. ^aE. coli isolate selected for in vitro and ex vivo bacterial time-kill study.



FIGURE 1 In vitro time-killing curves representing the growth of Pasteurella multocida (Nr. 7697, MIC=0.015 $\mu g/mL$) with different levofloxacin concentrations in rabbit serum. Standard error bars are excluded for clarity.

incubation for 24 h, all serum samples containing levofloxacin were able to reduce the *E. coli* bacterial count to the limit of quantification.

3.4 | Pharmacodynamic modelling and daily dose calculation

For the pharmacodynamic analysis, the plots of AUC₂₄/MIC ratios versus changes in bacterial counts after 24 h of incubation for selected *P.multocida* and *E.coli* isolates are presented in Figures 7 and 8, respectively. Pharmacodynamic data obtained from the I_{max} model, namely, AUC₂₄/MIC required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination for selected *P.multocida* and *E.coli* isolates, are presented in Tables 3 and 4, respectively. Calculated daily doses of parenteral levofloxacin required to achieve antibacterial effects are reported in Table 5. Calculated daily doses for *P.multocida* isolates exhibiting highest MIC value (0.5 µg/mL) are 8.30, 11.55 and 30.18 mg/kg daily, for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects, respectively.

4 | DISCUSSION

To the best of the authors' knowledge, this study describes for the first time levofloxacin time-killing curves for *P.multocida* and *E.coli* isolates from rabbits.

None of the bacterial isolates included in this study showed resistance to levofloxacin. However, reports are indicating cases of *P.mulocida* and *E.coli* resistance to this drug (Saha et al., 2021; Sitovs et al., 2021). MIC values for both *P.mulocida* and *E.coli* were low, compared to other pathogens' MIC reported in the literature (Sitovs et al., 2021). Two *P.multocida* isolates (Nr. 7042 and 0634) showed relatively high MIC (0.5μ g/mL). As no clinical breakpoints for levofloxacin for *P.multocida* isolates from rabbits currently exist, applying CLSI M100 (2018a) levofloxacin breakpoints, these isolates could be considered susceptible. Applying fluoroquinolone clinical breakpoints for respiratory *P.multocida* (pradofloxacin, enrofloxacin and danofloxacin) according to the CLSI VETO8 (2018b), these isolates would not be considered susceptible, anymore (susceptible defined as MIC <0.25 µg/mL), but rather intermediate. All other *P. multocida*

FIGURE 2 In vitro time-killing curves representing the growth *Escherichia coli* (Nr. 1, MIC=0.03 μ g/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in rabbit serum. Standard error bars are excluded for clarity.



/10.1111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane I

Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]

. See the

ICTIN

by the appli

rcense

FIGURE 3 Ex vivo time-killing curves representing the growth of Pasteurella multocida (Nr. 7697, MIC=0.015 μ g/mL) with different levofloxacin concentrations in serum samples obtained after intramuscular dose of 5 mg/kg to healthy rabbits (n=6). Standard error bars are excluded for clarity.

isolates showed MIC values (0.008–0.03µg/mL) in line with MIC₉₀ values reported for veterinary fluoroquinolones and their active metabolites – difloxacin, enrofloxacin, ciprofloxacin, marbofloxacin, orbifloxacin and pradofloxacin (0.008–0.05µg/mL) against *P. multocida* (Papich, 2018). MIC₉₀ values for the same veterinary fluoroquinolones against *E. coli* (0.03–0.39µg/mL) were slightly higher compared to *E. coli* MIC values obtained in the present study (0.008–0.03µg/ mL). Only 15 bacterial isolates were used in our study; thus, it is not yet obvious that levofloxacin is significantly superior to other veterinary fluoroquinolones.

Minimal bactericidal concentration/MIC ratios of levofloxacin were not high in the present study. The median ratios for *P. multocida* and *E. coli* isolates were 2 and 4, respectively. That is similar to ratios obtained from isolates from humans by Akinjogunla et al. (2022). In that study, levofloxacin was reported to achieve a reduction in CFU/ mL of \geq 99.9% of most aetiology of bacteremia faster compared to other fluoroquinolones. MBC/MIC ratios >8 were reported to be associated with antibiotic tolerance (Gonzalez et al., 2013). Our pharmacodynamic study results do not suggest levofloxacin tolerance in rabbits.

Aliabadi and Lees (2001) describe AUC_{24/}MIC as the most important factor to determine efficacy of concentration-dependent antibacterial drugs, including fluoroquinolones. In the present study, the use of ex vivo AUC_{24/}MIC was not suitable for pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling. The reason for that was bacterial count reduction to the detection limit after



24h of incubation with all experimentally obtained levofloxacin concentrations in rabbit serum. All samples from time points collected after IM and SC dose of 5 mg/kg had levofloxacin concentrations higher than 1 MIC for both bacterial isolates used in the time-killing study. In vitro $\mathrm{AUC}_{\mathrm{24/}}\mathrm{MIC}$ data were used for modelling instead. AUC24/MIC values obtained for lower levofloxacin concentrations (0.25, 0.5 and 1 MIC, which did not reduce the bacterial counts to the detection limit) provided more data for creating the model. When time-killing curves for in vitro and ex vivo experiments were visually compared, their similarity provided almost identical bacterial killing patterns. That justifies the use of in vitro AUC_{24/}MIC data for modelling. Slightly slower killing rate was observed in the in vitro study compared to the ex vivo study. That could be attributable to chemical differences between experimental rabbit serum and commercially available rabbit serum used for the in vitro study. Hill coefficient values in both models in this study were high, 5.64 for P. multocida and 9.98 for E. coli, respectively. These values illustrate the rapid increase in levofloxacin activity with the small increase in the concentration. Lee et al. (2017) reported a slightly less steep slope of 5.21 for levofloxacin against E. coli isolated from broiler chickens.

Levofloxacin in this study showed similar $\mathsf{AUC}_{\mathbf{24/}}\mathsf{MIC}$ ratios required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects for P. multocida (20.76, 28.88 and 75.46 h), compared to marbofloxacin, reported by Dorey et al. (2017) (20.9, 45.2 and 71.7 h) for P. multocida isolates from pigs and slightly lower than marbofloxacin

License



FIGURE 7 Plot of in vitro AUC24/MIC versus Pasteurella multocida (Nr. 7697, MIC=0.015 µg/mL) bacterial count difference in levofloxacin containing rabbit serum.

reported by Potter et al. (2013) for isolates from calves (48.6, 64.9 and 74.8h, respectively).

AUC_{24/}MIC ratios for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects in this study for E.coli (27.25, 32.49 and 59.62 h) were higher compared to values reported by Lee et al. (2017) -18.77, 24.02 and 36.27h, respectively. AUC_{24/}MIC ratios obtained by Haritova et al. (2006) for danofloxacin against E. coli isolated from turkeys were significantly lower (0.42, 1.90 and 6.73h) and for enrofloxacin against E.coli isolated from chickens were much higher

FIGURE 8 Plot of in vitro AUC24/MIC versus Escherichia coli (Nr. 1, MIC= $0.03 \mu g/mL$) bacterial count difference in levofloxacin containing rabbit serum.

AUC₂₄/MIC

3652885, 0, Dow

/10.1111/jyp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]. See the

wiley Online

' use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

(257.40 and 2794.40h for bacteriostatic effect and bacterial elimination, respectively; Haritova & Russenova, 2010).

Despite the previous conclusion that a dose of 5 mg/kg levofloxacin is unlikely to be effective in rabbits (Sitovs et al., 2020), the ex vivo time-killing curves showed a reduction of the bacterial counts to the limit of quantification at 24h. Calculated daily doses appear to be even lower. In this study, proposed doses per day required for bacteriostatic, bactericidal and bacterial elimination effects (0.25-1.43 mg/kg daily) were lower compared to

TABLE 3 Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic levofloxacin data integration of *Pasteurella multocida* (Nr. 7697, MIC= $0.015 \mu g/mL$) in vitro growth inhibition.

Parameter	Units	Estimated value
l _{max}	CFU/mL	7.75
Eo	CFU/mL	3.54
E ₀ -I _{max}	CFU/mL	-4.21
IC ₅₀	h	21.41
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacteriostatic	h	20.76
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bactericidal	h	28.88
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacterial elimination	h	75.46
Slope (γ)	N/A	5.64

Note: I_{max} -difference between log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24h in the control sample ($logE_0$) and the log_{10} difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24h when the limit of detection of 100 CFU/mL is reached. E_0 -log₁₀ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24h of incubation in the control sample.

 $E_{\rm 0}\text{-}I_{\rm max}\text{-}{\rm log}_{10}$ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24h of incubation in samples incubated with levofloxacin when the detection limit of 100 CFU/mL is reached.

 IC_{50} -AUC₂₄/MIC producing 50% of the maximal antibacterial effect. γ -the Hill coefficient, slope of the AUC₂₄/MIC response curve. Abbreviation: N/A. not applicable.

TABLE 4 Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic levofloxacin data integration of *Escherichia coli* (Nr. 1, MIC= $0.03 \mu g/mL$) in vitro growth inhibition.

Parameter	Units	Estimated value
I _{max}	CFU/mL	7.28
Eo	CFU/mL	1.98
E ₀ -I _{max}	CFU/mL	-5.30
IC ₅₀	h	30.08
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacteriostatic	h	27.25
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bactericidal	h	32.49
AUC ₂₄ /MIC Bacterial elimination	h	59.62
Slope (y)	N/A	9.98

Note: I_{max} —difference between \log_{10} difference in bacterial count between 0 and 24h in the control sample ($\log E_0$) and the \log_{10} difference in bacterial count in the sample incubated with levofloxacin for 24h when the limit of detection of 100 CFU/mL is reached. E_0 — \log_{10} difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24h of incubation

in the control sample. E_0-I_{max} —log₁₀ difference in the bacterial count from 0 to 24h of

10 max 0.010 in samples incubated with levofloxacin when the detection limit of 100 CFU/mL is reached.

 IC_{50} -AUC₂₄/MIC producing 50% of the maximal antibacterial effect. γ -the Hill coefficient, slope of the AUC₂₄/MIC response curve. Abbreviation: N/A, not applicable. 111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]. See the

Terms

and Cond

Wiley Online Librar

rned by the applicable

TABLE 5 Calculated daily doses of levofloxacin for parenteral administration to rabbits against *Pasteurella multocida* $(MIC=0.015 \mu g/mL)$ and *Escherichia coli* $(MIC=0.03 \mu g/mL)$.

Dose per day	P. <i>multocida</i> (MIC = 0.015 μg/mL), mg/kg	E.coli (MIC=0.03µg/ mL), mg/kg
Bacteriostatic effect	0.25	0.65
Bactericidal effect	0.35	0.78
Bacterial elimination	0.91	1.43

the levofloxacin doses calculated for broilers by Lee et al. (2017) (1.1-4.3 mg/kg daily) and for rabbits - 29 mg/kg daily (Sitovs et al., 2020). Previously reported dose was up to 100-fold higher that doses obtained in this study. Compared to the dose reported by Sitovs et al. (2020), current study utilizes experimental pharmacodynamic data from susceptible bacterial time-killing curves, while previous pharmacodynamic data were from the published literature. Difference in doses between two studies originates from the higher ${\rm AUC}_{\rm 24}/{\rm MIC}$ used in calculations – 72 h, as reported by Madsen et al. (2019) and with lower MIC values used in calculations. In the current study, doses were calculated based on the experimentally obtained MIC values, while Sitovs et al. (2020) used MIC=0.5 µg/mL. Doses calculated using highest P. multocida MIC (0.5 μ g/mL) are less different from the dose reported by Sitovs et al. (2020), 8.30, 11.55 and 30.18 vs. 29 mg/kg daily. Real, rather than theoretical MIC values were used in dose calculations here. Sitovs et al. (2020) also reported that levofloxacin bioavailability in rabbits after IM and SC routes of administration is around 100%; thus, complete bioavailability is expected. From the point of view of bioavailability, there is no difference between IM and SC administration for suggested daily doses. However, compared to SC, the IM administration is generally more painful and considering relatively small muscle mass in rabbits, rarely used (Shellim, 2011).

Additional factors that can contribute to the calculation of daily doses are associated with changes in fluoroquinolone pharmacokinetics in rabbits in the diseased state. Abo-el-Sooud and Goudah (2010) reported that *P.multocida* infection resulted in a change in the primary pharmacokinetic parameter clearance for marbofloxacin. If the same could apply to levofloxacin, that may impact the calculation of the dose. To prove this, an additional pharmacokinetic study of levofloxacin in infected animals would be required.

The authors are aware of the limitations of this study. First, a small number of animals in the pharmacokinetic study do not cover all possible inter-animal difference in clearance, necessary for dose calculation. Impact of infection was not considered in this study, as serum samples from healthy rabbits were used. Small number of bacterial isolates used in this study does not represent all MIC variability within one isolate and among population of wild-type pathogenic bacteria in rabbits. The ex vivo study does not take into account the immune response of the animal organism, which could contribute to the elimination of bacteria and possibly allow lower doses of the antimicrobial agent to be used. The effect of inoculum

concentration was not assessed in terms of antimicrobial activity of levofloxacin. Finally, this study did not predict further resistance development against levofloxacin for the tested microbial isolates, and no mutant prevention concentrations values were obtained in this study. However, fluoroquinolone resistance is an important issue in global health (Brown, 1996; WHO, 2019). Lastly, consideration of antimicrobial stewardship principles (Lloyd & Page, 2018) in the selection and possible use of levofloxacin in rabbits has to be considered.

5 | CONCLUSION

Our study has shown that levofloxacin is active against susceptible bacteria isolated from rabbits. The maximal residue limits for levofloxacin are not currently defined. That restricts levofloxacin use in food-producing animals. Our current study provides a preliminary examination of key elements of the dose regimen in companion rabbits. In order to justify the use of parenteral levofloxacin in treatment of rabbit infections are needed additional both pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AS, DB and SP conceptualized this study. AS, SP and IS contributed to sample collection and carried out the experiments. AS and DB carried out the data analysis. AS wrote the original manuscript draft and all authors contributed to and approved the final version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors sincerely thank Dr. Aneliya Milanova (Trakia University, Bulgaria) and Dr. Cristina Vercelli (University of Turin, Italy) for their scientific advice and help.

FUNDING INFORMATION

This study was funded from the Riga Stradins University doctoral grant.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data are available upon reasonable request from the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT AND ANIMAL WELFARE

The study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Republic of Latvia Food and Veterinary Service (Permission 025564) and conducted in compliance with European law (Directive 2010/63/ EU) on the protection of animals used for experimental and other scientific purposes.

ORCID

Andrejs Sitovs b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9529-8799 Ingus Skadins b https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4044-8750

-WILEY^{___11}

3652885

.com/doi/10.1111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023].

See the

I erms

(nup

shinelibrary.wile

-and-

Wiley Online Library for rules of

articles are governed by the applicable

Santa Purvina b https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4934-3106 Dace Bandere b https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9144-8799

REFERENCES

- Abo-el-Sooud, K., & Goudah, A. (2010). Influence of Pasteurella multocida infection on the pharmacokinetic behavior of marbofloxacin after intravenous and intramuscular administrations in rabbits. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 33(1), 63–68. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2885.2009.01110.x
- Akinjogunla, O. J., Odeyemi, A. T., Alozie, M. F., Ehinmore, I., Ukpong, U. E., Ediomo, J., & Akpanson, E. K. (2022). Fluoroquinolone antibiotics: in vitro antibacterial and time-kill bactericidal evaluation against etiology of bacteremia in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected patients. Bulletin of the National Research Centre, 46(1), 135. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42269-022-00826-9
- Aliabadi, F. S., & Lees, P. (2001). Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of danofloxacin in serum and tissue fluids of goats following intravenous and intramuscular administration. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, 62(12), 1979–1989. https://doi.org/10.2460/ ajvr.2001.62.1979
- Ambrose, P. G., Bhavnani, S. M., Rubino, C. M., Louie, A., Gumbo, T., Forrest, A., & Drusano, G. L. (2007). Pharmacokineticspharmacodynamics of antimicrobial therapy: it's not just for mice anymore. *Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America*, 44(1), 79–86. https://doi. org/10.1086/510079
- Anses. (2020). Resapath French surveillance network for antimicrobial resistance in bacteria from diseased animals, 2018 annual report. Lyon et Ploufragan-Plouzané-Niort.
- Brown, S. A. (1996). Fluoroquinolones in animal health. Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics, 19(1), 1–14. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2885.1996.tb00001.x
- CLSI (Ed.). (2018a). Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing (28th ed.). Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute CLSI supplement M100.
- CLSI. Performance standards for antimicrobial disk and dilution susceptibility tests for bacteria isolated from animals, 4th ed. In: CLSI (Ed.), 2018b. CLSI report VET08. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- D'Amico, F., Casalino, G., Bozzo, G., Camarda, A., Lombardi, R., Dimuccio, M. M., & Circella, E. (2022). Spreading of *Pasteurella multocida* infection in a pet rabbit breeding and possible implications on healed bunnies. Veterinary Sciences, 9(6), 301. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vetsci9060301
- Destache, C. J., Pakiz, C. B., Larsen, C., Owens, H., & Dash, A. K. (2001). Cerebrospinal fluid penetration and pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin in an experimental rabbit meningitis model. The Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy, 47(5), 611-615. https://doi. org/10.1093/jac/47.5.611
- Dorey, L., Pelligand, L., & Lees, P. (2017). Prediction of marbofloxacin dosage for the pig pneumonia pathogens Actinobacillus pleuropneumoniae and Pasteurella multocida by pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic modelling. BMC Veterinary Research, 13(1), 209. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12917-017-1128-y
- EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW), Nielsen, S. S., Bicout, D. J., Calistri, P., Canali, E., Drewe, J. A., Garin-Bastuji, B., Gonzales Rojas, J. L., Gortazar Schmidt, C., Herskin, M., Michel, V., Miranda Chueca, M. A., Padalino, B., Pasquali, P., Roberts, H. C., Spoolder, H., Stahl, K., Velarde, A., Viltrop, A., ... Alvarez, J. (2021). Assessment of animal diseases caused by bacteria resistant to antimicrobials: Rabbits. EFSA Journal, 19(12), e06999. https://doi.org/10.2903/j. efsa.2021.6999
- El-Ashram, S., Aboelhadid, S. M., Abdel-Kafy, E. M., Hashem, S. A., Mahrous, L. N., Farghly, E. M., & Kamel, A. A. (2020). Investigation

1365288:

, Downloader

s duu t

slibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jvp.13383 by Cochrane Latvia, Wiley Online Library on [15/08/2023]. See the Terms

s (nups

onlinelibrary wile

Wiley Online Library

Tor rules

the applicable

¹² WILEY-

of pre- and post-weaning mortalities in rabbits bred in Egypt, with reference to parasitic and bacterial causes. *Animals*, 10(3), 537. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10030537

- EMA/CVMP/CHMP/682198/2017. (2020). Committee for Medicinal Products for veterinary use (CVMP) Committee for Medicinal Products for human use (CHMP) categorisation of antibiotics in the European Union. European Medicines Agency.
- Gardhouse, S., Sanchez-Migallon Guzman, D., Paul-Murphy, J., Byrne, B. A., & Hawkins, M. G. (2017). Bacterial isolates and antimicrobial susceptibilities from odontogenic abscesses in rabbits: 48 cases. *The Veterinary Record*, 181(20), 538. https://doi.org/10.1136/ vr.103996
- Gonzalez, N., Sevillano, D., Alou, L., Cafini, F., Gimenez, M. J., Gomez-Lus, M. L., Prieto, J., & Aguilar, L. (2013). Influence of the MBC/MIC ratio on the antibacterial activity of vancomycin versus linezolid against methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolates in a pharmacodynamic model simulating serum and soft tissue interstitial fluid concentrations reported in diabetic patients. *The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy*, 68(10), 2291–2295. https://doi.org/10.1093/ jac/dkt185
- Haritova, A. M., Rusenova, N. V., Parvanov, P. R., Lashev, L. D., & Fink-Gremmels, J. (2006). Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modelling of danofloxacin in turkeys. *Veterinary Research Communications*, 30(7), 775–789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11259-006-3400-7
- Haritova, A. M., & Russenova, N. V. (2010). In vitro antibacterial effect of enrofloxacin determined by time-killing curves analysis. *Bulgarian Journal of Veterinary Medicine*, 13(4), 218–226.
- Jekl, V. (2021). Respiratory disorders in rabbits. The veterinary clinics of North America. Exotic Animal Practice, 24(2), 459–482. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cvex.2021.01.006
- Lee, H. K., DeVito, V., Vercelli, C., Tramuta, C., Nebbia, P., Re, G., Kovalenko, K., & Giorgi, M. (2017). Ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Escherichia coli* and its pharmacokinetic profile following intravenous and oral administrations in broilers. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 112, 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rvsc.2017.01.003
- Lloyd, D. H., & Page, S. W. (2018). Antimicrobial stewardship in veterinary medicine. Microbiology Spectrum, 6(3), 1–22. https://doi. org/10.1128/microbiolspec.ARBA-0023-2017
- Madsen, M., Messenger, K., & Papich, M. G. (2019). Pharmacokinetics of levofloxacin following oral administration of a generic levofloxacin tablet and intravenous administration to dogs. *American Journal* of Veterinary Research, 80(10), 957–962. https://doi.org/10.2460/ ajyr.80.10.957
- Marco-Fuertes, A., Marin, C., Lorenzo-Rebenaque, L., Vega, S., & Montoro-Dasi, L. (2022). Antimicrobial resistance in companion animals: A new challenge for the one health approach in the European Union. Veterinary Sciences, 9(5), 208. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsc i9050208
- McKellar, Q. A., Sanchez Bruni, S. F., & Jones, D. G. (2004). Pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relationships of antimicrobial drugs used in veterinary medicine. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 27(6), 503–514. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2885.2004.00603.x
- Papich, M. G. (2018, 2018). Fluoroquinolone antimicrobial drugs. In J. E. Riviere & M. G. Papich (Eds.), Veterinary pharmacology and therapeutics (10th ed., p. 954). John Wiley & Sons.

- Percy, D. H., & Barthold, S. W. (2008). Pathology of laboratory rodents and rabbits (3rd ed.). Blackwell Publishing.
- Potter, T., Illambas, J., Peligand, L., Rycroft, A., & Lees, P. (2013). Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic integration and modelling of marbofloxacin in calves for Mannheimia haemolytica and Pasteurella multocida. Veterinary Journal, 195(1), 53–58. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2012.08.027
- Saha, O., Islam, M. R., Rahman, M. S., Hoque, M. N., Hossain, M. A., & Sultana, M. (2021). First report from Bangladesh on genetic diversity of multidrug-resistant *Pasteurella multocida* type B:2 in fowl cholera. *Veterinary World*, 14(9), 2527-2542.
- Shellim, C. (2011). Parenteral drug administration. Veterinary Nursing Journal, 26, 117–119.
- Sitovs, A., Sartini, I., & Giorgi, M. (2021). Levofloxacin in veterinary medicine: A literature review. Research in Veterinary Science, 137, 111– 126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2021.04.031
- Sitovs, A., Voiko, L., Kustovs, D., Kovalcuka, L., Bandere, D., Purvina, S., & Giorgi, M. (2020). Pharmacokinetic profiles of levofloxacin after intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous administration to rabbits (Oryctolagus cuniculus). Journal of Veterinary Science, 21(2), e32. https://doi.org/10.4142/jvs.2020.21.e32
- Toutain, P. L., del Castillo, J. R., & Bousquet-Mélou, A. (2002). The pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic approach to a rational dosage regimen for antibiotics. *Research in Veterinary Science*, 73(2), 105-114. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0034-5288(02)00039-5
- Toutain, P. L., Ferran, A., & Bousquet-Melou, A. (2010). Species differences in pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics. In F. Cunningham, J. Elliott, & P. Lees (Eds.), *Comparative and veterinary pharmacolosy* (1st ed., pp. 19–48). Springer-Verlag.
- Toutain, P. L., & Lees, P. (2004). Integration and modelling of pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic data to optimize dosage regimens in veterinary medicine. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 27(6), 467-477. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1365-2885.2004.00613.x
- Wang, J., Sang, L., Sun, S., Chen, Y., Chen, D., & Xie, X. (2019). Characterization of Pasteurella multocida isolated from dead rabbits with respiratory disease in Fujian, China. BMC Veterinary Research, 15(1), 438. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-019-2191-3
- WHO. (2019). Critically important antimicrobials for human medicine. 6th revision. www.who.int/foodsafety/publications/antimicrobialssixth/en

How to cite this article: Sitovs, A., Skadins, I., Purvina, S., & Bandere, D. (2023). In vitro and ex vivo antibacterial activity of levofloxacin against *Pasteurella multocida* and *Escherichia coli* isolated from rabbits (*Oryctolagus cuniculus*) – A preliminary study. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 00, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1111/jyp.13383

Annex 5

Tables A1–A7

Table A1

Veterinary formulations containing levofloxacin

Country	Name	Active ingredient(s)	Dosage form	Species	Indication	Dosing	Withdrawa l time
Argentina	Floxaday	Levofloxacin	Tablets	Dog	Soft tissue/ respiratory/prostate/mammar	PO 10 mg/kg every 24h	N/A
Argentina	Floxaday	Levofloxacin	Injectable solution	Dog	y gland infections, 011, osteomyelitis, septicaemia, pyoderma	1.5 mL/10 kg every 24h	N/A
China	ZDHF- Levofloxaci n W.S. P	Levofloxacin	Powder	Fowl	Increase poultry laying rate	100g of powder + 150kg water, twice daily	N/A
India	LEVOVET	Levofloxacin	Powder	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
India	Veterinary Levofloxaci n Injection	Levofloxacin	Injectable solution	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
India	Levosept	Levofloxacin, colistin	Oral liquid	Poultry	N/A	N/A	N/A
India	LCB-Vet	Levofloxacin, colistin and bromhexine	Oral liquid	N/A	N/A	4-8 mL per 10 L of drinking water	Meat: 28 days; Eggs: 7days
Russia	Лексофлон (Lexoflon)	Levofloxacin	Injectable solution	Cattle, pig	N/A	IM injection 1 mL per 30 kg BW	Cattle/Pig (meat): 9 days; Milk: 4 days
Russia	Лексофлон OR (Lexoflon OR)	Levofloxacin	Oral liquid	Poultry, pig	N/A	1 mL per 20 kg BW (0.5 mL per 1 L drinking water)	Poultry (meat): 7 days; Pigs (meat): 9 days

BW - body weight, N/A - data not available in the reference source

Susceptibility of Gram-negative microorganisms isolated from animals to levofloxacin

BP – biofilm producing, NBP – non-biofilm producing, ESBL – extended-spectrum beta-lactamases, MDR – multidrug resistant, STEC – Shiga toxin producing *E. coli*, EPEC – Enteropathogenic *E. coli*, APEC – avian pathogenic *E. coli*, N – number of isolates, S – susceptible, I – intermediate, R – resistant, MIC – minimal inhibitory concentration, N/A – data not available in the reference source

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Ν	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Acinetobacter spp.	Cattle	Healthy	176	100.0		0.0	N/A	Gurung et al., 2013
Acinetobacter baumannii	Cattle	Healthy	57	100.0		0.0	N/A	Gurung et al., 2013
Acinetobacter baumannii	Chicken	Healthy	80			37.5	N/A	Kanaan et al., 2020
Acinetobacter baumannii	Turkey	Healthy	120			37.5	N/A	Kanaan et al., 2020
Aeromonas hydrophilia	Tilapia	Diseased	1	100.0			N/A	Pauzi et al., 2020
Aeromonas hydrophilia	Rainbow trout	N/A	12	100.0			N/A	Stratev et al., 2013
Brucella abortus	Cattle	Diseased	3	100.0			N/A	Morales-Estrada et al., 2016
Brucella melitensis	Cattle	Diseased	3	66.0		33.0	N/A	Morales-Estrada et al., 2016
Brucella suis	Cattle	Diseased	1	100.0			N/A	Morales-Estrada et al., 2016
Brucella abortus	Goat	Diseased	3	100.0			N/A	Morales-Estrada et al., 2016
Bordetella hinzii	Turkey	Diseased	1	100.0			N/A	Beach et al., 2012
Bordetella avium	Turkey	Diseased	12		8.3		N/A	Beach et al., 2012
Bordetella avium	Saw-whet owl	Healthy	1	100.0			N/A	Beach et al., 2012
Citrobacter freundii	Green turtle	Diseased	1	100.0			N/A	Goldberg et al., 2019
Escherichia coli	Various (pig, chicken, duck)	Diseased	495			70.5	0.0625 ->256	Liu et al., 2012
Escherichia coli	Dog	Diseased	38			18.4	N/A	Inoue et al., 2012
Escherichia coli (ESBL 34%)	Rat	N/A	32			56.3	N/A	Onanga et al., 2020
Escherichia coli	Rabbit	Healthy	5	100.0			0.0008 - 0.03	Sitovs et al., 2023
Escherichia coli	Pig	N/A	479			38.8	N/A	Cheng et al., 2020
Escherichia coli (ESBL)	Cattle	Diseased	30			74.7	N/A	Prajapati et al., 2020
Escherichia coli (MDR)	Cattle	N/A	12			100.0	N/A	Anes et al., 2020
Escherichia coli (ESBL)	Cattle	Healthy	22	83.3	16.7	0.0	N/A	Batabyal et al., 2018
Escherichia coli	Cattle	Diseased	31	87.1			N/A	Boyal et al., 2018
Escherichia coli	Cattle	Healthy	2	S			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Escherichia coli	Buffalo	Healthy	1	S			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Escherichia coli	Buffalo	Diseased	15	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019

Annex 5 continued Table A2 continued

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Ν	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Escherichia coli	Cattle	Diseased	30	96.7	3.3	0.0	N/A	Mohanty et al., 2013
Escherichia coli (MDR)	Cattle	Healthy	500	4.6			N/A	Ajayi et al., 2011
<i>Escherichia</i> <i>coli</i> (31 STEC and 6 EPEC)	Yak	N/A	37	100.0			N/A	Bandyopadhyay et al., 2012
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	91			13.2	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	95			22.1	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	112			40.2	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	112			53.6	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	130			54.6	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Broiler, laying hen)	Diseased	540			38.7	N/A	Chen et al., 2014
Escherichia coli	Pig	Healthy, diseased	203			50.2	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Poultry (Chicken, geese, duck, partridge)	Healthy, diseased	389			20.8	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Pig, poultry	Healthy	300			14.0	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Pig, poultry	Diseased	292			48.3	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Duck	Healthy	10			0.0	N/A	Jiang et al., 2011
Escherichia coli	Chicken (Broiler breeder)	Healthy	37			89.1	N/A	Benameur et al., 2019
Escherichia coli	Chicken	Diseased	34	38.2	35.3	26.5	N/A	Ibrahim et al., 2019
<i>Escherichia</i> <i>coli</i> (90% APEC)	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased (suspected)	50			50.0	N/A	Subedi et al., 2018
Escherichia coli	Chicken (Broiler)	Healthy	54			22.0	N/A	Mahmud et al., 2018
Escherichia coli (APEC)	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased	56	98.0		2.0	0.25 - 8	Zhao et al., 2005
Escherichia coli	Duck	Diseased	25	S			N/A	Panda at al., 2010
Escherichia coli	Chicken, duck	Diseased	60	40.0	15.0	45.0	N/A	Hashem et al., 2022
Escherichia coli	Chicken (Broiler)	Healthy	150			33.0	N/A	Hussein et al., 2022
Escherichia coli	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased	162	36.0	20.0	44.0	N/A	Jaseem et al., 2023
Escherichia coli	Pigeon	Healthy	21	100.0		0.0	N/A	Karim et al., 2020

Annex 5 continued Table A2 continued

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Ν	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference	
Enterobacter hormaechei (ESBL)	Green turtle	Diseased	1	100.0			N/A	Goldberg et al., 2019	
Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica	Various (hare, vole)	N/A	32	S			< 0.25	del Blanco et al., 2004	
Fusobacterium spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	5	100.0			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019	
Haemophilus parasuis (BP)	Pig	Diseased	73			24.7	N/A	Zhang et al., 2014	
Haemophilus parasuis (NBP)	Pig	Diseased	37			24.3	N/A	Zhang et al., 2014	
Haemophilus parasuis	Pig	Diseased	143			20.3	< 0.25 - 128	Zhao et al., 2018	
Haemophilus parasuis	Pig	Diseased	110	93.6			0.008 - 16	Zhou et al., 2010	
Helicobacter suis	Various (Pig, monkey)	N/A	35			5.7	0.03 - 32	Berlamont et al., 2019	
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Cattle	Diseased		S			N/A	Arya et al., 2020	
Pasteurella multocida	Rabbit	Diseased	10	100.0			0.0008 - 0.5	Sitovs et.al. 2023	
Pseudomonas spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	3	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Dog	Healthy	38			13.2	0.015 - 32	Park et al., 2020	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Dog	Diseased	46			15.2	0.015 - 32	Park et al., 2020	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Dog	Diseased	106			16.0	0.015 - 32	Rubin et al., 2008	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Dog	Diseased	27	100.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	Ledbetter et al., 2007	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Mink	Dead	69			13.0	16 - 128 (R)	Bai et al., 2019	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Mink	Diseased/dead	30			13.3	N/A	Qi et al., 2014	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Chicken	N/A	33	100.0	0.0	0.0	N/A	Eraky et al., 2020	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Chicken	Diseased/dead	42	73.8	7.2	19.0	N/A	Farghaly et al., 2017	
Proteus mirabilis	Various (Dog, cat)	Diseased	107		0.0	7.5	N/A	Marques et al., 2019	
Proteus mirabilis (BP)	Various (Dog, mink, cattle, fowl)	Diseased	162	57.4	18.5	24.1	N/A	Sun et al., 2020	
Proteus mirabilis (NBP)	Various (Dog, mink, cattle, fowl)	Diseased	14	57.1	0.0	42.9	N/A	Sun et al., 2020	
Proteus mirabilis	Turtle	N/A	15	73.0	20.0	7.0	0.03 - 8	Pathirana et al., 2018	
Proteus vulgaris	Turtle	N/A	7	85.7	14.3	0.0	0.03 - 4	Pathirana et al., 2018	
Proteus hauseri	Turtle	N/A	2	100.0			0.06	Pathirana et al., 2018	
Proteus vulgaris	Human (Catfish wound)	Diseased	1	100.0			< 0.25	Huang et al., 2013	
Annex 5 continued Table A2 continued

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Ν	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Shigella sonnei	Yak	Diseased	44			9.1	N/A	Zhu et al., 2018
Salmonella typhimurium	Guinea pig	N/A	35	60.0	14.3	24.7	N/A	Huamán et al., 2020
Salmonella spp.	Poultry	N/A	30		3.3	93.3	N/A	Tamuly et al., 2008
Salmonella spp.	Chicken (Broiler)	Diseased	5	60.0	40.0		N/A	Badr et al., 2020
Salmonella spp.	Chicken	N/A	19	78.9		15.8	N/A	Elfeil et al., 2020
Salmonella spp.	Duck	Diseased, dead	19	S			N/A	Rahman et al., 2016
Salmonella spp.	Pigeon	Diseased, dead	12	S			N/A	Rahman et al., 2016
Salmonella spp.	Pigeon	Healthy	11			18.2	N/A	Karim et al., 2020
Vibrio vulnificus	Seal	Diseased	1	S			N/A	Li et al., 2018
Vibrio spp.	Horse mackerel	N/A	9	100.0			N/A	Özer et al., 2008
Various (19 species; mostly <i>P.</i> <i>mirabilis</i>)	Owl monkey	Healthy	N/A	100.0			0.12	Da Silva et al., 2013

Susceptibility of Gram-positive and atypical microorganisms isolated from animals to levofloxacin

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	Ν	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Various	Cattle	Healthy, diseased	31	87.1			N/A	Bajaj et al., 2018
Trueperella pyogenes	Cattle	Diseased	100	100.0			<0.12 - 8	Fujimoto et al., 2023
Trueperella pyogenes	Pig	Diseased	67	100.0			<0.12 - 8	Fujimoto et al., 2023
Staphylococcus spp.	Cattle	Diseased	53			< 5.0	N/A	Zdolec et al., 2016
Staphylococcus spp.	Cattle	Healthy	41			< 5.0	N/A	Zdolec et al., 2016
Staphylococcus spp.	Cattle	Diseased	68	88.2	8.8	2.9	N/A	Mohanty et al., 2013
Staphylococcus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	15	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Staphylococcus pseudintermedius (MRSP)	Various (dog, cat, horse, donkey)	Diseased	146	2.1	0.0	97.9	<1 - 4	Ruscher et al., 2010
Staphylococcus pseudintermedius	Dog	Healthy, diseased	49			34.7	N/A	Kang et al., 2014
Staphylococcus pseudintermedius (MRSP)	Dog	Healthy, diseased	18			100.0	8 ->8	Sasaki et al., 2007
Staphylococcus intermedius	Dog	Healthy, diseased	114	98.2			N/A	Vanni et al., 2009
Staphylococcus schleiferi	Dog	Healthy, diseased	8	37.5			N/A	Vanni et al., 2009
Staphylococcus aureus	Dog	Diseased	6	100.0			N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Pig	N/A	2		50.0	50.0	N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Cattle	Diseased	28	82.1	10.7	7.1	N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Buffalo	Diseased	21	81.0	19.0		N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Goat	Diseased	28	92.9	7.1		N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Sheep	Diseased	6	100.0			N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Camel	Diseased	8	62.5	37.5		N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Horse	Diseased	3	100.0			N/A	Sharma et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA ST 398)	Various (rabbit, human)	N/A	7	100.0			0.25 - 0.5	Agnoletti et al., 2014
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA ST 398)	Pig	N/A	7	S (5 iso)	I (2 iso)		N/A	Lozano et al., 2011
Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA ST 793)	Pig	N/A	1			R (1 iso)	N/A	Lozano et al., 2011
Staphylococcus aureus (MDR)	Cattle	Diseased	48	S			N/A	Salauddin et al., 2020
Staphylococcus aureus	Cattle	Healthy	11	S			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Staphylococcus aureus	Buffalo	Healthy	1	S			N/A	Tanzin et al., 2016
Staphylococcus aureus	Cattle	Diseased	20	S			N/A	Upadhyay and Kataria, 2009

Annex 5 continued

Table A3 continued

Bacteria	Animal species	Health status	N	S %	I %	R %	MIC	Reference
Staphylococcus aureus	Goat	Diseased	10	S			N/A	Upadhyay and Kataria, 2009
Staphylococcus aureus	Goat	Healthy	32	84.4		15.6	N/A	Zhou et al., 2017
Staphylococcus aureus	Horse	Healthy	2	S			N/A	Van den Eede et al., 2013
Enterococcus faecium	Giant panda	Healthy	28			100.0	N/A	Liu et al., 2023
Enterococcus spp.	Cattle	N/A	176		0.0	0.0	N/A	Davedow et al., 2020
Lactobacillus spp.	Poultry (Indigenous)	N/A	59			81.4	32 - >128	Saleem et al., 2018
Lactobacillus spp.	Poultry (commercial)	N/A	46			97.8	32 - >128	Saleem et al., 2018
Actinomyces bowdenii	Dog	Diseased	1			R	N/A	Sherman et al., 2013
Streptococcus spp.	Cattle	Diseased	46	89.1	6.5	2.2	N/A	Mohanty et al., 2013
Streptococcus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	1	100.0			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Streptococcus agalacticae	Elephants (captive)	Diseased	25	100.0			<1	Eisenberg et al., 2017
Streptococcus agalacticae	Cattle	Diseased	133	18.1	18.1	63.9	N/A	Yang et al., 2020
Streptococcus suis	Pig	Diseased	16	100.0			0.25 - 1	Ichikawa et al., 2020
Streptococcus suis	Pig	Healthy, diseased	98	100.0			0.5 - 4	Ichikawa et al., 2020
Streptococcus suis	Pig	Healthy	260	62.3	6.2	31.5	N/A	Soares et al., 2014
Clostridium difficile	Dog (puppy)	Healthy	34			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2014a
Clostridium difficile	Cattle (beef)	N/A	94			100.0	2 ->32	Thitaram et al., 2016
Clostridium difficile	Cattle (dairy)	N/A	188			96.8	2 ->32	Thitaram et al., 2016
Clostridium difficile	Pig	N/A	94			100.0	2 ->32	Thitaram et al., 2016
Clostridium difficile	Cattle (calf)	Healthy, diseased	30			73.0	4 ->32	Rodriguez-Palacios et al., 2006
Clostridium difficile	Cattle	N/A	103				<2 - 16	Bandelj et al., 2017
Clostridium difficile	Pig	Healthy	41			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2013
Clostridium difficile	Zebra	Healthy	4			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2014b
Clostridium difficile	Goat	Healthy	1			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2014b
Clostridium difficile	Iberian ibex	Healthy	1			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2014b
Clostridium difficile	Chimpanzee	Diseased	1			100.0	>32	Álvarez-Pérez et al., 2014b
Bacillus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	3	66.6			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Micrococcus spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	9	88.8			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Corynebacterium spp.	Buffalo	Diseased	11	90.9			N/A	Bhadaniya et al., 2019
Mycoplasma bovis	Cattle (beef, dairy)	N/A	26	S			0.5 - 2	Mustafa et al., 2013
Mycobacterium avium subsp hominissuis	Cat	Diseased	1			R	1	Kanegi et al., 2019

Main levofloxacin pharmacokinetic parameters (±SD) reported in mammals after a single administration (unless otherwise noted)

 $SD-standard\ deviation,\ ROA-route\ of\ administration,\ IV-intravenous,\ IM-intramuscular,\ SC-subcutaneous,\ IP-intraperitoneal,\ PO-oral,\ BW-body\ weight,\ SR-sustained\ release,\ inf-infusion,\ Cl-plasma\ clearance,\ T_{1/2el}-half-life\ of\ elimination,\ Vdss-volume\ of\ distribution\ at\ steady\ state,\ F-bioavailability,\ N/A-data\ not\ available\ in\ the\ reference\ source\ *Median\ value\ (range)$

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg BW)	Cl (mL/g/h)	T _{1/2el} (h)	Vdss (mL/g)	F%	Reference	
	IV	5	0.29 ± 0.09	7.93 ± 1.41			Urzúa et al.,	
	РО	5		7.65 ± 1.38		72 ± 10	2020	
	IV	15	0.15 ± 0.03	6.23 ± 0.91	1.19 ± 0.20		Madsen	
	РО	23.7		5.84 ± 1.17		104 ± 30	et al., 2019	
D	IV	2.5	0.11 ± 0.03	7.85 ± 2.30	1.20 ± 0.13			
Dog	SC	5		7.78 ± 1.55		80 ± 8	Landoni et	
	РО	5.6		6.01 ± 1.32		61 ± 15		
	PO 300mg			4.92 ± 1.94				
	PO 300mg (SR 1)			7.15 ± 2.13		42 ± 5	Yin et al., 2011	
	PO 300mg (SR 2)			8.40 ± 1.01		103 ± 4	2011	
<u>C</u>	IV	10	0.14 ± 0.04	9.31 ± 1.63	1.75 ± 0.42		Albarellos et al., 2005	
Cat	PO (4 days mean)	10		8.39 ± 2.14		86 ± 44		
Asian elephant	РО	5		12.11 ± 1.45			Kilburn	
	Rectal	15		10.16 ± 1.41		64 ± 129	et al., 2022	
Giant panda	IM	2		5.40 (0.70)*			Wang et al.,	
	РО	3		7.14 (0.63)*			2021	
	IV	5	0.60 ± 0.18	2.06 ± 0.18	1.37 ± 0.39			
	IM	5		2.01 ± 0.24		106 ± 28	Sitovs et al., 2020	
Rabbit	SC	5		1.80 ± 0.14		119 ± 41		
	IV (30 min inf)	20	1.7 (L/h)	3.99 ± 0.92			Czyrski et al., 2014	
Rabbit	IV (10 min inf)	7		7.60 ± 3.50				
(Meningitis	IV (10 min inf)	10.5		7.00 ± 1.60			Destache et al., 2001	
model)	IV (10 min inf)	14		9.50 ± 3.50			,	
Guinea pig (Pneumonia model)	IP	10		$1.00 \pm N/A$			Edelstein et al., 1996	
	IV	7	0.21 (L/h)	5.00 ± 1.70	1.20 ± 0.40		Hurtado et al., 2014	
Rat	РО	100		$1.76 \pm N/A$			Dharuman et al., 2010	
	IV	3					Cheng et al., 2002	
Mouse	РО	10		5.65 ± 0.14			Yarsan et al., 2003	
Mouse (Toxoplasmosis model)	РО	10		4.54 ± 0.50			Yarsan et al., 2003	

Annex 5 continued

Table A4 continued

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg BW)	Cl (mL/g/h)	T1/2el (h)	Vdss (mL/g)	F%	Reference	
C #1 (10	IV	10	0.34 ± 0.01	2.12 ± 0.21	0.98 ± 0.10		Kumar et al.,	
Cattle (calf)	IM	10		2.76 ± 0.36		63 ± 6	2012	
Cattle (crossbred calf)	РО	20		2.99 ± 0.15			Kumar et al.,	
Cattle (crossbred calf; febrile)	РО	20		3.05 ± 0.16			2009	
Cattle	IV	4	0.32 ± 0.05	1.61 ± 0.07	$\begin{array}{c} 0.74 \pm 0.03 \\ (V_{area}) \end{array}$		Dumka and Srivastava, 2007	
(crossbred calf)	IM	4		3.67 ± 0.40		57 ± 12	Dumka and Srivastava, 2006	
Buffalo (calf)	IM	3		3.27 ± 0.31		68 ± 5	Ram et al., 2008	
Goat (non-	IV	2	0.46 ± 0.11	4.56 ± 1.24	1.22 ± 0.22		Vercelli	
lactating)	SC	2		5.14 ± 0.57		92 ± 59	et al., 2020	
Goat	IV	10	0.34 ± 0.05	4.04 ± 0.24	$\begin{array}{c} 1.89 \pm 0.18 \\ (V_{area}) \end{array}$		Ram et al.,	
Goat (Mastitis model)	IV	10	0.35 ± 0.03	5.08 ± 0.18	$\begin{array}{c} 2.56 \pm 0.21 \\ (V_{area}) \end{array}$		2011	
Goat (lactating)	IV	4	0.18 ± 0.04	2.95 ± 0.27	0.73 ± 0.22		Goudah and	
	IM	4		3.64 ± 0.42		85 ± 8	Sooud, 2009	
	IV	2	0.19 ± 0.02	4.06 ± 2.41	0.56 ± 0.18		Sartini et al.,	
	PO (5 days)	2		3.76 ± 1.73		115 ± 28	2020a	
	IV	4	0.39 ± 0.04	1.82 ± 0.05	0.96 ± 0.08		Durna Corum et al., 2020	
Sheep	IV	3	0.55 ± 0.02	2.38 ± 0.22	0.92 ± 0.08		Patel et al.,	
	SC	SC 3 1.73±0.04			91 ± 4	2012		
	IV	4	0.20 ± 0.05	3.29 ± 0.23	0.86 ± 0.23		Goudah and Hasabelnaby	
	IM	4		3.58 ± 0.30		91 ± 7	- Hasabelnaby, 2010	
C 1	IV	4	0.28 ± 0.03	2.92 ± 0.61	1.01 ± 0.36		Goudah,	
Camel	IM	4		3.47 ± 0.86		94 ± 8	2008	
Horse	IV	4	0.21 ± 0.18	2.58 ± 0.51	0.81 ± 0.26		Goudah	
(Stallion)	IM	4		2.94 ± 0.78		92 ± 13	et al., 2008	
Mampagat	РО	40		$3.90\pm\text{N/A}$			Nelson et al.,	
Marmoset	PO (7 days)	40		$2.30\pm\text{N/A}$			2010	
Rhesus monkey	РО	15		2.10 ± 0.12			Kao et al.,	
(Anthrax model)	РО	25		1.86 ± 0.28			2000	
Rhesus monkey (male)	PO (C14-labelled)	15		$1.67 \pm N/A$			Hemeryck	
Rhesus monkey (female)	PO (C14-labelled)	15		$1.90 \pm N/A$			et al., 2000	

Annex 5 continued

Table A5

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg BW)	Cl (mL/g/h)	T _{1/2el} (h)	Vdss (mL/g)	F%	Reference	
Poultry (not specified)	IM (5 days)	10		2.97 ± 0.11			Bisht et al., 2018	
	IV	5	0.38 ± 0.09	6.93 ± 2.94	2.88 ± 1.07		Lee et al.,	
	РО	5		8.09 ± 1.71		$123 \pm N/A$	2017	
Chicken (broller)	IV	10	0.44 ± 0.01	4.07 ± 0.24	2.36 ± 0.13		El-Banna	
	РО	10		4.24 ± 0.28		107 ± 9	et al., 2015	
Chicken (Leghorn	IV	10	0.25 ± 0.00	3.08 ± 0.05	3.23 ± 0.06		Patel et al.,	
bird)	РО	10		3.62 ± 0.12		72 ± 1	20120	
Chicken (broiler)	IV	10	0.25 ± 0.00	3.18 ± 0.07	3.25 ± 0.06		Varia	
	РО	10		3.64 ± 0.15		60 ± 2	et al., 2009	
	IV	10	0.23 ± 0.03	4.49 ± 0.12	1.31 ± 0.04		Aboubakr et al., 2012	
Turkey	IM	10		4.60 ± 0.22		96 ± 4		
	РО	10		4.07 ± 0.17		80 ± 3		
Quail (Iananasa)	IV	10	0.40 ± 0.03	2.52 ± 0.07	1.27 ± 0.06		Aboubakr,	
Quali (Japanese)	РО	10		2.83 ± 0.30		69 ± 2	2012	
	IV	2	0.28 ± 0.06	7.39 ± 1.21	1.40 ± 0.28		Sartini et al	
Geese (Bilgorajska)	РО	5		6.60 ± 2.46		96 ± 21	et al., 2020b	
Duck (Muscovy)	IV	10	0.41 ± 0.04	2.76 ± 0.10	1.37 ± 0.07		Aboubakr	
Duck (Muscovy; renal damage)	IV	10	0.20 ± 0.02	4.71 ± 0.54	1.18 ± 0.04		and Soliman, 2012	
Duck (Muscovy)	РО	10		2.89 ± 0.09		74 ± 2	2012	
Duck (Muscovy; renal damage)	РО	10		$\overline{3.94\pm0.14}$		72 ± 2		

Main levofloxacin pharmacokinetic parameters (±SD) reported in birds after a single administration (unless otherwise noted)

 $SD-standard \ deviation, \ ROA-route \ of \ administration, \ IV-intravenous, \ IM-intramuscular, \ PO-oral, \ BW-body \ weight, \ Cl-plasma \ clearance, \ T_{1/2el}-half-life \ of \ elimination, \ V_{dss}-volume \ of \ distribution \ in \ steady \ state, \ F-bioavailability, \ N/A-data \ not \ available \ in \ the \ reference \ source$

Mammals	Protein binding %	Reference
Dog	23.7 ± 3.8	Madsen et al., 2019
Rabbit	$25.0 \pm N/A$	Destache at al., 2001
Rat	45.5 ± 9.4	Hurtado et al., 2014
Cattle (crossbred calf)	17.0 ± 1.2	Dumka and Srivastava, 2006
Buffalo (calf)	19.1 ± 1.5	Ram et al., 2008
Goat	Range: 23.0 – 34.8	Ram et al., 2011
Goat (lactating)	$22.0 \pm N/A$	Goudah and Abo-El-Sooud, 2009
Sheep	$23.7 \pm N/A$	Goudah and Hasabelnaby, 2010
Camel	23.5 (Range 21.0 – 27.0)	Goudah, 2008
Horse (stallion)	27.8 (Range 20.0 – 29.0)	Goudah et al., 2008
Rhesus monkey	$11.2 \pm N/A$	Hemeryck et al., 2006
Birds	Protein binding %	Reference
Chicken (broiler)	24.0 ± 5.0	Lee et al., 2017
Chicken (broiler)	4.2 ± 0.5	El-Banna et al., 2013
Turkey	$24.3 \pm N/A$	Aboubakr et al., 2014
Quail (Japanese)	$23.0 \pm N/A$	Aboubakr, 2012

Average levofloxacin plasma protein binding (± SD)

SD-standard deviation, $N\!/\!A$ –data not available in the reference source

Species	ROA	Dose (mg/kg)	C _{max} (µg/kg)	t _{max}	t _{last}	РСО	Tissues analysed	S WT	Reference
Chicken	РО	10	1051	0d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver, gizzard, heart, skin	N/A	Kyuchukova et al., 2013
Chicken (broiler)	РО	10	9330	2h	9d	Kidney	Muscle, liver, kidney, lung, fat, spleen	> 9 days	El-Banna et al., 2013
Chicken	РО	10	1429	1d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver	4 days	Ravikumar et al., 2016
Chicken (broiler)	РО	5	657	lh	48h	Liver	Muscle, liver, kidney, lung	N/A	Lee et al., 2017
Chicken	РО	10	1222	1 d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver	5 days	Suman 2018
Chicken	РО	20	2251	1 d	10d	Liver	Muscle, liver	5 days	Suman 2018
Poultry	IM	10	140	24h	72h	Kidney	Muscle, liver, kidney	N/A	Bisht et al., 2018
Geese (Bilgorajska)	РО	5	642	6h	48h	Liver	Muscle, liver, lung, kidney, heart	90 h	Sartini et al., 2020b

Tissue disposition and suggested withdrawal times of levofloxacin in poultry

 $\label{eq:ROA-route} ROA-route of administration, IV-intravenous, IM-intramuscular, PO-oral, C_{max}-maximum detected levofloxacin concentration, t_{max}-time of maximum detected levofloxacin concentration, T_{last}-last detectable levofloxacin concentration, S WT-suggested withdrawal time, PCO-organ or tissue where maximum levofloxacin concentration was detected, N/A - data not available in the reference source$